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CHAPTER XXXIX.

OPERATIONS IN NORTH CAROLINA VIRGINIA, WEST
VIRGINIA, MARYLAND, PENNSYLVANIA, AND
DEPARTMENT OF THE EAST.

June 3-August 3, 1863.

PART I1.
The Gettysburg Campaign, etc.*

) SUMMARY OF THE PRINCIPAL EVENTS.

‘ June 3-Aug. 1, 1863.—The Gettysburg Campaign.
4, 1863.—Skirmish on the Lawyers' road, near Fairfax Court-House, Va.
| Skirmish at Frying Pan, Va.
} 4- 5, 1883.—Expedition from Yorktown to Walkerton and Aylett's, Va.
‘ 5- 7, 1863.—Reconnaissance through Gates County, N, C., and down the
i Chowan River.
6, 1863.—8kirmish near Berryville, Va.
! 7~ 8. 1863.—Expedition from Gainesville, Va.
8, 1863.—Scout from Suffolk, Va., to South Mills, N. C.
9, 1863.—The Departments of the Monongahela and the Susquehanna con-
stituted.
10, 1863.—Capture of the steamer Maple Leaf off Cape Henry, Va.
10, 1863.—Skirmish at Seneca Mills, Md.
Maj. Gen. W. T. H. Brooks, U. S, Army, assumes command of
the Department of the Monongahela.
Maj. Gen. Darius N. Couch, U. S. Army, assumes command of
the Department of the Susquehanna.
Skirmish at Diascund Bridge, Va.
8kirmish near Suffolk, Va.

% Part I1 embraces the reports from the Middle Department, the Departments of
the Susquehanna and West Virginia, and the Army of Northern Virginia, rela-
ting to the Gettysburg Campaign, and all reports relating to the other operations
sovered by the Summary of Principal Events.
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June 11-18, 1863.—Expedition from‘ Brightwood, D. C., via Seneca Mills and Pooles-

ville, Md., to Leesburg, Aldie, and Chantilly, Va.
12-18, 1863, —Expedition from Suffolk to the Blackwater, Va.
14, 1863.—Skirmish at Nine-Mile Ordinary, Va.
17-18, 1863.—Scout from Rocky Run to Dover and Core Creek, N, C.
18, 1863.—Scout on the Peninsula, Va.
18-19, 1863.—Scoutvfrom Camp Piatt, on the Bigand Little  Coal Rivers,
W. Va.
20, 1863.—Skirmish at Diascund Bridge, Va.
23-28, 1863.—Expedition from Yorktown to the South Anna Bridge, Va., and
skirmish.
24, 1863.—The Department of West Virginia constituted.
28, 1863, —Skirmish on Loup Creek, W. Va.

' . 26-217, 1863.—Descent on Portland Harbor, Me.

July

28, 1863.—Brig..Gen. Benjamin F. Kelley, U. S. Army, assumes command
of the Department of West Virginia.
Reconnaissance from Plymouth to Nichol's Mills, N. C.
20-July 4, 1863.—Confederate expedition to Beverly, W. Va. |
1, 1863.—Maj. Gen. Daniel H. Hill, C. S. Army, assigned temporarily to
command of troops in the Department of Richmond.
1- 7, 1863.—Expeditions from White House to South Anna River and Bot-
tom’s Bridge, Va.
3, 1863,—Suffolk, Va., evacuated by the Union forces.*
3~ 7. 1863.—Raid on the Wilmington and Weldon Railroad, N. C.
4, 1863.—Skirmish at Fayetteville, W. Va.
5- 7, 1863.—Expedition from Plymouth to Gardner's Bridge and Williams-
ton, N, C.
8, 1863.—Maj. Gen. Andrew A. Humphreys, U. S. Army, announced as
Chief of Staff, Army of the Potomac.
9, 1863.—Explosion at Fort Lyon, Va.
—, 1863.—Expedition from Richmond to Mathias Point, Va.
13-16, 1863.—Reconnaissance from Newport Barracks to Cedar Point and
White Oak River, N. C.’
Draft riots in New York City, Troy, and Boston.
13-25, 1863.—Expedition from Fayetteville, W. Va., to Wytheville, Va.
14, 1863.—Maj. Gen. William H. C. Whiting, C. S. Army, assigned to com-
mand of the Department of North Carolina.
15, 1863.—The Departments of North Carolina and of Virginia consolidated.
17-20, 1863.—Expedition from New Berne to Swift Creck Village, N. C., and
skirmish.
18, 1863, —Maj. Gen. John G. Foster, U. 8. Army, assumes command of the
Department of Virginia and North Carolina.
Maj. Gen. John A. Dix, U. S. Army, assumes command of the
Department of the East.
18-24, 1863.—Expedition from New Berne to Tarborough and Rocky Mount
N.C.
20, 1863.—Brig. Gen. George W. Getty, U. 8. Army, assumes command o
the Seventh Army Corps, Department of Virginia and Nort}
Carolina.
21, 1863.—Brig. Gen. John D. Imboden, C. 8. Army, assigned to commanc¢
of the Valley District, Va.
25, 1863.—Expedition to Gloucester Court-House, Va.
25-27, 1863.—Scout to Goose Creek. Va.

* For orders, &c., in relation to, see Series I, Vol. XVIII, pp. 1, M2, 717, T18. ‘
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July 25-31, 1863.—Expedition from New Berne to Winton, and skirmish at Potecasi
Creek, N. C.
25-Aug. 3, 1863.—Expedition from Portsmouth, Va., to Jackson, N. C., and
. skirmish July 28.
26-29, 1863.—Expedition from Plymouth to Foster's Mills, N, C., and skirmish
(27th). '
28, 1863.—Skirmish at Fayetteville, W. Va.
28-Aug. 3, 1863.—Moeby’s operations about Fairfax Court-House, and skirmish
near Aldie, Va.
29, 1863.—Brig. Gen. Innis N. Palmer, U. 8. Army, assumes command of
the Eighteenth Army Corps, Department of Virginiaand North
Carolina.
81, 1868.—Skirmish at Morris’ Mills, W. Va.
Aug. 1, 1883.—The Fourth and Seventh Army Corps discontinued.
1- 8, 1863.—Expedition from Warrenton Junction into the country between
Bull Run and Blue Ridge Mountains, Va.
2, 1863.—Skirmish at Newtown, Va.

JUNE 3-AUGUST 1, 1863.—The Gettysburg Campaign.
SUMMARY OF THE PRINCIPAL EVENTS.

June 8, 1863.—Skirmish near Fayetteville, Va.
5-13, 1863.—Skirmishes at Franklin's Crossing (or Deep Run), on the Rappa-
hannock, Va.
9, 1863.—Engagements at Brandy Station (or Fleetwood) and Beverly Ford,
Ya.
Skirmish at Stevensburg, Va.
12, 1863.—Skirmishes at Newtown, Cedarville, and Middletown, Va.
13, 1863.—Skirmish at White Post, Va.
Skirmish at Berryville, Va.
Skirmish at Opequon Creek, near Winchester, Va.
Skirmish at Bunker Hill, W, Va.
13-15, 1863.—Engagement at Winchester, Va.
14, 1863.—Skirmish at Berryville, Va.
Skirmish at Martinsburg, W. Va.
15, 1863.—Skirmish near Williamsport, Md.
17, 1863.—Skirmishes at Catoctin Creek and Point of Rocks, Md.
Skirmish at Thoroughfare Gap, Va.
Action at Aldie, Va.
17-18, 1863.—Skirmishes at and near Middleburg, Va.
18, 1883.—Skirmish near Aldie, Va.
19, 1863.—Action at Middleburg, Va.
20, 1863.—Skirmish at Middletown, Md.
21, 1863.—Skirmish near Gainesville, Va.
Skirmish at Frederick, Md.
Engagement at Upperville, Va.
21-25, 1863.—Skirmishes at and about Thoroughfare Gap and Hay Market, Va.
22, 1863.—Skirmish near Dover, Va.
Skirmish at Greencastle, Pa.
Skirmish near Aldie, Va.
24, 1883.—Skirmish at Sharpsburg, Md.
25, 1863.—Skirmish near McConnellsburg, Pa.
26, 1863.—Skirmish near Gettysburg, Pa.
27, 1863.—Skirmish near Fairfax Court-House, Va.
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June 28, 1863.—Maj. Gen. George G. Meade relieves Maj. Gen. Joseph Hook

in command of the Army of the Potomac.
Skirmish between Offutt's Cross-Roads and Seneca, Md.
Skirmish near Rockville, Md.
Skirmish at Fountain Dale, Pa.
Skirmish at Wrightsville, Pa.
28-29, 1863.—Skirmish near Oyster Point, Pa.
Affair on the Little River Turnpike, Va
29, 1863.—Skirmish at McConnellsburg, Pa.
Affairs at Lisbon and Poplar Springs, Ma.
Skirmish at Westminster, Md.
Skirmish at Muddy Branch, Md.
80, 1863.—Skirmish at Sporting Hill, near Harrisburg, Pa.
Skirmish at Fairfield, Pa.
Skirmish at Westminster, Md.
Action at Hanover, Pa.
Evacuation of Maryland Heights, Md.
1, 1868.—Skirmish at Carlisle, Pa.
1-3, 1863.—Battle of Guttysburg, Pa.
2 1863.—Skirmish near Chambersburg, Pa.
Skirmish at Hunterstown, Pa.
3, 1863.—Action at Fairfield, Pa.
4, 1863.—Action at Monterey Gap, Pa.
Skirmish at Fairfield Gap, Pa.
Skirmish near Emmitsburg, Md.
5, 1863.—Skirmish at Smithsburg, Md.
Skirmish near Green Oak, Pa.
Skirmish near Mercersburg, Pa.
Skirmish near Fairfield, Pa.
Skirmish near Greencastle, Pa.
Skirmish at Cunningham's Cross-Roads, Pa.

Skirmish at Stevens' Furnace (or Caledonia Iron Works), Pa.

8, 1863.—Action at Hagerstown, Md.
Action at Williamsport, Md. )
7, 1863.—S8kirmish at Downsville, Md.
Skirmish at Harper's Ferry, W. Va.
Reoccupation of Maryland Heights, Md.
Skirmish at Funkstown, Md.
8, 1883.—Action at Boonsborough, Md.
Skirmish near Williamsport, Md.
9, 1863.—Skirmish at Benevola (or Beaver Creek), Md.
10, 1868.—Skirmish at Old Antietam Forge, near Leitersburg, Md.
" Skirmish near Clear Spring, Md.
10-13, 1868 —Skirmishes at and near Hagerstown, Md.
Skirmishes at Jones' Cross-Roads, near Williamsport, Md.
Skirmishes at and near Funkstown, Md.
11-14, 1868.—Reconnaissance to, and skirmish (12th) at, Ashby’s Gap, Va.
14, 1863.—Skirmish near Williamsport, Md.
Skirmish near Harper's Ferry, W. Va.
Action at Falling Waters, Md.
15, 1883.—Skirmish at Halltown, W. Va.
Skirmish at Shepherdstown, W, Va.
16, 1863. —Skirmish at Shanghai, W. Va.
Action at Shepherdstown W. Va.
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July 17, 1863.—Skirmish near North Mountain Station, W. Va.

Skirmish at Snicker's Gap, Va.
18-19, 1863, —Skirmishes at and near Hedgesville and Martinsburg, W. Va
20, 1863.=Skirmish near Berry’'s Ferry, Va.
Bkirmish at Ashby’s Gap, Va.
21-22, 1883.—Skirmishes at Manassas Gap, Va.
Skirmishes at Chester Gap, Va.
23, 1883.—Action at Wapping Heights, Manassas Gap, Va.
Skirmish near Gaines’ Cross-Roads, Va.
Skirmish near Snicker’s Gap, Va.
Skirmish near Chester Gap, Va.
24, 1863, —Skirmish at Battle Mountain, near Newby's Cross-Roads, Vi,
25, 1863, —Skirmish at Barbee's Cross-Roads, Va.
31-Aug. 1, 1863.—Skirmishes at Kelly’s Ford, Ve

Aug. 1, 1883.—Action at Brandy Station, Va.

No.

Vo.

No.

No. 388

No.

JUNE 3-AUGUST 1, 1883.—The Gsttysburg Campaign.
REPORTS-Continued.
THE MIDDLEKE DEPARTMENT.*

379.—Col. William F. Raynolds, Additional Aide-de-Camp, U. 8. Army, Chiet
Engineer Eighth Army Corps, of operations June 15-37.

$80.—Brig. Gen. Daniel Tyler, U. 8. Army, commanding First Division, Eighth
Army Corps, etc., of operations June 15-26,

381.—Col. Benjamin F. Smlth One hundred and twenty-sixth Ohio Infantry,
commanding Third Brigade, of attack upon Martinsburg.

382.—Col. Edward C. James, One hundred and sixth New York Infantry, of
operations June 13-15.

. 383.—Maj. Gen. Robert H. Milroy, U. S. Army, commanding Second Division,

of operations June 1-15.

. 384.—Return of Casualties in the Union forces at Winchester, June 18-15.
. 385.—Capt. Frederick A. Palmer, Eighteenth Connecticut Infantry, Aide-de-

Cainp, of operations June 12-15.

. 388.—Brig. Gen. Washington L. Elliott, U. 8. Army, commanding First Bri-

gade, Second Division, of operations June 13-15.

. 387.—Col. J. Warren Keifer, One hundred and tenth Ohio Infantry, of opera-

tions June 183-15.
.—Col. James Washburn, One hundred and mxteenth Ohio Infantry, of
operations June 13-15.
389.—Col. William H. Ball, One hundred and twenty-second Ohio Infantry, of
operations June 13-15.
390.—Maj. Darius Titus, Twelfth Pennsylvania Cavalry, of operations June
18-15.

. 391.—Maj. Michael Kerwin, Thirteenth Pennsylvania Cavalry, of operations

June 13-15.
392.—Lijeut. Jonathan B. Hanson, First Massachusetts Heavy Artillery, of
operations June 10-15.

i Xo. 893.—Lieut. Edmund D. Spooner, Battery L, Fifth U. S. Artillery, of operations

June 13-15.

. No. 394.—Capt. John Carlin, Battery D, First West Virginia Light Artillery, of

operatlons June 13—1"

= See also Ma]or-General SChenck 8 correSpondeﬂce and orders, Part 111
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. 305.—Maj. Henry Peale, Eighteenth Connecticut Infantry, Second Brigade, of .

operations June 13-15.

. 396.—Maj. Noah G. Ruhl, Eighty-seventh Pennsylvania Infantry, of operations

June 13-15.

. 387.—Col. John B. Klunk, Twelfth West Virginia Infantry, of operations June

12-15.

. 898.—Maj. Alonzo W. Adams, First New York Cavalry, Third Brigade, of

operations June 12-15.

. 399.—Capt. Frederic W. Alexander, Baltimore Battery, Maryland Light Artil-

lery, of operations June 18-15.

. 400.—Record of a Court of Inquiry, convened to investigate the evacuation of

‘Winchester and Martinsburg.

. 401.—Maj. Napoleon B. Knight, First Delaware Cavalry, of operations June

27-29.

. 402.—Capt. George D. Summers, Second Maryland Potomac Home Brigade, of

operations June 14-July 5.

. 403.—Brig. Gen. Henry M. Naglee, U. 8. Army, of skirmish near Harper's

Ferry, W. Va.

. 404.—Capt. Erastus Blakeslee, First Connecticut Cavalry, of skirmish near

Harper’s Ferry, W. Va.

. 405.—RBrig. Gen. William W. Averell, U. 8. Army, commanding Fourth Sepa-

rate Brigade, of operations May 22-July 28,

DEPARTMENT OF THE SUSQUEHANNA.

. 406.—Maj. Gen. Darius N. Couch, U. 8. Army, commanding Department of

the Susquehanna, of operations June 11-July 5.

. 407.—Brig. Gen. William F. Smith, U. 8. Army, commanding First Division,

of operations June 26-July 15.

. 408,—Maj. Gen. Charles W. Sandford, commanding First Division, New York

State National Guard, of operations June 16-July 16, including the
Draft Riots in New York City.

. 409.—Brig. Gen. Charles Yates, commanding Second Brigade, New York State

National Guard, of operations June 18-July 18.

. 410.—Brig. Gen. William Hall, commanding Third Brigade, New York State

National Guard, of operations June 15-July 18,

. 411.—DBrig. Gen. John Ewen, commanding Fourth Brigade, New York State

National Guard, of operations June 18-July 18.

. 412,—Brig. Gen. Philip S. Crooke, commanding Fifth Brigade, Second Division,

New York State National Guard, of operations June 15-July 19.

. 413.—Brig. Gen. Jesse C. Smith, commanding Eleventh Brigade, New York

State National Guard, of operations June 16-July 19.

. 414,—Col. Marshall Lefferts, Seventh Regiment New York State Natlonal

Guard, of operations June 16-July 18, including the Draft Riots.

. 415.—Col. William F. Berens, Sixty-fifth Regiment New York State National

Guard, of operations June 17-July 30, including the Draft Riots.

. 416,—Col. Chauncey Abbott, Sixty-seventh Regiment New York State National

Guard, of operations June 16-July —.

. 417.—Col. David S. Forbes, Sixty-eighth Regiment New York State National

Guard, of operations June 25-July 31.

. 418,—Col. Watson A, Fox, Seventy-fourth Regiment New York State National

Guard, of operations June 18-August 3, including the Draft Riots.

. 419.—Col. Jacob G, Frick, Twenty-seventh Pennsylvania Militia, of operations

June 24-30.
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No. 420.—Maj. Gen. Robert H. Milroy, U. 8. Army, of skirmish at McConnellsburg,
Pa.

No. 421.—Col. Lewis B. Pierce, Twelfth Pennsylvania Cavalry, of skirmish near
Greencastle, Pa.

DEPARTMENT OF WEST VIRGINIA.

No. 422.—Brig. Gen. Benjamin F. Kelley, U. S. Army, commanding Department
~ of West Virginia, of operations July 8-20.
No. 423.—Medals of Honor for battle of Gettysburg.

ARMY OF NORTHERN VIRGINIA.

No. 424.—Organization of the Army of Northern Virginia at the battle of Gettys-
burg, July 1-3.

No. 425.—Abstract from Returns of the Armyof Northern Virginia for July 20
and 31, 1863.

No. 426.—General Robert E. Lee, C. 8. Army, commanding Army of Northern
Virginia.

No. 427.—Surg. Lafayette Guild, C. 8. Army, Medical Director, with Return of
Casualties in the Army of Northern Virginia.

No. 428.—Brig. Gen. William N. Pendleton, C. 8. Army, Chief of Artillery.

No. 429.—Lieut. Col. Briscoe G. Baldwin, C. 8. Army, Chief of Ordnance, of artil-
lery captured and lost during the Pennsylvania Campaign.

No. 430.—Lieut. Gen. James Longstreet, C. 8. Army, commanding First Army
Corps.

No. 431.—Surg. F. W. Patterson, of medical officers and wounded of McLaws'
division left at Gettysburg.

No. 432.—Brig. Gen. J. B. Kershaw, C. 8. Army, commanding brigande, McLaws’
division.

No. 433.—Maj. R. C. Maffett, Third South Carolina Infantry.

No. 434.—Col. James D. Nance, Third South Carolina Infantry.

No. 435.—Col. H. C. Cabell, C. 8. Army, commanding Artillery Battalion.

No. 438.—Capt. E. 8. McCarthy, First Richmond Howitzers.

No. 437.—Capt. B. C. Manly, Company A, First North Carolina Artillery.

No. 438.—Lieut. W. J. Furlong, Pulaski (Georgia) Artillery.

No. 439.—Lieut. Ro. M. Anderson, First Richmond Howitzers, commanding Pulaski
Artillery, of operations July 10-11,

No. 440.—Lieut. C. W. Motes, Troup (Georgia) Artillery.

No. 441.—Maj. Charles S. Peyton, Nineteenth Virginia Infantry. commanding Gar-
nett's brigade, Pickett's division.

No. 442.—Maj. James Dearing, C. 8. Army, commanding Artillery Battalion.

No. 443.—Lieut. Col. L. H. Scruggs, Fourth Alabama Infantry.

No. 444.—Col. William C. Oates, Fifteenth Alabama Infantry.

No. 445.—Col. William F. Perry, Forty-fourth Alabama Infantry. .

No. 446.—Maj. James M. Campbell, Forty-seventh Alabama Infantry, July 2-4.

No. 447.—Col. James L. Sheffield, Forty-eighth Alabama Infantry.

No. 448.—Col. W. W, White, Seventh Georgia Infantry, commanding Anderson’s
briggde, including action at Funkstown.

No. 449.—Capt. George Hillyer, Ninth Georgia Infantry.

No. 450.—Maj. H. D. McDaniel, Eleventh Georgia Infantry.

No. 451.—Maj. B. H. Gee, Fifty-ninth Georgia Infantry.

No. 452.—Brig. Gen. J. B. Robertson, C. S. Army, commanding brigade.

No. 453.—Col. Van H. Marining, Third Arkansas Infantry.

No. 454.—Lieut. Col. P. A. Work, First Texas Infantry.

No. 455.—Maj. John P. Bane, Fourth Texas Infantry.
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456.—Lieut. Col. K. Bryan, Fifth Texas Infantry.

457.—Maj. J. C. Rogers, Fifth Texas Infantry.

458,—Brig. Gen. Henry L. Benning, C. S. Army, commanding brigade.

459.—Lieut. Col. William 8. Shepherd, S8econd Georgia Infantry.

460.——Col. D. M. Du Bose, Fifteenth Georgia Infantry.

461.—Col. Wesley C. Hodges, Seventeenth Georgia Infantry.

462.—Col. J. D. Waddell, Twentieth Georgia Infantry.

463.—Maj. M. W. Henry, C. S. Army, commanding Artillery Battalion.

484.—Col. E. Porter Alexander, C. 8. Army, commanding battalion Reservc
Artillery.

485.—Capt. Ogmond B. Taylor, Virginia Battery.

466.—Maj. B. F. Eshleman, Washington (Louisiana) Artillery.

467.—Lieut. Gen. Richard 8. Ewell, C. 8. Army, commanding Second Armj-
Corps.

468.—Col. J. Thompson Brown, First Virginia Artillery, Chief of Artillery.

469.—Ljeut. John M. Gregory, jr., C. 8. Army, Chief of Ordnance, of gun«

" engaged and ammunition expended at Gettysburg.

470.—Maj. Gen. Jubal A. Early, C. S. Army, commanding division,

471.—Return of Casualties in Early's division.

473.—Brig. Gen. Harry T. Hays, C. S. Army, commanding brigade.

473.—Col. Archibald C. Godwin, Fifty-seventh North Carolina Infantry, com
manding Hoke's brigade.

474.—Maj. Samuel McD. Tate, Sixth North Carolina Infantry.

475.—Col. Kenneth M. Murchison, Fifty-fourth North Carolina Infantry, of

action at Williamsport.

. 476.—Col. John S. Hoffman, Thirty-first Virginia Infantry, commanding

Smith’s brigade.
477.—Brig. Gen. J. B. Gordon, C. 8. Army, commanding brigade.
478.—Lieut. Col. H. P. Jones, C. S. Army, commanding Artillery Battalion.
479.—Capt. C. A. Green, Louisiana Guard Artillery.
480.—Capt. W. A. Tanner, Courtney (Virginia) Artillery.
481.—Maj. Gen: Edward Johnson, C. 8. Army, commanding division.
482.—Brig. Gen. George H. Steuart, C. S. Army, commanding brigade.
483.—Col. J. M. Williams, Second Louisiana Infantry, commanding Nicholls

brigade.

. 484.—Capt. E. D. Willett, First Louisiana Infantry, of engagement at Win

chester.

. 485.—Maj. Thomas N. Powell, Tenth Louisiana Infantry, of engagement at

‘Winchester.

. 486.—-Lieut. Col. D. Zable, Fourteenth Louisiana Infantry, of engagement at

‘Winchester. .

487.—Maj. A. Brady, Fifteenth Louisiana Infantry, of engagement at Win-
chester.

488.—Brig. Gen. James A. Walker, C. S. Army, commanding brigade.

489.—Col. J. Q. A. Nadenbousch, Second Virginia Infantry.

490.—Maj. William Terry, Fourth Virginia Infantry.

491.—Maj. James W. Newton, Fifth Virginia Infantry, of engagement at Win-
. chester.

492.—Col. J. H. 8. Funk, Fifth Virginia Infantry.

498.—Lieut. Col. Daniel M. Shriver, Twenty-seventh Virginia Infantry.

494.—Capt. J. B. Golladay, Thirty-third Virginia Infantry.

495.—Brig. Gen. J. M. Jones, C. 8. Army, commanding brigade.

496.—Lieut. Col. R. H. Dungan, Forty-eighth Virginia Infantry, commanding
regiment and Jones’ brigade.
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487.—Col. Bradley T. Johnson, C. 8. Army, commanding Jones' brigade.
498,—Capt. W. P. Moseley, Twenty-first Virginia Infantry.
499.—Lieut. Col. J. A. Robinson, Twenty-fifth Virginia Infantry, of operations
June 13-15.
500.—Col. John C. Higginbotham, Twenty-fifth Virginia Infantry.
501.—Capt. Jesse M. Richardson, Forty-second Virginia Infantry.
502.—Capt. T. R. Buckner, Forty-fourth Virginia Infantry.
503.—Lieut. Col. L. H. N. Salyer, Fiftieth Virginia Infantry.
504.—Maj. J. W. Latimer, C. S. Artillery, commanding Andrews' Artillery
Battalion, of engagement at Winchester.
.—Lieut. Col. R. Snowden Andrews, C. 8, Artillery, oommanding Artillery
Battalion.
506.—Maj. Gen. R. E. Rodes, C. 8. Army, commandmg division.
507.—Brig. Gen. Junius Daniel, C. 8. Army, commanding brigade.
508.—Col. E. C. Brabble, Thirty-second North Carolina Infantry.
509.—Lieut. Col. W. G. Lewis, Forty-third North Carolina Infantry.
510.—Capt. J. A. Hopkins, Forty-fifth North Carolina Infantry.
511.—Col. William A. Owens, Fifty-third North Carolina Infantry.
512.—Capt. Van Brown, S8econd North Carolina Battalion.
513.—Brig. Gen. Alfred Iverson, C. 8. Army, commanding brigade.
514.—Brig. Gen. George Doles, C. 8. Army, commanding brigade.
515.—Maj. W, H. Willis, Fourth Georgia Infantry.
516.—Col. John T. Mercer, Twenty-first Georgia Infantry.
517.—Maj. W. H. Peebles, Forty-fourth (Feorgia Infantry.
518.—Brig. Gen. S. D. Ramseur, C. 8. Army, commanding brigade.
519.—Capt. Orren Williams, S8econd North Carolina Infantry.
520.—Col. Bryan Grimes, Fourth North Carolina Infantry.
521.—Maj. J. H. Lambeth, Fourteenth North Carolina Infantry.
523,—Maj. W. W. Sillers, Thirtieth North Carolina Infantry.
523.—Col. E. A. O'Neal, Twenty-sixth Alabama Infantry, commanding Rodes’
brigade.
524, —Lieut. Col. C. Forsyth, Third Alabama Infantry, of operations June 4-22.
525.—Col. C. A. Battle, Third Alabama Infantry, of operations June 22-July 9.
526.—Col. J. M. Hall, Fifth Alabama Infantry.
527.—Maj. Eugene Blackford, Fifth Alabama Infantry.
528.—Capt. M. L. Bowie, Sixth Alabama Infantry.
529.—Col. 8. B, Pickens, Twelfth Alabama Infantry.
530.—Lieut. Col. John C. Goodgame, Twelfth Alabama Infantry, commanding
Twenty-sixth Alabama Infantry.
531.—Lieut. Col. Thomas H. Carter, C. S. Artillery, commanding Artxllery
Battalion.
532.—Capt. Willis J. Dance, First Virginia Artillery, commanding battalion
Reserve Artillery.
538.—Lieut. Col, William Nelson, C.s. Artillery, commanding battalion Re-
serve Artillery,

. 534.—Lieut. Gen. Ambrose P. Hill, C. 8. Army, commanding Third Army

Corps

. 5385.—Col. R. Lindsay Walker, C. 8. Army, Chief of Artillery.

538.—Maj. Gen. Richard H. Anderson, C. 8. Army, commanding division.
637.—Brig. Gen. Cadmus M. Wilcox, C. S. Army, commanding brigade.

. 538, —Brig. Gen. William Mahone, C. 8. Army, commanding brigade.
. 539,—Brig. Gen. A. R. Wright, C. 8. Army, commanding brigade.
. 540.—Capt. C. H. Andrews, Third Georgia Infantry, commanding Wright’s

brigade, of action at Manassas Gap.
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541.—Col. Edward J. Walker, Third Georgia Infantry.
542,—Capt. B. C. McCurry, Twenty-second Georgia Infantry.
543.—Capt. M. R. Hall, Forty-eighth Georgia Infantry.
544.—Capt. Charles J. Moffett, Second Georgia Battalion.

. 345.—Col. David Lang, Eighth Florida Infantry, commanding Perry’s brigade.

546.—Brig. Gen. Carnot Posey, C. S. Army, commanding brigade.

547.—Col. N. H. Harris, Nineteenth Mississippi Infantry.

548.—Maj. John Lane, Sumter (Georgia) Artillery, commanding Artillery Bat-
talion.

. 549,—Maj. Gen. Henry Heth, C. 8. Army, commanding division.
. 550.—Maj. J. Jones, Twenty-sixth North Carolina Infantry, commanding Petti-

grew’s brigade. :

. 551,—Capt. J. J. Young, Quartermaster Twenty-sixth North Carolina Infantry.
. 552.—Lieut. Col. S. G. Shepard, Seventh Tennessee Infantry, of operations of

Archer’s brigade.

. 553.—Brig. Gen. Joseph R. Davig, C. S. Army, commanding brigade and Heth's

division.

. 554,—Lieut. Col. John J. Garnett, C. 8. Army, commanding Artillery Battalion.
. 535.—Maj. Charles Richardson, C. 8. Army. commanding Garnett's battalion.
. 558.—Maj. Joseph A. Engelhard, Assistant Adjutant-General, C. 8. Army, of

operations of Pender’s division. -

. 657.—Col. Abner Perrin, Fourteenth South Carolina Infantry, commanding

McGowan’s brigade.

. 508.—Brig. Gen. James H. Lane, C. 8. Army, commanding brigade.

. 559.—Brig. Gen. Edward L. Thomas, C. 8. Army, commanding brigade.

. 580.—Brig. Gen. A. M. Scales, C. 8. Army, commanding brigade.

. H81.—Col. William L. J. Lowrance, Thirty-fourth North Carolina Infantry, com-

manding Scales’ brigade.

. 582.—Maj. William T. Poague, C. 8. Army, commanding Artillery Battalion.
. 563.—Maj. D. G. McIntosh, C. 8. Artillery, commanding Reserve Artillery

Battalion.

. 564.—Capt. E. B. Brunson, C. S. Artillery, commanding Reserve Artillery Bat-

talion.

. 585.—Maj. Gen. J. E. B. Stuart, C. S. Army, commanding Cavalry, Army of

Northern Virginia.

. 586.—Capt. John E. Cooke, Chief Ordnance Officer. Cavalry Division,of arms,

etc., captured in engagement at Brandy Station.

. 567.—Brig, Gen. Wade Hampton, C. 8. Army, commanding brigade, with con-

gratulatory orders.

. 568.—Col. L. S. Baker, First North Carolina Cavalry, of engagemnent at Brandy

Station,

569.—Col. John L. Black, First South Carolina Cavalry, of engagement at
Brandy Station.

570.—Maj. T. J. Lipscomb, Second South Carolina Cavalry, of engagement at
Brandy Station.

571.—Col. P. M. B. Young, Cobb's Legion (cavalry), of engagement at Brandy
Station.

. 572.—Liteut. Col. J. F. Waring, Jeff. Davis Legion, of engagement at Brandy

Station.

. 573.—Brig. Gen. B. H. Robertson, C. 8. Army. commanding brigade, of en-

gagement at Brandy Station.

. i74.—Col. Thomas T. Munford, Second Virginia Cavalry, commanding Fitz.

Lee's brigade. of engagement at Brandy Station and action at Aldie.
575.—Maj. Cary Breckinridge, Second Virginia Cavalry, of action at Aldie.
576.—Col. Thomas H. Owen, Third Virginia Cavalry, of action at Aldie.
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No. 577.—Col. Williams C. Wickham, Fourth Virginia Cavalry, of engagement at
Brandy Station and action at Aldie.

‘No. 5i8.—Capt. W. B. Newton, Fourth Virginia Cavalry, of action at Aldie.

No. 579.—Col. Thomas L. Rosser, Fifth Virginia Cavalry, of action at Aldie.

No. 580.—Brig. Gen. W, E. Jones, C. 8. Army, commanding brigade.

No. 581.—Mayj. C. E. Flournoy, 8Sixth Virginia Cavalry.

No. 582.—Lieut. Col. Thomas Marshall, Seventh Virginia Cavalry.

No. 583.—Col. L. L. Lomax, Eleventh Virginia Cavalry.

No. 584.—Col. A. W. Harman, Twelfth Virginia Cavalry, of engagement at Bramly
Station.

No. 583.—Lieut. Col. T. B. Massie, Twelfth Virginia Cavalry.

No. 388.—Lieut. Col. E. V. White, ,Thirty-ﬁf'th Virginia Battalion, of engagement at
Brandy Station (June 9) and expedition into Maryland (June 17).

No. 587.—Col. John R. Chambliss, jr., commanding brigade, of engagement at
Brandy Station.

No. 588.—Maj. R. F. Beckham, C. S. Army, commanding Horse Artillery, of en-
gagement at Brandy Station.

No. 589.—The Confederate Roll of Honor.

No. 379. .

Regorl of Col. Willinm F. Raynolds, Additional Aide-de-Camp,
J. 8. Army, Chief Engineer Eighth Army Corps, of operations
June 15-27.

OrricE CHIEF ENGINEER EicHTH ARMY CORPS,
Baltimore, Md., August 11, 1863.

GENERAL: I have the honor to submit the following report :

On June 15, at 5 p. m., I received your verbal order, through Cap-
tain Thruston, aide-de-camp, to repair at once to Harper's Ferry, 1n
compliance with a request of Brig. Gen. D. Tyler.

At 5.30 o’clock I was at the depot ready to start, and at 11p. m. I
arrived at Harper's Ferry. Finding that General Tyler had that
evening moved his quarters to Maryland Heights, I at once reported
my arrival by letter. .

On the morning of the 16th, I reported to General Tyler in person,
and received his verbal order to take charge of the defenses. 1 was
not unprepared for the duty assigned to me, having previously in my
capacity of chief engineer of the Eighth Army Corps accompanied
General Barnard in a careful examination of the ground, and had
received from General Barnard a memorandum ofg his opinions in
regard to the defenses, and had also, in addition, repeatedly made
further examinations of the ground during my inspection of the works
that were in progress. I therefore at once set about carrying out
previously well-digested plans for the defense of the point. Inorder
the better to explain what was done, a short description of the local-
ity, with an account of the defenses previously constructed, becomes
necessary. :

About 2 miles above the mouth of the Shenandoal, the Potomac
suddenly changes its course from south to east. In the bend thus
formed, stands a knoll, rising about 300 feet above the river. The
summit of this knoll was occupied by a redoubt called Fort Duncan,
and intended only for infantry. About 250 yards south of Fort Dun-
can was a battery of six 30-pounder Parrott guns, facing to the south
and flanking perfectly the west face of Bolivar Heights, It was,
however, of no use to oppose an attack from the north. Maryland
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Heights proper is a mountain range, 1,100 feet high, running nearly
north and south, and ending in an almost perpendicular cliff oppo-
site the mouth of the Shenandoah. About 1 mile from the Potomac,
and at the highest point of the mourtain, a double line of rifle-pits
had been thrown across the crest of the ridge, extending well down
on the west slope, the eastern slope at this point being very steep for
about 100 feet vertically. Between these rifle-pits a.n%l on the cresta
structure of dry masonry known as the stone fort had been built, 100
by 40 feet, with two square bastions, the wall being from 44 to 7 feet
in thickness. Using the northern rifle-pit as a parapet, seven light
guns, %rincipally howitzers, had been placed in position, raking the
crest of the mountain to the northward. This was the only prepara-
tion that had been made to resist an attack from that side. ear
the southern end of Maryland Heights, and 300 feet below the high-
est point, was a well-constructed battery, mounting six 30-pounder
Parrott guns and two 24-pounder guns. This battery, known as the
30-pounder battery, commanded perfectly the summit of Loudoun
Heights opposite, as well as Bolivar Heights. On the Western SIO})G
of Maryland Heights, about half way to the summit and near the
river, was the naval battery, consisting of two 100-pounders and two
50-pounder Dahlgren guns and two 24-pounder guns. This battery
also commanded Bolivar Heights and imperfectly the railroad bridge
and the river front of Harper’s Ferry. The timber on the crest of
Marﬁlland Heights had been cut from a point about 800 yards north
of the stone fort to the 30-pounder battery, and on the west slope of
the mountain from the stone fort south nearly to the Potomac.

It will be observed that all the defenses, with the exception of the
battery on the crest of Maryland Heights, had been made with a view
of an attack from the south or across the Potomae, while the river
itself at most seasons of the year afforded an almost impassable bar-
rier, thus making it evident t}l,xa.t the most feasible point of attack was
from the north. The problem, therefore, to be solved was to change
the defenses so as to make them effective against an attack from that
dire(lzltion and at the same time not to weaken the defense from the
south. .

The work of strengthening Fort Duncan and removing the guns
from the battery south of it and mounting them in the fort, so as to
be used either to the north or south, was in a good state of progress
June 16. This was the only change that had been made in the de-
fense up to that time. From the stone fort to Fort Duncan there is
a well-defined crest, separating the water flowing into the Potomac
above the bend at Fort Duncan from that flowing into it below. This
crest it was determined to make the line of defense. It offers the ad-
vantage of affording no shelter for an enemy to enable him to turn
the line, and compels a direct attack in front. As soon as the men
could be gotten to work after my arrival, I commenced throwing up a
ﬁeld-worﬁ for six guns about the middle of this line of defense. 0
other works were also commenced, one on the left near Fort Duncan,
and the second on the right at the foot of Maryland Heights. These
works were so located as perfectly to command the gullies leading up
from the river and to give a cross-fire over the whole line. About
half way up Maryland Heights and above the right field-work is a
plateau which affords a good position for flanking the west slope of
the Heights, and also for enfilading a ravine that extends in front of
the line of defense. A 50-pounder Dahlgren gun was taken from the
naval battery and put in position to effect both these objects. It can
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also be turned and used against Bolivar He'ghtn, if required. A line
of stone breastworks or rifle-pits (made by filling a cer?b-work of logs
with stone) has been built along the northern edge of this plateau,
which, in connection with the rifle-pits extending down from the
summit, renders the west slope of the mountain' safe against almost
every attack. That portion of the north rifle-pits near the stone fort,
which is on the summit of the mountain (a distance of about 100
yards), is being raised and strengthened, so as to form a strong para-
pet 9 or 10 feet in height, and the guns mounted in embrasure 1nstead
of barbette. One of the 30-pounder Parrott guns from the 30-pounder
battery has been mounted here. Temporary banqusettes have been
laced in the stone fort, so as to use it as a citadel, from which to
rive out the enemy even should he get possession of the battery.

The eastern face of Maryland Heights is very steep and difficult of
ascent at overy point of the crest from the stone fort to the 30-pounder
battery that affords the least facility for the approach of an enemy.
Stone breastworks or rifle-pits have Keen constructed, and seven li ﬁt
tield guns have been distributed along the crest, at points from which
they ﬁ:ve araking fire on the mountain side. About 600 yards to the
south of the stone fort, on a narrow point in tho crest, a platform has
been erected, and a 100-pounder Dahlgren gun from the naval battery
mounted. This gun has a field of fire of 360 degrees. Itcan be used
with effect against an enemy ascending either slope of the mountain
in Pleasant Valley, on Loudoun-or Bolivar Heights, or in Fort Dun-
can, and a single shot from it would render the stone fort untenable.
It is the key to the position, and is rendered safe by the support it re-
ceives from the battery at the stone fort, the almost inaccessible
slopes of Maryland Heights on the east and the guns distributed along
the crest, and the rifle-pits which have been built to prevent an enemy
ascending them.

Fort Duncan is on the left of our line of defense. This work has
heen strengthened and the guns from the battery south of it placed
in it. There should be nine additional guns in this work to give it a
full armament to resist an attack from all sides. The embrasures
and the platforms have been erected, so that the guns now in the work
can be used as occasion may require. The guns from Fort Duncan,
in connection with the 50-pounder on the spur and the batteries
already mentioned, give a double cross-fire in front of our line of de-
fense. On a spur to the north of Fort Dupcan a light work has been
thrown up for two guns to enfilade the canal and tow-path to the
north, and to prevent an enemy turning the left flink of our line.
The whole of the line of defense from the work at the foot of Mary-
land Heights to Fort Duncan has been occupied with a line of rifle-
pits, and it is believed that if the works are completed, fully armed
and manned, and the men do their duty, they will be able to resist
almost any assault that may be made against them.

Although a great deal of timber had been cut down on Maryland
Heights, yet a much larger amount remained that gave cover for an
enemy. All the axes that could be procured, some 600, were set to
work cutting down all timber within 1,500 yards of our line of de-
fense, or on the eastern slope of Maryland Heights.

In order to supply the place of the guns taken from the naval bat-
tery, I proposed to throw up a battery on the river bluff just west of
the 8harpsburg road. This work was being laid out on June 27. If
completed and armed, it will perfectly command the railroad bridge
across the Potomac, the pontoon bridge above the dam, the whole
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plain on which the village of Bolivar stands, and the right bank of
the Potomac from the mouth of the Shenandoah to where the Balti-
more and Ohio Railroad leaves the river.

General Tyler was relieved by General French June 27.

On the 28th, General French ordered the work on the defenses t«
be suspended for the day. With his consent, I took advantage of this
delay to visit Baltimore, expecting to return in the next train. On
my arrival in Baltimore, I was ordered by ypu to remain and take
charge of the defenses of this city; consequently I have no official
kﬁlowzlledge of anything that has been done at Harper’s Ferry since
that date.

The amount of labor performed from June 16 to 27, inclusive, while
General Tyler was in command, was immense, considering the diffi-
culties under which we labored. The supply of intrenching imple-
ments was wholly inadequate to the emergency. They could only be
procured from Baltimore, and railroad communication was irregulas
and for a time interrupted. The greater part of the command had
just made forced marches from Winchester and Martinsburg, and
they were worn out and unfit for work. The post was in a coustant
state of alarm, and daily under arms in line of battle, expecting an
attack. Notwithstanding these hinderances, the works were suffi.
ciently advanced to have made a good defense. As they progressed
the spirits of the men revived, and, instead of gloom and despon-
dency, hope and confidence prevailed, and I believe I am within the
truth when I say that on June 27 the post would have resisted the
attack of an army five times stronger than would have captured it
on the 16th. All that could be done by the general Qommanding, as
well as all the other officers, was done to hasten the completion of the
works, But I feel that it would be unjust for me to close this report
without expressing my obligation to Major Rolfe, Fourteenth [First}
Massachusetts Artillery, who superintended the removal of the heavy
guns to the points named, and to Capt. William Penn Gaskill, vol..
unteer engineers, and the officers of his comi)any, for their able and
efficient efforts to second me in my arduous labors.

I am, general, very respectiully, your obedient servant,
W. F. RAYNOLDS,
Colonel, and Chief Engineer.

Genex;a,l R. C. ScHENCK, Commanding Eighth Army Corps.

No. 380.

Reports of Brig. Gen. Danicl Tyler, U. S. Army, commanding
"irst Division, Eighth Army Corps, &c., of operations June

15-26.

HEADQUARTERS, Maryland Heigyhts, June 25, 1863.

Sir: Constant occupation since my arrival here on the morning ot
the 15th instant has heretofore prevented my reporting officially on
the affair at Martinsburg, which took place on the 14th instant.

I left Baltimore by special train at 12 o’clock on the night of June
13, to relieve Colonel [B. F.] Smith in: the command of the Third
Brigade, whose headquarters were at Martinsburg, W. Va.; and,
stopping a short time to confer with Brigadier-General Kelley, in
command at Harper’s Ferry, I reached Martinsburg about 8 o'clock
on the morning of the 14th, and found that Colonel Smith had just
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received notice of the approach of the enemfy, and was on the point
of going out with parts of two regiments of infantry, a battery of
arti%?ery, and one company of cavalry, in all about 1,200 men, to
meet him, and notifying Colonel Smith of my order, informed him
that under the circumstances I would not assume command, but
would be on the field for advice, if necessary.

Colonel Smith formed his line of battle between 9 and 10 o’clock
at about 1 mile from Martinsburg, across the Winchester pike. At
this time his pickets were engaged about half a mile to the front,
and, as soon as his line was formed, he sent forward some skirmishers
to support his pickets, and a desultory firing continued for one hour
or more, when the enemy showed an increased force within artillery
range, and a few shells sufficed to drive him back over the ridge and
out of sight. About this time (11 o’clock), information was received
that the enemy had captured a portion of General Milroy’s forces at
Bunker Hill, 6 to 8 miles on the Winchester pike, and having been
at Winchester only two days before, and knowing General Milroy’s
position, the information induced the belief that Milroy had been
attacked by a strong force at Winchester, and that the attack on
Bunker Hill was intended to, and in fact (iid, cut off his retreat on
Martinsburg ; and, acting on this opinion, I at once ordered the bag-
gage train %elonging to Smith’s brigade (ascertaining that all the
stores had been previously sent off by railroad) to move at once
toward Williamsport, and make its way into Pennsylvania, which
was accomplishedl,x:md the train saved.

About 12 o’clock I notified Colonel Smith that we should have to
retreat, but to hold on until the safety of the ba%gage was secured,
and we would then move to Williamsport, and thence to Harper’s
Ferry. Between 11 and 12 o’clock, Colonel Smith, with my appro-
bation, withdrew the command from the Winchester pike to the
heights near Martinsburg on which the cemetery is located, coverin
a connection with the Williamsport and Shepherdstown roads, both
of which branch off in the rear of the cemetery. Here Colonel Smith
held his command in hand, his skirmishers—both cavalry and in-
fantry—being from time to time in contact with the enemy, until
about 1 o’clock, when the following communication was recelved :

HEADQUARTERS, Camp near Martinsburg, June 14, 1863,
The Commanding Officer U. S. Forces near Martinsburg:

Sm: I herewith demand the surrender of Martinsburg. Should you refuse, you
are respectfully requested to notify the inhabitants of the place to remove forthwith
tn a place of safety. Small-arms only will be used for one hour upon the town after
your reception of this note. After that, I shall feel at liberty to shell the town, if I
see proper. Should you refuse to give the necessary notification to the inhabitants,
Ishall ﬁ compelled to hold your command responsible.

Very truly, yours,
A. G. JENKINS,
Brigadier-General, d&c.
P. S.—An immediate reply ig necessary.

To the communication, Colonel Smith replied as follows:

HeADQUARTERS U. S. Forces, Martinsburg, W. Va., June 14, 1863.
A, G. JERKINS, Brigadier-General, d&c. :

GENERAL : Martinsburg will not be surrendered. You may commence shelling
% goon as you choose. 1 will, however, inform the inhabitants of your threats.

Very respectfully, yours, P
' ¥ B. ¥, SMITH,

Colonel, Commanding U. §. Forees,
2 R B—VOL XXVII, PT I}
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About this time a messenger arrived from Milroy, notifying me
that he had been attacked by-Ewell, Imboden, and Jackson’s corps
on the 13th, and had been ab{e to hold his position up to 11 o’clock
on the night of the 18th. This information, coupled with the fact of
the capture of Bunker Hill, satisfied me that General Milroy had
been defeated, and his retreat by way of Martinsburg cut off, and
that the only object in holding on was to cover the wagon train,
which had moved toward Williamsport.

Up to thistime I had been counting on assistance from the railroad,
if deemed necessary to move the troops to Harper’s Ferry, but, on
applying to the agent at the station, was surprised to find that every "
car and engine had been sent away from the depot, and that there:
were neither cars nor engines in either direction that could be made
available in the exigency. They had all been romoved out of reach. !

From 3.30 o’clock until sunset the skirmishing in front had con-!
tinued at intervals, the enemy gradually massing his increasing forces
in our front and on our right flank, showing a disposition about 5
o'clock to turn our right and occupy Martinsburg. These different
movements were kept in check by our artillery, in the absence of any
artillery on the part of the cnemy, until just at sunset, when a severe
fire from a couple of batteries was opened on us at convenient range,
which was most gallantly replied to by Maulsby’s battery, and at one
time so effectually as almost to silence the rebel guns. At the open.
ing of the enemy’s battery, a battalion of the One hundred and sixth
New York, Colonel James, which was supporting Maulsby’s battery,
was thrown into momentary confusion, and fell back, but was im-
mediately rallied by its officers, and resumed its position in support
of the battery.

It had now become apparent that the enemy was in force on our
front with at least a brigade of infantry and a superior force of artil-
lery and cavalry, and were threatening our right, and that the mo-
ment for retreat had come ; and, in fact, that while I was engaged in
stimulating Maulsby’s battery and giving some assistance to Colonel
James in rallying his regiment, Colonel Smith, with the One hun.
dred and twenty-sixth Ohio, had already, without any notice to me,
left the field, and I discovered the One hundred and sixth New York
were purposing to follow, but apparently in doubt which way to
move. On leaving Maulshy’s battery, I ordered him to throw in a
few shots as rapidly as possible, then limber up, and follow the move-
ments of the infantry; and seeing the One hundred and sixth New
York halting, I ordered it forward, intending to move out on the
Williamsport road, supposing the One hundred and twenty-sixth
Ohio had taken that direction. Moving forward a couple of hundred

ards, and before reaching the crossing of the Shepherdstown road,

saw that the enemy’s cavalry had occupied Martinsburg, and cut us
off from our retreat on Williamsport ; and seeing nothing-of Colonel
Smith’s regiment, I concluded to take the Shepherdstown road, and
directed Colonel James to move his regiment in that direction.

At the time the rebel artillery opened fire, one section of Maulsby’s

" battery was posted some 300 paces to the rear of the other two sec-
tions, and its fire directed against some rebel cavalry and infantry
marching against our right. One gun of this section had been dis-
mounted, and the other, with the two caissons, had been limbered u
and fell in in rear of the One hundred and sixth New York, ang
moved off in that regiment. The other two sections, by some mis-
take not yet explained, moved off in a gallop up the road toward

JE—
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Williamsport, and when I came to the rear in search of them they
had p so far forward as to render it impossible to regain the
column on the Shepherdstown road. Captain Maulsby, whose gal-
lantry on the field could hardly have been exceeded, will be able to
explain his movements and the reasons for them and the manner in
which he retreated into Pennsilvania with a part of his battery.

The movement of the One hundred and sixth New York on the
Shepherdstown road was followed by the cavalry, and the column,
after moving a couple of miles, closed up on the One hundred and
twenty-sixth Ohio, with Colonel Smith in command, and continued
to march steadily until it reached the ford, 1} miles below Shep-
herdstown, about 1 a. m. the 15th instant, where it crossed the river
without molestation from the enemy, and arrived at Harper's Ferry
about 7 a. m. of the same day.

As the enemy was in force 1n our front at the time the retreat com-
menced, and was continually moving his troops forward from Win-
chester, it is probable the night march contributed mainly to the
saving of the command; and it is but due to the troops to say that
this march, without rest or water, was conducted with perfect order,
without straggling and without complaint.

The brigadier-general commanding cannot close this report without
special notice of First Lieutenant Wyckoff, First New York Cav-
alry, who conducted the head of the column, and by his knowledge
of the country and his coolness did more than any other man in tﬁe
column to assure the safety of the command. ’

I herewith submit, and without comment, copies of the reports
made by Colonels Smith and James as to their participation in the
affair of the 14th at Martinsburg. :

With great respect, your obedient servant,
DAN. TYLER,
Brigadier-General, &c.

Lieut. Col. DONN PIATT,
Chief of Staff, Eighth Army Corps.

HEADQUARTERS,
Baltimore, Md., July 1, 1863.

8m: The operations of the forces under my command from June
15 until I was relieved from the command at Maryland Heights by
Msjor-General French, on June 26, seem to require at my hands an
official report, and I avail myself of the earliest possible opportunity
to make it.

Iarrived at Harper’s Ferry about 6 o’clock on the morning of June
15, with the troops which retreated from Martinsburg (having been
in the saddle from 10 a. m. of the day before), and about 10 a. m. was
otified by telegraphic orders from Major-General Schenck, com-
manding Kighth Army Corps, to relieve Brigadier-General Kelley in
the command of the troops in and around Harper’s Ferry, and before
12 o’clock Brigadier-General Kelley (who had been for some time in
command) left with his entire staff for Baltimore, taking all the

! papers, not leaving even a report of the forces belonging to the com-
: mand,
i About noon, fui:itives from Milroy’s command began to arrive, with

- wormation that

well was in pursuit, and that there was a fair prog.



20 N. C., VA, W. VA., MD., PA., ETC. [Caar. XXXIX.

t that Harper’s Ferry would be attacked. As a personal inspec-
ion would best post me up as to the condition of things, I began on
the Harper’s Ferry side, ang found Kenly’s brigade—consisting of two
regiments of infantry and one light battery; in all, 900 men—
on Bolivar Heights. I also found that all the military subsistence,
ammunition, &c., were exposed on the Virginia side, in Harper’'s
Ferry. 1found, onthe Maryland side, Briga.c{;ier-(}eneral Morris’ bri-
gade, consisting of parts of two artillery and one infantry regiment,
one light battery, and Cole’s cavalry, in all 2,200 men, thus making
the entire force 1n and around Harper’s Ferry 3,100 men, irrespective
of the disorganized forces which came in from Martinsburg and Win-
chester on f une 15 and 16, amounting to 3,300 men.

On June 17, I was re-enforced by two regiments of infantry (1,700
men) from the Relay House, and on the 25th by Jewett’s brigade,
consisting of three small regiments and one light battery, in all 1,700
men, from Hooker’s army. My inspection satisfied me that the en-
tire force should, as soon as possible, be removed to the Maryland
side, and not a moment was to be lost in removing all the mili-
tary supplies, hospitals, &ec., from the Virginia side, placing them
under tﬂe protection of Maryland Heights; and to effect this object
every team was put into requisition and used exclusively for this
purpose until the morning of the 17th, when the quartermaster, com-
missary, and ordnance officers reported all the stores safe on the
Maryland side. 8o long as stragglers were coming in from Milroy’s
defeat, and the stores and supplies were on the Virginia side, it ap-
peared to me injudicious to remove Kenly's brigade, although it was
exposed to be cut off by the enemy ; but the moment these two ob-
jects were measurably attained (on the evening of the 16th), I ordered
General Kenly, with his two regiments and light battery, and the
two regiments which arrived from the Relay House, to take post on
Maryland Heights, and at the same time gave orders that the pon-
toon bridge across the Potomac near Bolivar Heights should be so
disposed of as to render it practicable at any moment to swing it in
on the Maryland side, and at the same time to render the railroad
bridge at tﬁe Ferry impassable. These dispositions effectually re-
lieved me from any care on the Virginia side, and left the entire
force applicable to the Maryland shore, which presented the only

oints from which the ford and crossing of the Potomac at Harper’s
erry could be protected and maintained.

My personal examination on the 15th had satisfied me that the de-
fenses on the Maryland side had been sadly neglected, and were not
in a condition to respond to the expectations of the Government, and
that a couple of good reﬁiments approaching the heights b wa{ of
Pleasant \?alley and striking the ridge 24 miles from the howitzer
battery, so called, near the stone fort (gthe main defense of- Maryland
Heights), could, by a sudden and determined attack, carry the bat-
tery, and consequentlY control the entire position. At this time the
entire force on Maryland Heights was composed of six companies
Fourteenth [First] Massachusetts Artillery, 486 men, aggregate, man-
ning the guns, and two companies of the Sixth New York Artillery,
130 men, acting as infantry. These forces were divided between fl..ﬁ’e
howitzer battery, looking down the ridge toward Pleasant Valley,
and the naval battery, so called, which looked toward Loudoun
Heights, and with its guns covered Harper’s Ferry and partially
Bolivar Heights. ) )

At this time. June 15, the timber in front of the stone fort and the
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howitzer battery had been only partially felled, and an enemy would
in almost any direction have been covered to within 300 or 400 yards
of the guns, and no rifle-pits or breastworks for infantry supports
had been constructed. On the plateau under Maryland Heights, and
situated immediately on the river bank, Fort Duncan, although not
completed, had some eight guns mounted, and manned by the Sixth
New York Artillery, and was intended to cover Bolivar Heights, on
the Virginia shore, and also the approach to Maryland Heights from
an enemy descending by the river bank of the Potomac on the Mary-
land side. The distance from Fort Duncan across the plateau to the
base of Maryland Heights is about three-quarters of a mile, over a
nearly level plain, and this interval was covered by Morris’ brigade,
without intrenchments or rifle-pits.

The foregoing is a somewhat imperfect description of the defenses

- of Harper’s Ferry on June 15 and the troops appurtenant to them.

The position of the defenses satisfied me that more engineering skill
was required, and that there was much.work to be done, and 1 im-
mediately telegraphed for Colonel Raynolds, U. S. Engineers, who
arrived on the 16th instant, and immediately commenced reorganiz-

- ing and completing the defenses connected with the Maryland side
" of the Potomac, and his report is herewith submitted, with correct

statements of work done, &c.

It was evident, from the large body of the enemy’s force in the
vicinity (Lee’s entire army having passed the Potomac at the Shep-
herdstown Ford, within 10 miles of Maryland Heights, between June
17 and 25), that the attack would, if possible, be in force and a sur-
prise, and, to prevent the latter, a picket, consisting of 200 infantry,
a dozen cavalry, with a signal officer in attendance, was sent some 3
miles in advance of the fortifications, and to a point where the Pleas-
ant Valley road leads on to the ridge, to give notice by night or
day of any advance by that most exposed route, and a similar picket
was sent to the John Brown school-house, about 3 miles from Fort
Duncan, to give notice of any advance by way of the Antietam, the
officers of the signal station at Maryland H%i hts keeping a close
watch of the enemy’s movements by day in the Loudoun Valley and
toward Martinsburg, Shepherdstown, and Williamsport. At the
time these precautions were taken, all the spare cavalry was used in
scouting from Harger’s Ferry to Point of ﬁocks and toward Shep-
herdstown, Sharpsburg, and Boonsborough, and by all these means
accurate information was from day to day obtained as to the enemy’s
movements, and this information, as will subsequently appear, was

| pr(I)m tly communicated to the proper military authorities.

d hereunto a journal of the command, kept from June 15 to
26, inclusive, as the most convenient and succinct mode of presenting
to view the military operations between these dates.

June 15.—Arrived at Harper’s Ferry at 7 a. m, At 10 o’clock re-
ceived telegraphic orders from Major-General Schenck to relieve
Brigadier-General Kelley from command.

General Kelley left at 12 o’clock, with his entire staff, without leav-

behind a single record of the command.

inspecting the Harper’s Ferry side, found General Kenly’s bri-
gade, of two small Maryland regiments and one light battery, in
camp on Bolivar Heights; found, also, all the subsistence, hospital
ammunition, &c., on the Harper’s Ferry side, and gave imme-

diate orders to the quartermaster to collect every team, and keep his
entire force employed night and day until the entire supplies should
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be transported across the Potomac and placed under command of the
guns on Maryland Heights. )

About 12 o'clock, Generals Milroy and Elliott, and Colonel McRey-
nolds, with a number of officers and men, arrived from the Win-
chester battle-field, and E\;airties continued to come in duri the
day. All the forces from Martinsburg and Winchester were ordered
to cross to the Maryland side and bivouac under the guns of Fort

" Duncan.

June 16.—Milroy’s forces having all probably arrived, and the
transportation of supplies across the Potomac having been mainly
accomplished, Kenly’s brigade was ordered to cross the river, and take
post on Maryland Heights. Orders issued brigading the entire com-
mand into three brigades of infantry and one of cavalry; the last
wag done in consequence of the cavalry being made up of detachments
from five regiments, although the entire force will be less than 1,000.
The infantry brigades were assigned to Brigadier-Generals Kenly,
Elliott, and Morris, and the cavalry to Colonel McReynolds, First
New York Cavalry. Made an inspection of Fort Duncan; found
the work incomplete; embrasures and magazines unfinished and
comparatively useless. Inspected she works on Maryland Heights,
and was much disappointed in them. They are imperfectly con-
structed, and, to my mind, in part injudiciously located, and will re-
quire entire remodeling, which I fear there is no time tomake, Tele-

raphed to department headquarters, asking that Col. W. F. Raynolds,
%. g Engineers, be ordered to report to me at once, and received
answer that he would be up in next train. General Milroy’s com-
mand, about 1,500 men, turned over to me by Brigadier-General
Elliott, in obedience to orders from department headquarters. The
entire force to-day in and around Harper’s Ferry, including 1,500 of
Milroy’s men, amounted to 4,680 men, and I have so repo to Gen-
eral Schenck and to Washington. General Kenly’s pickets about
1 o’clock reported the enemy in force at Halltown, 24 miles to the
front. Captain Vernon, with his comgany of Maryland cavalry at
Charlestown, at 10 a. m. was summoned to surrender by Major-Gen-
eral Rodes, rebel army, and Captain Vernon reports Rodes in force
within 8 miles of Bolivar Heights. Ordered troops under arms at
2.30 o’clock to-morrow morning, to be prepared for an attack. General
officers were notified what each would be expected to do in case of an
attack. e
June 17.—Officers with instruments from si{{nal corps reported,
and were ordered to prepare a station on Maryland Heights, and to
report all changes ang movements of rebel troops discovered in the
Valley. Ordered a picket guard of 200 men, with a signal officer, to
take post 3 miles to the front, on the Maryland Heights ridge, at a
point where the Pleasant Valley road leadson to the ridge, to prevent
a surprise from that direction. Ordered a picket of 100 infantry and
20 cavalry in advance of the John Brown School-House, half way
between Antietam and Fort Duncan. Detail for engineer duty, im-
proving fortifications, throwing up earthworks, constructing rifle-
its, &c., 1,500 men. These men report to Col. W. F. Raynolds,
{I. S. Engineers, who has charge of the entire works. Two regiments
arrived from the Relay House, and were assigned to Kenly’s brigade.
Rumors during the day of an advance on Harper’s Ferry by way of
Halltown, but without foundation. Rodes’ scouts came into Hall-
town, but no force appeared in that direction. Captain Means had a

skirmish with Mosby’s or White’s cavalry near Point of Rocks.
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. HEADQUARTERS,
Maryland Heights, June 17, 1863—9.45 a. m.
Lieutenant-Colonel PIaATT,
Chief of Staff:

My force at night are all on land Heights. During the day I hold Harper’s
Ferry with mlyn?omes. I don’t believe there are 230 rebels in any place short of
‘Willlamsport; there, I am satisfied, they have 7,000 or 8,000 infantry and artillery,
while the cavalry is running into Pennsylvania. We use Sandy Hook only be-
cause the operator thinks it more safe than Harper's Ferri').

AN. TYLER,

Brigadier-General,

Troops ordered under arms at 3 o’clock to-morrow. morning.
June 18.—Received telegrams from Major-General Hooker, which
were answered by the following:

HEADQUARTERS, Maryland Heights, June 17, 1863,
(Received War Department, June 17—5 p. m.),
Major-General HOOKER,
Commanding Army of the Potomac:
The only rebel force of any amount that I am satisfied of was at Williamsport at
8 o'clock last evening. I think, allowing for exaggerations, there might be 7,000 or
8,000 men of all arms at Williainsport. The impression made on mny mind is that
their infantry and artillery are holding on in Maryland, while the cavalry and light
batteries are pushed into Pennsylvania. Thisis merely my opinion. I wish I could
back it up by facts, but I can’t. Audacity is the capital on which the rebels win,
and I hope by and by to see this game lose. This heading off is a losing game, in
my opinion. The only way is to follow, and take the consequences.
DAN. TYLER,
Brigadier-General.

* HEADQUARTERS,
Maryland Heights, June 18, 1868,
Major-General HOOKER, .
Commanding Army of the Potomac:

The names of Ewell's division commanders, as given by General Elliott, are as
follows: E. Johnson, Rodes, Early, Walker, and A. P. Hill. One of the prisoners
told General Elliott that Longstreet was going into West Virginia. This is the

information we have of Longstreet. (enerals Jones, Imboden, and Jenkins,
8 | telegraphed you, had joined Ewell. Jenkins signed the summons to surrender
at Martinsburg. At Charlestown, Rodessigned a Baper demanding the surrender of
a company of cavalry, and sent it by a fﬁ; The company got off. At Martins-
burg, the attack was made by one six-, battery and by infantry and cavalry.
The attack on the train at Point of Rocks was made by \%hite’s cavalry, say 150
men. White crossed over near the Catoctin, and recrossed after a skirmish with
Means’ company of our cavalry. White is now somewhere in Loudoun. Iam try-
ing to get at him. My cavalry has gone to Point of Rocks to-day in all the force [
could send forward. I have no reports of it as yet. If there is an object, I might
venture to send a brigade of infantry to guard Noland’s Ford, but I cannot afford
torisk it. There is at this moment, as far as I can ascertain, no considerable rebel
force threatening this position.

DAN. TYLER.,

Brigadier-General.

Engineer detail to-day 1,500 men, and all the troops were engaged
in throwing up breastworks, constructing rifle-pits, and in the im-
mediate forts. Found great deficiency in intrenching tools, axes,
&c.; telegraphed to the quartermaster at Baltimore for them ; bor-
rowed alﬁ could from t‘xe Baltimore and Ohio Railroad ; ordered
more provisions on to the Maryland Heights, and directed the means
to obtain water there to be attended to and increased. Not satistied
with the outer infantry pickets, and ordered a dozen cavalry to each
picket. Troops were ordered under arms at 3 a. m. to-morrow-
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June 19.—Deserters brought in from Sharpsburg, and from-their
examination telegraphed as follows, viz:

: HEADQUARTERS, Maryland Heights, June 19, 1863.
Major-General HOOKER, Commanding Army of the Potomac: ~
Three intelligent men deserted the Eleventh Tennessee Regiment* last night at
Shagbur . ey report the force there about 8,000 of Ewell's corps, which crossed
the ppaﬁannock about 25,000 strong. The men last night were ordered to pre-
Bare three days’ rations, to move this morning, as they were told, on Washington,
y Harper's Ferry or Frederick. One of the men is very intelligent, tired of the
war, and wants to get home.
: DAN. TYLER,
Brigadier-General.
The entire force engaged in stren%thening the defenses, which
have assumed an improved form. Colonel Raynolds is industriout
as well as gkillful, and if we are let alone for a few days, we can holil
the position against Lee’s army. Weather bad for any benefit from
the signal corps, but when it clears off we can from the station
cover the country from Martinsburg to Williamsport pretty well,
and all the country about Shepherdstown Ford perfectly. From in.
formation gleaned from the country people and our scouts, no force
exceeding 8,000 to 10,000 men had crossed the Potomac. Maryland
Heights 18 now good against this force. Lieut. Col. W. T. Lusk
formerly aide-de-camp to Major-General Stevens, having heard thaf
I was at Maryland Heights and without any staff, left New York on
the 14th instant, and arrived at Maryland Heights at 6 p. m. on the
19th instant, having walked from Point of Rocks, and offered his
services as a volunteer aide-de-camp, or for any other post where h
could render any serwvice. The arrival of Lieutenant-Colonel Lusk
was very opportune, as he had experience as a staff officer, havin,
been at Port Royal and in Virginia on the staff of Major-Genera
Stevens up to that officer’s death, and will enable me to relieve CaE-
tain Woodhull, whom I borrowed from Major-General Schenck’s
staff, and whom the general has telegraphed to return to him as soon
as possible. I shall recommend Lieutenant-Colonel Lusk for the
a.%)pointment of assistant adjutant-general, which, in the expectation
of active service, he is willing to accept until the campaign is
finished, and from necessity shall put him on duty accordingly.
June 20.—In answer to Major-General Hooker’s telegram, inquiz .
ing as to the strength, &c., of the position, I telegraphed as follows :

HEADQUARTERS, Maryland Heights, June 20, 1863—7 p. m.
Major-General HoOkER, Commanding Army of the Potomac :

‘We have our defenses improved and still at work on them. A careful examina-
tion of our position to-day leads metoe t to hold out until I can be relieved,
‘We can inflict heavy losses on any force which may attack us, and we can hold tte
place against a very much larger force than we suppose to be in our vicinity. A
all events, I shall hold it to the last extremity. The rains which are falling muw+
raise the river, and may make the occupation of the place of more importance to
the rebels than it would be under other circumstances. The rains interfere more
with his movements than they do with our work,

- DAN. TYLER,

Brigadier-General,
At 10 a. m. I telegraphed Major-General Hooker as follows:

HEADQUARTERS, Maryland Heights, June 20, 1863—10 a. m.
Major-General HOOKER, Commanding Army of the Potomac:
I have information from a reliable scout, whom I sent to examine the enemy be-
tween this place and Hagerstown, that Ewell is at or near Williamsport, with hias

* This regiment was in Tennessee at this time.
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muain force: that Rodes, with Johnson and Jones, is about Sharpsburg, with not ex-
ceeding 8,000 men; that Imboden has been out into Pennsylvania, stealing horses
and plundering. My opinion is that Ewell's whole force, which has pessed beyond
‘Winchester, does not exceed 30,000 men, and I think that of this force but, say,
12,000 men are about and beyomi ‘Williamsport.

DAN. TYLER,

Brigadier-General.

The entire command engaged, under direction of Colonel Ray-
nolds, in improving the defenses, and making satisfactory progress.
Are greatly in want of cavalry, to obtain information from Loudoun
Valley and the Shepherdstown region.

June 21.—Up to this date there has been no evidence obtained here
from scouts, prisoners, or deserters that any heavy body of rebels
has passed the Potomac, and, from the best sources’of information,
I doubt if over 8,000 or 10,000 men have passed beyond Sharpsburg,
and these are foraging in i’ennsylvania. -

In answer to a telegram from Major-General Hooker, as to the
time I could hold Maryland Heights, I telegraphed as follows:

HEADQUARTERS, Maryland Heights, June 20, 1863,
(Received War Department June 20—8.30 a. m.)
Mzajor-General BUTTERFIRLD:

If attacked by 30,000 men, I can possibly hold out for, say, three days. I shall hold
out as long as I can. I am satisfied that Rodes and Johnson, of Ewell's corps,
with, say, 8.000 men, are on this side of the Potomac. I was expecting an attack
last night, and have been under arms since 8 o’clock, but none has been made. I
begin to think we are not to be attacked.

DAN. TYLER,

Brigadier-General.

About sunset, one of our scouting parties returned from the neigh-
borhood of Sharpsburg, and gave tﬁe first positive information that a
large rebel force was moving on Hagerstown and in the direction of
Pennsylvania. g

At 10 p. m. telegraphed General Hooker as follows:

HEADQUARTERS,
Maryland Heights, June 21, 1868—10 p. m.
Major-General HOOKER,

Commanding Army of the Polomac:

Lieut. F. G. Martindale, of the First New York Cavalry, left the mountain be-
tween Sharpsburg and Shepherdstown Ford, at the burned mill, at 5 p. m., where
he said he could see into the camps clear and sure. He says troops were ing
the ford toward Sharpsburﬁ, and he estimates the entire force at and about Sharps-
burg at 20,000. He says he saw regiments lying in the open field, without any
attempt at concealmment. He saw only one battery sure, but he thinks he saw be-
tween three hundred and four hundred wagons, and also saw wagons coming into
Sharpsburg at a slow gait, as if heavily loaded, from the direction of Boonshorough
and wn. Saw one re&iment of infantry go out on the Boonsborough road,
and it did not return during the six or seven. hours he was examining the troops,
&c. Lieutenant Martindale saw little cavalry in proportion to the infantry.

DAN. TYLER,
Brigadier-General,

The entire command to-day occupied in throwing up intrenchments
and sinking rifle-pits. .
| June 22.—Telegraphed Major-General Hooker at 2 o’clock as fol-
ows: .

: HEADQUARTERS,
Maryland Heights, June 22, 1863—2 p. m.
Major-Gdneral HOOKER,

Commanding Army of the Potomac :

The rebel forces in and around Sharpsburg are exclusively employed collecting
plunderin Pennsylvania and Maryland. A large train has just passed the Shepherds
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town Ford into Virginia, and also a large drove of beeves. This plunder is guarded
from Shepherdstown by infantry, which, after a short absence, returns. A thou-
sand goo(f cavalry would destroy this plundering, and deprive the rebels of an
advantage in that respect. Captain [George D.] Summers went into Frederic
about 5 p- m. yesterday, and drove out about 30 rebels, who returned in less than
thirty minutes with from 200 to 800 cavalry, and drove Summers out. Iam inclined
to think Lieutenant Martindale underestimated the enemy by from 7,000 to 10,000
men. I hope to have reliable information this afternoon.
DAN. TYLER,
Brigadier-General.

Occupied the entire day in insYectin the troops and fortifica-
tions; and, having become satisfied coulg hold the place, telegraphed
Major-General Hooker as follows:

. HEADQUARTERS,
Marytand Heights, June 22, 1863.
Major-General HOOKER,

Commanding Army of the Potomac:

I have just made an inspection of the troops and fortifications. T expect to hold
Maryland Heights inst any force that wil{)sbe brought against it. If I had from
500 to 750 g cavalry in addition to my present force, I could greatly annoy the
enemy, who is now collecting supplies in the region about Sharps%rurg, {mt my cav-
alry is insufficient to interfere with his plundering,.

DAN. TYLER,

Brigadier-General.

HEADQUARTERS ARMY OF THE POTOMAC,
June 22, 1863.
General TYLER:

1 believe all your telegrams have been received. I am rejoiced to hear of your
ability to hold your position. Communicate first evidence of the enemy to march
infantry north of the Potomac. I will take his guerrilla cavalry in hand shortly.
Forward all news of position, movements, &c., fully, as convenient.

JOSEPH HOOKER,
Major-QGeneral.

At 5 o’clock, having received im{)ortant information from Captain
Daniels, signal officer, whom 1 had sent on the old Antietam battle-
ground with an escort and with his best instruments, 1 telegraphed
as follows :

HEADQUARTERS,
Maryland Heights, June 22, 1863—5 p. m.
Major-General HOOKER,
Commanding Army of the Potomac:
The signal officer, Captain Daniels, took one of his large glasses, and approached
within 4 miles of Sharpsburg, and reports as follows :

= “The enemy has been crossing to the Maryland side all day, and are yet bringing
over artillery and baggage wagons. Lieutenant Martindale says that many of the
camps are gone that were here yesterday. We counted two hundred wagons on
the road moving toward Boonsborough. We are going out toward Rohrersville
east across the mountain to make observations there. I think there are now 30,000
or 40,000 troops in and around Sharpsburg.”

DAN. TYLER,

Brigadier-General.

The above being corroborated by Lieutenant New, First New York

Cavalry, I telegraphed as follows about 6 p. m.:
HEADQUARTERS,
Maryland Heights, June 22, 1863—6 p. m.
Major-General HOOKER,
Commanding Army of the Poltomac: .

Lieutenant New, of the First New York Cavalry, has just returned from the look-
out. Says he could see the ford at Shepherdstown and all the troops about Sharpe-
burg. e reports a cavalry and artillery column as passing the ford from 7.30a. m.
to 12 noon. The artillery consisted of two batteries. A portion of them passed
through Sharpsburg, in the direction of Boonsborough. Ihave two officers out now
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and near Sharpsburg, and with better means of observation, and the moment the
return I will communicate. The company of engineers is at Monocacy still
this as you wish? Lieutenant New did not see any infantry moving north
DAN. TYLER,
Brigadier-General.
Having experienced great difficulty in obtaining any assistance
from the Baltimore and Ohio Railroad Company, 1 telegraphed the
following : '
HEADQUARTERS,
Maryland Heights, June 22, 1863—10 p. m.
Lieut. Col. DONN PIATT,
Chief of Staff, Baltimore, Md. : .
Will you see Superintendent Smith, and ascertain whether we are to have any use
of his railroad? 1 gave such orders this morning as I thought necessary to secure
s the howitzers and axes, and Mr. Smith countermands them. and telegraphs for
more orders. If the Government will take possession of the Baltimore and Ohio
Railroad, it may derive some advantase from it. As matters now stand, we take all
the care that is taken of this road, and they attend mainly to the local business. Mr.
Smith seems determined to take no risk for the road, and that if any engines or cars
are captured the Government is to be responsible. Is that so? This morning 1 di-
rected the howitzers and axes to be sent forward by an old engine which they had
at Harper's Ferry, not worth £1.000. We want the howitzers, &c., fresh beef, and
medical stores. Other subsistence we don’t want in any large quantities, as we
have fifteen days’ rations now on the Heights, and a greater amount is not required.
: DAN. TYLER,
Brigadier-General.

. In view of the increased rebel force in the vicinity, 1 called & meet-
ing of the commanders of brigades at 8 p. m., and gave definite
orders to each in case of anattack, and ordered the troops under
arms at 3 a. m. to-morrow morning. . .

June 23.—1t is apparent that the enemy is moving in force into
Pennsylvania, and at 10 a. . telegraphed Major-General Hooker
the following:

HRADQUARTERS,
Maryland Heights, June 28, 1868—10 a. m.
Major-General HOOKER,
Commanding Army of the Potomac: :

The troog that were at Sharpsburagl yesterday have all left—the infantry and ar-
villery for Hagerstown and the cavalry for Frederick. General Early’s division,
thirty-four pieces of artillery and about 15,000 infantry, passed on yesterday to re-
enforce es at Hagerstown. The signal officer just reports that the atmosphere
is clear, and that he can see a line of troops 10 or 12 miles long moving from the
direction of Berryville toward Shepherdstown Ford. Itlooks as if Lee’s movement
i8 toward Hagerstown and in Pennsylvania. General Ewell, I am sure, passed
through Sharpsburg yesterday in an ambulance.

DAN. TYLER,

Brigadier-General.

Having some doubt as to the condition of the telegraph line be-
tween Washington and Baltimore, 1 telegraphed Major-General Hal-
leck as follows:

HEADQUARTERS,
Maryland Heights, June 23, 1863—5 p. m.
Major-General HALLECK:
Commander-in-Chief :
I telegraphed Major-General Hooker this morning that all the forces about Sharps-
had moved toward Hagerstown, excepting some cavalry, which were moving
toward Frederick. I have no telegrams this morning, and 'iyfear the line is tam-
pered with. Let me know if my telegrams have been received.
DAN. TYLER,
Brigadier-General.
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At midnight, having obtained, as I conceived, important informa-
tion, I telegraphed Major-General Halleck as follows:

HEADQUARTERS,
Maryland Heights, June 24, 1863—2 a. m.
Major-General HALLECK, ‘
Commander-in-Chief :

Have just captured some cavalry near Centreville, or Keedysville, as it is called
here, and one of General Lee’s couriers, who left him at Berryville last evening at
8 o'clock, with orders for General Ewell, who is at Hagerstown. He says he de-
livered the orders to another courier, who took them to Ewell. Hesays Longstreet’s
corps is with Lee, at Berryville, this side of Winchester.

. DAN. TYLER,

Brigadier-General.

June 24.—Ordered a cavalry scout to be sent at 3 a. m. toward
Sharpsburg, to observe the rebel movements toward Hagerstown and
Boonsborough. . The weather to-day is clear, and at 9.30 o’clock re-
ceived the following from the signal station:

HEADQUARTERS,
Maryland Heights, June 24, 1868—9.30 a. m.
Major-General HALLECK,
Commander-in-Chief :
The following is just received from the signal station :
“The wagon train that was near Shepherdstown last niﬁht is now crossing the

river near burg. A large train, extendinﬁ as far as I can see on the Berry-
ville road, is passing ugh Charlestown toward Shepherdstown. 1 see artillery
with it.”

I am satisfied that this is Longstreet’s corps, and that it is following Ewell. I
am also satisfied that General Lee was at Berryville yester(Ii)ay I?},t'tsg\rrnmn at 4 o’clock.
AN. TY

y

Brigadier-General.

At 2 o’clock, I telegraphed Major-General Halleck as follows:

HEADQUARTERS,
Maryland Heights, June 24, 18683—2 p. m.
Major-General HALLECK, -
Commander-in-Chief :
A careful examination of 7 men, 1 of them a courier from General Lee to General
Ewell, captured last night, seems to establish clearly as follows:
1. That Ewell’s entire corps had forward toward Hagerstown.

2. That Lee was at Berryville on Monday at noon, with Longstreet’s corps, follow-
ing the march of Ewell's corps.

8. That Hill’s corps is at Fredericksburg.

.Lee left Fredericksburg June 8, and reached Longstreet’s oorfg, at Benyville, the
18th, and was there when the courier left on Monday, 22d. ngstreet’s corps is
represented to have 80,000 men and thirty guns, two or three drawn by 10 horses.
Lee passed from Fredericksburg by Culpeper (where hé remained five days), by
Aldie through Ashby’s Gap, and thence to ille, 8 miles.

DAN. TYLER,
Brigadier-General.

At 8 p. m. telegraphed Major-General Schenck as follows:

HEADQUARTERS,
Maryland Heights, June 24, 1883—8 p. m.
Major-General SCHENCK,
Commanding Eighth Army Corps:

We have captured some officers and men to-day. The rebels are moving on
Hagerstown in large force. Ewell's and Longstreet’s corps have passed the ford
at Shepherdstown, and taken the route by Boonsborough to Hagerstown. Ewell
has passed beyond Hagerstown, toward Chambersburg.

DAN. TYLER,
Brigadier-General.
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Mr. Benjamin Brown, an influential man from Hagerstown, whom
{ know, came in this p. m., and reports as follows:

HEADQUARTERS,
Maryland Heights, June 24, 1863,
Major-General HALLECK,
Commander-in-Chief :
Mr. Benjamin Brown tells me he left wn at 8 o’clock thisa. m. Hesays:
“ Jenkins came into Hagerstown on the 15th, at 4 p. m., with about 2,000 mounted
men, and on the same day Ewell's men, about 12,000 and sixteen pieces of artillery,
arrived in Williamsport. Jenkins went down the Valley, and returned on Saturday
evening to Hagerstown with about 1,000 head of cattle and as many horses. On
Monday, the 22d, Jerkins and Ewell both started down the Valley toward Chambers-
burg. On Tuesday (yesterday), Johnson's division, about 22,000 men, arrived at
wn, and passed on to join Ewell. On Sunday, I saw General Ewell go into
the Catholic church. He is a’one-} man. Johnson has forty-three pieces of
artilery. I passed six regiments at Sharpsburg as I came down. They marched
toward Boonsborough. ?ﬁ:e men told me they were a part of Longstreet's corps,
which was coming on.” .
I counsider the reports reliable. I telegraph Mr. Brown’s words.
DAN. TYLER,
Brigadier-General.

Not having received any answer to the flag I sent yesterdaly;, and
knowing that General Lee was at Berryville, I dispatched the fol-
lowing : .
HEADQUARTERS,
Harper’s Ferry, W. Va., June 24, 1863.
General R. E. LEg,
Commanding Confederate Forces near Berryville, Va.:
8mm: In accordance with the rights and usages of war, two flags of truce have been
sent into your lines, requesting information as to the killed and wounded at Win-
chester, and in both cases answers were promised, but have not been received.
Ascertaining from what I consider reliable authority that you are at Be ille or
vicinity, I address you, and request the names of such killed and wounded officers
ascan be ascertained, and to know whether we can be permitted in any way to
contribute to the necessities of our officers and men prisoners in your hands.
Your obedient servant,
. DAN. TYLER,

Brigadier-General,

The officer retvrned with the information that the answer might
be expected at 10 a. m. fo-morrow at Bolivar Heights, which, for
reasons, 1 declined.

Telegraphed Major-General Halleck as follows:

HEADQUARTERS,
Maryland Heights, June 24, 1863—10 a. m.

Major-General HALLECK,

Commander-in-Chief:

t's corps, which camped last night between Berryville and Charlestown,
s to-day in motion, and before 6 o’clock this morning commenced croesing by the
ford 1 mile below Shepherdstown to Sharpsburg. 1 have reports from two reliable
parties thut at least 15,000 men have crossed the ford this morning, mainly artillery
and infantry. The troops all halted at Sharpsburg, and the wagons at 10 a. m. are
crossing.

DAN. TYLER,
Brigadier-General.

The defenses which for the last three days have been vigorously
od are now in a condition to hold the place against any force

hat will be brought against it; but it is now almost sure that Gen-
era] Log is not im_ﬁiued to attack Maryland Heights, and this opinion
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is somewhat strengthened by the information drawn from the pris-
oners taken yesterday that Maryland Heights will be taken by Gen-
eral Lee on his return without any fighting. This plan may suc-
ceed, if the rebels can capture Washington and Baltimore and hold
Pennsylvania; not otherwise.

June 25.—As it was aﬁparent from signal stations and also from
prisoners captured that the enemy was moving toward Pennsylvania,
a sharp lgokout was kept, and during the day the following to¥egrams
were sent:

HEADQUARTERS,
Maryland Heights, June 25, 1863—11 a. m.
Major-General HALLECK, : .
Commander-in-Chief : .

Two intelligent sergeants from the Ninth Alabama Regiment have just come in.
They say they belong to A. P. Hill's corps, and that it is all on the Maryland side
of the Potomac. They say Longstreet’s corps is between Berryville and Charles-
town, coming on. The officers and men captured yesterday and these deserters
will be sent to Baltimore to-day.’

DAN. TYLER,

Brigadier-General.

HEADQUARTERS,
. Maryland Heights, June 25, 1863.
Major-General HOOKER,
Commanding Army of the Potomac: )
A citizen reports that the rebel troops at Boonsborough are moving from there
toward Emmitsburg. : ’
DAN. TYLER,”

Brigadier-General.

HEADQUARTERS,
Maryland Heights, June 25, 18632 p. m.
Major-General HOOKER,
Commanding Army of the Potomac:
I am satisfied Ewell is at or beyond Hagerstown. A. P. Hill's co is between
Shar{xlsburg and Boonsborough, and Longstreet's corps is between Berryville and
p

Shepherdstown. Three or four regiments have crossed at Shepherdstown Ford
to-day. Two sergeants, deserters from A. P. Hill, report him last night at Sharps-
burg.
DAN. TYLER,
Brigadier-General.
HEADQUARTERS,

Maryland Heights, June 25, 1863—2 p. m.
Lieut. Col. DONN PIATT, ’
Chief of Staff:

Our 24-pounder howitzers all in position, but we require eight more to perfect our
defenses. If possible, induce General Ripley to order them at once, with 160 rounds
of assorted ammunition per gun. If we are taken, it will be for want of these
howitzers ; mark that. ill you send me map of Harper’s Ferry, which Colonel
Raynolds says you have in the adjutant-general’s office?

DAN. TYLER,
Brigadier-General.

HEADQUARTERS,
Maryland Heights, June 256 1863—4 p. m,
Major-General HOOKER

Commanding'Army of the Potomac:

That portion of the rebels ing by Boonsborough are evidently taking the route
by Emmitsburg into Pennsylvania. A, P, Hill's corps passed Sharpsburg this a. m.,
direct for Hagerstown. T

DAN. TYLER,

Brigadier-General,
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HEADQUARTERS,
Maryland Heights, June 25, 1863—5 p. m.
SECRETARY OF WAR:

Have made three attempts to communicate with the enemy as to the wounded,
&c.at Winchester. They received the flags and letters, and fixed times for replying,
but they failed to reply. The last time fixed was 5 p. m. yesterday, and they met
w with the information that no reply had been received, and proposed when re-
ceived to send it in to Bolivar Heights. This I declined. My letter was addressed
to General Lee, at Berryville, where I knew he was on the 23d instant. 1 can hold
Harper's Ferry.

DAN. TYLER,

Brigadier-General.

To-lay the howitzers received from the Washington Arsenal were
placed in ition, and I consider the defenses so far completed that,
with the force now here, Maryland Heights should be held against
Lee’s army. A few more 24-pounder howitzers would add to the
defenses, and should be furnished at an early day.

Jewett’s brigade, from Heintzelman’s corps, arrived to-day, 1,700
strong, with one light battery, two or three squadrons of cavalry,
making the effective force for duty at 6 p. m. about 10,500 men. The
arrival of Jewett's brigade increased the garrison to the maximum
required for a good de%ense of the Maryland Heights and the protec-
tion of the ford and bridge over the Potomac at Harper’s Ferry. Ten
thousand effective men will thoroughly cover the bank of the Poto-
mac, the ground between Fort Duncan and Maryland Heights, and
thoroughly and effectively garrison the Heights, so as to put it be-
vond the power of 20,000 men to carry the Heights by assault. In
the defense of the Maryland side, three light batteries are at this time
appropriated, and will always be indispensable in case of an invest-
ment or attack.

June 26.—With a clear atmosphere, we have this morning a cap-
ital view from the signal station of the whole country from Charles-
town to Sharpsburg, and it is clear to my mind that the entire force
of Lee’s army has passed on toward Pennsylvania, and that the
foree discernible in the Valley is merely enough to guard the Shep-
herdstown Ford and the line of communication from Winchester to
Sharpsburg; and, under this impression, I telegraphed Major-General
Hooker as follows:

. HEADQUARTERS,
Maryland Heights, June 28, 1863—8 p. m.
Major-General HOOKER,
Commanding Army of the Potomac :

The signal officer reports, with the best possible view, two small camps On]ﬁ on
Virginia side, near Shepherdstown, with heavy cavalry pickets extending to Hall-
fown: a large camp to the right of Sharpsburg (guard to the ford), with sixty wall-
tents pitched.

DAN. TYLER,
Brigadier-General.

I add to this Col. W. F. Raynolds’ (U. S. Engineers) report of
the engineering operations on the Maryland side of the Potomac
“rom June 16 to 26, and will only say that, within the short period
that Col. W. F. Raynolds was employed, the modifications and
changes on the work were carried on with great skill and enengy,
and were so far completed on June 26 that I telegraphed to the
Secretary, ““I can hold Maryland Heights.”
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The following letter was forwarded to Colomnel Piatt, chief of staff:

HEADQUARTERS,
Maryland Heights, June 26, 1863,
Lieutenant-Colonel DONN PIATT,

Chief of Staff:
Sir: With all our teleﬂgﬁhing you cannot be fully up as to our doings
here, and, asthe mails I think are safe, I shall write you fully up to this time. I will

not attempt a description of the state in which I found matters here on assuming
command. I am thankful I was not attacked then, and am fully indifferent asto
whether I am attacked now. Colonel Raynolds has been very busily engaged, and
has, by various constructions, added very considerably to the defenses of the place.
He is still at work, and in a few days the outline and essential parts of the fortifica-
tions will be 80 far finished as to be defensible, and they will be improved and com-
&ted by constant application of all the labor that can be employed on them. Since

lonel Raynolds arrived, the position of many of the guns has been shifted, and at
this moment I believe all the artillery is posted in the possible manner. Asto
the condition of the troops, it has considerably improved during the week and is fast
improving. The men enter with spirit into the labor of throwing up the fortifica-
tions, and I see a growing confidence among officers and men that the works can
be held against any force that will be probably brought against us.

The men from Milroy's command are brigaded with Smith's men from Martins-
burg, and are under the command of Brigadier-General Elliott, a competent officer,
who is getting the brigade into good fighting trim.

In quartermaster’s supplies we are short, the quartermaster having sent every-
thing to Baltimore. We want tents, camp equipage, clothing, &c., which are fur-
nished by that department, and must have them. As to commissary stores, we are,
as I think, well enough off, having fifteen days’ rations, and I deem this amount
enough to keep here, for the reason that we have no store-house to receive them, and
if we can hold out fifteen days I know we can and shall be rélieved, and I do not
sup the road between here and Baltimore can be so held that we cannot use it
if absolutely necessary.

I note what you say as to the want of troops in Pennsylvania; still, my uugressmn
is that the begt place to reorganize Milroy's command is here, even if you er
to Pennsylvania a certain part of our garrison to replace them. I would willingly
E;ve one for two as fast as they came here. I do not think at this moment I would

gainer by the exchange, but I think the service would be greatly benefited by
the more speedy reorganization of Milroy's men, bringing the men of the different
regiments of that command at once together. My telegrams have kept you
as to the movements in my front. Iam satisfied by this time that the Govern-
ment is convinced that this is a movement of the bulk of Lee’s army, with Lee in
command, into Maryland and Pennsylvania. I am satisfied Ewell, Longstreet, and
A. P, Hill, all Lee's corps commanders, are now between Charlestown, Va., and
Harrisburg, Pa., and I think all those on this side of the Potomac.

Colonel Jewett’s brigade, 1,700 strong, reported this morning. He belongs to
Heintzelman’s corps, and is ordered here by Hooker. With it, I have force enough,
and will hold myself responsible for this position. Colonel Jewett had orders tc
report to me. I do not understand General Hooker's object, but probably shall
throug‘l;,Major-General French. .

ith great respect, your obedient servant,

DAN. TYLER,
Brigadier-General.
Major-General French arrived, and issued the following orders :
GIENERAL ORDERS, HEADQUARTERS TROOPS,
No. 4. Harper's Ferry, W. Va., June 28, 1863.

By virtue of Special Orders, No. 171, headquarters Army of Potomac, June 24,
1863, the undersigned assumes command of the troops at Harper’s Ferry.
‘WM. H. FRENCH,
Magor-General, U. S. Volunleers.

SPECIAL ORDERS, } HEADQUARTERS TROOPS,
No. 12. Harper's Ferry, W. Va., June 28, 1868.
Brigadier-General Tyler is relieved from duty with this command, and will re-
port to Major-General Schenck for duty.
By command of Major-General French:
H. Y. RUSSELL,
Lieutenant, and Aide-de-Camp,
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The foregoing contains a full report of the operations at Harper’s
g:rry 11:0 the time I was relieved of the command by Major-General
ench.
With great respect, your obedient servant,
DAN. TYLER,
Brigadier-General of Volunicers.

Lieut. Col. DoNN PiIATT,
Chief of Staff, Eighth Army Corps.

HEADQUARTERS DELAWARE DEPARTMENT,
Wilmington, Del,, August 18, 1863,
SIr: On the 9th instant I addressed you, through my assistant ad-
jutant-general, in answer to your telegram of the same date, sug-

esting that information as to the evacuation of Martinsburg ('.()uﬁi
ﬁe obtained from the headquarters of the Middle Department, Bal-
timore. There are certain omissions connected with the affair at
Martinsburg in my official regort which I wish to place before you,
to be communicated, with the papers referred to in the letter of
the 9th instant, to the court of inquiry of which you are the judge-
advocate. .

Special Orders, No. 159, June 13, was put in my hands at 10 p. m.
on 13?: day it was issued, and at 12 o’clock, by a special train, I left
for Harper’s Ferry. Arrived at Harper’s Ferry at 5 o’clock, and,
after consulting Brigadier-General Kelley, as directed by the order,
who assured me that he knew from his scouts that not a man except-
ing Imboden’s, Jones’, and Jackson’s corgs were in the Valley (Ewell’s
entire corps were then at Winchester), I proceeded to Martinsburg,
arriving there at 8§ a. m., and found Colonel Smith’s pickets alre
engaged with the enemy. Immediately on arriving, I telegraphed
Co%onel Piatt, chief of staff, as follows:

MARTINSBURG,
June 14, 1863—8 a. m.
Col. DONN PIATT,
Chief of Staff, Baltimore:

If there is not a t scare here, the enemy is advancing on Martinsburg in con-
i siderable force,and is not over 8 miles distant. Parts of two regiments and one
|  battery are our whole force, and as soon as we know the truth I shall decide what
| we shall do, and in the meantime we are preparing for alternatives, and hope to
‘ choose the best.
| DAN. TYLER,
\

Brigadier-General.
At 10 o’clock, the following telegram was sent to Colonel Piatt:

MARTINSBURG, W. V4.,
June 14, 18683—10 a. m.
Colonel PiaTT,
Chief of Staff:

A scout has just arrived with a dispatch from Milroy, whose headquarters he left
at 11 o’clock last night. Milroy reports Ewell’s entire corps in and around Win-
chester, June 18, 15,000 to 18,000 strong, with Jones’ and Imboden’s forces; that they
fought yesterday with success; quite a loss on both sides. Milroy advises Smith, at
Martinsburg, to be on his guard, as he apprehends a raid on Martinsburg and Har-

s Ferry.
pec’s Forry DAN. TYLER,
Brigadier-General.
3 R R—VOL XXVII, PT II
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About this time, Colonel Smith’s quartermaster, in charge at Mar-
tinsburg, came on to the field, and inquired of me where Colonel
Smith could be found, as he wished to know what disposition should
be made of the wagon train, stating that all the Government prop-
erty, excepting a small quantity of forage, had been sent by cars to
Harper’s g‘err , and that the teams were harnessed and ready to
move, As Cof:)nel Smith was not at hand, and conceiving that no
time should be lost, I-ordered the quartermaster to take charge of-
the teams, and to move as rapidly as possible toward Williamsport,
and, unless he had orders to the contrary, to move from Williams-
port to Pennsylvania. ‘ .

It will be seen by my report of June 25 that, from the time of my
arrival at Martinsburg, I had looked upon a retreat asinevitable, and
that the only question was when and where to make it.

Before 12 o’clock I notified Colonel Smith that a retreat was in-
evitable, and early in the afternoon it was agreed between Colonel
Smith and myselg’ that at all events the troops would retreat on
‘Williamsport at sundown, if not forced to do so before.

The attack in the morning demonstrated that the rebel forces had
passed Winchester, and the information received that they had cap-
tured Bunker Hill made it probable that they were in force sufficient
to whip the force at Martinsburg, and that they were only awaiting
artillery, as it was evident from 10 a. m. until near sunset that it was
our artillery, in the absence of any guns on the part of the rebels,
which kept them in check.

Milroy’s dispatch, stating that he had been attacked on the 13th by
Ewell’s force, of from 15,000 to 18,000 men, and Imboden’s and Jones’
forces, always estimated at from 6,000 to 8,000, making a total of over
20,000 men, convinced me, havinfz only left Winchester on the even-
ing of June 11, that General Milroy would be defeated on Sunday,
the 14th instant, as it was apparent from Milroy’s dispatch that the
attack was made by one of the most efficient army corps of Lee’s
%;‘nﬁy, and the inference was fair that this corps was not alone in the

alley. 7

The following copy of a telegram to Major-General Schenck will
show the opinion I entertained of General Milroy’s position:

MARTINSBURG, W, VaA.,
June 11, 1863.
Major-General SCHENCK,
Commanding Middle Department :

Left Winchester at 2 o’clock this p. m. Milroy deserves credit for his fortifica-
tions, &c. It will take all Lee’s cavalry and light artillery to whip him out. If
threatened with nothing more, I think he can keep his position.

DAN. TYLER,
Brigadier-General,

From 12 o’clock until sunset the question was the émoper time to
commence the retreat. If the retreat had commenced immediately
after the departure of the baggage train toward Williamsport, the
train might have confused the retreating column, and it was clear,
if it could be done, that the best plan was to arrest the rebel cavalry
at Martinsburg, and give the train time to secure its passage into
Pennsylvania. This was done, and the train escaped.

The next thing (as it was impossible with the small force at Mar-
tinshurg to move forward to Bunker Hill, as suggested in Orders, No.
159), was to hold on at Martinsburg until the last moment, in order
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to cover any men who might escape in that direction from Win-
chester, and forI that o‘;)ggctl,fand f%li the sﬁac]l:irit of tht;a Ma.rtinslburg
train, I pro , if possible, to ho artinsburg until sun-
mgsy which Igim%ol sup the baggage train would be safe,
and the troops escaping in the way of Martinsburg would have ar-
rived. The result was, the baggage train did escape, and not a man
of Milroy’s defeated army attempted to escape by way of Martins-
burg, the rebels having completely cut off his retreat in that direc-
tion. To cover the chance of an opportunity to assist Milroy, the
holding on to Martinsburg until near sunset was manifestly im-
rtant, and at the same time offered a chance for the Martinsburg
orce to escape. To have held on later (say until next morning),
would have done no good, and would have insured the capture of
the entire Martinsburg command. Is was evident the enemy was in
force, and had commenced a serious attack, and there was nothing
in the character or condition of Colonel Smith’s command to au-
thorize the least hope that the attack could be repulsed, and there
was every reason to believe that under the circumstances the good
of the service required these troops, if possible, for the garrison at
Harper’s Ferry. The loss of four pieces of Maulsby’s battery re-
quires more explanation than I am a%le to give, as I have ag yet no
report from Caﬁtain Maulsby. Captain Maulsby, by his conduct at
Mgl?tinsburg, showed that he was a gallant soldier, and there can be
no doubt but that he can satisfactorily explain his conduct in con-
nection with the loss of his guns.

Maulsby’s battery, after 6 p. m. of the 14th instant, was divided,
one section, under the command of a lieutenant, facing to the west,
covering some rebel infantry and cavalry that were moving in that
direction on Martinsbur%. e other two sections, commanded by -
Captain Maulsby, were facing south, covering the rebel forces that
were ing either to amuse or attack the forces posted on the hill
near the cemetery. The detached section was 150 yards to the rear
of the section under the immediate command of Captain Maulsby,
and the lieutenant in command was alone responsible for the section.

Just before sunset the rebels for the first time showed that they
had artillery in position, as they opened fire from six or eight guns
with good range. The first shot passed over Captain Maulsby’s four
guns, and plunged into the detached section, killing and wounding
some horses, and producing a bad effect in the infantry supports, a
battalion of the One hundred and sixth New York Volunteers, which
fell back in disorder. For the next twenty minutes I exerted my-
self personally in rallying the infantry and 1n stimulating Maulsby’s
two sections to serve the guns as steadily and rapidly as possible, to
cover the retreat, for which it was evident the time had come. Not
finding Colonel Smith on the field, I then ordered Captain Maulsby
to throw a half dozen shets from each of his guns as rapidly as pos-
sible, and then to limber up and follow the infantry. Onriding to
the rear, I found one piece of the detached séction limbered up and the
other rolled down the hill, upset, and the limber missing, and that
Colonel Smith, with his regiment, had left the field, whﬁe the One
hundred and sixth New York Volunteers were standing in line, a
garently awaiting orders. It was evident that something should be

one at once, and, being unable to find Colonel Smith, I ordered the
One hundred and sixth New York to move to the rear, and rode for-
ward myself to ascertain what had become of Colonel Smith and the
Ore hundred and twenty-sixth Ohio, and, finding neither, I sent a
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staff officer, Captain Woodhull, to the Williamsport road, who re-
turned without any information as to Colonel Smith or his regiment,
but with the information that the rebels had entered Martinsburg,
and were already on or near the Williamsport road.

During the absence of Captain Woodhull, I had been looking un-
successfully for Colonel Smith and his regiment on the Shepherds-
town road, and, riding back, met the One hundred and sixth New
York near the point where that road turns off from the Williams-
port road, and seeing that the Williamsport road was already in
possession of the rebels, and nothing heard from Colonel Smith, the
only course left was to take the Shepherdstown road, and risk the
direct march to Harper’s Ferry. After marching nearly a mile, Col-
onel Smith with his regiment was found on the same road. Being a
stranger and entirely unacquainted with the roads, and the guides,
whom Colonel Smith had notified me were on the field, having dis-
appeared, I had to assure myself by personal inquiry as to the differ-
ent roads, and it was not until the column was halted and reformed
after overtaking Colonel Smith's regiment that I ascertained that
Maulsby’s battery was not in the column. Seeing artillery moving
with the rear of the column, I had supposed the entire battery was
present.

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,
DANIEL TYLER,
Brigadier-General.
Capt. R. N. Scorr,
Judge-Advocate.

ADDENDA,

HEADQUARTERS DELAWARE DEPARTMENT,
Wilmington, Del., September 10, 1863.

Lieut. Col. DONN PiaTT,
Chief of Staff, Eighth Army Corps, Baltimore, Md. :

COLONEL : Some time since I forwarded to the headquarters Mid-
dle Department my report of the operations in and around Harper’s
Ferry, from the 15th to the 26th day of June, 1863, and, in justice to
myself, in reference to a certain investigation recently made by the

ar Department, I ask that the report may be sent to the headquar-
ters of tﬁe army or to the Secretary of War, with such remarks as
the major-general commanding may think proper.*

I feel it due the service to set forth in this report the facts con-
nected with the administration of affairs previous to my arrival
there, and to state that the condition of things on the Maryland shore
and on Maryland Heights was such that a sudden attack with a small
force on the 14th June would have successfully carried the works.

So far as I could learn, the troops were doing nothing to strengthen
the defenses, and although Brigadier-General Kelley received notice
on the 14th of June that he might be attacked, and that Ewell had
already attacked Milroy, and that McReynclds had evacuated Berry-
ville, and that Martinsburg was attacked, still, not a move was made
at Harper’s Ferry; all the subsistence, forage, ammunition, hospitals
and hospital stores, and other similar sup(flies were left or exposed
on the &{Pirginia side, and, had the enemy advanced in any force, their
capture was inevitable.

* Reference is to original of report of July 1, a copy of which (printed on pp.
19-88) was submitted to the court of inquiry.
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I feel obliged, in justice, to report that when Brigadier-General
Kelley received orders to turn over the command to me, he merel
reported the order to me, and left immediately with his whole sta
by the first train of cars, and that I could not find a single record
or report of the command, and the only means I had of ascertaining
subsistence, ammunition, supplies, forage, &c., was by taking in-'
ventories of the same. I deem it my duty to report these matters to
department headquarters, as I feel that %riga ier-General Kelley’s
neglect during a somewhat long command at Harper’s Ferry to put
the place in a condition for defense, and to have availed himself of
the means in his hands for that purpose, was inexcusable, and might
have brought disgrace on the service and inflicted a great injury on the
campaign of 1863; and I am compelled to this course from the fact
that for more than a week after I relieved Brigadier-General Kelley
I felt that this disgrace and injury would be put to my charge, owing
mainly to General Kelley's neglect of duty.

‘With great respect, your obedient servant,
DAN. TYLER,
Brigadier-General.

No. 381.

R%ort of Col. Benjamin F. Smith, One hundred and twenty-sixth
t_hitl)m nfantry, commanding Third Brigade, of attack upon Mar-
insburg.

MarvLAND HEIGHTS, June 27, 1863,

GENERAL: I have the honor to make the following report of the
attack on Martinsburg, W, Va,, on the 14th instant:

The United States troops at Martinsburg consisted of eight com-
}éanies of the One hundred and twenty-sixth Ohio Volunteers, Lieut.

ol. William H. Harlan commanding ; eight companies of the One
hundred and sixth New York Volunteers, Col. E. C. James com-
mandinfg; Maulsby’s Independent West Virginia Battery ; one com-
rany of cavalry, of the First Battalion Potomac Home Brigade,
Maryland Volunteers, Captain Firey commanding; a small detach-
ment from the First New g)(ork Cavalry, and a few of the Thirteenth
Pennsylvania Cavalry.

It was expected some days before that an attack would be made on
the place, and I had received orders to make preparations accord-
ing}lsy. All the stores at the depot were loaded on the cars, and sent
to Baltimore and Harper’s Ferry, in anticipation of an attack by an
overwhelming force.. Brigadier-General Tyler, with his staff, con-
sisting of Capt. Max Woodhull and Lieut. E. L. Tyler, had been
directed by Major-General Schenck, commanding Eighth Army
Corps, to proceed to Martinsburg, and make sure that proper dis-
positions would be made according to circumstances.

About 8 a. m. Sunday, June 14, my vedettes were driven in, and
reported the enemy advancing by the Winchester turnpike in force.
I immediately ordered the whole of my command to move in that
direction, and take a position behind the stone fences between the
Winchester and Charlestown roads, throwing out skirmishers and
scouts in all directions, endeavoring to find out the strength and posi-
tion of the enemy.” My orders were to fall back on Harper’s Ferry,
if attacked by a superior force, either by the Williamsport or by the
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direct road. Finding that my position was one that could be easil
cut off from these roads, with the approbation of General Tyler,
changed my position to the high ground near the cemetery and nearer
the roads. l{ object was to gain time, so that I could get my bri-

ade train well on the road to Williamsport. This I succeeded in

oing by throwing an occasional shell and keeping my skirmishers
well out to engage the enemy. '

About noon, I received the following communication from General

A. G. Jenkins, commanding rebel troops, viz:

HEADQUARTERS, &cC.,
Camp near Martinsburg, June 14, 1868.
The Commanding Officer U. 8. Forces near Martinsburg: *

SIR : I herewith demand the surrender of Martinsburg. Should you refuse, you
are respectfully requested to notify the inhabitants of the place to remove forthwith
to a place of safety. Small-arms only will be used for one hour upon the town after
your reception of this note. After that, I shall feel at liberty to shell the town, if I
see proper. Should you refuse to give the necessary notification to the inhabitants,
I shall be compelled to hold your command responsible.

Very respectfully, yours,
ey respes A. G. JENKINS,

Brigadier-General, &e.
P. S.—An immediate reply is necessary.

. To this communication 1 rgj)lied as follows, having first submitted
it for the approval of General Tyler:
HEADQUARTERS U. 8. FOROES,
Martinsburg, Va., June 14, 1868.
A. Q. JENKINS,
Brigadier-General, &c.:

GENERAL : Martinsburg will not be surrendered. You may commence shelling as

soon as you choose. I will, however, inform the women and children of your threat.
Very respectfully, yours,
B. F. SMITH,

Colonel, Commanding U. S. Forces.

Immediately after their demand, I notified the inhabitants, and they
left the town 1n large numbers. Jenkins did not open his musketry
and artillery, as he threatened, but was held in check until near sun-
set, when I had received notification that all my wagons had crossed
the ferry at Williamsport, and I was prepared to fall back. - Just as
I had given orders to the pickets and skirmishers to fall back slowly
and cautiously, the enemy opened 13)011 me from three different points,
their batteries having during the day obtained my range. I had ten
minutes before given the order to limber up and get under arms, pre-
paratory to falling back to the ferry, when the enemy opened with
such a concentrated fire it cannot be wondered at that the men were
thrown into temporary confusion. However, I brought the men off
in good order, and was not followed by the enemy on the Shepherds-
town road, which I took with the main portion of the command,
crossing the Potomac at Shepherdstown Ford, and following the tow-
path of the canal to Maryland Heights, where I arrived safely, and
reported to General B. F. Kelley, commanding.

One section of Maulsby’s battery, commanded by Lieut. John S,
S. Herr, went with the main body of the command on the Shepherds-
town road, but one of his pieces overturning in a gully was lost, the
wheel being broken. Thelimber was brought away. The other two
sections of the battery, under Capt. Thomas A. Maulsby, with Lieu-
tenants Graham and Means, took the Williamsport road, and, after
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some resistance, the guns were captured by the enemy, and Captain
Maulsby wounded in the leg, but escaped with his officers and most
of his men and horses,

The detachment of the First New York Cavalry, Lisutenants Mar-
tindale and Jesse F. Wyckoff, and Captain Firey's company (B),
First Battalion Potomac Home Brigade, Maryland Volunteer Cav-
alry, and a small number of the Thirteenth Pennsylvania Cavalry
rendered valuable and important service, especially when the rebe
cavalry charged through the town in large numbers, our small force
of cavalry contending for every inch of ground.

Company I, One hundred and twenty-sixth Ohio Volunteers, Capt.
Henry C. Yontz, stationed at the block-house at Opequon Creek, was
captured by the enemy, with the exception of 2 officers and 13 men.
Captain Yontz, having endeavored to escape with his company by the
Wﬁh’ams ort road, was surrounded by the enemy. The 3 medical
officers of the One hundred and twenty-sixth Ohio Volunteers fell
into the hands of the enemy, with a few medical stores, a small quan-
tity of ammunition, and a few arms. No quartermaster’s or com-
missary stores were lost. A small pile of forage was burned as we
were leaving.

About 200 men of the whole command are missing, but are sup-
posed mostly to be stragglers, as they are constantly coming in,

The number of killed and wounded is not known, but is very small,
The rebels suffered more than ourselves; 7 killed, I have heard of, and
quite 8 number wounded.

On my arrival at the Shepherdstown Ford (I had gone ahead with
a small escort to examine the ford), a volley was fired upon us from
the opposite bank. This turned out to be from our own pickets, who
had mistaken us for the enemy, the night being very dark. No one
hurt, fortunately.

The forced march to Maryland Heights from Martinsburg was long
and fatiguing, but we congratulate ourselves that we held in check a
whole day a vastly superior force of the enemy, leaving him an empty
town, as far as supplies were concerned, when he expected to find a
depot stored with everything be desired.

have the honor to be, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
B. F. SMITH,
Col. 126th Ohio Vol. Inf., Comdyg 3d Brig., 1st Div., 8th Corps.

Brig. Gen. DanigL TYLER, :
Baltimore, Md

No. 382,

Report of Col. Edward C. James, One hundred and sixth New
York Infantry, of operations June 13-15.

MarvLaND HEIGHTS, MD., June 26, 1863.

8ir : I have the honor to submit the following report of the move-
ments of the One hundred and sixth New York Volunteers, from the
time of their leaving North Mountain, Va., on the 13th instant, until
their arrivabat Maryland Heights, June 15:

At noon on Saturday, June 13, I received orders by telegraph from
Col. B. F. Smith, One hundred and twenty-sixth Ohio Volunteers,
commanding Third Brigade, First Division, Eighth Army Corps, to



40 N. C, VA, W. VA., MD., PA., ETO, [Crar. XXXIX.

which my regiment was attached, to fall back with my command
from North Mountain, Va., where I was then stationed, to Martins-
burg, Va. I immediately complied with this order, breaking Uf) my
ca.m{)), and shipping by cars to Harper’s Ferry what property 1 was
unable to place upon my train of ten wagons. .
At 4 p. m. I left North Mountain, leaving behind a hospital, with
some 11 sick men, who could not be moved, in charge of First Asst.
Surg. F. H. Pettit. We reached Martinsburg about 7.30 p. m., hav-
ing marched 9 miles, and reported to Colonel Smith. My command
bivouacked Saturday night on the Stewart farm, north of the village
and a few rods from the railroad.

About 10 a. m. Sunday, I received orders to move out on the
Winchester road, where our pickets were already engaged with the
enemy’s advance. Upon arriving there, I took up a position on the
right of the road, throwing forward two companies as skirmishers,
who soon became engage(f but without loss. I remained with my
command in this position without material change until nearly 2
{)j m., when I was ordered to recall my skirmishers and move to

nion Hill, on the east side of the town. This change of position
was accomplished by the entire command without difficulty. Soon
after taking my position, I was informed by Colonel Smith that we
would retreat to Harper’s Ferry at nightfall, via Williamsport, and
ordered to follow the One hundred and twenty-sixth Regiment Ohio
Volunteers in the column of retreat.

Meanwhile the left wing of my regiment, under command of Lieu-
tenant-Colonel Embick, was detached and placed in position behind
four guns of Maulsby’s battery, a short distance in advance of the
main force. We remained in this position until sunset, occasionally
shelling the enemy when ‘they appeared within range, and our skir-
mishers keeping up a desultory Ere.

As the sun went down, I received orders to prepare to retreat, and
to recall the left wing of my regiment. While they were moving to
rejoin us, and the One hundred and twenty-sixth Ohio was leavin
the field, the enemy opened upon us a terrific fire of shot, shell, an
grape. The Ohio regiment immediately left the field. 1 dispatched
my adjutant to Colonel Smith, to know if we should follow. He re-
turned with the reply, ““ Yes,” when I immediately moved down the
hill by a flank march. My regiment staggered for a moment under
the storm of missiles, rallied again in an instant, and marched steadily
from the field, fortunately without the loss of a man. We drew up
in line of battle as soon as we were out of range, when Brigadier-
General Tyler, who at this moment assumed command, ordered us
to move rapidly out upon the Shepherdstown road toward Harper's
- Ferry. en 2 miles out, we overtook the One hundred and twenty-
sixth Ohio Regiment. By rapid marching we reached Shepherds-
town at midnight, forded the river, and on the 15th instant arrived
at Harper’s Ferry.

My loss at Martinsburg in prisoners is 1 officer (Second Lieut. W.
A. Merry, Company A, who was calling in the outposts at the time
of retreat{ and about 20 men, most of whom were sick or crippled
and unable to keep up. Two ambulances were abandoned by their
drivers, who took off the horses, and one wagon, overloaded with
ﬁmrélunition, was [upset] in fording Tuscarora Creek,'and left be-

ind.

The regimental wagon train sent early in the day toward Williams-
port, Md., arrived safely in Harrisburg, Pa.
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In this movement but eight companies of my regiment were en-
gaged, the remainder being paroled prisoners at Annapolis, Md.,
D arE the homor to be, very respectfull bedient t

I have the honor , VO ully, your obedient servant,

i ED%VARD C. JAMES,
Colonel.
Lieutenant-Colonel LUSK,
Assistant Adjutant-General,

No. 383.

Report of Maj. Gen. Robert H. Milroy, U. S. Army, commanding
Second Division, of operations June 1-15.

BALTIMORE, MD.,
“June 30, 1863,

CoLONEL: I have been compelled by the exigencies of public duties
connected with my late command to defer until the present time a
report of the recent operations about Winchester. Having no re-
ports from brigade commanders, and not even an oggortunity of
conferring with them, I am still unable to give adetailed report. A
sense of duty to myself and to the officers and soldiers whom I had
the honor to command requires that I should submit some general
statements.

I occupied Winchester with my command on December 25 last, and
. continued in the occupancy up to Monday morning, the 15th instant,
when, for reasons which will appear in the sequel of this report, 1
was compelled to evacuate it.
~ When I first occupied Winchester, the Valley of the Shenandoah
- from Staunton to Strasburg was occupied by the rebel General Jones,
" with a force variously estimated at from 5,000 to 6,000 men, and con-
stituted prin ‘iPa.lly of cavalry. Imboden at the same time occupied
the Cacapon Valley with a force composed of infantry, cavalry, and
artillery, estimated at 1,500 men. These were the only forces by
which I was in danger of being assailed, unless by a force from
Lee’s army, which, it was .supposed, would be prevented from hos-
tile demonstrations in my direction by the Army of the Potomac.

The object of holdin inchester was to observe and hold in check
the rebel forces in the Valley, and to secure the Baltimore and Ohio
Railroad against depredations.

Late in March, in pursuance of an order issued upon my own sug-
gestion, I stationed the Third Brigade of my division, consisting of
the Sixth Regiment Maryland Volunteer Infantry, Sixty-seventh
Regiment Pennsylvania Volunteer Infantry, First Regiment New
York Cavalry, and the Baltimore Battery, at Berryville, Colonel
McReynolds, of the First New York Cavalry, commanding. My
instructions to Colonel McReynolds were to keep open our commu-
nication with Harper’s Ferry and to watch the passes of the Blue
Ridge (Snicker’s and Ashby’s Gaps) and the fords of the Shenandoah
" River known as Snicker’s and Berry’s. To this end he was to cause
to be diligently scouted the country between him and those localities
' and as far south as Millwood. I was expressly instructed to under-
. take no offensive operations in force. Acting in accordance with
these instructions, I kept my forces well in hand in the vicinities of
Berryville and Winchester, excepting that during the expedition of
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General Jones into West Virginia, by order from your headquarters,
I sent portions of them into that State. During my occupancy of
‘Winchester, I almost continually kept .out heavy cavalry scouts on
the Front Royal road as far as Front Royal, and on the Strasburg
road as far as Strasburg. My cavalry frequentlf drove the enemy’s
pickets as far up the Valley as Woodstock, and 1 held almost undi
puted possession of the Valley as far as Strasburg until about June
1. Bymeans of these cavalry expeditions, and information furnished
me by Union citizens, I kept myself continually posted as to the
rebel forces in the Valley under Jones and Imboden, and was at no
time deceived as to their numbers or movements.

About June 1 the enemy became bolder, and small detachments of
his cavalry were met as far down the Valley as Middletown.

On Friday, June 12, for the purpose of ascertaining whether there
had been any accumulation of rebel forces in my front, I sent out
two strong reconnoitering parties, one on the Strasburg and the
other on the Front Royal road. The one on the Strasburg road con-
sisted of the Eighty-seventh Pennsylvania Volunteer Infantry, Thir-
teenth Pennsylvania Volunteer Cavalry, and one section of %a.ttery
L, Fifth U. S. Artillery, under command of Colonel Schall, of the
Eighty-seventh Regiment Pennsylvania Volunteer Infantry. This
reconnaissance was conducted with energy, in pursuance of instruc-
tions, and its results were in every way satisfactory. The expedition
proceeded up the Valley, the cavalry in advance, but within support-
ing distance of the infantry and artillery, until it had arrived within
2 miles of Middletown, at which place a messenger from Major Xer-
win, who was in command of the cavalry, announced to Colonel
Schall that a superior force of cavalry of the enemy had been dis-
covered in line of battle immediately north of Middletown. The in-
fantry and artillery were immediately concealed, the former in a
dense grove to the right of the road and within 100 yards of the
same, and the latter behind a ridge. Our cavalry retired, skirmish-
ing with that of the enemy untiFhe was drawn within reach of the
fire of the infantry. Upon the first fire of our infantry the enemy
retreated grecipitately, ollowed by our cavalry, which pursued be-
yond Middletown.

In this affair the enemy lost 50 (as hag since been ascertained) in
killed and wounded, and we took 37 prisoners.

Colonel Schall remained on the ground for an hour, during which
time his cavalry gcoured the country in every direction, but could
detect no traces of an accumulation of rebel forces.

The prisoners taken all belonged to the Maryland Battalion and
Fourteenth Virginia Cavalry, troops which had been in the Valley
and on picket duty during the whole period of my occupancy of
‘Winchester. Besides, separate examinations of the prisoners dis.
closed that there was no accumulation of forces there. Colonel
Schall made his report to me about 7 o’clock in the evening, and i
relieved me from all apprehensions of an attack from the Strasbur
road. It is now known that no portion of Lee’s army approache
‘Winchester from that direction.

The reconnaissance on the Front Royal road was abortive. The
expedition consisted of the Twelfth Pennsylvania Cavalry, about 40(
strong, under command of Lieutenant-Colonel Moss. It returned t
‘Winchester about 3 o’clock in the afternoon on Friday. Its com:
manding officer reported that at Cedarville, a place about 12 miles
from Winchester, he had encountered a large force of the enemy,
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composed of cavalry, infantry, and artillery. It did not appear,
however, that he had placed himself in a position to ascertagge the
number or character of the force which he had encountered, or ex-
ercised the usual and necessary efforts to obtain that essential in-
formation. Officers of his command and reliable scouts who were
present gave contradictory reports.

This report was discredited by myself and by General Elliott, my
second in command. There was nothing in the report which indi-
cated the presence of General Lee’s army. It was supposed that the
force on the Front Royal road could not be other than the enemy
which we had faced during the occupancy of Winchester, or that
the a.nticis)lated cavalry raid of General Stuart was in progress,
against either or both of which combined I could have held my posi-
tion. I deemed it impossible that Lee’s army, with its immense
artillery and baggage trains, could have escaped from the Army of
the Potomac, and crossed the Blue Ridge through Ashby’s, Chester,
and Thornton Gaps in concentric columns. The movement must
have occupied five or six days, and notice of its being in progress
could have been conveyed to me from (eneral Hooker’s headquar-
ters in five minutes, for telegraphic communication still existed be-
tween Baltimore and Winchester.

On Friday night I doubled my pickets and kept out strong patrols
of cavalry on the leading roads, and I also sent a messenger to Colo-
nel McReynolds, at Berryville, notifying him that the enemy was
reported to be in considerable force on the Front Royal road. I in-
structed him to keep a strong party of observation in the direction
of Millwood; to place his command in readiness to move at a mo-
ment’s warning; if attacked by a superior force, to fall back upon
Winchester by the route which he might deem most practicable, and
that if his command should be needed at Winchester, he would be
notified by four discharges from the large guns at the main fort at
Winchester.

The whole forces under my command at this time were :

First Brigade, Brig. Gen. W. L. Elliott commandinig—One hun-
dred and tenth Regiment Ohio Volunteer Infantry, Colonel Keifer;

- One hundred and sixteenth Regiment Ohio Volunteer Infantry, Col-

onel Washburn; One hundred and twenty-second Regiment Ohio
Volunteer Infantry, Colonel Ball; One hundred and twenty-third

- Regiment Ohio Volunteer Infantry, Colonel Wilson; Thirteenth Reg-

iment Pennsylvania Cavalry, Colonel Galligher; Twelfth Regiment
Penns%lvania Cavalry, Lieutenant-Colonel Moss, and Battery L,
Fifth U. S. Artillery, Lieutenant Randolph. :

The Second Brigade, Colonel Ely, Eighteenth Connecticut, com-

- manding—The Eighty-seventh Regment Pennsylvania Volunteer

Infantry, Colonel Schall; Twelith Regiment West Virginia Volun-
teer antry, Colonel klunk; Eighteenth Regiment Connecticut
Volunteer Infantry, Lieutenant-Colonel Nichols; Fifth Regiment
Maryland Volunteer Infantry, Captain.Holton; Ba.tter¥‘ D, First
West Virginia Artillery, Captain ga.rlin; Company K, First West
Virginia Cavalry, Lieutenant Dawson, and Companies D and E,
Third West Virginia Cavalry, Captain White.

The heavy guns of the main fortifications—counsisting of four 20-
poander Parrotts and two 24-E)under howitzers—were served by a
company of the Fourteenth [First] Massachusetts Heavy Artillery,
commanded by Captain Martins, The command numbered, accord-
ing to Friday morning’s return, 6,900 effective men.
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On Saturday morning, at a few minutes before 8 o’clock, my cav-
alry patrols on the Front Royal road reported that the enemy was
approaching in force. Deeming it advisable that under the circum-
stances the whole command should be united at Winchester, I gave
Colonel McReynolds the concerted signal above stated. I imme-
diately sent forward on the Front Royal and Strasburg roads forces
to observe and report the forces and movements of the enemy. That
on the Front Royal road consisted of the Twelfth Pennsylvania Cav-
alry, Eighty-seventh Pennsylvania Volunteer Infantry, Eighteenth
Connecticut Infantry, Fifth Maryland Infantry, and one section of
Battery L, Fifth U. 8. Artillery, Colonel Ely commanding. A little
over a mile from Winchester this force encountered a battery of the
enemy’s artillery, located in a wood at the right of the Front Royal
road. After a short artillery skirmish, Colonel Ely retired his com-
mand to near the junction of the Front Royal and Strasburg roads,
immediately south of and a,df'oin'mg ‘Winchester. The enemy did not
pursue in force. ~ Occasionally during the day small detachments of
rebel cavalry approached from that direction, but were driven off by
our infantry piclgets, which were well protected, and directed to re-
main at their posts and act as skirmishers. The force on the Stras-
burg road consisted of the One hundred and tenth and One hundred
and twenty-third Ohio, the Twelfth West Virginia Infantrtv;, Thir-
teenth Pennsylvania Volunteer Cavalry, and Carlin’s battery,
Brigadier-General Elliott commanding.

A little to the west and adjoining Winchester is a high ridge,
which extends from the town south for over a mile to Mill Creek,
which is known as Apple-Pie Ridge. Around the southern terminus
of this ridge the creek and a mill-race wind across the Strasburg road,
and from thence in a northerly direction across the Front Royal road,
and north of that road to Hollingsworth Mills, where the race termi-
nates and the creek takes an abrupt easterly course. The whole
length of the race is about 2 miles. The creek and race combined
afford a strong protection against cavalry, and for that reason and
the additional one that stone fences and other covers abound in its
;ricinity, they had been adopted as a portion of my infantry pickei
ine.

. The force above designated, excepting two sections of Carlin’s bat-
tery, stationed on the southern extremity of the ridge above described,
proceeded up the Strasburg road to within a short distance of Kerns
town, where it remained, encountering noenemy, excepting occasiona

arties of skirmishers, until about 2 p. m., when Brigadier-Genera

lliott, through Lieutenant [William] Alexander, of his staff, re
ported to me at the place where the two sections of Carlin’s battery
were stationed that he could find no enemy in his front, but tha;
there were indications that he was massin Kis forces on our left, ir
the vicinity of the Front Royal road. then directed Genera
Elliott to retire his force on the Strasburg road back to the creel
and race above described, so as to put it in a position to suppor
Colonel Ely on the Front Royal road or the forces in the forts, as the
exigency might require. hile this order was being executed, anc
when General Elliott’s command had arrived within 600 yards of th
creek and race, a considerable force of the enemy’s infantry in tw«
lines of battle displayed itself to our right, with the apparent inten
tion to flank and cut off our retiring troops. I estimated the fore:
of the enemy then in sight at 2,000.

The two sections of Carlin’s battery on the ridge as above statec
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commanded the position of the enemy, and immediately opened on

him with sufficient effect to throw him into confusion, when the One

hundred and tenth Regiment Ohio Volunteer Infantry, Colonel

Keifer, and One hundred and twenty-third Regiment Ohio Volunteer

Infantry, Colonel Wilson, charged upon him and drove him back in

disorder with considerable loss. Simultaneously the Twelfth West

Virginia Infantry, Colonel Klunk, engaged a large body of the en-
emy’s skirmishers in a woods south of the ridge and on the opposite
side of the creek and race, and, after holding them in check some
two hours, being outflanked and greatly outnumbered, retired. Our
whole force, which had been advanced on the Strasburg road, retired
behind the creek and race above described. That creek and race
then constituted the line of our forces in front of the town, and was
held by Colonel Ely, with a portion of his brigade, on the Front

Royal road, and by General Elliott, with a portion of his brigade,

on the Strasburg road. The remainder of my forces were in the

forts immediately north of the town.

Immediately after our forces had retired from the Strasburg road
to the Winchester side of the creek and race, the enemy advanced his
skirmishers, and brigk skirmishing ensued until dark.

About 5 o’clock the enemy advanced and took possession of a
picket post, surrounded by a stone wall on the south, east, and west,
and which commanded the Strasburg road, from which they were
i‘xi&l()dged by two companies of the Twelfth West Virginia Volunteer

antry.

In tlfl); affair, which occurred about 6 o’clock in the evening, we
captured a prisoner, from whom I learned that.he belonged to Hays’

' Louisiana brigade, which was a part of Ewell’s corps, the whole of
- which, and part of Longstreet’s, was in our immediate vicinity. A
} deserter who came in shortly afterward confirmed his statement.
‘) This was the first intimation that I received that Lee’s army had
' quietly retired before the lines of the Army of the Potomac, and per-

?ormed a five or six days’ march.

Telegraphic communication with my headquarters continued until
12m. on é)a.turda{. The Blue Ridge screened the operations of Lee’s
army from me. I had always relied with implicit confidence upon
recelving timely notice by tele%ra.ph of its advance in my direction.

On Saturday, under cover of the night, I withdrew my forces on
the Strasburg and Front Royal roads in front of Winchester to the
southern suburbs of the town, under orders to retire to the forts
north of the town at 2 o’clock in the morning.

Colonel McReynolds arrived with his command between 9 and 10
p. m., and was assigned to the star fort, immediately north of the
main fortification. At this time it was evident that at least two corps
of Lee’s army, numbering not less than 50,000 men, and abundantly
supplied with artillery, were in my immediate vicinity, and that m

t by the Martinsburg and Berryville roads was cut off. 1 still
koped that there had been some corresponding action of the Army
of the Potomac, and that if I could sustain myself for twenty-four
hours I would be relieved.

Early on Sunday morning detachments of cavalry were sent out on
the Berryville and Martinsburg roads, but were driven back by the
enemy’s skirmishers and sharpshooters.

From 7 o’clock on Sunday morning until 4 o’clock in the afternoon
detachments of the Eighteenth Connecticut, Fifth Maryland, and
Eighty-seventh Pennsylvania Volunteer Infantry, under the direc-
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tion of Colonel Kly, continually skirmished with the enemy in front
of the forts and east of the town, between the Front Royal and Mar-
tinsburg roads. During this skirmishing the rebels took possession
of a large brick dwelling, surrounded by dense shrubbery, on the
Berryviﬁe road, about half a mile from Winchester. Our skirmishers
attacked and carried the house, killing 1 officer and 5 men and cap-
turing 11 prisoners. . '

At one time during the day the rebels in considerable numbers
appeared in the town, but were driven out by the Eighteenth Con-
necticut and Eighty-seventh Pennsylvania Infantry. '

On Sunday morning General Elliott, with a portion of his brigade,
Carlin’s battery, and the Twelfth West Virginia Volunteer Infantry,
took position on the ridge above described, about a quarter of a mile
south of the Romney road. He had frequent and sometimes severe
skirmishing. The enemy did not, however, at any time appear be-
fore him in force.

In consequence of the overwhelming masses of the enemy about
me, I kept my forces during the day well in hand and in immediate
connection with the forts.

As early as Saturday evening, after I learned of the presence of
Lee’s army in force, I made up my mind to act on the defensive,
economize my forces, wait until the enemy had massed himself for
the final attack, and then, unless relieved, force my way through
what might appear to be the weakest portion of his lines. My belief
was superinduced by the maneuvers of the enemy on Saturday and b
the ground that the real attack would come from the Romney road.

Early on Sunday morning, I ordered Captain Morgan, of the Twelfth
Pennsylvania Cavalry, with a detachment of two companies of that
regiment, to Eroceed out the Pughtown road as far as Pughtown, if
practicable; thence across to the omneff road, and by that road back
to the forts. Tinstructed him te carefully observe the disposition and
forces of the enemy, if any, in that direction. That officer returned
with his command to the forts about 2 p. m., and reported that he had
made the round indicated without meeting or detecting any traces of
an enemy in that direction. Immediately west of and parallel with
the ridge on which the main fortification is constructed, and about
2,000 yards distant therefrom, is another range, known as Flint Ridge,
on which there was in process of construction a line of earthworks,
which commanded the Pughtown and Romney roads and all the ap-
proaches from the west. These works were occupied on Sunday by
the One hundred and tenth and part of the One hundred and six-
teenth Ohio Volunteer Infantry, and Battery L, Fifth U. S. Artillery,
under Colonel Keifer.

The report of Captain Morgan relieved me from all apprehension
of an f/mmediate attack in that direction, and induced me to turn my
attention to the approaches in other directiorns. I am still at a loss
to know how Captain Morgan could have made the tour which he
reported without seeing or encountering the enemy, for within twe
hours after he made his report the enemy opened upoun me from the
west with at least four fullpbatteries. some of his guns of the longest
range, under cover of which fire he precipitated a column of in.
fantry, at least 10,000 strong, upon the outwork held by Colonel
Keifer, which, after a stubborn resistance, he carried. This outwork
was commmanded by the guns of the main and star forts, which wer
immediately brought to bear upon the enemy, driving him from th
position, and affording a protection to Colonel Keifer’s command
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under which it retreated, with small loss, to the main fort. The guns
at the fort, and the Baltimore battery, Captain Alexander, at the
star fort, and Carlin’s battery, immediately south of the main fort,
engaﬁed the guns of the enemy, and an_artillery contest ensued,
which was maintained with energy on both sides until 8 o’clock in
the evening. During its progress, I massed my troops in the main
and star forts and in the rifle-pits in front of them. To my regret,
the enemy made no effort to take my position by assault.

About 9 o’clock in the evening, I convened a council of war, con-
sisting of Brigadier-General Elliott, commanding First Brigade,
Colonel Ely, commanding Second Brigade, and Colonel McReynolds,
commanding Third Brigade. Before stating the result of this coun-
cil, it is proper that I should state the circumstances by which we
were surrounded. It was certain that Lee had eluded the Army of
the Potomac, and was at liberty to use his whole force against us
without hinderance from any source. Our position at Winchester,
although affording facilities for defense which would enable an in-
ferior to maintain itself against a superior number for a limited time,
could not be successfully defended by the limited means at my com-
mand against such an army as surrounded me. Six principal roads,
known In the army as the Romney, Pughtown, Martinsburg, Berry-
ville, Front Royal, and Strasburg roads, lead into the town. The
names of these roads indicate their course. They are all intersected
and connected by cross-roads in close proximity to the town. Cavalry
and artillery can approach the townand the forts from every direction.
We had but one day’s rations left, and our artillery ammunition was
almost entirely exhausted. On Monday morning the enemy could
have brought one hundred guns to bear on us, to which we could
have made no reply. Precedents which have occurred during this
rebellion and in other countries would have justified a capitulation;
but I thought, and my comrades in council thought, that we owed
our lives to the Government rather than make such a degrading con-
cession to rebels in arms against its authority. The propositions
concluded upon in that council were, that in consequence of the en-
tire exhaustion of our artillery ammunition, it was impossible to hold
the t against the overwhelming forces of the enemy, and that a
further prolongation of the defense could only result in sacrificing the
lives of our soldiers without any practical benefit to the country;
that we owed it to the honor of the Federal arms to make an effort
to force our way through the lines of the beleaguering foe; that the
artillery and wagons should be abandoned, and the division, brigade,
and regimental quartermasters instructed to bring away all public
horses, and that the brigades, in the order of their numbers, should
march from the forts at 1 o’clock in the morning, carrying with them
their arms and the usual supply of ammunition.

The Thirteenth Pennsylvania Cavalry was attached to the Third
Brigade. The forts were evacuated at the time designated, and im-
mediately thereafter the cannon spiked and the ammunition which
could not be carried by the soldiers thrown into the cisterns of the
forts. The column proceeded through a ravine, avoiding the town
of Winchester, about 1 mile, until it struck the Martinshurg road.
It then proceecied up the Martinsburg road to where a road leads
from it to Summit Station, about 44 miles from Winchester, when I
received a message from General Elliott that he was attacked by the
" enemy’s skirmishers. Ihad heard the firing, and was riding forward,
The enemy was on elevated ground in a woods east of the road and
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a field east of and adjoining the woods. This occurred between 3
and 4 o’clock in the morning. General Elliott immediately filed the
One hundred and twenty-third, One hundred and tenth, and One
hundred and twenty-second Ohio Regiments to the left, and formed
them in line of battle west of and in front of the woods in which the
enemy was posted. He then advanced the One hundred and tenth
Ohio, Colonel Keifer, into the woods, to feel the enemy. This regi-
ment soon became actively engaged, and was immediately supported
by the One hundred and twenty-second Ohio, which promptly took
its position on the right of the One hundred and tenth.

It soon became evident that the enemy was present in considerable
force, with at least two batteries of artillery. It was evident, how-
ever, that a retreat could not be effected excepting under cover of a
heavy contest with him. The One hundred and tenth and One hun-
dred and twenty-second Ohio maintained the contest for over an hour,
occasionally falling back, but in the main driving theenemy. They
captured one of the enemy’s caissons, and silenced two of his guns
by killing his gunners and his artillery horses. Although imme-
diately under the guns of the enemy, they preserved their lines, and
kept up an incessant, heavy, and murderous fire of musketry, under
th(_ale(flfect of which the enemy’s right lank fell into disorder and re-
coiled.

During this contest, Colonel Keifer especially distinguished him-
self by the display of the qualities of a brave soldier and a judicious
and skillful officer.

About the time the contest commenced on my left, b n;s orders
the Eighty-seventh Pennsylvania Infantry, Colonel Schall, advanced
against the enemy’s left, but was soon driven back. Ithen supported
the Eighty-seventh by the Eighteenth Connecticut, and the two regi-
ments, under Colonel Ely, again advanced into the woods, but were
again driven back. Ithen supported Colonel Ely with the One hun-
dred and twenty-third Ohio, and aﬁain advanced the line, but it was
repulsed with inconsiderableloss, the range of the enemy’s guns being
80 elevated as to render his artillery inefficient.

At this time a signal gun fired at Winchester announced the ap-
proach of the enemy in my rear. Colonel Ely’s command was again
rallied, and formed in line of battle west of the Martinsburg road,
and that officer again directed to engage the enemy.

At this time the One hundred and tenth and One hundred and
twenty-second Ohio Volunteer Infantry Regiments were still main-
taining their fire on the left with unabating energy. I then gave
instructions that my forces unengaged and trains should retreat
under cover of the contest, taking the Martinsburg road for a short
distance, and then turning to the right. I instructed my staff officers,
excepting Captain Baird, who was engaged with the One hundred an
tenth and One hundred and twenty-second Ohio Volunteer Infantry,
on my left, to diligently convey these instructions. They were con-
veyed to Colonel Washburn, commanding the One hundred and six-
teenth Ohio Volunteer Infantry; Colonel Klunk, commanding the
Twelfth West Virginia Infantry; Major Adams, commanding First
New York Cavalry, and Major Titus, commanding Twelfth Penne
sylvania Cavalry. These forces immediately marched, but, instead,
of taking the route indicated, took a road which leads to the left,
through%ath, in Morgan County. They were followed by consid-
erable bodies of the Kighteenth Connecticut and Eighty-seventh
Pennsylvania, and some stragglers from the One hundreg and twenty-
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third, One hundred and tenth, and One hundred and twenty-second
Ohio Volunteer Infantry. Colonel Ely was instructed to fall back
and retreat as soon as the troops had passed his rear. Major [John
L] McGee and Captain Palmer, of my staff, who were at different
times dispatched to Colonel McReynolds with his instructions, each
separately reported that they could not find that officer or an{ ﬁor-
tion of his command, excepting Major Adams, with the First New
York Cavalry. It was supposed that during the battle he had re-
treated to the right of the Martinsburg road.

About the time that I had given the directions above indicated, my
horse was shot under me. me time intervened before I could be
remounted. When remounted, I went in the direction of the One
hundred and tenth and the One hundred and twenty-second Ohio,
and met them falling back lll)ﬂ the Martinsburg road.

The retreat was now in f g)rogress-—the two columns by differ-
ent routes—and it was impossible to unite them. I proceeded with
the One hundred and tenth and One hundred and twenty-second Ohio
Regiments, and fragments of other regiments which followed after
them. This portion of the command, by way of Smithfield, arrived
at Harper’s Ferry late in the afternoon of Monday. I was not pur-
sued. 'The column that proceeded in the direction of Bath crossed
the Potomac at Hancock, and subsequently massed at Bloody Run,
2,700 strong.

Having no report from Colonel McReynolds, I am unable to state
the operations of his brigade on Monday morning. That officer ar-
rived at Harper’s Ferry about 12 m. on Monday, unaccompanied by
any considerable portion of his command. The Sixth Maryland In-
- fantry, attached to his brigade, arrived at that place Monday even-
ing, almost intact. His other infantry regiment, the Sixty-seventh
' Pennsylvania, was principally captured.

I have learned that while Colonel Ely was endeavoring to retreat,
in pursuance to directions, he was surrounded, and compelled to sur-
render, with the greater portion of the command which he led in the
last charge.

The force which we encountered on Monday morning in our front
was Johnson’s division, of Ewell’s corps, from 8,000 to 10,000 strong.
The whole number of my division which have reported at Harper's
Ferry and Bloody Run and other places exceeds 5,000. The strag-

lers scattered through the country are perhaps 1,000. My loss in
iﬂled and wounded cannot be large.

It is not my object at this time to bestow praise or cast censure,
but I feel it to be m{ duty to say that during the late operations near
Winchester generally the officers and men under my command con-
ducted themselves with distinguished gallantry and deserve well of
their country. If they could be again united (as they should be) under
their ap.pro%ria.te brigade and regimental organizations, they would
be formidable on any field.

It is Yroper that I should here refer again to the instructions under
which I occupied Winchester. They were not materially changed
from those above given until Thursday, June 11, 12 o’clock at night,
when I received from Colonel Piatt, at Harper’s Ferry, the following
telegram:

In accordance with orders from Halleck, received from headquarters at Baltimore
to day, you will immediately take steps to remove your command from Winchester

to Harper’s Ferry. You will, without delay, call in Colonel McReynolds and such
other outposts not necessary for observation at the front. Send back your heavy
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guns, surplus ammunition, and subsistence, retaining only such force and arms as
will constitute what General Halleck designates as a lookout, which can readily and
without inconvenience fall back to Harper’s Ferry.

DONN PIATT,

Lieutenant-Colonel, and Chief of Staff.

I immediately telegraphed to Major-General Schenck as follows:

I have the place well protected, and am well prepared to hold it, as General Tyler
and Colonel Piatt will inform you, and I can and would hold it, if sermitted to do
80, against any force the rebels can afford to bring against me, and I exceedingly
regreit the t]!l)mroepect; of hatxiling to ’ﬁve ld; up. It will ke cruel to abandon the loyal

ple in this country to the re ends again.
peo R. H. MILROY,

Major-General,
Early on Friday morning, June 12, I received this telegram :

BALTIMORE, MD., June 12, 1863—1 a. m.
Maj. Gen. R. H. MILROY:

Lieutenant-Colonel Piatt, as I learn by copy of dispatch sent me, which he for-
warded to you from Harper’s Ferry, misunderstood me, and somewhat exceeded his
instructions. You will make all the required preparations for withdrawing, but
hold your J)osition in the meantime. Be ready for movement, but await further
orders. I doubt the proprietFy of calling in McReynolds’ brigade at once. If yom
should fall back to Harper's Ferry, he will be in on the way and covering your
flank; but use your discretion as to any order to him.

Below I give you a copy of the telegram of the General-in-Chief. Nothing heard
gince. Give me constant information. '

ROBT. C. SCHENCK,

Major-General, Commanding.
[Copy of General Halleck's telegram.]

[WasHINGTON, June 11, 1863—12 p. m.]

Harper's Ferry is the important place. Winchester is of no importance other
than as a lookout. The Winchester troops, excepting enough to serve as an outpost,
should be withdrawn to Har;)er’s Ferry. [The troops at Martinsburg should also be
ready to fall back on Harper's Ferry.] No large amount of supplies should be left

in any exposed ition.
v post H. W. HALLECK,
General-in-Chief.,

Late on Friday evening I received a dispatch from General Schenck,
which is lost, but which was in substance as follows :

A d.isEatch just received from Colonel Donn Piatt says: * I read Halleck’s last
dispatch by the light of his of April 80, and considered it a positive order to fall back
to Harper's Ferry, and I so ordered Milroy. I have been on the ground, and gave
it advisedly. Milroy cannot move from his present })osition in presence of the en-
emy. He ias not transportation enough to move in face of the enemy, and has not
cavalry he can rely upon to scout beyond Strasburg.” What are your facilities for
transportation?

This telegram I immediately answered as follows:
I can at any time, if not cut off from Martinsburg, have sufficient transportation
to take all puglic stores from here in six hours.
R. H. MILROY,
Magjor-General,

Late on Friday night, June 12, perhaps about 10 o’clock, I sent
Major-General Schenck this dispatch, to wit:

The Twelfth Pennsylvania Cavalry had a slight skirmish with a rebel cavalry force
of about 500, 12 miles from here, on the Front Royal road, this afternoon. The
Thirteenth Pennsylvania Cavalry and Eighty-seventh Pennsylvania Infantry, with
one section of artillery, had a splendid. little skirmish with some 400 rebel cavalry
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this side of Middletown at the same time. The Thirteenth skirmished with the rebels
ashort time, and drew them into an ambuscade of the Eighty-seventh and artillery.
Eight of the rebels were killed and a number wounded, and 87, including a captain
and 2 lientemants, were taken prisoners. No casualties on our side.
The ememy is probably approaching in some force. Please state specifically
whether I am to don this place or not.
R. H. MILROY,

Magjor-General.

To this communication no reply was received. [See note attached. ]

It is clear that I received no order to evacuate Winchester, except-
ing that of Colonel Piatt, which was annulled by the telegram of
Major-General Schenck on Friday, the 12th. The telegram above
copied of the (eneral-in-Chief was before me, but that is advisoryin
its tone, and I in common with General Schenck did not construe it as
amounting to an order, or as indicating that immediate compliance
was intended. I rather construed it as indicating the course which
should be pursued upon an emergency yet to happen. This telegram,
although sent as late as Thursday, the 11th, must have been written in
the absence of all knowledge of the impending emergency; otherwise
language calculated to hasten my action wouﬁl have been used. The
lmguﬁe contained in my telegram expressive of my confidence in
my ability to hold Winchester was used with reference to any con-
tingency which would probably happen. Idid not mean thatIcould
hold it against such an army as that which I knew to be at the dis-
posal of General Lee, and it was no part of my duty to watch the
movements of that army, My limited cavalry force did not enahle
me to scout beyond the ﬂlue idge.

That army was faced, however, by the Army of the Potomac, be-
tween the headquarters of which and my own, by way of Washing-
ton, a continuous line of telegraphic communication existed. I be-
lieved that Lee could not move his large army, with its immense
artillery and ba%gage trains, and perform a six days’ march in my
direction, unless I received timely notice of the important fact. The
immense cavalry force at the disposal of General Hooker strength-
ened this confidence. Therefore, on Friday, when I perceived indi-
cations of the approach of the enemy in some force on the Front
Royal road, I felt confident that it was composed of the forces which
I had faced, or that the expected cavalry expedition of General
Stuart was in progress.

Acting ug{)’n this belief, I regarded it as my duty to remain at
my post at Winchester.

’s army, in parallel columns, once across the passes of the Blue
Ridge, from the direction of Front Royal, it was 1mpossible for me
to retreat upon either Martinsburg or Harper’s Ferry without en-
countering it. I could not at any time after Friday have retreated
without encountering it, and I had no knowledge of its presence,
as above stated, until late Saturday, when I learned it from pris-
oners.

After all, it may well be doubted whether the three days’ delay,
and the loss which my presence at Winchester occasioned the
;e;gfl. éu'my, were not worth to the country the sacrifice which they

it.
1 am, colonel, very respectfully, your most obedient servant,
R. H. MILROY,
) Major-General,
Lieut. Col. DONN PIaTT,
Chief of Staff, Eighth Army Corps.
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[Nore.—My telegraph operator at Winchester had just com-
menced receiving a cipher disgatch on Saturday, the 13th, when the
wire was cut between that and Martinsburg by the rebels, and noth-
ing could be made of what was received. I have since learned from
General Schenck that that dispatch was an order to me to fall back
immediately to Harper’s Ferry.

R. H. MILROY,

Major-General.]
[Telegram referred to in General Milroy’s report.]

‘WAR DEPARTMENT,
Washington, April 30, 1863—11 a. m.
Major-General SCHENCEK,
Baltimore, Md.:

If you want more troops in the west and at Harper’s Ferry, why
do you leave so large a force at Winchester? "As I have often
repeated to you verbally and in writing, that is no place to fight a
battle. It is merely an outpost, which should not be exposed to an
attack in force.

H. W. HALLECK,
General-in-Chief.

[Indorsement.]

Hp@rs. MiDDLE DEPARTMENT, EIGHTH ARMY CORPS,
Baltimore, July R, 1863.

Respectfully forwarded to the General-in-Chief, in obedience to
instructions from the War Department.

‘When Major-General Milroy was relieved at Bloody Run, and sent
by Major-Geeneral Couch to report here on the 27th June ultimo, I
placed him in arrest.

Eight days having elapsed without charges being sent to be served
on him, his arrest expired by limitation of law on the 5th instant,
since which he has made his report.

He was deprived of all command at Harper’s Ferry immediately,
in1 pursuance of the order of the General-in-Chief on the 15th of June
ultimo. :

If it be not the purpose of the Secretary of War or the General-
in-Chief to take further measures in General Milroy’s case, I re-
spectfully request that he be ordered back to the command of
tggse of Ls troops which were assembled at Bloody Run, and which
* are now operating, I believe, somewhere in the rear of the rebel

army.
1 r)éa.ll'y do not think that anybody else can so efficiently bring to-
gether and manage those fragments of his division, and have them
ready for reuniting with the other scattered parts of brigades, regi-
ments, and companies when the present immediate movements against

the enemy are over.
ROBT. C. SCHENCK,
. Magjor-General,
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Return of Casuallies in the Union forces at Winchester, Va.,
June 13-15, 1863.

[Compiled from nomioal list of casualties, returns, &c.]

Command.

Killed. Wounded.

Captured or
missing.

Officers.
Enlisted men.

§

Officers,

Officers.

EIGHTH ARMY CORPS.
SECOND DIVISION.
Maj Gen. Roszrr H. MIiLROY.
Brig. Gen. WasEmNarox L. ELuiort.

usetts Artillery, Company I....... [.... .| ..o e, 3 1 % 43
1M0th OBBO . . ... oottt ciiee it aaeaes 4 1 50 5 2056 208
1180 OQhBO . oo oe i 1 7 1 2 8 138 178
12d Ohio................. 1 7 1 24 14 308 418
!B:h ghio .............. alry 9} 4 ilg 2} ;g l]ig
1 'ennsylvania Cav. P PR I 3 PP
13th Pennsyivania Cavalry .. 1 3 4 248
#hU. 8 , Battery 1 1 76 81
1, 860 1,949
] 518
. 288 320
, 8 112
} 10 12
ke! i)
80 83
188
1, 298 1,430
) Col. Axprxw T. MoREYNOLDS,
Alexander's (Maryland) battery.............oooo oo oo 5lo.... o) 0
oth land ary ..... Y battery. 1. 6 3 164 174
Ist New York Cavalry ......c..oovvviviiininienna]innnns 1]...... 3i...... 56 60
€th Penngylvania............... iiiiiiiiiin... 1 16 (...... 88 - 74 791
Total Third Brigade ....................... 1 18 1...... 52 %5 968 1,064
144 | 8,856 4,43

OrrceErs k1LLED.—Capts. Edward L. Porter, Eighteenth Connecticut; Frederick H. Arckenoe, One

hmndred and sixteenth Ohio; Charles J.

No. 385.

e ioonat WellsGSibeI?ut‘ Omne hundred and twenty-second Ohio;
m‘ Sixty-neven Pbunsy vania; . 1Barr ﬂhv
| W. Bradley and John T. Ben Gough, Twelfth West V.

ord

Elﬁhtyﬂeventh Pennsylvania ; Lieuts, Thomas

|
' Report of Capt. Frederick A. Palmer, Eighteenth Connecticut
] Infantry, Aide-de-Camp, of operations June 12-15.

—— —, 1863.

CoLoNEL: I have the honor to report that, on June 12,

scouting

parties reported at headquarters Second Division, Eighth Army
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Corps, the advance of a considerable force of rebel cavalry on the
Strasburg road. A force consisting of the Eighty-seventh Pennsyl-
vania and the Thirteenth Pennsylvania Cavalry was dispatched to
discover their whereabouts and numbers. Qur force advanced down
the Strasburg road until they came upon the rebel advance. The
infantry formed an ambuscade; the cavalry charged on the enemy
and then retreated, attempting to entice them into the ambush, but
did not succeed until the third attempt, when the ruse was success-
ful, and 35 prisoners were taken, 10 killed and wounded, and 15 horses
captured. Our force then returned to Winchester, reporting that
there was no rebel force nearer than Strasburg, and that not arge.

The next morning information was received at headquarters that
the rebels were advancing on the Front Royal and Strasburg roads,
but that their force was insufficient to cause us to. evacuate or occa-
sion any alarm. Brigadier-General Elliott, commanding First Bri-
%sde, was ordered with his command to the Strasburg road. Col.

illiam G. Ely, Eighteenth Connecticut Volunteers, commanding-
Second Brigade, was sent to the Front Royal road, and both were in-
structed to dispose their forces so ag to command both roads. Al-
most immediately upon our forces getting position, severe skirmish-
ing ensued upon %ot% roads. On tie Front Royal road they opened
on us from a battery concealed in the woods. Colonel Ely ordered
the section of artillery under his command to engage the rebel bat-
tery, which it did, until a shell exploded in one of his caissons, dis-
abling the piece and 3 men. He then withdrew without further loss
to the road intersecting at right angles both the Front Royal and
Strasburg roads, where he took position, and fired with such precis-
ion and rapidity that he completely silenced the enemy’s guns. No
infantry force was visible on the Front Royal road.

General Elliott was attacked at the same time with nearly the same
force, and maintained his ground until it was deemed expedient to
withdraw and plant his batteries on Milltown Heights, a position
that fully commanded both roads. Our infantry forces, under Col-
onel Keifer, were all this time engaging the enemy on the Strasburg
road, and succeeded in driving them back nearly to Kernstown (4
miles), but they proved too strong, and compelled him to tall back,
flanking him tgree times, but his men fought the ground so obsti-
nately, and his two pieces of artillery were so well handled, that their
attempr to surroun(f and take him proved abortive. They continued
advancing, however, and when within reach of our gunson Milltown
Heights, showed two long lines of battle, composed of a force of not
less than 5,000 men, which all supposed comprised their entire force.
Our batteries opened on them, the infantry forces at the same time
charging, and in less than fifteen minutes their entire lines were
broken and their whole body retiring in the direst confusion.

General Milroy superintended the placing and firing of the y
and personally directed all the details of the fight. The rebels re-
tired into the woods; our forces had successfully engaged them at all
points; they everywhere had been repulsed, and we were fully con-
vinced that the worst was over, and tgat their attack upon Winches-
ter had proved a disastrous failure.

That night, to guard against surprise, it was deemed best to with-
draw the battery from Milltown Heights, as we did not have a suffi-
cient force of infantry to support it in case of a general attack during
the night. Our lines were all drawn inward close to the outskirts of
the town; strong outposts were established, and the utmost vigilance



Caar. XXXIX ] THE GETTYSBURG CAMPAIGN. 5b

and watchfulness enjoined upon us. Colonel Ely, with two regi-
ments and one section of artillery, was ordered to move out on the
Berryville road, to co-operate with and support Colonel McReynolds,
who had sent word that he was attacked and falling back on us. It
rained very heavily during the night, and no engagement ensued.

About one or two hours after midnight, Sunday morning, General
Milroy ordered the removal of headquarters from the city to the
main fortification.

As soon as it was light, the most vigorous preparations, both offen-
sive and defensive, were made, and forces placed in the most advan-
tageous positions, and from daylight throughout the entire day we
looked for the approach of the enemy in force; but, save skirmish-
ing in and about the town, and the occasional appearance of small
squads of cavalry on the Front Royal road, no enemy was visible,

All day, under a burning sun, did General Milroy keep his posi-
tion in the lookout, and with a glass anxiously scan the surrounding
country for signs of the enemy,%)ut none were manifested, and it be-
came generally the settled belief that they had passed on up the
Valley to Harper’s Ferry, leaving us to be attended to upon their re-
turn, which idea was confirmed by the heavy firing heard in that
direction. Wherever a body of the enemy did appear our guns were
instantly turned on them, but not a sing{e artillery response could
be obtained, and we could not account for their mysterious silence
save by the theory that they had taken their guns with them an
had only left sufficient force to engage us at skirmishing and long
range. But about 4 p. m. they suddenly commenced an attack;
without a moment’s warning opened on us and the outer works, in
which were placed a light battery and one regiment, with sixteen
pieces of artillery, which the dense woods and undergrowth on the
surrounding hills enabled them to bring forward into position with-
out being discovered, and at the same time rapidly pushing up an
infantry force of not less than 8,000 or 10,000 men. The guns in the
fort were instantly turned on them. The battery in the outer works
commenced a brisk firing. Two regiments were ordered rapidly up
to support them, but all of no avail ; they charged in overwielming
numbers, and took the battery and work, driving our forces at the
point of the bayonet down the hill toward the fort.

Our infa.ntrty forces were at once stationed in the rifle-pits that sur-
rounded the fort, and every precaution that prudence and human
ingenuity could invent used to add to the strength and safety of the

~ position.

The artillery continued to exchange shots until it was too dark to
distinguish the enemy, excepting by the flash of his guns.

Soon after dusk, reliable information was brought in that the rebels
were advancing between the Romney and Pughtown roads with a
force equallyl' as large as the one we had first engaged, and supported
by three full batteries, which would make their entire force not less
than 20,000 or 30,000 men, and the aggregate of their artillery 30
pieces and upward.

‘With this unexpected information so suddenly obtained, and the
certainty that this vastly superior force would in the morning attack
us, together with the fact tﬁat the firing had nearly exhausted our
ammunition, and that the supply would not be sufficient for a pro-
longed defense, General Milroy called a council of war, in which it
was unanimously decided to evacuate, and, if possible, cut our way
through and reach Harper’s Ferry with the main body.
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Accordingly, the order was given to have everything in readiness
to move at 1 a. m., but not until after 2 o’clock did the advance, com-
manded by General Elliott, file out of the works. The guns were
effectually spiked, as many of the wagons disabled as the time would
allow, and in a little more than an hour the rear, commanded by
Colonel McReynolds, who had joined with his force, was off_the
heights and in the plain below. The column moved out through =
ravine on to the N&rtinsburg road in perfect order, although all
were fully conscious that, if the enemy received intimation of our
evacuation, they would shell us, which, in the darkuness, would
render our retreat disastrous in the extreme; but as we moved
no wagons, not even an ambulance, the noise did not attract their
attention.

The whole body moved on as rapidly and noiselessly as possible
without interruption until about 4 miles out of Winchester, when
General Elliot reported an attack upon his advance by rebel out-
posts, who retired upon his approach. General Milroy immediately -
galloped to the right, and found the rebels stronflv posted in the
woods on the brow of an eminence that commanded the road, and
supported by a battery. The regiments on the right were ordered
into line and to charge on the enemy, which they did, so that the
left and center might file past in the rear. General Milroy fearlessl
exposed himself and led the attack in person. When near enoug
to render it effective, they opened on us with the most destructive fire,
both from their infantry and artillery. Our lines were unable to
stand the galling discharge, but broke and fell back in confusion,
when they were again formed, called ugon to rally and follow their
general, and led to the charge thesecond time. At the same moment
an aide was dispatched to the left, to bring up the command of
Colonel McReynolds, and hurl it on their flank simultaneously with
the advance of our columns on their center, but his force was not
in sight, having moved round our rear through the woods and
passed on.

Our men succeeded in driving the rebels back from their pieces,
and just as the caissons were in our possession an entire division rose
up suddenly in front of us, and advanced, delivering their fire, and
at the same time another battery was seen rapidly approaching down
the hill, which induced the general to give the order to fall back
which we did, and formed in the road as well as the -shattered
condition of our forces would allow, advancing up the road to-
ward Martinsburg, halting occasionally for stragglers to come up.
The rebels did not pursue us at all, and we proceeded up the road
nearly a mile, when, turning to the right, we struck for the Charles-
town pike.

‘We passed through Smithfield, and there learned that the rebels
were in force at Bunker Hill, some 15,000 strong. We passed rap-
idly onhwithout halting, passing around Charlestown, leaving it to
our right.

‘We moved on, making no stops, and reached Harper’s Ferry about
2 p. m. June 15, having fought two battles and marched nearly 40
miles inside of twentﬁ-four ours.

Very respectfu
y rospec y FRED. A. PALMER,
Captain, and Aide-de-Camp.
Lieut. Col. DoNN Pi1aTT,
Chief of Staff.
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No. 386.

Report of Brig. Gen. Washington L. Eliott, U. 8. Army, com-
manding First Brigade, Second Division, Eighth Army Corps,
of operations June 13-15.

MaryYLAND HEIGHTS, June 16, 1863.

MaJor: I bave the honor to report the operations of my command
during the 13th and 14th instant, and on the 15th, in the retreat from
Winchester, Va.

On the 13th, m%brigade was constituted as follows: One hundred
and tenth Ohio Volunteer Infantry, Col. J. W, Keifer; One hun-
dred and sixteenth Ohio Volunteer Infantry, Col. James Washburn;
One hundred and twenty-second Ohio Volunteer Infantry, Col. Will-
iam H. Ball; One hundred and twenty-third Ohio Volunteer In-
fantry, Col. William T. Wilson; Battery D, First West Virginia
Volunteer Artillery, Ca&). John Carlin; Battery L, Fifth U, 8.
Artillery, First Lieut. W. F. Randolph. Temporarily attached :
Twelfth Pennsylvania Volunteer Cav: xg, Lieut. Col. J. L. Moss
commanding; Thirteenth Pennsylvania Volunteer Cavalry, Major
Kerwin commanding ; Battery I, Fourteenth [First] Massachusetts
Artillery, Captain Martins, and pioneer cerps of the division.

A reconnaissance was ordered on the morning of the 13th, section
of Battery L, Fifth U. 8. Artillery, Lieutenant Spooner command-
ing, to report to Colonel Ely, Eighteenth Connecticut Volunteers,
on Front Royal road ; Thirteenth Pennsylvania Cavalry, One hun-
dred and twenty- hird Ohio, and section of Carlin’s batteri on the
Strasburg road; Twelfth Pennsylvania Cavalry and One hundred
and tenth Ohio on the Cedar Creek road.

On the 13th, Battery D, First West Virginia Volunteer Artillery,
was assigned temporarily, by Field Orders, No. 1, headquarters Sec-
ond Division, Eighth Army Corps, to the Second Brigade.

The enemy was soon discovered approaching by the Front Royal
and Strasburg roads. I received orders from the general command-
i.n;; to io out on the latter road, take command of all the troops, and
“feol the enemy.” Formed line of battle, Thirteenth Pennsylvania
Cavalry on my left flank, with vedettes to the front; One hundred
and twenty-third Ohio on the left and One hundred and tenth Ohio
on the right of the Strasburg road, with section of Carlin’s battery in
the rear of the One hundred and tenth. The Twelfth West Virginia
Volunteer Infantry, Colonel Klunk, of the Second Brigade, reported
to me, and was assigned a position on the right of the One hundred
and tenth Ohio. e enemy moving from the Front Roysl road on
my left, the general commanding ordered the withdrawal of my
force to creek at Union Mills, and afterward ordered the One hun-
dred and tenth Ohio, with section of Carlin’s battery, to advance on
the Strashburg road, supported by the One hundred and twenty-third
Ohio and Twelfth West Virginia, the Thirteenth Pennsylvania Cav-
alry on the Cedar Creek road.

e enemy was met at Kernstown by the One hundred and tenth
Ohio and section of Carlin’s battery. After a spirited attack of a
few minutes, fell back in good order, contesting the ground with the
enemy. The enemy, continuing to advance in double line of battle,
received a very destructive fire from two sections of Carlin’s battery

ted on the heights between Union Mills and Winchester. His
ine was broken, when he attempted by the left flank to get position
under shelter of woods, when the One hundred and twenty-third
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Ohio made a charge on his broken column, not surpassed by vet-
erans, Carlin’s battery continuing its destructive fire upon him. The
line of the creck was held until dark, then withdrawn nearer to the
town, by the order of the general commanding, with subsequent
orders to withdraw to the fortifications at 2 a. m. on the 14th.

On the morning of the 14th, the One hundred and tenth Ohio wasg
ordered to support Battery L, Fifth U. 8. Artillery, posted with a
company of the One hundred and sixteenth Ohio Volunteer Infantry,
Captain Arckenoe, in an outwork near Pughtown road, and about
1,500 yards distant from the main fortifications. Upon receipt of
orders, I proceeded with the One hundred and twenty-second Ohio
to south of the Romney road, and, with the Twelfth West Virginia
Volunteer Infantry, from Second Brigade, remained during the day,
Carlin’s battery and Alexander’s Baltimore battery occupying posi-
tions by battery or section on the hills in rear of the infantry. Re-
peated efforts were made to dislodge sharpshooters thrown in advance
of a large infantry force occupying the position held by Carlin’s
battery the afternoon of the 13th. The One hundred and twenty-
third Ohio was ordered to relieve the One hundred and twenty-sec-
ond Ohio about 5 p. m. This had been done but a few minutes when
the batteries of the enemy.opened upon Battery L. 1 was soon after
ordered to withdraw to the fortifications. The Twelfth Pennsylvania
Cavalry was ordered to scout between the Pughtown and Martins-
burg roads.

Soon after reaching the fortifications, Battery L was captured by
the enemy; its support fell back to the fortifications. This battery
was well served, and handsomely supported by a single regiment
against five or seven regiments (the latter number of stand of colors
beli.ri)g carried by the enemy) and two batteries of much heavier
caliber.

About 1 a. m. on the 15th, it was ordered that the fortifications
should be evacuated, artillery spiked, wagons and baggage abandoned,
and that the troops with arms and team horses should march to Har-

r's Ferry. My brigade was ordered in advance, excepting that the
g‘ehirteenth Pennsylvania Cavalry should join the Third Brigade,
Colonel McReynolds commanding, and that the artillery shoulg not
be spiked until the troops had marched out.

About 2 a. m. on the 15th, my brigade marched in the followin
order; Twelfth Pennsylvania Cavalry, One hundred and twenty-thir
Ohio, One hundred and tenth Ohio, One hundred and twenty-second
Ohio. The One hundred and sixteenth Ohio did not take the position
assigned it in the column, losing the road in the dark, and falling in
the rear with the Second Brigade. Proceeding about 4 miles, and at
the junction of the Martinsburg and Harper’s Ferry road, I found the
enemy, General Rodes’ division, as I learned from a prisoner taken,
ready to dispute my advance. I at once formed line of battle in the
following order: One hundred and tenth Ohio, One hundred and
twenty-second Ohio, One hundred and twenty-third Ohio, sending
my assistant adjutant-general, Captain &J . Elhott] Jacobs, to report
the facts to the general commanding. I ordered an attack, hoping
that I might drive the enemy back and continue my march by the left
flank until the troops in rear could be brought up to support my line.
This was partially successful. The One hundred and tenth Ohio drove
the enemy from the caissons of a battery, but had not sufficient support
to hold them against his overpowering numbers. The One hun({):')ed
and twenty-third Ohio was detached from my line by the orders of
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the general commanding, an aide-de-camp, Captain &Zebulon] Baird,
glvmg the order to the regiment direct. Since then I haveseen noth-
mg of the regiment. The Twelfth Pennsylvania Cavalry, as soon as
fired upon, left my column without orders. I have heard that the
One hundred and sixteenth Qhio and detachments from other regi-
ments marched into Pennsylvania. The records of the command
having been abandoned, and the One hundred and sixteenth Ohio,
exce tmg 1 commissioned officer and 29 enlisted men; the One hun-
dmf and twenty-third Ohio; the Twelfth Pennsylvania Cavalry ;
Carlin’s battery, exc:]afting 1 lieutenant and 5 enlisted men; Battery
L Fifth U. 8. Artillery, exceptillclsl 1 lieutenant and 2 men, not
having joined, a complete list of ki

not be furnished.

The conduct of the troops was as good as could be ezg)ected against
the overwhelming numbers of the enemy. When Battery L was
c:ftured, nearly every horse was killed or wounded. Prisoners wero
taken from several divisions of Ewell’s corps of veteran troops.

The officers of my staff rendered me every assistance. First Lieu-
tenant Shaw, One hundred and tenth Ohio Volunteer Infantry, aide-
decamp, had his horse shot under him. First Lieut. F. A.” Nims,
First New York Cavalry, was probably captured.

_ Annexed is the strength of my brigade present, and herewith I
inclose reports of regimental commalx;lgers and Lieutenant Spooner,
of Batfery L, Fifth U. 8. Artillery. el
am, major, very respect: , your obedient servant,
pee vy W. L. ELLIOTT,
Brigadier-General of Volunteers, Commanding.

Maj. JouN O. CrAVENS, 4. A. G., 2d Div., 8th Army Corps.
[Inclosure. ]

Strength present of First Brigade, Second Division, Eighth Army Corps.
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W. L. ELLIOTT
Brigadier-General of Volunteers, Commanding.

[Indorsement.]
Bavrtivorg, Mp., June 16, 1863.

Respectfully submitted with the following remarks:

I did not give the order for the One hundred and twenty-third
Olio to be detached from General Elliott on the battle-field Monday,
June 15, and Captain Baird informs me that he received no such
snder from me; that he gave no such order to Colonel Wilson or any
uther officer of that regiment.

R. H. MILROY.
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No. 387.

Reports of Col. J. Warren Keifer, One hundred and tenth Ohio
Infantry, of operations June 13-15.

HArPER’S FERRY, W. Va., June 16, 1863.

CAPTAIN: In compliance with an order from Brig. Gen. W. L.
Elliott, I have to report the following operations of my command on
June 13, 14, and 15:

On the morning of the 13th instant, I was ordered with my regi-
ment to march upon the Cedar Creek road. Arriving at Union
Mills, on the Stra.sgurg road, it was ascertained that the enemy was
in force upon the Strasburg road, at or near Kernstown.

About 10 a. m., under the direction of General Elliott, I marched
my regiment to the right of the Strasburg road, accompanied by one
section of Carlin’s battery, commanded by Lieutenant Theaker.
The infantry did not become engaged, and were withdrawn to the
mouth of Cedar Creek road about 1 p. m.

At 2 p. m. I received an order to take my regiment, the Twelfth
Pennsylvania Volunteer Cavalry, commanded by Lieutenant-Col-
onel Moss, and a section of Carlin’s battery, commanded by Lieu-
tenant Theaker, and make a reconnaissance. I moved at once up
the Strasburg road, forming my infantry upon the right and center,
artillery in the center, and cavalry upon the left. The infantry
upon the right was commanded by Lieutenant-Colonel Foster, and
in the center by Major Binkley. After proceeding about 1 mile, the
infantry and caval skirmisiers_ became closely engaged with the
enemy’s advance. I'}i‘he ehemy were driven back to a woods upon
the left. I immediately withdrew the cavalry skirmishers, who
were beginning to suffer severely from the enemy’s sharpshooters,
and placed my artillery in position, and shelled the woods, where the
enemy were concealed in large force. After a few moments’ brisk
firing, the enemy fell back to the woods on the left of Kernstown. 1
advanced with my entire force under a heavy infantry fire to within
a quarter of a mile of the town, and opened upon the enemy with
canister, producing a telling effect. At the same time the infantry
upon my right became closely engaged. In ten minutes the enemy
retreated beyond the town, having suffered severely. My flankers
from the right reported the enemy were turning my right lank with
at least one brigade of infantry. I withdrew the command in per-
fect order, keeping my skirmishers well to the front, embracing
every opportunity the ground offered to halt, and, with artillery,
pour a heavy fire into the enemy’s ranks. At Union Mills, after a
spirited en, aFement, the enemy were repulsed with heavy loss.

Greneral i}l 1ott having come up with re-enforcements, I brought
off all my killed and wounded. '

Lieutenant Theaker deserves great credit for the skill exhibited in
handling his guns while under my command.

Excepting some skirmishing with the enemy’s sharpshooters, this
ended the operations of my command on the 13th.

Bein§ relieved by the One hundred and twenty-second Ohio Vol-
unteer Infantry, I withdrew my regiment to its camp on the heights
of Winchester about 10 p. m.

On the 14th instant, I was ordered by General Elliott to occupy the
earthworks between the Pughtown and the Romney roads, which was
an isolated earthwork of slight strength about three-fourths of a
mile from the main fort, and fully commanded by Round Mountain
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to the west. The works were also occupied by one company of the
One hundred and sixteenth Qhio Volunteer Infantry, commanded by
Captain Arckenoe; also Comf)any L, Fifth Regular Battery, com-
manded by Lieutenant Randolph.

We were unmolested until about 5 p. m., when the enemy lEOt at
least sixteen pieces of heavy artillery into position on Round Mount-
ain to the west, and opened a heavy cannonading upon us. Battery
L replied until about 50 artillery horses were killed and the cais-
sons and limber carriages were blown up or knocked to pieces. Two
guns only could be kept in position to await the approach of the
assaulting party of the enemy.

About 6 p. m. the enemy came up behind a ridge with at least five
regiments of infantry [see indorsement], in deep columns of attack.
The advance regiment carried the United States colors. The enemy
were able to come up to within 100 yards of the works. The infan-
try and artillery opened fire upon him with fearful effect, mowing
down his advance regiment almost toa man. My sharpshooters shot
down the officers on horseback. We checked the enemy’s column for
a few moments only,’and with terrible loss he effected an entrance
into the works near the center of my reﬁnent, my men fighting him
until he outnumbered us inside the works. The trenches and breast-
works were of such a character as to afford no obstruction to the
entrance of the enemy. I withdrew my command, under cover of
the guns at the main works, with the loss of 40 killed, wounded, and
captured of my own regiment; the number of killed and wounded
was very small. The guns of the battery were lost.

I would do injustice to Lieutenant Randolph and his officers if I
did not make favorable mention of their conduct. Lieutenant Ran-
dolph had three horses shot under him while in the works.

m the commanding position and the superiority of the enemy’s
in number and weight, it was impossible to effectually reply to
them.

The enemy’s loss in these attacks did not fall short of 400 men
killed and wounded, and may exceed that largely.

Lieutenant Paris Horney, of the One hundred and tenth Ohio Vol-
unteer Infantry, was captured or killed while fighting the enemy at
the works. Captain Arckenoe, One hundred and sixteenth Ohio
Volunteer Infantry, was killed while nobly urging on his men, his
face to the foe.

My regiment was under a heavy artillery fire in the outworks to
the main fort until after dark, with little or no loss.

At 2 a. m. on the 15th instant, after abandoning all the sick and
wounded and all the baggage, under orders from the commanding
general, was marched out from the main works, numbering 19 officers
and less than 400 men, with the understanding that the entire com-
mand was to cut through the enemy’s lines to Harper’s Ferry.

Company D, of my regiment, commanded by Captain Mc%lwain,
was detached from the regiment on Saturday night; also Lieutenants
Weakley and Gross, with 60 men of my regiment, were sent on picket
duty on the morning of the 13th. Ihave learned nothing definite of
their fate since, but have strong hopes that most, if not all, escaped
ou the 15th instant.

Lieutenants Cron and Miller were left, sick. Lieutenant Cron
fought bravely with his men on the 13th and 14th.

Asst. Surg. R. R. McCandliss and Chaplain James Harvey, of m
regiment, were ordered to remain behind with the sick and wounded.
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After marching about 4 miles from Winchester, on the Martins-
burgroad, firing commenced on our frontand right. My regiment was
formed in line of battle by General Elliott, skirmishers were thrown
forward, and the line advanced a short distance to the northward.
My regiment was on the left of the One hundred and twenty-third
Ohio Volunteer Infantry, and on the extreme right. By direction of
General Elliott, I moved my command by the left flank to the north-
ward, on a line parallel to the Martinsburg road, until my left was
5 miles from Winchester. The enemy opened fire upon the One
hundred and twenty-third Ohio Volunteer Infantry with artillery
and infantry from a woods immediately on the east side of the Mar-
tinsburg road. I formed my line facing the east, where the enemy
was discovered in my front in the woods and behind stone walls.
Prisoners afterward captured claimed to belong to the notorious
Stonewall Brigade, now commanded by General [hames A.] Walker.
‘With the consent of General Elliott, I charged with my regiment upon
the enemy, outflanked him on his right, and driving him through the
woods upon his artillery, occupying the woods upon the east of the
road, opening a destructive fire into the enemw ranks, throwing him
into confusion, and killing large numbers. e also silenced two of
the enemy’s guns (12-gounders immediately in our front, c:gturing
one of his caissons. In a few minutes the roads were cleared in our
front. Not being supported on my right, the enemy soon appeared
in large numbers in that direction, with two pieces of heavy artillery.
I withdrew my regiment a short distance, changed direction to the
right, and again advanced on the enemy. The One hundred and
twenty-second Ohio Volunteer Infantry came up to my support on my
right, and in twenty minutes we once more cleared the woods in our
front, shooting down the gunners and horses of the enemy’s artillery,
and bringing off some of the enemy’s horses. We were only deterred
from taking possession of the enemy’s guns by a large body of the
enemy again appearing on our right. Without waiting the fire of
the enemy, I ordered both regiments withdrawn, which was done in
good order, to the west of the Martinsburg road. The enemy soon
occupied the woods in superior force. Again I ordered a charge,
which was nobly responded to by both officers and men. After a
severe conflict, in which the two lines were engaged in places as near
as 20 feet, pouring a murderous fire into each other’s breasts, the enemy
gave way. Qur line then advanced to the enemy’s artillery, shooting
and driving his gunners from their pieces, and completely silencing
them. My whole line was then withdrawn by my order from the
woods, and, under the direction of the general commanding, marched
to Harper’s Ferry, arriving at that place at 2 p. m., marching a dis-
tance of over 35 miles, and fighting nearly two hours on the way. I
brought with me 18 officers and 305 men.

Capt. E. A. Shepherd fell from weakness and exhaustion; possibly
wounded while cheering on his men; was carried from the field, but
was afterward captured.

Judging from the dead and wounded of the enemy Isaw upon the
field, from the relative positions occupied, and the steady, close fire
of my men, I estimate the enemy’s loss at 300 men immediately in
my front on the morning of the 15th instant. My own loss on the
15th in killed and wounded was about 70; few of the number were
killed, and many slightly wounded.

During the series of engagements of the three days, my officers and
men per%ormed valiant service. It is no less a pleasure than a duty
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tocommend them all for skill, coolness, and bravery. I think proper

to make special mention of the fact that each officer remained with

his own command, doing his duty, and urging on his men by his ex-

ample. Tq this fact I attribute my success In keeping my men to-
er.

Icannot close this report without making special mention of Lieut.
Col. W. N. Foster and Maj. O. H. Binkley. They were not only
fearless of danger, but showed superior skill in each separate en-

ment. They were always where danger was greatest and their
uty called them.

Adjt. J. B. Van Eaton was present always in the thickest of the
fight, gallantly discharging hisduty. It would be but simple justice
to say the same of Captains Smith, Moore, Spangler, Ullery, Snod-

, and Brown, and Lieutenants Hathaway, Rush, Cannon, Shel-
fenberger, McKni%ht, Moon, and Boyer; aiso, Orderly Sergeant
[George W.] Fraub. The latter commanded a detachment of Com-
pany K through each engagement. Captain Snodgrass received two
wounds, but did not leave the field.

Knowing the risk of being censured for making special mention of
officers ang men where all behaved so nobly, I carfinot refrain from
calling attention to m{lsharpshooters. Armed with the Henry rifle,
in each engagement they fired almost continuous streams into the
enemy’s ranks, creating great loss of life. They also, under my own
eyes, shot down a number of the enemy’s officers.

My total number of killed, wounded, and missing in action and
left behind in camp and hospital is 315, including 2 commissioned
staff officers and 4 line officers. This estimate does not include Com-
pany D or its officers. Lieutenants Weakley and Gross, Assistant
Surgeon Owen and Quartermaster Stark are supposed to have been
ca on the 15th instant.

ptain McElwain and his com%a.ny distinguished themselves by
the splendid manner in which they engaged the enemy’s sharp-
shooters and drove them from the woods on the eve of the 13th.

Lieutenants Weakley, Gross, and Trimble fought bravely with
their men on the 13th and 14th.

The vastly superior force of the enemy, and the many other dis-
eonrag'mg circumstances under which the enemy were engaged; the
:glen id manner in which my command confronted the enemy, and

energy and skill which were exhibited in getting the greater por-
tion of the effective strength of the regiment through the strong
lines of the enemy, furnish high proofs of the soldierly character
and efficiency of the troops.

Hoping you will })ardon the length of this necessarily unsatis-
factory and incomplete report, I -emain, very truly, captain, your
most obedient and humble servant,

J. WARREN KEIFER,
Col., Comdg. One hundred and tenth Ohio Vol. Infaniry.

Capt. J. E. JacoBs, Assistant Adjutant-GQeneral.
[Indorsement.]
BAvLTIMORE, MD., July 6, 1863.

Respectfully submitted with the following remarks: Other officers
told me that they counted 17 stand of rebel colors in the rebel
column that stormed the outworks,

R. H. MILROY,

Magjor-General.
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CaMP AT BRANDY STATION, December 22, 1863.

8iR: I have the honor to submit the following supplemental report
of the operations of the One hundred and tenth Ohio Volunteer In-
fantry on June 13, 14, and 15:

The official report to which this is a supplement, dated June 186,
1863, was written from the best data that could then be procured.
The Iittxovement:s of the regiment are accurately stated in the original
report.

he losses in killed and wounded have since been ascertained to be
light in a remarkable degree compared with the losses of theenemy.
Information of a reliable character received from citizens of Win-
chester, Va.; also from published accounts of the enemy, and from
admissions made by officers and soldiers captured from him who
were engaged in the contest of the three days at and near Winches-
ter, make it safe to estimate his loss in the assault upon our workson
the evening of June 14 at 100 killed and 400 wounded. Some reports
fix the loss at over 200 killed, besides a large number wounded. The
loss of the enemy in the attack made by the regiment on the mornin
of June 15, exceeded 200 killed and a proportionate number wounded.
The total loss of the One hundred ang tenth Ohio Volunteer Infantry
in the operations of the three days, not including the captured, was
4 enlisted men killed and 1 officer and 50 enlisted men wounded. The
great disparity in losses is owing to the fact that on the 14th the regi-
ment was protected by earthworks, while the enemy exposed himself
to a heavy fire of infantry and artillery while charging in column;
also on the morning of the 15th, the enemy was attacked, surprised,
and, for a considerable time, by the rapid firing of the men, kept in
disorder. It is also partly attributable to the further fact that when
the enemy succeededp in forming to repel the attack, my troops were
each time withdrawn before receiving his fire, and a new direction
taken, which enabled me to attack the enemy upon his flank and rear,
thereby compelling him to fall back, suffering each time heavy loss.

The artillery attempted to be used by the enemy on the 15th was
not effective, and was soon silenced by the well-directed infantry fire
g;)ured upon it. It is worthy of note that the proportion of killed

the wounded in the regiment was little more than ? per cent.

Lieutenant Cron, reported captured, escaped with Captain McEl-
wain’s company into Pennsylvania.

Lieutenant Weakley with 60 men was left upon picket, in conse-
%lllence of his whereabouts not being known to me, and a false report
that he was with the wagon train. The lieutenant, with most of his
men, were left at their post on picket, and alone engaged the enemy
at Winchester on the morning of the 15th. After a most gallant
resistance, they surrendered.

The total number captured was 5 officers and 243 enlisted men,
including the sick and 38 of the wounded. A part of the sick and
wounded were recaptured in July following. One officer and 12 en-
listed men, slightly wounded, escaped with the regiment.

Asst. Surg. Thomas C. Owen was captured on the field June 15,
but escaped from the enemy at Martinsburg in July following.

A list of the captured officers, and killed and wounded officers and
enlisted men, is hereto ag;l)lended.‘

I am, very respectfully, your obedient and humble servant,
J. WARREN KEIFER,
Colonel, Commanding.

*Embodied in revised statement, p. 63.
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No. 388.

Report of Col. James Washburn, One hundred and sixteenth
Ohio Infantry, of operations June 13-15.

Broopy RuUN, Pa.,
June 28, 1863.

MaJoR: In compliance with your order, requiring a report of the
%ert taken by my command in the late battle at, and retreat from,
inchester, I have to say that on Saturday, the 13th instant, three
comﬁanjes of my command ha.viniibeen vgreviously detached—two at
Bunker Hill, under command of Maj. W. T. Morris, one (Company
C) in the outer works west of the main fort, and one company on
picket in the star fort and on the Pughtown road—the balance of
my command was detailed to work on the fortifications, which dut
they performed until noon, when they returned to camp. Immedi-
stely upon arriving at camp, three companies were ordered to re-
enforce Company (%, of my command, then stationed in the outer
works west of the main fort. The three companies were sent as or-
dered, under command of Lieut. Col. Thomas F. Wildes. The three
remaining companies were left in camp until 11 p. m., when I was
ordered to proceed with my command to relieve the One hundred
and twenty-third Regiment Ohio Volunteer Infantry, then holding
the Strasburg road. My command having been so reduced by de-
tachments and details, T applied to the general commanding our bri-
ﬁ:’ge to ascertain whether f should take my three companies (all I
that were not on duty) to relieve an entire regiment, when I was
ordered to relieve the three companies in the outer works, and then
roceed forthwith to relieve the One hundred and twenty-third, as
fore ordered. After the necessary delay in relieving the three
companies, and getting rations, I moved my command on the Pugh-
town road, in the direction of town. When arriving in front of the
building occupied as headquarters First Brigade, I wasordered by a
staff officer of the general commanding division to return with my
command to camp, and from there to station it in the works west
of t]};;a star fort, where I remained until the attack on the outer
works.

During the forenoon, I was re-enforced by the fragments of the
two companies (A and I) that returned from Bunker Hill, under
command of Major Morris, nearly one-half of each company having
been either killetll, wounded, or captured in the fight the evening pre-
vious. Shortly after the attack on the outer works, where Company
C, of my command, was still stationed, I received an order to go to
the support of the battery that was stationed in the aforesaid works.
I accorgingly moved m{ command, preceded by the Eighty-seventh
Pennsylvania, toward the works, but previous to this time the enemy
had carried the works and captured the battery. I still moved on
with my command, and at the same time directed my adjutant to go
a8 slpee(i’il as possible to the main fort, and ascertain from the gen-
era whetf‘:er it was the order to attempt to retake the works and
battery, or to fall back. My adjutant soon returned with the order
to fall back. This order came just before I had got in range of the
enemy’s guns. My command retreated in good order, under a ter-
rible fire of shot and shell, into the main fort, without the loss of a
man. Gompany C, which was stationed in the outer works at the
time they were carried by the enemy, suffered severely, losing its .
eaptain and several men killed, besides wounded or taken prisoners.
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The remnant of the company left fell back into the star fort, and at
the time of the evacuation and retreat was with the Fifth Maryland
Regiment. I have since learned unofficially that the first lieutenant
and 25 men were at Harper’s Ferry. The balance of the comgm]y
that is left (some 20 men) are with the regiment. My command re-
mained in the main fort until the evacuation was ordered, when I
took position in the column, the third regiment from the rear.

At the time of the attack on Monday morning, my command,
together with the Twelfth West Virginia Infantry, formed a line of
battle on the left of the pike, nearly opposite to the woods where the
engagement commenced. Here we remained under fire for some
minutes, when I was ordered to file left, and form a line of battle, and
attack the enemy in the rear of the woods on the left of the pike,
which I did by marching up the lane that lies to the left of the pike
and runs at right angles with it. Having proceeded up this lane some
distance, I filed to the right, and ma.rche&) in toward the rear of the
woods, as ordered. When nearing the woods, I received an order from
a staff officer to fall back to the lane and make my retreat the best
way possible, asthe firing had nearly ceased, and to attackthe enemy
at that time and place would effect no good. After returning to the
lane, I met a scout of the general’s, who said he was acquainted with
the country, and would pilot me through the mountains to the river.

After a long and fatiguing march of nearly 40 miles, at dark we
bivouacked at a point about 4 miles east of Bath.

The First New York and a part of the Twelfth Pennsylvania Cav-
alry were with us until afternoon, when they left us, and went directly
through to Hancock the same night.

At an early hour on Tuesday morning, I took up the line of march
for the river (Potomac), which we crossed at Sir John’s Run at 10
a. m., and arrived at Hancock at 2 p. m. same d%y.

Here (at Hancock) I found the Twelfth West Virginia, part of the
Eighty-seventh Pennsylvania, and detached companies, stragglers
from every infantry regiment in the division, to etﬁer with the %‘irst
New York, Twelfth Pennsylvania, and Colonel Galligher, of the Thir.
teenth Pennsylvania Cavalry, who assumed command of all the forces
then at Hancock.

Here I remained until 10 o’clock same night, and it being rumored
that the enemy was advancing upon Hancock, and also receivin
intelligence that a train Would%)e in readiness on the Baltimore a.ns
Ohio Railroad, at Little Orleans Station, to transport the infantry tc
Cumberland, the whole command, by order of Colonel Galligher,
moved up the pike toward Cumberland. '

‘We moved during the night some 18 or 20 miles up the pike, anc
in the morning left the pike to the right, and took a cross-road for the
Little Orleans Station. This point we reached about noon, but, greatly
to the disappointment of the men, who were nearly worn out, w
found no train in waiting for us. :

During the afternoon, while waiting for a train, I received a disg
patch from Colonel Galligher—the cavalry having kept the pilk;
toward Cumberland instead of following us to the station—that th
enemy occupied Cumberland, and were coming down the canal anc
railroad in the direction of the station. I accordingly retraced m
steps toward the pike, and bivouacked for the night about 14 mile;
from the station. .

At 3 o’clock the next morning, we started again toward the pike, an¢
reached it soon after sunrise. After reaching the pike, we marchec
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up the pike about 4 miles, and then took a road over the mountains,
leaving the pike to the left, and moved toward Chaneyville, which
point we reached the same evenin%

Here we bivouacked for the night, and the next day (Friday, 19th
instant) we reached this place (Bloody Run), and reported to General
Milroy in person, who arrived here from Hopewell about the same
time.

I cannot speak too highly of the good order and discipline dis-
played by both officers and men during the whole affair. Especially
would I commend the cheerfulness and patience with which the men
endured the march of five days, averaging nearly 30 miles per day,
and with scarcely ons ration of food during the whole march. Neither
can I forbear speaking of the brave defense of Bunker Hill by the
force under Major Morris, whereby the- train of the Third Brigade
was saved. The forces under command of the major at Bunker Hill
were one compa.n{ of the First New York Cavalry, two companies of
the Eighty-seventh Pennsylvania, and two companies (A and I) of my
command. They met an overwhelming force of the enemy in open
field. They were driven back, losing nearly one-half their men in
killed, wounded, and prisoners. It was herethat Captain Cochran, of
Company I, received a severe wound in the right arm and was taken
prisoner. After being repulsed in the open field, they fell back to the
churches, which they were occupying for quarters. These, bein
pierced with port-holes by knocking out now and then a brick, serveﬁ
as a defense from the fire of the enemy, while the port-holes could
be used with telling effect upon the enemy.

Here they fm;ﬁ‘ht from 5 p. m. of Saturday until dark, when the
rebels sent 1n a flag of truce demandi% the surrender of the com-
mand, to which the major replied, ¢ We are not doing that kind of
business.” .

Here they staid until 2 o’clock the next morning, when they evacu-
ated their position, and fell back upon the forces at Winchester,
making good their retreat.

This report, somewhat lengthy and perhaps too much in detail, is

respectfully submitted.
JAMES WASHBURN,
Col., Comdg. One hundred and sixteenth Regt. Ohio Vol. Inf.

Maj. JoHN O. CRAVENS,
A, A. G. Second Dwision, Eighth Army Corps.

. No. 389.

Report of Col. William H. Ball, One hundred and twenty-second
Ohio Infantry, of operations June 13-15,

Hpqrs. 122D OHIO VOL. INFANTRY, June 18, 1863.

81r : In obedience to orders received yesterday evening, I beg leave
most respectfully to report that my regiment was held in reserve on
Saturday, the 13th insfant, at camp near Winchester, Va.

On Sunday morni;lg, the 14th, the regiment occupied a position
south of Romney road and near the camp of the One hundred and
twenty-third Ohio, with Companies A, D. and E thrown forward as
skirmishers, under Lieutenant-Colonel Granger. The skirmishers
sccupied the crest of the hill till noon, with frequent firing between
them and the skirmishers of the enemy. At noon, Companies I and
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K and a portion of B relieved A and D, and occupied the same posi-
tion.

. About 1 F m. Companies F and H (see Note 1), under order of
General Milroy, moved to the south part of the town of Winchester,
to prevent the occupation of that part of the town by the skirmishers
of the enemy. These companies were sharply engaged with the
ﬁnemy’s skirmishers, and were occasionally fired on from private

ouses.

About 5 E m., by order of General Milroy (see Note 2), the regi-
ment and the skirmishers (I, K, and a part of B) advanced. Lieu-
tenant-Colonel Granger, with his skirmishers, advanced rapidly upon
a rifle-pit and stone wall occupied by the enemy, and, when within
20 paces of it, engaged what apé)eared to be a battalion, fired three
rounds, and retired in good order to the crest of the hill, and held
that [{(I)sition until relieved by the One hundred and twenty-third
Ohio Volunteer Infantry, when the entire regiment returned to the
fortifications.

In this affair, Lieutenant Scott, of Company B, received a flesh
wound in the right thigh; 1 man was killed, 8 wounded, 12 missing.

Lieutenant-Colonel Granger, Captains Gary and Ross, Lieutenants
Black, Scott, and Armstrong, and the men, displayed a high degree
of courage and coolness,

The regiment was then posted in the principal fortification, to de-
fend it against an assault, and remained there until the retreat to
Harper’s Ferry was commenced, Monday morning, the 15th. When
4 miles out on the Martinsburg road, the enemy’s pickets having
fired, a line of battle was formed. I was ordered to form on the One
hundred and tenth Ohio Volunteer Infantry. When completin
the formation, I was ordered to form in rear o¥ the One hundred an
twenty-third Ohio Volunteer Infantry. Just as that formation was
being made, I was ordered to follow the One hundred and tenth Ohio
Volunteer Infantry, which had been moved off the field some time be-
fore and was out of sight. The regiments being so separated, I did not
engage the enemy as soon as the One hundreg and tenth. I formed
on the right of the One hundred and tenth Ohio Volunteer Infantry,
and the two regiments advanced within the skirt of the woods and
engaged the enemy, who occupied the woods with infantry and artil-
lery. After a sharp action, the line was advanced at least 100 yards
and fo within 20 paces of the enemy’s artillery, where a terrible fire
was maintained for tifteen or twenty minutes by both parties. The
artillery was driven back over 100 yards, and for a time silenced by
the fire of our rifles. By order of Colonel Keifer, the two regiments
then retreated beyond the range of the enemy’s ihfantry, reformed,
and again advanced within the woods (see Note 3), and, after a sharp
engagement, retreated, by order of Colonel Keifer, the enemy then
moving on our flank. e then continued the retreat to Harper’s
Ferry under command of General Milroy (see Note 4).

In these attacks my regiment lost: Killed, 1 officer (Captain Gibeaut)
and 6 men; wounded, 16 men; missing in action, 5 officers and 230
men; captured in hospital and on individual detached duty, 9 officers
and 124 men.

The conduct of my officers and men was most commendable.

Most respectfully, your obedient servant,
W. H. BALL,
Colonel, Comdyg. 122d Ohio Vol. Infantry.

Capt. J. E. Jacoss, Assistant Adjulant-General.
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[Indorsement.]

HpQrs. FIrsT Brig., SEcoND D1v., E1GHTH ARMY CORPS,
June 27, 1863.

Respectfully forwarded with the following remarks:

Note 1.—The order was given by me.

Note 2.—Major-General Milroy came on the field and gave the
order in person. :

Note 3.—The order to advance was given by me.

Note 4. —Major-General Milroy rode at the head of my brigade to
Harper’s Ferry. 1 was with the brigade also.

W. L. ELLIOTT,
Brigadier-General, U. 8. Voluniteers, Comdy.

No. 390.

Report of Maj. Darius Titus, Twelfth Pennsylvania Cavalr'_c-/, of
operations June 13-15.

BLoopy RuN, BEDFORD CoUNTY, PaA., June 29, 1863

Sir: Most respectfully I submit the following report of the doings
and part taken by the Twelfth Pennsylvania Cavalry in the late
en ment at Winchester, Va.:

day, June 12, the regiment was ordered out on the Front Royal
road, to proceed to theriver. According to order, they proceeded to
within about 3 miles of the river, where they found a large rebel
force, consisting of cavalry, infantry, and artillery. After skirmish-
ing with them awhile, and ascertaining their strength, the regiment
fell back to Winchester. Two men wounded.

On arriving at Winchester, we were again ordered to go out on the
Strasburg road, to re-enforce the Thirteenth Pennsylvania Cavalry.
Did not proceed far before the regiment met them returning with
some prisoners. Both regiments returned to camp.

At about 7 p. m. the regiment, by order from General Milw, left
camp on scout for Strasburg, or to go as far as Middletown. e pro-
ceeded to Middletown and beyond. Saw no rebels, and returned to
camp about 2 a. m.

Saturday morning, about 7 o’clock, by general order, we took the
advance on the Strasburg road to Union Mills (I think is the name),
about 4 or 5 miles from town. We found some infantry there. We
proceeded on the Strasburg road about 3 miles farther. Remained

-an hour or so; then fell back to the force which had collected and
was in line of battle near the mill. 'We were placed on the extreme
right of the line.

About noon, action commenced on the Front Royal road. Our
regiment took the advance on the Strasburg road near the mill; sent
out skirmishers. Found the rebels in large force in woods to the
left of the Strasburg road. After some skirmishing, and the woods
shelled by our artillery, the rebels fell back, and changed their posi-
tion to the right of the road. During the skirmishing, we lost 1 man
killed and 2 wounded. The fight soon became quite general on the
right of the road, but our infantry and artiﬁery sustained their
ground, and drove them back untif7 dark, when the regiment was
ordered back near to Winchester ; there remained in line with the
Thirteenth during a heavy thunder-storm until about 12 o’clock,
vhen we were ordered to camp, which was located on the Martins-
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burg road about 1 mile from town, and to remove everything out
of camp, excepting tents, to the west side of the fortification, and
for the regiment to locate on the Pughtown road, about 1 mile west
of the main fortification.

On the morning of Sunday, we placed pickets on the rise of ground
on the extreme north and west of the fortification, and sent out scout
of two companies on the Pughtown road, and also to cross over to the
Strasburg road. They returned about 1 or 2 o’clock; reported no
rebels in that direction.

During the day the woods were shelled from our fortification in
every direction, a small force of rebels appearing on the Front Royal
road until about 5 o’clock, when the rebels came up in the rearin
large foree; took possession of the hill west and north of our fortifi-
cation. Commenced throwing the shells in every direction. We
moved along the Pughtown road to the front or south of our fortifi-
cation. Remained there until ordered to leave.

About 3 a. m. of Monday {15th], we were placed as the advance
guard. After proceeding about 4 miles out of town on the Martins-

urg road, our advance guard was stopped by rebel pickets. We
sent re-enforcements. Drove the pickets into the woods, when firin
commenced on our advance guard from both sides of the road, whic
was returned with great spirit and determination, not only by our
advance guard, but the right of the regiment, which had advanced
to their relief or to sustain them. In this position we remained about
fifteen or twenty minutes before the infantry came u% ‘When they
came, they flanked the rebels right and left; opened the most deadly
and terrific fire I ever witnessed. Qur regiment retired in good
order a few rods until the rebels opened up their cannon, throwing
their shell among us, so that we were compelled to leave. Qur reg-
ment (the Twelfth Pennsylvania Cavalry) left in good order, losin
3 killed and a number wounded and missing. We proceeded to Bat
and to Hancock ; then to Bedford, and here.

Respectfully, your obedient servant,
DARIUS TITUS,
Major Twelfth Pennsylvania Cavalry.

Maj. JoHN Q. CRAVENS,
Assistant Adjutant-General.

No. 391.

Report of Maj. Michael Kerwin, Thirteenth Pennsylvania Cavalry,
of operations June 13-15,

NEAR MARYLAND HEIGHTS, MD., June 18, 1863.

CapraIN: On Saturday, June 13, about 3 a. m., the regiment was
ordered under arms, and at 8.30 a. m. moved out on the Stragsburg
road. After marching about 1§ miles in the direction of Strasburg
the regiment was ordered on the left flank, about half a mile fron
the road. The regiment began to skirmish with the enemy about 1(
a. m., which resulted in the wounding of 1 horse in the breast. "W
held our position until the enemy began to shell us, when the regi
ment changed position to the right of the Strasburg road, west anc
in front of the mill on the Strasburg road. As the rebels advancec
in force, we gradually retreated to the mill, with 1 man and 2 horse
wounded by pieces of shell.
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At or near 5 p. m. we changed position, and formed near the burial
ground west of the town.

At or near 11 p. m. we changed our position, and, in compliance
with orders, formed on the right of the Pughtown road, west of the
fortification. We remained in that position until daylight of June 14.

At or near 4 a. m. we formed unggr cover of a hill at a distance
of some 400 yards north of our latter position, in order to feed and

aze our horses. Remained in that position until 4 p. m., when
g)mpa.ny I was thrown out as flankers on the left, and Company F
relieved Company H as supporters of the r;fu.lar battery. ethen
changed position toward the Pughtown road. -

At or near 5 p. m., being very much exposed to artillery fire of
the enemy, we retired, in compliance with orders, toward the Mar-
tinsburg road, east of the fortification. At or near retreat, we crossed
the Martinsburg road, and formed to charﬁe upon & body of rebel
cavalry which was coming toward us in the direction of Martins-
burg. The enemy fell back and on the left of the Martinsburg road.

At dark, we retired on the right and near earthworks or fort close
to Martinsburg road, forming in line, and awaiting orders, and re-
mained in that position until 2.30 a. m., June 15. At the hour last
mentioned, we moved on the Martinsburg road toward Martinsburq
covering the infantry, while the First New York Cavalry was st1 i
in our rear.

At or near 4 a. m, the enemy opened fire among us with shell,
when we changed position on the right, in front of the guns of the
enemy, passing them to form on their left, in order to charge them in
their rear, the enemy shelling us all the time. At one fire, Company
A, composed of 62 men, lost every man excepting 9, including 2
commissioned officers. Seeing no other cavalry on tﬁe field, we with-
drew toward Charlestown, arriving at Harper’s Ferry at or near
I%ﬁ m., with 301 men and 20 officers, being a loss of 322 men and 12
officers.

I am, very respectfully, yours, &ec.,
y rospee »y M. KERWIN,
Magor, Comdg. Thirteenth Pennsylvania Cavalry.

Capt. J. E. Jacoss,
A. A. G., First Brig., Second Div., Eighth Army Corps.

[Indorsement.}

BALTIMORE, MD., July 16, 1863.

Respectfully submitted with the following remark :

The Thirteenth Pennsylvania Cavalry was not ordered by me to
proceed within reach of the enemy’s batteries, the fire of which is
said to have proved so fatal to them. :

] R. H. MILROY,

Magjor-General.

No. 392.

Report of Lieut. Jonathan B. Hanson, First Massachusetts Heavy
Artillery, of operations June 10-15,

MARYLAND HEIGHTS, MD., June 23, 1863.

Sir: Company I, Fourteenth [First] Regiment Massachusetts Vol-
unteer Heavy Artillery, Capt. William F. Martins commanding,
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left the 30-pounder battery on Maryland Heights for Winchester,

via Martinsburg, Wednesday, June 10, pursuant to orders from de-
artment headquarters. The journey was by rail as far as Martins-
ur%, where the company encamé)ed the same night. -

Thursday, the 11th, it marched from Martinsburg to Winchester,
a distance of 22 miles, the road passing through Darkesville and
Bunker Hill.

Arriving at Winchester Thursday evening, and reporting to Major-
General Milroy, the company was assigned to garrison the principal
fortification there, known as the flag fort, Captain Martins bein
under the orders of Capt. W. Angelo Poweﬁ), engineer-in-chief.
The armament consisted of four 20-pounder Parrott rifled cannon
a.}x:d two 24-pounder brass howitzers, of which Company I at once took
charge.

Friday, June 12, Captain Martins was ordered to report to Briga-
dier-General Elliott.

Saturday, June 13, early in the morning, the enemy appeared be-
tween the Front Royal road and the Strasburg road, and an engage-
ment took place between them and our forces, lasting the greater

art of theday. A part of the time the enemy was in sight of the fort,

istant about 5,000 yards, and some 70 shell were fired atthem from
the fort, with the effect, according to Captain Powell’s statement, of
dismounting two of the enemy’s pieces and throwing his infantry
into disorder.

During Saturday night, the 13th instant, General Milroy disposed
his main force around and in the fortifications, and at daybreak of
Sunday, June 14, took up his headquarters in the flag fort.

During Sunday, the enemy gradually encircled the town and forti-
fications, skirmishing going on all the time. Company I took a more
active part in the engagement than before, shelling the enemy in his
rifle-pits and other places of concealment all day.

In the afternoon, Lieutenant Hanson, with two detachments, in
charge of a 24-pounder howitzer, took part in a skirmish and recon-
naissance in the open plain below the fort, the party, which also in-
cluded a regiment of infantry and a squadron of cavalry, being under
the command of Colonel Ely, of the Eighteenth Regiment Connecti-
cut Volunteers. The result of this reconnaissance was the killing
of 1 rebel captain, wounding several, and capturing 11 prisoners.

Abowt 5 11) m. on the 14th, the enemy, having gained the rear of
General Milroy, opened his batteries upon the fortifications, and a
heavy cannonading, which lasted two hours and a half, followed.
The enemy made an assault upon the flag fort, which was repelled.

At 1 a. m. Monday, June 15, General Milroy ordered a retreat.
By his order, Company I remained last in the fort, to spike the guns
after the others had left. This was successfully done. All thecom-
pany property and all the knapsacks and baggage were necessarily
abandoned, and are supposed to have fallen into the hands of the en-
emy. Company I marched in the rear of the column, directly behind
the Sixth Maryland Regiment. About 4 miles from Winchester we
were attacked by a strong force of the enemy. General Milroy,
with the head of the column, pushed his way through. Company I,
with the Sixth Maryland Regiment, found themselves cut off from
the rest, but under the able direction of the field officers of the Sixth
Maryland made their way to Harper’s Ferry by a very severe march,
avoiding the towns of Berryville, Smithfield, and Charlestown, and

taking country roads and striking through the woods until they
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came to the Shenandoah, 10 miles above the Ferry. In this march
Capt. William F. Martins and 44 enlisted men fell behind, and have
not since been heard from.

In Sunday’s fight, Private James F. Hodgdon was very seriously
wounded b%vthe premature discharge of a cannon, and {'eft in the
hospital at Winchester.

In the fight at daybreak, Mondaly, June 15, Private Timothy Shee-
han was wounded by a piece of shell in the forehead. Private James
Drysdale is reporteg to have been wounded by a musket-ball at the
same t‘irme. full bed

ery respect our obedient servant,
Ty TospectiiY, ¥ J. B. HANSON,
First Lieut., Comdg. Company I, 144h Mass. Heavy Artillery.

Adjutant-General THOMAS.

No. 393.

Report of Lieut. Edmund D. Spooner, Battery L, Fifth U. S
Artillery, of operations June 13-15. &

MARYLAND HEIGHTS,
June 26, 1863,

CAPTAIN: In compliance with an order from Brigadier-General
Elliott, I havethe honor to reportthe following operations of my bat-
tery on June 13, 14, and 15, as the commanding officer of the battery
was taken prisoner and I being the only officer present:

On the morning of the 13th, Lieutenant Randolph received orders
to proceed out the Strasburg road with one section of the battery,
leaving the remaining two sections of the battery under my com-
mand at camp near mchester, Va.

About 10 o’clock the same morning, I received orders from Gen-
eral Elliott fo join Lieutenant Randolph with the remainder of the
battery on the Strasburg road. After arriving at Union Mills, on
the Strasburg road, General Elliott ordered me to take command of
one section, and report to Colonel Ely, Eighteenth Connecticut Vol-
unteers, on the Front Royalroad. After having reported to Colonel
Ely, and observing that our pickets had been driven in on the Front
Royal road about 2 miles from town, €olonel Ely ordered me to take
position on the right of the Front Royal road and about 1 mile from
town, and shell the woods where the enemy was supposed to be, and,
after engaging the enemy’s cavalry and sharpshooters for about half
an hour, a battery of 12-pounder Napoleon guns opened upon me
from the right, under cover of woods and at a distance of not more
than 400 yards. I then directed my attention to the enemy’s guns,
but the terrible fire I received from the enemy compelled me to re-
tire, but not until I had succeeded in exploding one of the enemy’s
caissons. During said enﬁagement, my men acted with great cool-
ness and bravery. After having retired about half way on the Front
Royal road leading to the town, a random shell from the enemy’s

ns struck one of my limbers, exploding it, and killing 3 cannoneers.
ﬂhen took position just at the outskirts of the town, under cover of
an old orchard, and engaged the enemy at long range. 1 was then
joined by Lieutenant ndolph with the two remaining sections,
where we remained during the remainder of the day.
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About 10 o’clock on Saturday night, orders were received from Gen-
eral Milroy to fall back with my command to the camp of my bat-
tery, just north of the town, and await further orders, but during
said time to get everything in readiness to move ata moment’s warn-

ing.

About 12 o’clock the same night, I received orders to proceed to
the fortifications, After having arrived at the fortifications, General
Milroy ordered Lieutenant Randolph to proceed with his battery to
the outworks south of the Pu%htown road and take position there,
supported b¥ the One hundred and tenth Ohio Volunteer Infantry
Colonel Keifer commanding. We remained unmolested there unfil
about § fp m., when the enemy succeeded in getting at least sixteen
pieces of artillery in 3)osition on Round Mountain, to the west of the
outworks, and opened a terrible fire upon us. My battery replied
vigorously until I had some 50 or 60 horses killed and 1 caisson and
1 limber blown u%

About 6 p. m. the enemy came up behind the hill to our front with
five regiments of infantry, in deep column of attack. I then opened
upon them with canister, and did great execution, but so overwhelm-
ing was their force that it did not appear to have a particle of effect.
They stormed the works, and not until the enemy had planted their
colors upon the works did my men leave their guns. I succeeded in
bringing 18 men off with me, all the rest bei:f either killed, cap-
i:ll_n'eg,l or wounded. Lieutenant Randolph had 3 horses shot under

im,

After having reported to General Milroy with what few men I had
with me, I then took charge of one of the siege guns in the fort with
my detachment of men, and engaged the enemy for over an hour,
until my men, so exhausted they could not work the guns any longer,
were relieved by a detachment of the Fourteenth [First] Massachu-
setts Heavy Artillery. Iremained in the fortifications with my men
until about 2 a. m. 15th instant, when orders were received to fall
back to Harper’s Ferry. Having marched about 4 miles from Win-
chester on the Martinsburg road, we were fired upon by the enemy.
I then gave orders to my men to follow the infantry, they being all
unarmed and on foot with the exception of some few who had sabers.
Two men have reported so far at Harper’s Ferry, they being all that
I have heard of as making their way through.

Trusting that grou will excuge the irregularity of this report, I am,
sir, very respectiully, your obédient servant,

: E. D. SPOONER,
Second Lieutenant Battery L, Fifth U. S. Artillery.

Capt. J. E. JAcoss,
A. A. Q., First Brig., Second Div., Eighth Army Corps.

No. 394.

Report of Capt. John Carlin, Battery D, First West Virginia
Laght Artillery, of operations June 13-15.
‘W ASHINGTON, D. C., July 24, 1863.

I certif}; that I am in command of Battery D, First West Virginia
Light Artillery, composed of six 3-inch rifled guns, and have n
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under the command of Major-General Milroy since October, 1862,
Was with his command at the battle of Winchester on June 13 and
14; had at the commencement of the engagement about 300 rounds
of ammunition per gun; fired during the two days’ fighting about 265
rounds of ammunition per gun of different kinXs. fhad left in the
chests when the action ceased on Sunday night about 35 rounds per

n. I was ordered by Major-General Milroy, through Briia.dler-
g;neral Elliott, on Monday morning. about 2 o'clock, to spike my
guns, destroy what ammunition was on hand, cut up the harness,
and take nothing away but the saddles and bridles, and the horses,
with the men mounted on them, which order I complied with. Had
I been allowed to do so, I could have taken my guns and equipment
out when the order was given to evacuate, and, in my opinion, could
have rendered good service in covering the retreat and engaging the
battery of the enemy that made the attack upon General Milroy's
forces on the Martinsburg road, 4 miles from Winchester, Va., on the

morning of June 15,
JOHN CARLIN,
Captain, Comdg. Company D, First W. Va. Light Art.

No. 395.

Report of Muj. Henry Peale, Eighteenth Connecticut Infaniry,
Second Brigade, of operations June 13-15.

MARTINSBURG, W, Va,,
November 10, 1863.

Sir: I have the honor to present the following report of the part
taken by the Eighteenth Connecticut Infantry in the battle of Win-
chester, Va.,.June 13, 14, and 15:

The regiment arrived at Winchester on May 25 from Baltimore,
Md., at which post the majority of the command had, since its de-
parture from Connecticut, been stationed, and was immediately as-
signed to the right of the Second Brigade, Milroy’s division, of which
brigade Col. William.G. Ely, Eighteenth Connecticut Volunteers,
assumed command.

From that date until the commencement of the action the history
of the regiment may be embraced in the two words—reconnaissance’
and picket. Winchester, being an exposed point, with few advan-
tages of defense, and open to sudden attacks, a large force was re-
quired for such purposes, and the regiment had little rest.

During the latter portion of this period, rumors were rife of the
irruption of a large rebel force into the Shenandoah Valley, but fre-
?uent reconnaissance failed to discover any forces other than those

ong known to have been in the Valley, consisting of small detach-
ments of all arms, under such leaders as Imboden, Jones, and Jenkins,
and as those were far inferior in numbers to the command at Win-
chester, they excited little or no apprehension.

Matters were in this condition when, on the morning of June 13,
about daybreak, alarge rebel force suddenly appeared from the south
on the Front Royal road. Their advance guard rapidly drove in the
Federal pickets. The regiment was at this time encamped on the
east of this road, abcut 1 mile south of Winchester. On the alarm
being given, it was immediately by a flank movement formed on the
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west of the road, in a field, and two companies (A and B) were de-
ployed as skirmishers to contest the rebel advance. The enemy at
once took possession of a woody eminence, some distance in front, and
proceeded to establish a battery on its summit. Slight skirmishing
then ensued, and the enemy shortly after fired one or two shots, which.
however, fell short of the regiment. After this, matters remained
nearly quiet until about 3 p. m., the enemK apparently being engaged
in bringing up re-enforcements and making his dispositions for a
more general attack.

At that hour the companies of skirmishers fell back upon the regi-
ment, which retired slowly to the outskirts of the city, where it formed
to the support of Battery L, Fifth U. S. Artillery, which had been
advanced to our assistance. Battery L immediately opened upon
the rebel battery, which responded briskly, their shells flying over
the regiment, which lay behind a wall immediately in rear of the
Federal guns. The large guns of the main fort, situated a half
mile to the northwest of Winchester, also joined in the contest, and
the united firing proving too much for the rebels, their battery was
silenced and withdrawn, -

Shortly after, information ha,vinﬁ; been received that the enemy
had occupied Berryville, some 10 miles northeast of Winchester, and
were advancing from that place, the regiment was withdrawn from
the Front Royal road, and thrown into the rifle-pits commanding the
approaches from Berryville.

t remained here without the occurrence of anything important
until 1 a. m. of the 14th, when it was ordered to the defenses imme-
diately in shelter of the main fort, where it rested until daylight. It
then proceeded to the southern portion of the city, to the defense of
some quartermaster’s and commissary property which was in process
of removal, and which was rendered insecure by the somewhat de-
fenseless condition of the city in that quarter. Some of the com-

anies skirmished for a short time with small parties of rebels who
ﬁ&d penetrated the outskirts of the place, but the whole command
was again ordered to the defenses on the northwest, commanding the
Berryville road, in which direction the lines of the enemy could now
be discovered. Severe firing shortly ensued, which lasted for several
hours. The rebels took possession of a large house within rifle dis-
tance of the regiment, and annoyed it severely, delivering their fire
whenever a head showed itself above the rifle-pits. It was resolved
to dislodge them, and a 24-pounder brass howitzer was procured from
the fort and turned upon the building. The gun was served by Cap-
tain {Isaiah B.] McDonald, of the commissary department. After
the firing of several shots, some of which penetrated it. a portion of
the regiment, Companies F and H, under Captain Bowen, of the
latter company, charged, and captured 8 prisoners, the rest making
their escape.

In this affair, Private Charles Baldwin, Company ¥, while attempt-
ing to capture 2 rebels, was killed, and First Sergt. Willilam Car-
ruthers, Company H, severely wounded.

Lieutenant-Colonel Nichols being sick, the regiment was this day
commanded by Major Peale.

‘We were kept in the rifle-pits until about 4 o’clock in the afternoon,
when the place was attacked from an unexpected quarter, and the
command, in obedience to orders, immediately fell back to the works
northeast of and immediately in shelter of the main fortifications.
The silence of the enemy during the previous night and early part of
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the day was now explained. He had prolonged his line on the right
to a point north of the Berryville road, while the left extended across
the Front Royal, Strasburg, and Romney roads to a point west of the
city and directly in rear of the main fort. He had with great labor
cut a road through the dense woods a considerable distance west of
the city, and forced several batteries to a position directly in front of
the main fort, which was now invested from that side. The first evi-
dence of their approach from that quarter was in the shape of a solid
shot, which flew over the fort and fell in the town beyond. The city
now being three-fourths invested, all forces were withdrawn from the
outer defenses and concentrated within the earthworks of the main
fortifications, with the exception of a portion of the First Brigade,
which had since the beginning of the action been stationed with a
battery on a ridge directly in line of the enemy’s approach. The
rebels having made disposition of their batteries, some cannonading
ensued, at the end of which they made a furious assault npon the
ridge, capturing the battery, which, however, had been rendered un-
serviceable, and driving the support back in confusion, though not
without desperate resistance on the part of the latter.

The whole division was now concentrated within the main fortifi-
cations. Nothing further of importance occurred for several hours,
the enemy being, as was afterward known, at this time engaged in
bringing artillery through the road previously cut through the
woogs, with a view of commencing with the daylight a bombardment
which should put an end to all further resistance and necessitate
immediate capitulation,

At 1 a. m. on the 15th, the order was given for the silent evacua-
tion of Winchester. The night was intensely dark, but the column
moved with order on the road leading to Martingsburg, the Eighteenth
Connecticut forming the advance of the Second Brigade. The com-
mand had Eroceeded about 43 miles, when the head of the First
Brigade suddenly encountered the right of the enemy, posted in
strong force in a piece of woods skirting the right of the road. The
rebels threw forward with great rapidity a sufficient force to com-
mand the whole of the First Brigade and a large portion of the Sec-
ond. One or more volleys were delivered by them and returned,
but, owing to the extereme darkness of the morning, had little or no
effect. At thistime the First Brigade charged, and having partially
driven back the force immediately in its front, the larger portion
passed on, and continued its flight to Harper’s Ferry. The remainder
of the First Brigade, together with the Second, fell back in a field to
the left of the road, and reformed their partially disordered ranks.
Two successive charges were then made, but were repulsed without
the occurrence, however, of much loss to the Eighteenth, the loss
heing more severe on the left of the brigade. The brigade, after the
second charge, became considerably disorganized. and some of the
regiments scattered, so as to render it impossible to bring them into
line again. The Eighteenth was reformed with considerable diffi-
culty. and charged the third time alone, but was immediately re-
pulsed, with a loss of some 30 killed and wounded.

In this charge, Captain (formerly Adjutant) Porter was killed, and
Captains Bates and Bowen severely wounded. Captain Warner and
Lieutenant Merwin had received slight wounds in the second charge.

These men then scattered in all directions, but, meeting the enemy
at nearly all goints, were forced to turn back, and a large number
were captured.
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Company D alone escaped intact. Having been detailed as pro-
vost-guard of Winchester, it left that place with the Third Brigade,
in charge of some prisoners.

That%)rigade did not participate in the action. On being made
aware of an attack, it was marched to the rear by its commanding
officer, and made its way across the country to Pennsylvania.

After the escape of the First Brigade, the rebels had rapidly pro-
longed their line to the right, with a view of cutting off the retreat
of the remainder of the force to Harper’s Ferry, and at the termina-
tion of the third charge it was seven-eighths encircled. Escape
under these circumstances was a difficult matter.

Colonel Ely and Lieutenant-Colonel Nichols, being dismounted,
were captured. Major Peale was well mounted, and, having called
together some 30 of the advanced men, made his escape with them
to Harper’s Ferry by a circuitous route, his horse being wounded in
the attempt. Some 200 escaped in the direction of Hancock, Md.,
and a number, having forced their way through the lines of the enemy,
straggled off in other directions, and afterward turned up in hospitals
in Baltimore and elsewhere.

*x *x * x ® *x *x

I have the honor to be, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
I-{ENRY PEALE,
Major, Commanding Eighteenth Connecticut Volunteers.
Brig. Gen. HORACE J. MORSE,
Adjutant-General State of Connecticut, Hartford, Conn.

No. 396.

'Repm’t of Maj. Noah G. Ruhl, Eighty-seventh Pennsylvania In-
fantry, of operations June 13-15.

Broopy RuN, Pa., June 28, 1863.

Sir: I have the honor to report the following as the doings of the
Eighty-seventh Pennsylvania Volunteer Infamtry in regard to the
de%ense of Winchester, Va.:

Saturday, June 13, at 9 a. m., the Eighty-seventh, by order of
Colonel Ely, moved forward from camp, and took position behind a
stone wall on the south side of the Front Royal road, and near a sec-
tion of Battery L, Fifth U. S. Artillery, which was engaged shelling
the rebels in the woods. The regiment was in position but a short
time when the rebels opened a terrible fire with grape and canister
upon us from a battery posted about 400 yards in our front. B
order of Colonel Ely, the regiment fell back to the town, and too
position to support Battery L, Fifth U. 8. Artillery, which had taken

sition on an eminence on the south side of the town, between the

ront Royal and Strasburg roads. We remained in position there
until 6 p. m., when the regiment was ordered to the mill on the Stras-
burg road, where the regiment encountered a body of rebel infantry,
which, after some skirmishing, fled in confusion, closely pursued b
the Eighty-seventh. The regiment continued a brisk sKirmish wit
the rebels until the darkness of night hid the rebels from view. By
order, the regiment marched back, and took their position as a sup-
port to Battery L. :
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At 2 a. m., June 14, the regiment, by order, marched to the fort,
and took position in the rifle-pit.

At 9 a. m. the regiment marched into Winchester, and commenced
a brisk skirmish with the rebels in Market, Main, and Braddock
streets. The regiment succeeded in driving the rebels from the
streets, and kept up a brisk skirmish with the rebels around the
south side of the town until 3 1p m., when the regiment was relieved
by the Sixty-seventh Pennsylvania Volunteers.” The regiment re-
turned to the fort.

At 5 p. ra., by order, the regiment marched toward the star fort
to take position, but while on the march was again ordered to the
support of Battery L, in position on the outer fort. Before the regi-
ment could reach the battery, the rebels charged upon the battery,
and drove out the infantry support and captured the battery. The
Eighty-seventh was then ordered back to the fort, where it was
p in position in the rifle-pits surrounding the main fort.

At 2 a. m., June 15, the regiment was ordered to march in retreat
toward Martinsburg with the division. When about 4 miles from
Winchester, on the Martinsburg road, the head of the colunm was
attacked by rebel skirmishers. The Eighty-seventh was formed into
line of battle, and ordered to charge upon the enemy. They moved
forward at double-quick to a woods on the east side of the road, where
they found the rebels in force. The regiment opened fire upon the
rebels, when a terrible fire was kept up by the rebels with infantry
and artillerly upon our ranks, After firing several volleys, the Eighty-
seventh fell back and formed line again, and advanced into the woods
and poured several more volleys into the rebel ranks. The regiment
again fell back and formed line a third time, and moved forward into
the woods. In thischarge Colonel Schall, commanding the Eighty-
seventh, had his horse shot under him by rebel fire. e regiment,
after firing several vollezs, a portion of it fell back, and con-
tinued their retreat until they arrived at Hancock, Md., June 16, at

2p. m.

El)’art of the regiment, under Colonel Schall, retreated to Harper’s
Ferry. During the fight of the 13th and 14th, the regiment lost 1
man killed and 18 wounded. :

In the fight on the morning of the 15th, I am unable to give any
account of the losses, in consequence of the regiment being broken
ugl into several detachments, and so far distant as not to have an
ofticial report from either detachment.

Hoping this will prove satisfactory, correct, and true, I am, sir,

very respectfully, your obedient servant,
NOAH G. RUHL,

Comdg. Detachment Eighty-seventh Pennsylvania Infaniry.

Maj. JoHN O. CRAVENS,
Assistant Adjutani-General,

No. 397.

Report of Col. John B. Klunk, Twelfth West Virginia Infantry,
of operations June 12-15.

BLoopy RuN, Pa., June 28, 1863.

8ir: I have the honor to report as follows the part taken by my
regiment in the late engagement :

’
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During the week preceding Friday, the 12th instant, the force at
Winchester was kept unusually on the alert. Each night the picket
line was strengthened, artillery, with infantry support, placed in ad-
vantageous positions, and scouts were kept out all the time, com-
panies being sent in every direction.

On the night of the 13th, our regiment was commanded to strike
tents and load all camp equipage into wagons. This occupied from
.1 a. m. to 3 a. m. of Saturday morning, and the regiment was then
drawn up in line of battle. At 8 a. m. orders came to repitch our
tents. o sooner was this done than they were again ordered to be
struck and loaded.

About 12 m. the regiment was ordered out the Strasburg road to
support General Elliott. Cannonading was going on at our left on
the Front Royal road between the opposing artillery. After some
changes of position, at 3 p. m. the Twelfth O(!Cl(llpied a woods on the
right of the road going down the Valley toward Strasburg, just be-
yond the Union Mills. It was rather an elevated piece of ground,
with cleared field beyond and then another wooded hill. From
these woods the rebels debouched in very fine stﬁle, in perfect line,
skirmishers in front. Our artillery near the mill shelled them, but
with little effect. They soon drove back our cavalry skirmishers,
and engaged the skirmishers of our regiment. The enemy soon
doubled his line of skirmishers, and the action became quite warm.
‘We continued to hold the woods for some two hours.

Duringﬁ(this fight we lost Second Lieut. Thomas W. Bradley, Com-

~pany I, killed, shot through the heart, and also 6 men killed, 16
wounded; no prisoners.

Being flanked on our own unprotected right flank by a force of
infantry and cavalry, upon their opening fire we retreated in per-
fect order to the mill-race, our skirmishers following us in. ere
we found the One hundred and twenty-second Ohio on the side next
the mill, and the One hundred and tenth Ohio marching along the
race toward the west. Night coming on, we were ordered to town,
and remained in a driving rain at the south end of Winchester till
2a. m, Sunday. We were marched to the fortifications and remained
there till 6 & m.; then crossed to the hills on the opposite side of the
Romney road, advancing to the stone wall. At the summit we encoun-
tered the enemy. Just here an order was passed along our line to fall
back, from whom originating is not known. It was partially obeyed.
The greater part of the regiment left the wall by squads, reluctantly,
and formed a line at some distance back, leaving a considerab{e
number skirmishing at the wall. During the day, sections of the
Baltimore battery and Carlin’s advanced and fired over our skir-
mishers into the woods beyond. Skirmishing continued at the stone
wall durin%‘ the day.

In the afternoon, as three companies of our regiment were su
]éorting a section of the Baltimore battery, Second Lieut. Ben Gough,

ompany F, was shot by a rebel sharpshooter at not less than 90(
yards distance. The lieutenant died in the Taylor Hotel hospital af
10 X m. Sunday night.

t 4 p. m. Sunday an advance was ordered. Two Ohio regiments
were on our left, and our advance was to be governed by theirs. W
moved up in line to the stone wall, our skirmishers jumping ovei
and advancing on the enemy.

Here Lieut. James R. Durham, Company E, while leading on the
party, was wounded by a rifle-shot in the arm and right hand, while

N
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urging them on by example and voice. The two regiments on our left
not advancing, but retiring, our men stopped behind the stone wall,
and our skirmishers eame back to the same shelter. The Ohioans
still retiring toward the fort, and our regiment being unable to rise
from behmg the wall without encountering a heavy fire from a stone
wall parallel and 150 yards distant, left the wall as best and quickly
as we could, without regard to the order of our goinﬁ, and with some
- loss, but immediately reformed. On filing out into the Romney road,
the enemy opened a battery from the summit we had just left, and the
tierce cannonade of Sunday evening began and continued till dark.

QOur loss during Sunday is not known, though all were brought
off the field, deag and wounded. Many of our men being on de-
tached service and picket, and not being relieved in time to join
their own regiment, joined in the fight with other regiments. They
receive this credit by testimony of officers of those regiments.

Being the last off the field, we marched from the Romney road to
the main fort, and were assigned a rifle-pit on its right front. At
dark the rebel artillery ceased firing.

At 1 a. m. Monday the retreat began, the Twelfth being near the
rear of the column, some 4 miles from Winchester, on the Martins-
burg road. The fight of Monday began before daybreak. Upon
arriving at the place of action, I halted, and brought my regiment to
a front, awaiting orders. Soon the mounted men on the team horses
and some of the cavalry stampeded through our line, and threw it
into eonfusion for a little time. Many of my men were dashed against
the fences, and some guns mashed up by the terrified horses. Order
being restored, an aide-de-camp rode up and ordered us to file left,
preceded by the One hundred and sixteenth Ohio Volunteer Infan-
try. Following that regiment, and receiving no more orders, I went
on till the firing ceased. Finding our forces scattered, and left to our
own resources by the defeat, I retreated through the mountains on
the left, through Hancock, to our present location, repulsing a vari-
ously estimated force of rebel cavalry soon after the close of Mon-
day’s fight on the Martinsburg road.

f the conduct of the men during the retreat too much cannot
be said in commendation. During the three days’ fight they had
only a few crackers issued, and along the mountains but little could
be obtained for so many. They averaged 30 miles per day and night
for five days thus, and still in the main were easily controlled, and
discipline never failed.

am, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
JOHN B. KLUNK,
Colonel Twelfth West Virginia Volunteer Infantry.

Maj. JouaN O. CRAVENS,
A. A. G., Second Division, Eighth Army Corps.

No. 398,

Report of Maj. Alonzo W. Adams, First New York Cavalry, Third
Brigade, of operations June 12-15.
BrLoopy RuUN, PaA., June 206, 1863.

Masor: In obedience to special orders from headquarters, of this
late, I have the honor to report in detail the operations and action
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of my command during the late defense and evacuation of Winches-
ter, Va.
On the 12th instant it was ascertained that a considerable force of
the enemy was approaching Winchester from different points, but it
was believed by all the officers of the division with whom I was con-
versant that this demonstration was a mere feint to cover an im-
_ portant raid into Maryland, with a view to the destructionof the Bal-
timore and Ohio Railroad. At this time I was on detached service
as a member of a military board of examination, then in session at
‘Winchester. At my own request, I was, by order of Major-General
Milroy, relieved from duty with the military board, and ordered to
roceed at once to Berryville, and resume command of my regiment.
eneral Milroy at the same time communicated through me an order
to Col. A. T. McReynolds, commanding Third Brigade of this divis-
ion, to hold his position as long as he could, and, 1f compelled by a
superior force, to fall back in good order by the nearest route, and
join him (General Milroy) at Winchester at the earliest moment
possible. General Milroy also directed me to tell Colonel McReynolds
that he wanted the First New York Cavalry sent at once to Winches-
ter, by way of Millwood, with directions to reconnoiter the country
between these points, and bring him (General Milroy) accurate in-
formation as to the strength and probable intention and position of the
enemy, at the earliest moment possible. Colonel McReynoldsassigned
me to the command of my regiment, and ordered me to remain at
Berryville until further orders, and stated that he had other orders
from General Milroi, reviously received through Colonel Staunton,
of the Sixty-sevent Bennsylvania. Infantry, and that he had already
issued his order of march in case of his retreat, which would be
strictly adhered to. .

On the followinﬁ morning, 13th instant, at about 9 o’clock, the
enemy was reported by our scouts advancing in force from the direc-
tion of Millwood, thelr infantry and artillery on the main road and
their cavalry by circuitous routes, evidently with intent to attack our
flanks and rear. By order of Colonel McReynolds, I dispatched Com-
pany K, Captain Bailey, to reconnoiter the by-roads leading from Mill-
wood to Winchester, and intersecting the main road from Berryville
to Winchester, near the Opequon Creek, with a view to ascertaining
the strength, position, and purposes of the enemy. In executing this
order, Captain Bailey reached, by rapid marches through woods and
fields, the turnpike in rear of the enemy and about 2 miles from
Millwood. At this point he captured a private of the Sixteenth
Virginia Cavalry, from whom he learned that our forces had retreated
from Berryville. He returned by an indirect route, crossing the
‘Winchester pike about 3 miles from Berryville,and rejoined the bri-
gade on the Charlestown and Winchester road about 4 p. m., closely
pursued by the enemy’s cavalry, which made at this point a vigorous
attack upon my rear, but they were as vigorously met and repulsed.

In the order of retreat, the First New York Cavalry, together with
a section of artillery commanded by Lieut. H. E. Alexander (Balti-
more battery), covered the rear of our retreating forces. With the
vigorous supf)ort of Lieutenant Alexander, who served these two
guns most gallantly and with terrible effect upon the advancing col-
umns of the enemy, I succeeded in turning the advance of the ene-
my’s forces from the direction chosen for attack, thus gaining at
least one hour’s time, which was very important to our forces, then
falling back in good order, via Smithfield and Bunker Hill. Finding
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that the enemy by a flank movement were endeavoring to get in
my rear, I ordered Lieutenant Alexander to fall back with his guns to
the main column, I covering the rear of the forces with my cavalry.

From Berryville nothing of importance occurred until we reached
a point about 2 miles from the Opequon Creek, when the advance of
the rebel cavalry, 2,000 strong, made their appearance half a mile
distant and on my left flank. I had previously sent the First Bat-
talion of my regiment, Major Quinn, as a guard to the brigade wagon
train on a different route from that taken by our forces.

On arriving at a point near the Opequon Creek, a messenger from
my rear guard came up, and informed me that the rebel cavalry were
upon us. I wheeled my little command, only about 200 strong, and
immediately made ready for attack or defense. I had the fences
thrown down along the right flank of my cpommand, and formed the
squadrons in a field on my right. 1 had barely time to make the
proper disposition of my troops when, with a fiendish yell, a battalion
of rebel cavalry, about 350 strong, under Major [James W.] Sweeney,
dashed down upon me under full charge, with the greatest confidence
in their power to ““gobble up” my liftle command, as 1 have since
learned by an intelligent prisoner taken by us in that engagement.
When the rebels approached within easy carbine distance, I opened
upon them, emptying many of their saddles, and, for the moment, con-
fused and checked their charge upon us. Taking advantage of the
momentary confusion of the enemy, I placed myself in front of the
first squadron, and ordered the charge, but, for some reason yet un-
explained, Capt. Lambert J. Simons, who commanded the squadron,
did not obey the command in time to make the charge effective.
Lieut. Frank Passegger, Company L, also disobeyed my order, and 1
hereby report these two officers for disobedience of orders in front of
the enem{. Owing to the momentary confusion occasioned by the
criminal hesitation of the two officers named, I was compelled to fall
back to the opposite side of the Opequon, where I reformed my com-
mand, concealed from the enemy by a short turn iu the road.

Taking courage from this movement, and thinking they had me
on the skedaddle, the enemy charged over the stream with great
impetuosity, screaming and howling like demons. As the head of
their column appeared around the bend in the road, I again ordered
the charge, which was promptly obeyed, upon which a hand-to-hand
conflict of the most desperate character ensued, which resulted in
my favor, the enemy having been driven across the stream with a
loss of 20 killed and more than twice that number wounded. This
last charge was handsomely supported by Captain Alexander, Balti-
more battery, who, having heard of the fight on the opposite bank
of the river, hastened bacl% with one of the guns, placed it in position
at the side of the pike, about 150 yards from the 8 equon Creek, and
opened a terrific fire of canister shot upon the rebel column, carrying
. death and confusion to their ranks.

Our loss was 1 corfmral and 1 private killed, and not more than 9
or 10 wounded, mostly saber cuts upon the head and arms.

At this moment of my victory over the enemy, Maj. Timothy
Quinn, of my regiment, who had been sent with the First Battalion
to protect the wagon train, made his appearance on the ground, ac-
compaunied by Lieut. Erwin C. Watkins, Company K, claiming to
have been sent back by Colonel McReynolds to assist me, if required.
Itold Major Quinn that the fight was all over, and that the enemy
were defeated and driven back.
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After surveying the ground, and conversing with one or two of the
senior officers who were inimical to me, and finding that some of my
men and many of the rebels had fallen, Major Quinn, evincing un-
mistakable signs of jealousy and envy, remarked that it was the
opinion of most of the officers chat I had sacriticed mmy men by risk-
ing a battle at that place; that they were dissatisfied, and wanted
him to take command, and that I should have fallen back upon the
main column and upon batteries for protection, &e. I told him that
I would permit no such remarks in presence of the officers and men;
that it was well calculated to excite mutiny with officers and men.
Whereupon Major Quinn, without authority, sent forward Lieut.
Erwin C. Watkins to represent to Colonel McReynolds that I had-
sacrificed a large number of men unnecessarily by giving battle to the
enemy at the wrong place, and the said Lieutenant Watkins actually
returned with instructions from Colonel McReynolds, as he stated, to
place me in arrest for fighting, and Major Quinn in command of the
regiment. 1 did not, however, recognize this irregular mode of
arrest until I was informed by the acting assistant adjutant-general
of the brigade that I was in arrest, and assured by him that justice
would be done me when Colonel McReynolds fairly understood the
matter. I was, however, left in arrest until the command arrived
at Winchester, when I was relieved by order of the commandin
general and restored to my command, I would here call the es )ecizﬁ
attention of the commanding general to the ungentlemanly amIl mu-
tinous conduct of Major Quinn and Lieutenant Watkins, neither of
whom were in.the fight, but, coming upon the field at the moment of
my triumph over the enemy, through envy and jealousy on the part
of Major Quinn, and malice with Lieutenant Watkins, endeavored
by word and act to produce discontent, insubordination, and mutiny
with officers and men.

On Sunday, the 14th instant, it was ascertained that the enemy
were approaching with a formidable force, and with serious intent

n the capture of Winchester, greatly to my surprise, which was
shared in by all the officers with whom I was brought in contact.
Detachments of my regiment were sent out by General Milroy to
reconnoiter the road on our center and left, in the direction of Stras-
burg and Millwood, or Berry’s Ferry, and later in the day I was
ordered with my regiment to the south side of the city, where it was
reported that the enemy’s cavalry were approaching, with instruc-
tions to skirmish with them, and, if possible, hold the city until the
remainder of the forage, provisions, and baggage belonging to the
division could be removed. The order was successfully executed
and, at 3 p. m. of that day, nothin%‘?f value belonging to the Unite
States Government remained at Winchester. I was then ordered
back with my command to the position we occupied in the mornings,
immediately on the south side of the star fort, commanded by Colo-
nel McReynolds.

At about 5 p. m. a rebel battery opened upon the fort on our
extreme right, which was vigorously responded to by Lieutenant
Randolph’s battery, which occupied the fort with a strong infantry
support.

IAI:,OG o’clock this fort was stormed and occupied by an overwhelin-
ing force of rebel infantry. Half an hour later the rebels had theiy
guns in position upon this fort. They commenced to throw heav
shot and shell into the main fort, occupied by General Milroy, a.n(yi
the star fort, [occupied] by Colonel McReynolds, which was returned
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with interest by both. By the accurate firing of Captain Alexander’s
Baltimore batter{l from the star fort, the enemy’s guns were soon
dismounted and their infantry driven out.

As my regiment occupied a position in line net 50 yards from the
star fort, and within range of the enemy's guns, many of their shells
exploded directly over the heads of officers and men of my regiment,
who apparently paid as little attention to them as if they had been
harmless missiles. The coolness of officers and men under this heavy
fire was truly admirable. '

About 8 p. m. an attempt was made to storm the main fort, occu-
pied by General Milroy, but the storming party was promptly met
‘and repulsed, General Milroy commanding in person. It was now
quite dark, and the firing ceased on all sides.

About 1 a. m. on Monday, 15th, I was informed by Colonel Mec-
Reynolds that it was determined by a council of war to evacuate the
forts and fall back on Harper’s Ferry, **‘taking nothing that goes on
wheels,” and that to my regiment was assigned the post of honor—
that of bringing up and protecting the rear of our forces.

At 2 o’clock, the main body of the division having reached the
Winchester and Martinsburg turnpike, I marched with a strong rear
guard in inverse order, expecting an attack in rear by the rebel cav-
alry, and never for one moment anticipating trouble in front. The
wily enemy, however, by a rapid flank movement, had succeeded in
throwing a heavy force of artillery and infantry in our front, at a
point about 4 miles from Winchester, on the Martinsburg road, and
opened a terrific fire upon our retreating forces. Being in the rear
at this juncture of affairs—I was at least a half mile from the scene
of action, the shell passing over and beyond us in the direction of
Martinsburg; the incessant roll of musketry, of the sharp and rapid
fire of artillery, and the exciting intelligence passing down to the rear
through the various commands with the ra,tpidity of thought, all of
which caused me to feel that the services of my regiment might be
needed in front, not in the rear, and being left for some time without
orders from our brigade commander, who was, as I was left to suppose,
in front with the infantry of his command—1I assumed the responsi-
bility of moving up my regiment quickly to the front, where the most

inary conflict was raging between the contending forces. The
Eig%lty-seventh Pennsylvania [:fantry, Colonel Schall, the Eight-
eenth Connecticut, Colonel Ely, end the One hundred and tenth Ohio,
Colonel Keifer, were at this moment charging upon a rebel battery,
strongly supported by infantry, and right gallantly did they accom-
plish the work, Maj. Gen. R. H. Milroy leading the charge in per-
son, accompanied by two members of his staff. I charged down the
lines to the front, but just before reaching the position of the enemy’s
, I came in contact with a perfect barricade of telegraph wire
. wound together and stretched from tree to tree across roads and
' through woods and fields, so as to completely obstruct the farther
progress of cavalry in this direction.

I formed my command in line of battle about 100 yards to the left
of the road, in an open field, and awaited orders. At this moment the
enemy, with a superior force, which had been concealed in the woods,
dashed upon our victorious infantry, driving them back after a des-
perate struggle, and, retaking their guns, turned them upon us with
terrible effect. And here I assert, without the slightest fear of con-
tradiction, that, with not more than a half dozen exceptions, the
officers and men of the First New York Cavalry, in forming three
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several lines of battle on the field, came into position under this de
structive fire of the enemy’s artillery with as much apparent coolnes
as if on dress parade.

In obedience to orders direct from Major-General Milroy, throug
Major McGee, chief of staff, and, accompanied by that gallant officer
I fell back to the left, guarding the rear of the One hundred and six
teenth Ohio Volunteer Infantry, Colonel Washburn; the Eighteent
Connecticut Volunteers, Colonel Ely; a part of the Sixty-sevent!
Pennsylvania, Colonel Staunton, and the Eighty-seventh Pennsyl
vania Infantry, Colonel Schall, or what was left of these gallant regi
ments after their desperate but successful charge upon the enemy’
artillery and infantry, together with small detachments from othe
commands.

My loss in_this engagement was very small, not exceeding 30 ii
killed, wounded, and missing. This is in part owing to the fact tha
I had no opportunity to make a direct charge upon the enemy, am
Eartly because my command did not scatter, the officers and mer

aving kept well together and in good order,

‘We marched for Hancock, Md., reaching that place at 10 p. m. th
same day in good order and in excellent spirits, nothing abated in ou
attachment to the glorious cause nor in our determination to uphol
the Government and restore the Union at all hazards. Nor 1s ou
confidence-in the skill and dauntless courage of our late commande:
at all shaken on account of the temporary disaster at Winchester
which might have occurred to any other commander under heaver
with greatly superior numbers against him, directed by a wily foe
who had more than once succeeded in deceiving and evading th
highest and most skillful commanders of our army. We who hav
best known Maj. Gen. R. H. Milroy, and have learned by associatior
to respect his private virtues as a man and his skill and great devo
tion to his country as a soldier, will love and appreciate him not the
less because he is a terror to and is maligned and traduced by rebel:
and rebel sympathizers. '

‘With great respect. I have-the honor to be, your obedient servant.

A. W. ADAMS,
Major, Commanding Regiment.
Maj. JouN O. CRAVENS,
A. A. G, U. 8. Forces, Bloody Run, Pa.

No. 399.

Report of Capt. Frederic W. Alexander, Baltimore Battery, Mary-
land Light Artillery. of operations June 13-15.

‘WasHINGTON, D. C., June 23, 1863.

GENERAL: At your desire, I have the honor to report the follow-
ing facts connected with the loss of my battex(']y :

6n Saturday, June 13, Col. A. T. McReynolds, commanding Third
Brigade, Second Division, Ei%hth Army Corps, ordered me to march
to Winchester from Berryville, Va., with the rest of his command.
One section of the battery, with two squadrons of the First New York
Cavalry, formed the rear guard. I remained in person with them two
hours after the main body had retired on the road to Harper’s Ferry,
and thence to the left by Summit Point to Winchester. e shelled
the enemy whenever they appearedsand they thought we were in
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force, and began to envelop us gradually on both flanks. 'We moved
off quietly just in time, ang followed the main body. Their advance
canght us at the Opequon Creek, 8 miles from Winchester, but, with
the help of a portion of the Sixth Maryland Regiment and the First
New York Cavalry, we repulsed them so that we saw no more of them.

We reached Winchester at 11 p. m-; we were placed in the star
fort, a small octangular earthwork about 200 feet in diametey, and
?attened toward the east and west, standing northward of the main

ort. )

Early the next morning one section was ordered to the northern
extremity of the elevated ground upon which the fort was built.

About 12 m. a second section was ordered to report to General
Elliott, commanding First Brigade, for duty.

At 6 p. m. the rebel batteries suddenly opened, and a strong attack
was made on the hills southwest of Winchester, where Batter%L,
Fifth U. S. Artillery, was captured, and Battery D, First West Vir-

inia Artillery, withdrew to tﬁe main fort, and the two sections of my

tterilto the star fort. A heavy fire from three batteries, which we
saw taking position on the second range of hills west and northwest
of Winchester, opened upon the two forts. After a short time they
directed their fire entirely upon us. Fortunately, knowing the range,
from 1,500 to 1,700 yards, we were enabled to fire with accuracy, and
drove them from their position three times, dismounting at least two
guns and blowing up at one time a limber and then a caisson. Not
one shot was fired without using the pendulum hausse, and the exact
elevation given, the officers and myself frequently sighting the guns.
As it became dark, their fire ceased, and we fired the last two shots.
Two sections having been engaged nearly all that day and one the
day before at Berryville and on the route, and a constant fire being
necessary to prevent them from taking a position and holding it, so
as to get exact range by trying five or six shots, our ammunition
(1,200 rounds the day before, 200 rounds per gun) was reduced to 28
rounds per gun—168 rounds.

At 9.30 p. m. I received notice from Colonel McReynolds, com-
manding Third Brigade, that the star fort was expected to be attacked
in the next half hour. The Sixth Maryland Regiment was placed in-
_side, the Sixty-seventh Pennsylvania,rﬂegiment in the rifle-trenches
inclosing the work, and all arrangements made—guns loaded with
canister—and we awaited the attack confidently.

At 1 a. m. Monday, June 15, I received an order from Colonel Mc-
Reynolds, commanding brigade, to spike my guns, mount the men
on the horses, and prepare to retire with the utmost silence with the
rest of the command of General Milroy. Not liking this much, I
requested, as commandant of artillery, to be permitteg to go to Gen-
eral Milroy and ask permission to take my battery with me. Colonel
McReynolds consented, and I went to the main fort. I could not find
General Milroy, but was referred to his adjutant-general, Major Cra-
vens, who represented him, who declared that the order was most
peremptory, and must be obeyed strictly, and that nothing on wheels
or that could by any possibility make a noise could be permitted to
go, summing up that the great object of this movement was the
most perfect, silence and secrecy, and that the other guns were all
spiked. T immediately returned, spiked the guns, disabled the car-
riages, destroyed the ammunition, and removed and destroyed the
traces and trace-chaing, which would rattle, I then formed the men
by twos, and marched out with the rest of the troops.

N
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At the fifth mile-stone from Winchester on the Martinsburg road,
the column of which we were the rear, excepting the First New York
Cavalry (l’she Third Brigade formed the rear), was attacked in front
by the rebels with infantry and artillery. As my men were totally
unarmed, and many riding the off saddles without stirrups, I thought
the best plan was to make a dash through the woods on the right and
left of, the rebel line, and join at Harper’s Ferry. Forty went to the
right with Lieutenant Evans, of the battery, ang myself, and reached
Harper’s Ferry. I turned over, by order of the commanding gen-
eral there, to the quartermaster 33 horses and equipments, nearly
complete. The balance had given out on the road, and were forced
to be left. About 40 men went to the left with Lieutenant Alexander,
of the battery, and were forced to cross the Potomac as high up as
Sir John’s Run. Most of their horses gave out at Sir John’s Run.
The remainder of the battery who escaped broke through in small
detachments, and those who have come in report their horses as
having given out, and having been left with (of course) the harness,
&c., which was on them.

Whether I could have brought off my guns safely is a quéstion
which, of course, I cannot determine, though I think it is doubtful
now. I had to obey the orders of my commanding general, and
certainly cannot be blamed for so doing. Had the issue rested with
mfrself, I shoul@d, of course, have prepared to bring the guns off at
all hazards, as I could not be worse olg than Josing them, and might
save them. How far that course would have influenced the safe? of
the remainder of the command, was a question for the commanding
general (who must regard the welfare of the whole) to determine.

I have the honor to remain, your obedient servant,
: F. W. ALEXANDER,
Caplain Baltimore Battery, Light Artillery.
General W. F. BARRy,
Inspector of Artillery.

No. 400.

Record of a Court of Inquiry convened o investigate the evacua- .
tion of Winchester and Martinsburyg.

PROCEEDINGS OF A COURT OF INQUIRY, CONVENED BY VIRTUE OF
THE FOLLOWING ORDER:

- SPECIAL ORDERS, | WAR DEPARTMENT, ADJT. GEN.’s OFFICE,
No. 346. Washington, August 4, 1863.

* * * * * * *

VIII. By direction of the President of the United States, a court
of inquiry is hereby appointed to meet at Washington on the 7th day
of August, 1863, or as soon thereafter as practicable, to investigate the
facts and circumstances connected with the recent evacuation of
‘Winchester by the command of Maj. Gen. R. H. Milroy, U. 8. Vol-
unteers, and tKe evacuation of Martinsburg by the command of Brig.
Gen. D. Tyler, U. 8. Volunteers.

The court will report whether the orders of the General-in-Chief in
regard to the evacuation of Winchester were complied with; and, if
not, by whom they were disobeyed. It will also report whether the
retreat of the command was properly conducted, and the public prop-
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;31'3 suitably cared for; and, if not, what officer or officers were in
ault. .

The court will also report whether the retreat from Martinsburg
was properly conducted, and the public property suitably cared for;
and, if not, what officer or officers were in fault.

Detail for the court: Maj. Gen. E. A. Hitchcock, U. S. Volunteers;
Brig. Gen. W. F. Barry, U. S. Volunteers; Brig. Gen. J. J. Aber-
crombie, U. S. Volunteers; Capt. R. N. Scott, judge-advocate.

By order of the Secretary of War:

; E. D. TOWNSEND,

Assistant Adjutant-General.

FIRST DAY.
AUGUST 7, 1863—12 m.

The court met pursuant to above order.

Present, all the members and the judge-advocate.

Nosuitable rooms having been provided for the court, they ad-
journed to meet at 11 a. m. August 8, 1863.

SECOND DAY.

AvUGUsT 8, 1863.

The court met pursuant to adjournment.

Present, all the members and the judge-advocate.

Maj]. Gen. R. H. Milroy, U. 8. Volunteers, did not arrive until.
12.30 p. m. On his arrival in court, the special order convening the
court was read to him, and he was askedmiaf he had any objections
to any member named therein, to which he replied in the negative.

General Milroy then asked permission to employ counsel, and for
delay, in order tf‘;at he might be better prepared for the investigation.
Both requests were granted, and the court adjourned to meet at 11
a. m. Monday, August 10, 18,3.

THIRD DAY.

"WASHINGTON, August 10, 1863.

The court met pursuant to adjournment,

Present, Maj. Gen. E. A. Hitchcock, U. 8. Volunteers; Brig. Gen.
J. J.teAbercmmbie, U. 8. Volunteers; Capt. R. N. Scott, judge-ad-
vocate.

Ma{'or-General Milroy having desired further delay in order to
complete his preparations, the court adjourned to meet at 11 a. m.
August 11, 1863

FOURTH DAY.

‘W ASHINGTON, August 11, 1863.
Court met pursuant to adjournment.
Present, Brig. Gen. W. F. Barry, U. 8. Volunteers; Brig. Gen. J.
J. Abercrombie, U. 8. Volunteers; Capt. R. N. Scott, judge-advocate.
The court waited until 12 m. for Maj. Gen. E. A. Hitchcock, who
did not arrive, and adjourned to meet at 11 a. m. August 12, 1863.

FIFTH DAY.

‘W ASHINGTON, August 12, 1863.
Court met pursuant to adjournment.
Present, Brig. Gen. W. F. Barry, U. 8. Volunteers; Brig. Gen. J.
J. Abercrombie, U. S. Volunteers; Capt. R. N. Scott, judge-ad vocate.
The judge-advocate informed the court that he had just learned,
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on aﬁplication to the Adjutant-General's Office, that Major-General
Hitchcock had been relieved from duty on the court, and that Brig.
Gen. G. A. De Russy, U. 8. Volunteers, had been detailed as a mem-
ber of the court in his place; but the judge.advocate had not received
a copy of the order.

Immediately on receipt of this information, the judge-advocate, by
order of the court, telegraphed to Brigadier-General De Russy, at
the Arlington House, informing him where the court was sitting
and at what hour,

The court then adjourned to meet at 11 a. m. Aagust 13, 1863.

SIXTH DAY.

AvUGuUsT 13, 1863.

The court met pursuant to adjournment.

Present, Brig. Gen. W. F. Barry, U. S. Volunteers; Brig. Gen. J.
J. Abercrombie, U. S. Volunteers; Capt. R. N. Scott, judge-advocate,

At 11.30 a. m. the judge-advocate received and submitted to the
court the following order, viz:

SPECIAL ORDERS, | WAR DEPARTMENT, ADJT, GEN.’S OFFICE,
No. 354. Washington, August 10, 1863.

* * * * * * *

XVI. Maj. Gen. E. A. Hitchcock, U. 8. Volunteers, is hereby re-
lieved from duty as a member of the court of inquiry instituted by
Special Qrders, No. 346, August 4, 1863, from this office, and Brig.

en. (. A. De Russy, U. 8. Volunteers, is detailed as a member of
said board in his place.

* *® * * * * *

By order of the Secretary of War:
E. D. TOWNSEND,
Assistant Adjutant-General.

Brigadier-General De Russy not having reported at 12 m., the
court adjourned to meet at 11 a. m. August 14, 1863.

SEVENTH DAY.

‘W ASHINGTON, August 14, 1863.

The court met pursuant to adjournment.

Present, Brig. gen. W. F. Barry, U. 8. Volunteers ; Brig. Gen. J.
J. Abercrombie. U. 8. Volunteers ; Brig. Gen. G. A. De Russy, U.
8. Volunteers ; Capt. R. N. Scott, judge-advocate.

Brigadier-General De Russy informed the court that he did not re-
ceive the order detailing him as a member of the court until 1 p. m.
August 13, 1863.

aj. Gen, R. H. Milroy, U. S. Volunteers, and his counsel, Mr.
John Jolliffe, being present, the special orders (Nos. 346 and 354),
a,tp ointing the court, were read to him, and General Milroy was asked
i %e had any objection to any member named therein. In reply, he
read the following communication to the court, viz :
Brig. Gen. J. J. ABERCROMBIE,
Brig. Gen. W, F. BARRY, and

Brig. Gen. G. A. DE Russy, ’
Composing the Commission under Special Orders, No. 348 :

GENTLEMEN : I ask leave to advise you that I have this day applied to the Hon.
Edwin M. Stanton, Secretary of War, to modify the order of reference in this case,
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and also to appoint one or more major-generals to examine this case, and ask the
_ court to defer further proceedings until this application shall have been acted upon,
. R. H. MILROY,
Major-General.
AvuausT 14, 1863.

P. 8.—~The War Department’ has the above-mentioned application under ad-
visement, and I have good reason to believe that I will have an answer to-morrow

morning.

The court was then cleared and closed, and, after mature delibera-
tion, determined to grant the request of Major-General Milroy. He
was then called into court, and informed that his request was granted.

The court then adjourned to meet at 11'a. m. August 15, 1863,

. EIGHTH DAY.

‘W ASHINGTON, August 15, 1863.

The court met pursuant to adjournment.

Present, all the members and the judge-advocate.

After mature deliberation, the court decided as follows, viz :

“The court as at present constituted, and in view of the order by
which it is assembled, and under which it is to act, does not consider
that Maj. Gen. R. H. Milroy, or any other officer, is entitled to the
right of challenge, and that it should, therefore, be sworn, and at
once proceed to business.”

Major-General Milroy, U. 8. Volunteers, was called into court,
notified of this decision, and informed that he would be called upon
as the first witness, and would be allowed to be present during the ex-
amination of other witnesses.

The court was then duly sworn by the judge-advocate, and the
judge-advocate by the presiding officer, in the presence of Major-
General Milroy. :

General Milroy then submitted a protest, which was read to the
eom(iti,x azd) was by it ordered to be attached to the record. (See Ap-
pen .

The court then proceeded to the investigation of ‘“the facts and
circumstances connected with the recent evacuation of Winchester
by the command of Maj. Gen. R. H. Milroy, U. 8. Volunteers.”

The gud e-advocate offered in evidence the following telegrams
from the (General-in-Chief to Maj. Gten. Robert C. Schenck, U. 8.
Volunteers, concerning the evacuation of Winchester, Va., viz :

One of January 5, March 16, April 30, May 2, 8, and 29, June 8 and
11, and two of June 15, 1863.

These tele s were read to the court and filed in evidence. (See
Appendix B.;

e judge-advocate also read to the court and filed in evidence the
official report of recent operations about Winchester, made by Maj.
Gen. R. H. Milroy to Maj. Gen. R. C. Schenck, U. 8. Volunteers.
{8ee Appendix C.)

The judge-advocate then asked and received authority from the
court to employ a phonographic reporter to assist him in recording
testimony. He also asked t}l)xat the court would adjourn for that

pu’i"ﬁose until Momis:iy next.
; o court then adjourned to meet at 11 a. m. Monday, August
7, 1863.
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NINTH DAY.

AvgusT 17, 1863.

The court met pursuant to adjournment.

Present, all the members and the judge-advocate.

The proceedings of the previous meetings were read and approved.
Mr. % B. Ward was duly sworn by the judge-advocate as phonog-
rapher of the court.

Maj. Gen. R. H. MiLroy, U. 8. Volunteers, a witness called by
the court, being duly sworn, says that his official report is a general
statement of the facts concerning the evacuation of Winchester
but he would give a more detailed statement upon being questioneé
by the court.

By the JUDGE-ADVOCATE :

Question. How long before the enemy made their attack upon you
was it known to you that an attack was to be made?

Answer. It was on Friday, the 12th. The rebels, under Jones, Jenkins, and Im-
boden, had been in the Valley of the Shenandoah all the winter and spring above
me. Ihad frequent skirmishes with them with my cavalry and infantry scouts,
and they were around between Winchester and Strasburg, which were alternately
occupied by each army. It wascommon ground. I frequently drove them beyond
‘Woodstock, but I was not allowed to advance beyond Winchester. The enemy,
about the 1st of June, became bolder in his advances, and frequently came down
and operated between Winchester, Middletown, and Strasburg. On the 12th of
June, I sent out a reconnaissance on the Winchester and Front Royal road. 1 ex-

ted a raid there by Stuart’s rebel cavalry. I looked for it daily, and kept my
Infantry and cavalry well in hand, scoured the country, and kept a lookout for
spies. On the Front Royal road I sent out a regiment of infantry, one of cavalry,
and a section of artillery. I sent only a regiment of cavalry, because I did not ex-
pect an advance on that road, and did not dream that any forces would approach
me except what were in the Shenandoah Valley. Isupposed General Hooker would
keep General Lee employed while I looked after the enemy’s forces in the Valley.
On the Strasburg road I had a very severe skirmish, in which the enemy lost 60 in
killed and wounded and 87 prisoners. These prisoners belonged to forces of Im-
boden and Jones. I questioned them. They said they had received no re-enforce-
ments. On the Front Royal road, near Cedarville, niy forces met a strong force of
the enemy. I cannot account for them unless they were Stuart's cavalry. Dark-
_ ness came on, and there could nothing more be done. I came to the conclusion
that Stuart’s cavalry was in my vicinity. On the next day I again sent out strong
forces on both roads, to see what was going on and to feel the enemy. A fight was
maintained all day with the enemy in strong force. I had no idea of being at-
tacked. I thought there was no intention to drive us out of the Valley, but merely
to occupy our attention. In the evening we captured some prisoners, and learned
from them that Ewell’s corps, 85,000 strong, was in the Valley. Shortly after, a
deserter came in, confirming the same story. This was on Saturday, the 18th, in
the evening. I then felt certain that Lee was coming through that way. I feltmy
position to be critical, but, after consultation with my officers, that we would be
relieved; that Hooker would follow Lce, or that forces would be sent in some direc-
tion to my relief. The wires between me and Martinsburg were cut about noon
on Saturday. The fight commenced on the 12th, about 12 miles from the town. My
advance was 12 miles from the town. On Monday, the batteries of the rebels were
in range of my large guns. On the 13th, the fight commenced about 8 o’'clock in
the morning, and continued until dusk. I might have cut my way out on Satur-
day night. 1 was surrounded then on all sides, but I thought we might be relieved
on Sunday, and that it could be no worse to hold on all day Sunday, and then cut
my way out. On Saturday night 1 withdrew my forces to the fortifications on
the heights near Winchester, and on Sunday morning a fight ensued. The enem
threw out skirmishers on the south and east of me, in the direction of Front Royal,
Strasburg, and Berryville. On Sunday, they made a vigorous attack, coming from
the west. They brought up very suddenly a battery, and opened on us with some
thirty or forty guns, and captured one battery and some battery wagons. My troo
fell back to themain fort. We opened on them, and drove them out. I knew of the
attack of the 12th—on the evening of the 12th. On the evening of the 18th, I knew
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we were fighting eomethinimore than we had fou.%ht diring the winter and spring;
I knew that I was attacked by a superior force, but 1 did not think it was Lee’s army.

Question. When was the attack made in force ?

. Answer. The main attack was on Sunday evening, the 14th. We had been fight-
ing two days before that, on the outside of the town, but they did not attack in
force until Sunday evening, near 6 o'clock.

WQueftion. What disposition of troops was made for the defense of
inchester ?

Answer. I had the heights near Winchester; I had earthworks. My main forti-
fications would contain 3,000 or 3,500 men. I had a number of small forts on that
range of hills, and about 1,000 yards farther on I had another range, not entirely
finished, but capable of affording a good shelter for troops when attacked. I sup-
pmedfthat with my fortifications I was able to gtand some two or three times my
own forces.

By the CouURT:

Question. What was the known or supposed strength of the en-
emy, and what was that of the Federal troops ?

Answer. In addition to what is stated in my report, I have learned from citizens
of Winchester, prisoners who were captured, and men of my own command who
were paroled by the enemy, that they were from 40,000 to 50,000 strong, and had
eightv pieces of artillery ranged on my works—none put their number at less than
40.000 : Ewell’scorps, and the forces of Jones and Imboden. Longstreet’s corps was
between them and Front Royal, in supporting distance. I had 6,900 effective men ;
my total force was about 9,000 men.

Question. What orders were given in relation to Government
property in event of a retreat ?

Answer. My orders were not to permit any more than five days’ stores there at
any one time. Ireceived orders from General Schenck to send off surplus stores,
and be ready to fall back at the first intimation. In accordance thereto, I sent off
my surplus stores ; over one hundred wagons reached Harrisburg.

Question. What precautions were taken to secure the public
property ?

Answer. Those I have named. I had everything loaded upon wagons, ready to
bring away, but, not dreaming of being surrounded by such a heavy force, and sup-
gnfng I would receive orders, I supposed I could take my trains back to Harper’s

erry. 1 merely waited orders to move, when I found myself surrounded by such
a mass of the enemy. On Sunday night, when I found the enemy around me, I
called a council of war, and it was determined to cut our way out. At that time
my artillery ammunition was nearly exhausted and my provisions nearly so. On
Sanday night we felt that if we moved a wheel or made the least noise the enemy
would fall upon us in overwhelming numbers. They had our range, and we knew
that our safety was in moving out quietly, leaving our wagons and artillery in their
hands. We spiked the artillery and crippled the carriages by cutting the wheels.
They could not have been destroyed by fire without giving the énemy our position.

Question. In what order did the troops retire, or were there any
instructions given as to how the retreat should be conducted?

Answer. Therewere. The advance was led by General Elliott. The troops were

lirected to keep up in regular marching order by fours, with one cavalry regiment
in advance, as we apprehended a force in front, but more on the rear and flank. I
placed two cavalry regimentsin the rear. Aswehade ted to encounter a force,
I had ordered a vigorous and rapid attack, so as to break through suddenly. This
programme was carried out to some extent. Our artillery and wagon horses were
hrought off.  We did not leave a horse behind fit for service. There were about
1,000 Government horses mounted by teamsters, contrabands, and sick soldiers on
the flank. The first attack came from the front, 4 miles from the town.

Question. Were you present at the commencement of the main
attack. and were you on the ground during its continuance?

Answer. I was. Everything was done under my own eye.
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Question. What position did you occupy during the retreat?

Answer. After I got everything under way, I galloped toward the head of the
column to see how things were being disposed of in the front. It was dark. I was
gettin%up pretty well to the front when the attack commenced. General Elliot{

led off his brigade to the left. I filed off to the right, in order to form a line of
battle. I got to the rear of Elliott's brigade about the time the last regiment was
leaving the road. I charged with the men I had into the woods, and, while thex
were fighting, brought a regiment, the Eighteenth Connecticut, to their support.
We fought them about an hour there.

Question. How many pieces of artillery were abandoned?

Answer. Twenty-four pieces (three field batteries, four 20-pounder Parrotts, and
two 24-pounder howitzers) in all.

Question. Was the retreat of your command from Winchester
made in good order?

Answer. As good as possible. 'We did not throw out markers or dress our lines.
‘We halted repeatedly to bring up stragglers. We had a rear guard, but there was
some straggling in spite of all we could do. I paid more attention to the rear and

A large portion of the troops did not come through under me. Amon
these were the One hundred and sixteenth Ohio and Twelfth Virginia Infantry, an
two regiments of cavalry and a large number of stragglers. The shelling of the
-enemy frightened the horses, and cansed confusion, and these men got off too far to
the left, and took the road to Hancock. About 3,000 went through on this road.
Some of my staff came in by Hancock. Capt. Z. Baird, Captain Palmer, Lieutenant
McCracken, Major Cravens, and Captain McDonald, were with me. My quarter-
master went through with the horses toward Hancock, and my chief engineer.

Question. In your opinion, were any officers at fault for the strag-
gling that occurred in the retreat ?

Answer. I blamed Colonel McReynolds some. I never reccived a report from
him. My staff officers were unable to find him. I never could account for his
brigade gecoming scattered. Thosc with me acted very well. They obeyed my
orders.

Question. When first attacked, how many £ieces of artillery had
you; how much ammunition for artillery and for small-arms; how
many days’ provisions for men and forage for animals, and what
means had you for procuring water?

Answer. About 300 rounds per gun of artillery ammunition, and from 200 to 300
rounds per man of small ammunition. I had, when the fight commenced, less than
five days’ provisions and five days’ forage. There was a stream along the baseof a
hill, a goog well near the main fort, and cisterns in each fort inaccessible to the
enemy's fire. We had a covered way to pass to the water. The well was just op-
posite the main fort.

Question. How much ammunition for artillery and for small-
arms remained on hand when the evacuation was ordered ?
Answer. There was an average of 25 or 30 rounds J)er gun of artillery ammuni-

tion left when the firing ceased on Sunday night, and an average of 100 rounds per
man of small ammunition.

Question. What was the number of your killed and wounded at
the time the evacuation was ordered ?

Answer. I have had no official reports. I sup 200 would cover the killed and
wounded. Oirr loss in all the fighting, in killed and wounded, would be covered
by 500.

Question. Were they abandoned or brought off ?

Answer. All abandoned, but left in the hospitals with the surgeons, except on
Monday morning, when we had to leave them on the field, a superior force of the
enemy having driven us from the field.
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By the JUDGE-ADVOCATE:
Question. Do you know of any of your wounded being abandoned
who could have ridden off ?
Answer. I do not.

By the COURT:
Question. Who gave the order for the evacuation; how was it
given, and how distributed among your command ?
Answer. We held a council of war at about 11 o'clock with the brigade com-

manders. I gave the brigade commanders verbal instructions personally. There
were no other orders issued. We were without lights.

Question. Who gave the order for the abandonment of the artil-
lery? Did any of the artillery commanders ask to be permitted to
bring off their guns?

Answer. The whole ment was agreed upon in council of war, and the
instructions given by me to the brigade commanders. Colonel McReynolds wanted
to bring away a section of Captain Alexander’s hattery. I told him it would
jeopardize the safety of the whole command if he undertook to do so. I think I
afterward gave him permission to do so, but told him of the great risk. It was
not tried.

Question. Did you order the artillery harness to be destroyed or
abandoned?

Answer. I ordered it to be destroyed, if it could be, without fire.

Question, What induced you to abandon your stores? Had you
reason to believe that the enemy occupied the roads leading to Mar-
tinsburg or Charlestown ; and was the railroad between Winchester
and Harper’'s Ferry in running order? Were you short of animals
and wagons ?

Answer. That is answered in my report. Because we were surrounded on all
sides, and if we moved a wagon, it would create an alarm. The railroad had been
destroyed last summer. We had plenty of animals and wagons. )

Question. Howlong were you moving from Winchester to Harper’s
Ferry with your troops?

Answer. About eleven hours.
Question. Did all your troops get in by that time?

s Aczlmv;;er. No; some did not get in so soon. The Sixth Maryland came in about
o’clock. )

Question. Did you order the wagons and wagon harness to be
destroyed?
Answer. I ordered them to bednjured as much as possible without firing them.

. Question. Had you been informed that Stuart was apparently
intending to make a raid in your direction ? If so, by whom were
you so informed?

Answer. I received that information from a citizen and from scouts and spies.

Bnch rumors prevailed from the 1st of June. I received no information of the kind
from the General-in-Chief or General Schenck. '

o h?ufestioa. Did1 )S’O§ re(l:(eive any telegrams from the General-in-
ef to General Schenck?

Answer. I received one from General Schenck, of the date of 11th of June. (Dis-
. h ftrﬁm General-in-Chief to General Schenck, of June 11, 1863, shown witness.)
is the one.

Question. Since you wrote your report, have you learned anything
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more than what you have there stated in relation to the reconnais-
sance ordered by you to be made to Pughtown by Captain Morgan,
Twelfth Pennsylvania Cavalry?

Answer. 1 have been told that he did not go out of sight of the pickets. Lieu-
tenant Spooner and Major Adams were two officers who told me so. I had ordered
him to make a reconnaissance of the enemy on his flank. He did not start until
near noon. Major Adams was with the cavalry in that direction." I have been told
by others, but have forgotten who. Captain Morgan had a squadron with him.

Question. What reasons had you for expecting information of Lee's -
army direct from the general commanding the Army of the Potomac?

Answer. (General Halleck was the General-in Chief of all the armies, and I sup-
he would not leave my force e to Lee's army without giving me informa-

ion. I did not expect information from General Hooker directly, but from Gen-
erals Halleck and Schenck. I had no communication with him, excepting through
Generals Halleck and Schenck. General Schenck has the original OP the dispatch
of the 12th of June.

Question. Did you reccive any telegrams, other than those you
have mentioned in your report, from General Halleck, through Gen-
eral Schenck?

Answer. I had correspondence with General Schenck, who informed me that
General Halleck did not cousider Winchester an important position. He said
nothing about dispatches from General Halleck, but that the General-in-Chief did
not deem it of importance; indeed, that he had called it a ‘‘ post in the air,” a
¢« place not to be held against a superior force.”

The above evidence was read over to General Milroy, and he re-
ceived permission to add the following to his evidence:

1 learned from the prisoners I had taken that the enemy’s force that I met on my
retreat from Winchester consisted of ‘‘Alleghany” Johnson’s and Rodes’ divisions
(a part of Rodes’), about 12,000 strong. I was engaged with them about an hour.
They were a portion of the forces I have previously estimated at from 40,000 to 60,000
strong. 1 consider that if the enemy had known of my retreat an hour after the
evacuation of Winchester, the result would have been more disastrous, as they would
have overtaken and attacked us in overwhelming force. After i’ 1day at noon I
would have been able to have reached the Martinsburg road, but . atter the same
hour on Saturday, without encountering the enemy.

By the JUDGE-ADVOCATE:

Question. What wa$ the number of your missing during your
retreat from Winchester ?

Answer. About 2,000.
By the CoUrrt:

Question, If you brought away all the horses, why was not the
harness of the artillery and baggage wagons brought off?

Answer. Because some of the teamsters took their harness off and left it. Some

of the teamsters and some of the horses were captured during the confusion and
scattering caused by the enemy’s fire.

- By the JUDGE-ADVOCATE :

Question. Did you order any of the harness to be brought off ?

Answer, I directed the quartermaster to that effect. I think I directed him to
bring it away, if he could do so without making a noise or encumbering the march,

The court then adjourned to meet at 11 a. m. August 18, 1863,
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TENTH DAY.

AvuausT 18, 1863.

The court met pursuant to adjournment.

Present, all the membeors and the judge-advocate.

The proceedings of the previous meeting were read and approved.
Major-General Milroy made the following additional statement :

I wish to call the attention of the court to the telegram from General Halleck to
General Schenck, bearing date March 16, 1863. (Reads the telegram.)

I wish to state that I never commanded near Harper's Ferry—no nearer to Har-
per's Ferry than 20 miles. General Kelley was in command of Hm&er’s Ferry. I
commanded the forces at Winchester. 1 one brigade at Centerville. This tele-
gram shows ill-feeling toward me.

Another telegram, of May 2, from General Halleck to General Schenck. (Readsthe
telegram.) I never in my life stampeded. I am not one of the stampeding kind.
I don’t know why that kind of e is put in.

Another of May 8, from the General-in-Chief to General Schenck, is before this
court. In explanation of this one, I wish tostate how matters stood. I always kept
myself informed of the position and movements of the enemy in my front, and always
knew of them within three days after they were formed. It was my duty to watch
Imboden, Jones, and Jenkins. About this time, May 8, Hooker crossed the Rappa-
hannock to attack Lee. At the same time, or a few days before, the rebel General
Jones went on a raid into West Virginia, and took with him all his available
cavalry. His force was mostly cavalry. He had infantry at Harrisonburg and one
company at Strasburg. I learned that this force had left the Valley, and that
Jones had left at Harrisonburg all his stores, broken-down horses, &c. 1 thought
it would be a good chance to bring away or destroy what I could. I sent General
Elliott out there. .He was up there, between Harrisonburg and Strasburg, at New
Market. Justthen Geuneral Schenck sent me a telegram withdrawing General Elliott
from the Valley, and my courier overtook him and delivered the order to him at
New Market. If permitted to go on, he could have captured all of Jones' stores, a
large number of wagons, guns, and winter stores. I was well informed of what was
there. Itwas not ‘‘ utter madness.” General Elliott had 15 miles to go. There was
a body of infantry and dismounted cavalry there, under a rebel colonel, numbering
800 or 700 men. General Elliott had some 3,000 men. Their pickets retired before
his advance.

I call attention to another telegram, of June 14, 1863, from the General-in-Chief to
General Schenck. (Readstelegram.) Inever receivedorderstowithdraw from there. -
If T had left there without fighting, I would have disobeyed General Schenck’s posi-
tive orders. If I had withdrawn without demonstrating the fact that 1 coul(l not
stay there, it would have been disobedience of my orders. I checked the advance
of Lee's army three days. That was certainly doing something for the country., If
they had been allowed to go on, they would have had three da{ls longer for pillage
and robbery in Pennsylvania, and probably ten times as much property as I lost
would have been destroyed in that time.

Icall attention also to telegram of June 15, from the General-in-Chief and General
Schenck. I do notsee its relevancy to this case. ** Do not give General Milroy the
command at Harper's Ferry. We have had eno&gh of that sort of military genius.”
This inquiry is in relation to the evacuation of Winchester. Has this telegram any
relevancy to the case? Why is it introduced here?

The judge-advocate remarked that ‘‘those were a series of tele-
grams from January 5 to the evacuation of Winchester, indicating
theorders of the General-in-Chief communicated to General Schenck,
and, in his orglmon, General Milroy had nothing to do with them;
that the court should Jugge of the evidence.”

General Milroy resumed:

I will explain why I did not use the railroad from Winchester to Harper’s Ferry.
When I first arrived at Winchester, I wrote to General Kelley, commanding the
forces, and stated the importance of repairing that road. Afterward I urged upon
General Schenck its importance. to enable us to hold Winchester. 1 sent an agent
$0 Maj. Gen. R. C. Schenck, U. 8. Volunteers, to impress the importance of the re-
pair of this road upon him. I represented that I could repair it with my troops,
without cost to Government, excepting a little iron and rolling-stock, and in twenty
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days’ time. I was there six months. If this had been done, and we wished to ad-
vance from Winchester, we had a base of supplies. But it was not repaired—only
to Halltown, 3 miles from Harper’s Ferry. That road would have n a great
benefit to us. :

By the CoURT:

uestion. What were the geographical limits of your command
while stationed at Winchester ? '

Answer. They were never defined by any order. Isimply had command of my
troops there, and was directed to scour the country in advance for miles east, west,
and south. Bunker Hill, half way between Harper's Ferry and Winchester, was
in my command part of the time. General Kelley commanded there before I did. -
My forces occupied Berryville, about half way between H 's Ferry and Win-
chester. That was the direct road from Harper's Ferry. e pike from Harper's
Ferry runs through Berryville.

Question. Upon assuming command of the troops at Winchester,
did you receive any written or verbal instructions for your guid-
ance ?

Answer. No, Idid not; only at different times by detached tele, s what to
do in special cases. The way I came to get to Winchester was this: % was stationed
at Petersburg and Moorefield about the 22d or 23d of December. I sent a brigade
over to Strasburg, under General Cluseret. He went over there, and had a skirmish,
and captured a few prisoners and some stores, but not enough to pay him for the
trip. F]e came down to Winchester to see what was there. When he got there,
General Kelley, with whose division I was acting, heard of his being there, and
sent orders for him to remain where he was, and I was ordered to get the balance of
my command there. My general orders were to act on the defensive, and to go
no farther up the Valley than Winchester. These orders I received from General
Kelley when he was in command, and afterward from General Schenck.

Brig. Gen. W. L. ErrioTT, U. 8. Volunteers, a witness called by
the court, being duly sworn, answers:

By the JUDGE-ADVOCATE :

Question. State tothe court what command you held under Major-
General Milroy, and the facts and the circumstances connected with
the recent evacuation of Winchester.

Answer. I commanded the First Brigade, Second Division, Eighth Army Corps,
composed of the One hundred and tenth, One hundred and sixteenth, One hundred
and twenty-second, One hundred and twenty-third Ohio Infantry, the Twelfth
Pennsylvania Cavalry, Thirteenth Pennsylvania Cavalry, and Carlin’s (Virginia) bat-
terg. This battery was temporarily detached from my brigade on the 18th of June,
and- Battery L, Fifth U. S. Artillery, temporarily assigned to me on the same day.
The first notice of the enemy appearing in force that I had was between 9 and 10 on
the morning of Saturday, the 13th. o reconnaissances had been ordered from
my brigade—one on the Strasburg road, commanded by Colonel Wilson, of the
One hundred and twenty-third, and the other by Colonel Keifer, of the One hundred
and tenth Ohio, on the Cedar Creek road. About 10 o'clock I was ordered by Gen-
eral Milroy to take command of both roads. About 12 o’clock that day, skirmishinﬁ
commenced between my pickets and those of the enemy, which, by 3 or 4 o’cloc.
in the afternoon, became pretty warm, and continued so until dark, or sundown.

From prisoners taken, I learned that it was Johnson’s division of Ewell’s corps with
whom I had been engaged. After dark, my forces were ordered by General Milroy
to draw nearer to the town, and at 2 o’clock that night we reI;aire to the fortifica-
tions, by his orders. On the morning of Sunday, the 14th, a little after sunrise, I was
ordered in a southerly direction from the fortifications, and about three-fourths 6f a
mile distant, to take command of the One hundred and twenty-second Ohio and the
Twelfth Virginia Infantry, with Carlin’s battery of the Second Brigade. We took

ition there, and held it until between 5 and 6 o0’dlock. We were then re-enforced

y the One hundred and twenty-third Ohio, or rather it was ordered there to relieve
the One hundred and twenty-second Ohio, which had been out all day. About an
hour before sundown, I was ordered by General Milroy to return to the fortifications,
the enemy having opened on us from the west and south of the town, in the
direction of the Romney and Pughtown roads. Iremained in the fortifications with
my troops. During that night, between the hours of 10 and 12, a council of war
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was held, composed of brigade commanders, and orders were issued for the evacu-
ation, which commenced between 1 and 2 o’clock on the morning of the 15th. I
am not positive as to the hours; I did not look at my watch, as it was too dark to see
the time. In the evacuation of the place, my brigade was desi to go in ad-
vance. The order of march that 1 designated put the Twelfth Pennsylvania Cav-
alry in advance, and next the One hundred and twenty-third Ohio, One hundred
and tenth Ohio Infantry, and the One hundred and twenty-second Ohio, the One
hundred and sixteenth Ohio being in the rear. Ovung to the darkness of the night,
as I supposed, the One hundred and sixteenth Ohio did not take its place in column,
but got on the wrong road. About 83miles from Winchester, and before daylight on
the 15th, the cavalry of my command encountered the pickets of the enemy, and
were fired upon. 1immediately formed line of battle across the road. and sent word
to General Milroy by my adjutant-general that I was doing s0. While forming this
line of battle, I could hear the enemy bringing artillery and moving troops on my
right., I changed my dispositions, and, instead of forming it across, I formed it
mmllel with the road, intending to fight my way through them. Ihad my cartridge-

xes filled with ammunition—40 rounds. I madetwo attacks upon the enemy, and
advanced, after I was attacked by them in superior numbers, and continued to
move by the flank. Whilst the fight was gomg on, the Twelfth Pennsylvania Cav-
alry seemed to have moved off to the westward, and I saw nothing of it. The One
hundred and twenty-third Ohio, which I expected to find on the right of my line,
was not in position there. I was told by an aide-de-camp that General Milroy had
detached it. Finding that my ammunition was nearly exhausted, I continued to
march in the direction of Martinsburg for about a mile, and then left the pike on
my left for the direction of Harper's Ferry, passing between the Smithfield and
Martinsburg roadsand t| h the town of Smithfield, leaving the town of Charles-
town on my right, reaching r's Ferry between 2 and 3 o’clock intheday. Ihad
between 9&) and 1,000 men at Harper's Ferry of my brigade. The One hundred
and sixteenth Ohio, and the One hundred and twenty-third Ohio almost entirely,
were not with me, nor was the Twelfth Pennsylvania Cavalry.

estion. What were the dispositions made for the defense of
Winchester ?

Answer. I can only answer so far as a knowledge of the disposition of my own
troops goes. Battery L, Fifth U. 8. Artillery, was posted in an outwork between
the htown and Romney roads. The One hundred and twenty-second Ohio In-
fantry I had with me during that day, or a part of it. The One hundred and
twenty-third [Ohio] Infantry were on the weet side of the town, in the main work. -
A portion of the cavalry was near me on my flank, toward the west. The exact
disposition of the balance I do not know. It was detached, but I don't know to
what point.

Question. Could or could not General Milroy have retreated to
greater advantage on the 12th, 13th, or 14th of June than he did on
the 16th of June, 1863 ? Your opinion is simply asked.

Answer. I think he might have retreated on the 12th without considerable loss.
I think he might have done 80 on the evening of Saturday, the 13th.

Question. What orders were given to you by General Milroy in
reference to the artillery and stores ?

Answer. Orders were given to disable the artillery and abandon the wagons, and
to take away the team horses.

Question. In your opinion, was the retreat from Winchester prop-
erly conducted or not ; was there any straggling during the retreat ?

Answer. There was considerable straggling, which I attributed to long marches,
the excessive heat of the day, and being pursued by an overwhelming fogrce.

Question. In your opinion, are any officers to blame for the strag-
gling that occurred ?

Answer. I think not.

Question. In your opinion, could or could not all or a portion of
the artillery have been drawn off at the time of the retreat ?

Answer. I think it could not. My reason for saying so is that the roads were
beavy, We had a hard rain a few days before, after which the roads became
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blocked up with wagons, the team horses having been taken away. It was with
at difficulty that a column of infantry could get through. It would have been
impossible to have taken artillery through. The road was a pike road, but was much
gut up.h The wagons were left in the road after the teamsters had taken the horses
rom them.

Question. If proper precautions had been taken, could or could not
the artillery, or a portion of the artillery, have been withdrawn with
as little noise as is made by cavalry and infantry in night marches ?

Answer. I do not think it could have been taken out of the forts without being
discovered by the enemy.

Question. On Friday, the 12th of June, could or could not the
heavy artillery have been sent from the forts at Winchester to Har-
per’s Ferry ?

Answer. I think it could.

Question. What was the force that attacked General Milroy on
the 13th of June, 1863 ?

Answer. Of that I can only give an opinion. On the Strasburg road, I was sat-

isfied there was a division. On the Front Royal road, I had not t%\e means of judg-

ing, bat su it to be a division, or part of a division. This was on Saturday,

the 13th. om_the portion of the boc?al saw on the Strasburg road, and from
risoners taken, 1 was satisfied it was Jo n's division of Ewell’s corps, and from
,000 to 5,000 strong. They advanced in two very heavy lines of battle.

Question. How much ammunition for small-arms was left by your
brigade when you left Winchester ?

Answer. I am not able to answer. I hadstanding orders which required every
man to have 100 rounds for each arm. I presume 30 or 40 rounds had been ex-

pended on Saturday, and 40 rounds taken in the boxes on the retreat. How much
more than that I am unable to say.

Question. Did you abandon any ammunition when you left Win-
chester ?

Answer. That I cannot positively answer. The ammunition that was not in the
boxes of the men was in the hands of the ordnance officer of the post. I drew

ordnance and issued it, but I cannot say whether my brigade had any more than
was in the boxes of the men.

Question. What was your loss in killed, wounded, and missing
(including prisoners), in the Winchester affair ?

Answer. Without reference to the official reports, I could not state positively—a
large number of those reported missing have returned.

By the CoURrT:

Question. Did you receive instructions from any one how the re-
treat should be conducted, before or after the order in which the
brigades should move was made known? If so, what were they ?

Answer. The only instruction I received was the reply of General Milroy to me,

after I had sent my adjutant-general to him, to know what disposition to make of
my troops, which expressed his approbation of what I had already done.

Question. Did General Milroy give you any further orders durin
the course of the retreat? Did you see him? Where was he, an
what was he doing ?

Answer, While this portion of my brigade was engz:ﬁed with the enemy, I went
to General Milroy, and told him what I thought he should do, which was to make a
suflicient resistance there to enable us to get by the enemy, as we had but little
ammunition and few men. General Milroy rode with me during the greater por-
tion of the retreat, until we had gotten within 3 miles of Harper’s Ferry. The dis-
tance he rode with me was 26 or 28 miles.
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uestion. You speak of your brigade only. Was there concert of
action between it and other brigades of the Winchester garrison ?
Answer. Idid not see anything of any other troops excepting one regiment of the
Second Brigade, the Eighty-seventh Pennsylvania Volunteers, on marching from
Winchester. 1t was engaged with the enemy at the same time that [ was. I could
judge from the firing that 1 heard that the other portion of the division was engaged,

Question. What questions were submitted to the council of war
assembled by General Milroy on Sunday night ?

Answer. One was the question as to what was to be done. I believe there was
but one opinion, and that was to retreat from there, if we could. The other was
what route was to be taken. Another was what was to be done with the artillery and
other property. We could all see the situation.

Question. In your opinion, would or would not the artillery have
been of material benefit to you on the retreat, all the circumstances
being considered ?

Answer. The general opinion of the council was, that the property should be
abandoned. We could not burn or destroy it without exposing our movements.
The question of moving it was not mentioned. We were entirely surrounded. I was
astonished that we were able to get off with what we did. At the time we left, the
sacrifice of the Government property was a necessity. I was surprised that the
enemy did not close upon us sooner than they did, during that night.

Question. What is your opinion as to the number of the enemy’s
forces ?
Answer. I think it was between 20,000 and 30,000.

Question. Do you know or not if the troops were kept at Win-
chester longer than they should have been after the first intimation
of the advance of an overwhelming force of the enemy upon that
place? : .

Answer. I can only answer that by stating what I should have done if I had
been in command. I should have left Winchester on the evening of Saturday. the
13th; but this would have been in disregard of an order that General Milroy
showed me from General Schenck to him. (The order produced, read, and verified
of June 12, shown in General Milroy’s report.) That is the order that GGeneral Mil-
roy showed me from QGeneral Schenck, countermanding a previous order from
Colonel Piatt. General Milroy showed me the order from Colonel Piatt on Friday,
and on the next day, Saturday, the order of (eneral Schenck revoking it. Orders
had been given to the quartermaster to pack up the wagon trains. These orders
were given by General Milroy in my hearing.

Question. When you were first attacked, who did you suppose the
attack came from?

Answer. 1 supposed it was from cavalry. We had heard, both from scouts and
citizens, that we might prepare for an extensive raid to be made by Stuart’s cav-
alry, and General Schenck sent a dispatch to General Milroy stating he might ex-
pect a cavalry raid from General Stuart. I supposed the attack was of this kind,

until I captured prisoners from Johnson's division of Ewell's corps. This was on
Saturday evening.

Question. Did you or not see any other telegrams from General
Schenck to General Milroy than the ones you allude to, on the sub-
ject of the abandonment of Winchester ?

Answer. 1 did not.

Question. When General Milroy showed you the telegram from
General Schenck on_Saturday morning, did he ask your opinion or
advice; and, if so, what advice did you give relative to the retreat ?

Answer. General Milroy read me a disqatch. I don’t think he asked my opinion,
but I gave it to him. It was that he should get General Schenck to give him a posi-
tive order to evacuate, and that he would not be justified in leaving at that time

without such an order, as it would be throwing the entire responsibility upon him
(General Milroy).
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Question. When you say that the retreat might have been made
on the night of Saturday, do you mean without cutting your way
through the enemy’s lines ?

Answer. I think it could. I don’t know how the enemy was posted there. The
telegraph wires were cut on Saturday evening, as General Milroy told me. This
was some ten or twelve hours afterward.

Question. Did you concur in General Milroy’s opinion that it would
be better to hold out through the day on Sunday, with the hope of
being relieved ?

Answer. My opinion was not asked. I did not give an opinion until called upon
in council.

" Question. Could the artillery or other harness have been taken off
in the retreat without running greater risk than you were willing
torun?

Answer. I think it could have been, but whether it was worth taking off, I do
not know.

Question. Did you, in ﬂour opinion, observe any want of capacity,
diligence, courage, or other qualifications for a general in General
Milroy, before or upon the retreat from Winchester ?

Answer. I saw no want of courage on the part of General Milroy. In fact, I

thought he was too rash sometimes. I thought he put his forces too far from their
supports. I saw nothing that would cuse wne to question his bravery. ’

guestion. What wus the plan of retreat agreed upon by the bri-
gade commanders in council on Sunday night, and was that plan
ordered to be followed by General Milroy ?
" Answer. It was agreed upon that we should retreat, and the order of march on
the retreat was designated f'General Milroy. This plan was carried out by my
brigade. I cannot speak of the others.
Question. Why was it deemed at the time of the council, on Sun-
day night, impracticable to maintain a longer defense of Winchester?
Answer. It was agreed upon that we could not hold that place against the con-

centrated fire of the enemy. Our provisions were exhausted. I do not think the
enemy would have stormed the place.

Question. Did General Milroy make application for instructions
from General Schenck, upon your suggestions ?

Answer. I think General Milroy did act upon my suggestions.

Question. What do fyou mean when you state that General Milroy
placed his forces too far from their supports during and previous
to the attack ?

Answer. 1 thought the regular battery was too far out, with too small a force to
support it. The result was that the guns were all captured and were not recoveredr
This was about sundown. Another battery (Captain Alexander's) shelled the enemy

afterward, and made it warm for them. (See the explanations made by General
Elliott on the twelfth day.)

The court then adjourned to meet at 12 m. August 19, 1863.
ELEVENTH DAY.

‘W ASHINGTON, August 19, 1863.
Court met Fursuant to adjournment.
Present, all The members a1id the judge-advocate.:
The proceedings of the previous meeting were read and approved.
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Capt. F. W. ALEXANDER, a witness called by the court, being duly
SWOorn, says:

By the JUDGE-ADVOCATE:

uestion. What position did you hold under Major-General Milroy
at Winchester during the fight at, and evacuation of, that place, on
or about the 1st of June, 1863 ?

Answer. I was attached to the Third Brigade, Second Division, Eighth Army
Corps. 1 was commanding the Baltimore battery of light artillery, six guns.

Question. State the part taken by your battery in that affair.

Answer. On the morning of June 13, about 8 o'clock, there were two sections
of my battery went with Colonel McReynolds, commanding Third Brigade, and the
third section remained for two hours in ille. I remained with them myself,
and we shelled the enemy whenever we saw them coming from the south on the Mill-
wood road. When I saw that they were getting on the right and lefv flank, we
marched on the road to r's Ferry a few minutes before they came into Berry-
ville. We then proceeded about 8 miles on the road to Harper's Ferry, and turned
to the left on a little side road. They pursued us with cavalry, and caught us
at uon Creek. A detachment of the Sixth Maryland and First New York
Cav. were with us as we caught up with the end of the column. We repulsed
them, and marched to Winchester. e reached Winchester at 11 é;rm., and were
placed in the fort known as the star fort, north of the main fort. 1y on Sunday
morning, ons of the sections of the battery was ordered to the northern end of the
hill on which the star fort was built. At 12 m. another section was ordered to report

«to General Elliott. That section went on the hills toward the Front Royal road.
On Sunday evening, or just after we had finished feeding the horses, the enemy
seemed to open on us from the western range of hills. I had just left the section,
and was preparing to send another one to relieve it, when it returned to the star
fort, and the other section came in shortly afterward. From about 6.30 to 8.80
o'clock we were actively engaged with, I think, about seventeen guns of the enemy—
Icounted seventeen—there may not have been seventeen; they may have shifted
their guns from one position to another. They fired four guns at one time. Some-
times, from the shape of the fort, an irregular eight-sided one, I could not fire more
than four ata time. At about 9.30 o'clock 1 received notification from Colonel
McReynolds that the fort would be attacked. The Sixth Maryland was placed in-
side the fort, and the Sixty-seventh Pennsylvania was outside in the trenches. We
waited there very quietly, but the enemy did not come.

At 1 a. m. 15th June, I received orders from Colonel McReynolds to spike the guns,
mount the men on the horses, and move off as silently as possible. As I thought
everything had been going on well until that time, and we were all right, and not
wishing to lose my battery, I asked permission of Colonel McReynolds to see (ien-
eral Milroy, and get an order to take it with me. Colonel McReynolds consented,
and I went over to the main fort, but could not find General Milroy. I saw his ad-
jutanb—lgenera.l, Major Cravens. He told me that the order I received from
Colonel McReynolds was imperative; that nothing that would make a noise could
go, and that the great object of the move was perfect silence and secrecy. I then
asked to be allowed to take a section. He refused, sayin;i I might as well take a
battery as a section. 1 then returned. Before I gave Colonel McReynolds any
account of what had taken place, he said, ‘I will take the responsibility ; you can
take a battery with you.” But when I told him what Major Cravens had told
me, he said the order must be obeyed. I mounted the men on the horses, leavi:
those equipments that would rattle; saw the guns of my battery spiked, took UE
the cap-squares and linch-pins, and threw them into the water-tank. I then formed
the men by twos, and marched them out of the fort. We were the last in the col-
umnn of retreat, excepting the First New York Cavalry and a number of teamsters,

About 4 or 5 miles from Winchester, my attention was called to heavg' firing in
front. I found that a battery was in position on the right-hand side of the road
leading from Martinsburg to Winchester, and an officer rode up and said that Mil-
roy was cutting his way through. 1 do not know who the officer was; he was rid-
ing rapidly. The Sixth Maryland and the Sixty-seventh Pennsylvania filed to the
right. A body of teamsters rushed among my men at this time, and threw them
into confusion, and then went to the right and left of the road, which I thought
the best thing they could do under the circumstances. I would have preferred that
my men should have gone off in regular order, but it was impossible with 400 or
500 teamsters mixed among them. I rode to the rear, to send any of my men who
remained to the front, telling them to go to the right and make for Harper's Ferry.
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I then looked down the road toward Winchester, and saw it all clear, and a body of
cavalry in the woods. Colonel McReynolds sent an orderly off to the cavalry, or-
dering them to try and flank the batteries on the extreme right, and I galloped up to
join them. I had waited a quarter of an hour to see if my 1men would come up.

proceeded with about 13 men, with Lieutenant Stevenson, First New York Cav-
alry, We were shelled by the enemy, and sheltered ourselves under the slope of a
hill. Afterward we crossed the country, and went through Charlestown to Har-
per’s Ferry, joining Colonel McReynolds when we got to Charlestown.

I reached Harper’s Ferry about 1 o'clock, and found that 40 of my men and
Lieutenant Evans had come in. I turned in 33 horses. Some of the horses were
left on the road. The remainder of the battery went to the left-hand side, and went
up to Pennsylvania. What property they took was twmed over to various quar-
termasters and left at different houses. Receipts for some of the horses were taken
after thef7 got into Pennsylvania; the men told me so. They are all in the army
now ; at least, I presumed 80. I had 135 men; I have now 82, Every man of my
command has been properly accounted for. My losses were 1 killed, 3 wounded,
and 50 mlssm‘%, These casualties, excepting the missing, were all previous to the
evacuation. e killed or wounded 20 of the enemy there at one discharge. We
let them get up within about 55 feet before we opened.

Question. Was there much confusion and straggling on the re-.
treat ? )

Answer. I can't say about that ; everything went on quietly. There was none in
the infantry or cavalry. There was among the teamsters, who dashed in among
my men. '

Question. In your opinion, could you have brought off your guns;
would you have attempted it, if you had been allowed ?

Answer. Iwould have attempted it, though the chances were against me. I had
only 28 rounds of ammunition per gun. 1 had before the evacuation 128 rounds, or
28 rounds of amnmunition to the gun, two-thirds of which was canister, the balance

rcussion shells. It was left in the fort. I gave an order to my lieutenant for its

estruction. I was at the end of the column. The enemy’s cavalry were only a
quarter of an hour behind me.
uestion. Could you or not have brought off your battery with as
little noise as is made by infantry or cavalry in night marches ?

Answer. That depends very much on the road, sir. You take cavalry on the
grass ; I had to take the road, and the rattle of the chains and the rumble of the
wheels would have made a noise on the road. I might have wrap blankets
around the wheels if I had had time ; it would have taken an hour. answer to
the question, under the circumstances, I answer no.

Question. Could you have rendered any service with your guns in
the retreat ?

Answer. I think Icould. Therebel gunnersshot miserably. They fired at a line
of men at a distance of 800 yards without material damage.

Question. Inyour opinion, could or could not the heavy guns have
been sent from Winchester to Harper's Ferry on the 12th, 13th, or
14th of June, 1863 ?

Answer. In my opinion, they could on the first two days. I don't know anything
about the last day. I think it doubtful then.

By the CouRrrT:

Question. Was the condition of theroads such as to prevent the
passage of artillery when you abandoned your battery at' Winches-
ter?

Answer. No ; the roads were very good. There were no other obstructions but
those the enemy made.

Question. What was the distance the enemy appeared to be from
you at the time you received the order to abandon your battery ?

Answer, They were on the range of hilis to the northwest and south. They
seemed to be all around us, in a semicircle. I have no doubt they knew we were
going. They had spies all around ; still, they had not time toecatch up with us.
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Question. Did you observe any officers or body of troops behave in
a cowardly manner at any time during the retreat from Winchester ?

Answer. I did not.

Question. Suppose your position had been in the column of retreat
anywhere else than toward its rear, do you think you could have
brought off your battery in safety ?

Answer. The chances were just about even in the case.

Question. Would it not have been as well to have attempted to
save the artillery as to have abandoned it to the enemy ?

Answer. That is a question for the commander to determine ; he looks after the
safety of the troops.

Question. How much ammunition had you when the fight com-
menced ?

Answer. Twelve hundred rounds.' I had 800 rounds of reserve aminunition,
which was turned over at Harrisonburg by my quartermaster-sergeant.

uestion. Did I\;ou see anything in the conduct of Major-General
Milroy, during the retreat or prior thereto, which indicated any
want of judgment, prudence, or courage ?

Answer. No.

Capt. JoHN CaArLIN, Battery D, First Virginia Artillery, a witness
called by the court and duly sworn, says:

By the JUDGE-ADVOCATE :

Question. Were you in command of your battery at Winchester
during the recent fight at, and the evacuation of, that place by Gen-
eral Milroy’s command ?

Answer. Yes.
Question. State the part taken by your battery in that affair.

Answer. On the morning of the 13th of June, about 8 o'clock, I received orders
from one of (ieneral Milroy’s aides to detach a section, with one day’s rations for the
men and forage for the hordes. They were immediately furnished. About an hour
afterward, I received another order from one of his aides to hold the remainder of
my battery in readiness for an immediate movement. In a short time afterward,
on the sawe day, Captain Hunter brought me an order to report to General Milroy.
Ireported to him at his headquarters, and was ordered by him to take two pieces
and report to Colonel Ely, who was then engaged near the Front Royal roat. I

ed in the direction that he was—something like half a mile from the limits
of the town. I found Colonel Ely with his command retiring from before the
enemy. I reported to him that I had been sent to aid him. He ordered me back
to take position in the outskirts of Winchester, and to engage a battery that was
near the Front Royal road, some 1,500 yards distant. Engaged that battery for
about half an hour. In the meantime my other two guns had been ordered out, and
took position on the range of hills southwest of Winchester. I received an order
from one of General Elliott's aides to proceed with the two guns I had on the out-
skirts of Winchester to the range of hills where the two guns had been placed pre-
vicusly. From there I engaged the same battery that I had been firing at previously.
The first section of my battery that had been ordered out was about 1 mile from the
last position I occupied. They were closely engaged at one time with a portion of
the rebel troops, and were about to be flanked by the right. This brought a large
body of rebel infantry in view of the four guns I had on the range of hills. The
enemy was in a dense wood adjacent, and marched forward through an open field
some three-quarters of a mile distant. I withheld the fire of my guns until they
were within about 800 yards, when I opened on them with the four pieces. That col-
umn succeeded in getting some of the men to the stone wall adjacent. Immedi-
ately another column was formed in the same dense woods adjacent, and marched in
thesame direction. Having the range of the ground, I opened fire upon them at 1,200
yards distance. The fire was so destructive, and kept up with such energy, that
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they were prevented from gaining a position. By a flank movement, they succeeded
in getting under cover of the woods that opened on our right. The first coluinn
that succeeded in reaching the stone wall was engaged by the first section that had
gone forward in the morning. Being behind stone walls, they were unable to drive
them from there. My battery was all on the range of hills, and was engaged at inter-
vals in various positions on the same range durin% the remainder of the day of
Saturday. At nightfall, I was ordered by General Elliott to place a section of two
pieces at the end of the leading streets entering Winchester on the south side. Two
of these streets are those leading to Strasburg and Front Royal. Remained there
until 12 o'clock at night, when I was ordered to take them to the camp, to supply
rations to the men and forage to the horses. On Sunday morning, the 14th, before
daylight, I had my amimunition-chests all replenished with ammunition, and was
ordered on to the field again about 7 in the morning. My battery was detached at
intervals during the day until 8 p. m., when I was ordered to the south range
of the hills, to dislodge some sharpshooters, and prevent the enemy from erecting
a battery on the extreme south point of the range, which it was supposed they
weredoing. I was in ordered by General Milroy, in person, to take four gunstoa
range of hills some half a mile distant, which order was complied with. We had
been in position only about half an hour, when two or three batteries of the rebels
were opened upon our main work, at about a mile distant, west of us. The position
I was occupying at the time was a very exposed one, and the support at some dis-
- tance from me. I deemed it prudent to withdraw my pieces, which fact was
reported to General Elliott immediately. General Elliott ordered me to proceed to
the main fort, and report to General Milroy in 1{wrson with my battery. After
reaching the main fort, and reporting to General Milroy, I was ordered by him to
take position about 300 yards south of the main fort. After bringing my guns to
bear upon the rebel batteries on the west, the rebel battery on the extreme south of
the range of hills o(s)ened on the main fort. In the meantime the batieries upon
the west side opened on my own. I was unable to keep up the fire from my bat-
tery from the time I got in position, about 5 p. m., until dark. After the firin
ceased on Sunday night, I immediately took my battery to the main fort, an
was ordered by General Elliott to put it in position there. The men were ordered
to stay by their ﬁuns, and not to leave them under any circumstances. Our am-
munition was all overhauled, and everything prepared for a siege, if necessary.
About 1 o'clock I was told by General Elliott that it was in contemplation to
evacuate, but that the order would be given when the time arrived. Some fifteen
or twenty minutes afterward. one of his aides came and told me that the order to
evacuate was given, and told me to spike my guns, destroy my ammunition, and
render everything unserviceable that I could. In conversation with him, I tuld him
that I disliked very much to leave iy guns, but, if it was imperative, I could com-
ly with the order. He also ordered, in connection, that I mount my men on the
Korses. and take nothing with me, but go as light as possible. When the troops
commenced moving out of the fort, I moved my men in column immmediately be-
hind the infantry. We proceeded to the Martinsburg road, and on it some 4 miles
from Winchester, when we were attacked by a battery of the rebels. with heavy
supports of infantry. I wus unable to keep my men in column, from the fact that
the teamsters and followers of the division became so much panic-stricken. My
men being unarmed, I was unable to take any part in the action of Monday morn-
ing, but endeavored to look after my men as much as I could. A major of cavalry
ordered the greater portion of my men to the rear, to enable their cavalry tocharge
upon the battery, which resulted in the capture of 84 of my men and horses.

Question. How much ammunition had you when the order to re-
treat was given, and what kind was it ?

Answer. I had about 85 rounds per gun, principally canister.

Question. Was your harness abandoned, brought off, or destroyed :

Answer. It was cut up.

guestion. Could you have brought off your harness ? By whose
orders did you leave it ?

Answer. I might have brought it on the horses, but whether I could have gotter
it away altogether I am unable to say. I left it by General Elliott’s orders. I re
ceived some instructions from Major Cravens similar to those General Elliott v
me in the order—to go as light as possible. The reason they gave me for not ing
the harness was the rattling of the chains. They wanted to get away as quietly a

possible.
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Question. Could you have brought off your guns ; would you have
made the attempt had no orders been given to the contrary ?

Answer. So far as the condition of the guns and horses, I could have brought
them away, but whether it would have been justifiable, I cannot say. I could have
taken them off, but whether I could have got them away entirely is a question. My
opinion is, 1 could have engaged the enemy with effect if I had retained them, but
I am also of the opinion that it would have bmuéht on a general engagement in the
(xn field. I would have made the attempt. Up to that time I was not aware of

numbers against us, and did not know it until some time afterward. The close
proximity of the enemy to our rear when the battery engaged us on the right-hand
side of the road, confirms me in my opinion that I could not have succeeded in getting
my battery away from there.

Question. Could you have brought off your battery with as little
noise as is made by cavalry and infantry in night marches ?
Answer. Not on that road. The road had been traveled a great deal during the

winter. It is a stone pike, very much cut up by the wagons, and very rough. The
rattling of carriages can be heard in the V. ey at night-time for 2 miles.

Question, In your opinion, could or could not the heavy guns have
been sent from Winchester on the 11th, 12th, 13th, or 14th of June,
1863, to Harper’s Ferry ?
1mﬁnswer. I think not later than the 12th. I think they could have been on the

Question. Do you know anything about the loss of Battery L, Fifth
U. 8. Artillery ?
Answer. They were occupying a work 1,500 yards west of the main fort, and

were in view of my position at the time they were charged upon and taken. Icould
not say what support of infantry or cavalry they had.

Question. In your opinion, was that battery properly posted when
it was captured ?

Answer. I thought it was an important gosition they were occupying. If prop-
erly supported, it was a safe position. I could not seeits supports fromn my postion.

By the CocCrr:

Question. In your opinion, would or woild not field artillery have
been of use to the command of Major-General Milroy during the
retreat from Winchester ?

Answer. I did not know the country from the Martinsburg road to H r's Ferry
on that side, but on the other side, in the direction of Bath, artillery could not have
been taken. Through the road that crosses North Mountain horses drawing wagons
could not have passed.

Question, In ﬁyour opinion, ought not the field batteries to have
been brought off, or attempted to be brought off ?

Answer. 1 thought we ought to have made the attempt to have gotten them off
at the time. I have since partially changed my opinion. My reason for it is that if
they had been captured on the field, the enemy would have gotten what ammuni-
tion we had, or harness, horses, and the guns unspiked.

Question. How did the troops retire; in good order or otherwise ?
Answer. All in good order, with the exception of quartermaster’s men and the
eamp followers. :

Question. Do you know whether the enemy was aware of the move-
ment immediately after your retreat, or whether the precautions
taken were successful in concealing it, and preventing pursuit?

Answer. T think they could not have been aware of our movement immediately,

for it must have been 2 o'clock when we left the fortifications, and it was 4 in the
morning when the attack was made. It took us two hours to form and march 4
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miles. It could not have been more than 300 yards from where the attack was
made that some of my men were captured before they could get out of the way.
My men went back in the direction of Winchester. The enemy may have been on
the right or left of the road. There was cavalry between me and the enemy, but [
did not see anything of them. Since Sunday evening, the 14th of June, my cas-
ualties have been 4 men wounded, 4 horses killed, 5 horses disabled, and two wheels
of caissons broken down.

Court adjourned until the 20th of June, 1863, at 11 a. m.

TWELFTH DAY.

‘W ASHINGTON, August 20, 1863.

The court met pursuant to adjournment.

Present, all the members and the judge-advocate.

Brig. Gen. W. L. Elliott, U. 8. Volunteers, was called into court,
and his testimony read over to him. He then made the following
explanation of some of his answers:

I have stated that if I had been in command I would have retreated on the even-
ing of the 18th. General Milroy had asked for orders, but the wires being cut, and
he not receiving any, I would have taken the responsibility and retreated. After
I became satisfied that it was not a cavalry attack, I thought we should have re-
treated. T was satisfied that we could not hold Winchester against a superior force
of infantry and artillery. It was also known to us that the enemy had attacked
Berryville in some force on our right flank, and would cut off our retreat or our
supplies. In reference to Battery L, Fifth U. S. Artillery, I will add, I did not con-
sider that the earthwork that it was placed in was strong enough, nor that the
road from it was sufficiently good to have withdrawn the guns in case of necessity.
1 thought the support too small for the distance at which the battery was placed
from the main force. In reference to General Milroy's capacity, I thought that on
thiy, as on other occasions, he sent troops too far from the support of his main body.
I thought that he undertook to do more than the number of his troops and his posi-
tion required of him. He is a zealous and energetic officer. That is all 1 have to

Capt. F. W. Alexander, Baltimore battery, was called into court,
and his testimony read to him and corrected.

Capt. John Carlin,Battery D, First Virginia Artillery, was called
into court, and his testimony read to him and corrected.

Col. A. T. McREvYNOLDS, First New York Cavalry, a witness called
by the court, being duly sworn, says:

By the JUDGE-ADVOCATE :

Question. What command had you under General Milroy during
his recent battle at, and evacuation of, Winchester ¢

Answer. Iwas in command of the Third Brigade, Second Division, Eighth Arm
Corps. General Milroy was my division commander. '

Question. State what you know in reference to those affairs? Wher
did you know or believe that the e¢nemy were advancing towarc
‘Winchester in force ?

Anpswer. I was at Berryville with the Third Brigade, which comprised the Sixt]
Maryland, Sixty-seventh Pennsylvania Infantry, and the First New York Caval
and Alexander’s (Baltimore) battery. I had sent out scouts in different direction
on the Friday preceding the battle at Winchester. On Friday evening, my scout
had been out in the vicinity of Front Royal. The officerin command o?them sent
messenger back to me to say that the rebels were advancing, and asked for instruc
tions. I sent him word to hold his ground as well as he could. Another I ha
sent out in another direction, White Post. 9 miles from Berryville, under Captai.
[Frederick] Hendrich. He sent word that the rebels were advancing in force. g()m
two regiments of infantry and a small party of cavalry constituted their advancs
He saw no artillery. He asked me for instructions. and I told him to remain i
their vicinity during the night, falling back slowly to Berryville, skirmishing. Bot
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parties came in pretty early on Saturday morning, and brought another report that
the rebels were coming in strong force, and were within 4 miles of us. When I
heard that, I got my train in readiness to move, and ordered it to Bunker Hill,
. under a small guard (one company of infantry and one of cavalry), to remain there
until further orders. I immediately ordered an advance of my force to Summit
Point. 1 had previously received orders from General Milroy that, on hearing four
signal guns from the direction of Winchester, I was to move there immediately to
his support. The direct road from Berryville to Winchester is 10 miles, but, finding
that tge rebels were flanking me in great force, and gaining that road, I took a cir-
cuitous road, the road leading toward Harper's Ferry, and then struck the road for
Summit Point, a distance of 22 or 23 miles to Winchester. As I was about to state
before, the portions of the command designated as the advance and center in my
order of march, were already sent forward. I remained behind with four com-
panies of the Sixth Maryland Infantry. a section of Alexander's battery, and 150 of
the First New York Cavalry. I placed the infantry across the road, and threw out
the cavalry as skirmishers. We shelled the cnemy vigorously, in order to give my
advance column more time, and I detained their advance three-quarters of an hour,
perhaps more. With my command I moved to Summit Point. Before reachin
that place, my intention was to go by Smithfield and Bunker Hill, but I found
could save 7 miles by this other route. The rebels had been following us up on the
way from Berryville, but did not attempt to attack until the rear of my column

was ing the Opequon. The moment I heard of the attack, I halted the column
' in a very advantageous position. I sent my advanced cavalry back to sustain my
rear guard. The affair lasted but for a moment, and the enemy were repulsed very
handsomely. That was the only trouble we had. The enemy continuned to follow
us up until we reached the Martinsburg pike, some 4 miles from Winchester. I
saw nothing of them afterward. I reached Winchester with my command about
9 o'clock Saturday evening, and I immediately went to the headquarters of General
Milroy and reported, and asked what disposition to make of my command. Some
time after, I received an order stating that Winchester was to be evacuated, and the
troops removed into the fortifications.

1 received instructions to march my command into the star fort, and did so. I
occupied the fort during the balance of the night and during the fight on Sunday,
until we evacuated on Monday morning. My orders to go to Winchester were im-

ive, and left me nodiscretion. They were in writing, and were delivered to me

vy Captain Powell, of the Engineers. hey impressed the importance of moving
when 1 heard the signal guns. I kept up two of Captain Alexander’s men all night
to listen for them. As soon as I heard the signal guns, the column moved, with the
exception of a small body which I kept back as a mere decoy. There was skirmish-
ing going on nearly the whole of Sunday. I was in the fort, and could see some of
the movements, but not with accuracy enough to state the results. In the after-
noon, Lieutenant-Colonel McKellip, who had command of a part of my command,
called my attention to some battle-flags on the right, in the neighborhood of the
Martinsburg road. There were some fourteen of them, forming a sort of a semi-
circle. They seemed to cover the Martinsburg road. I requested the colonel to go
to the large fort, and tell General Milroy what we had seen. The fighting had not
then commenced. The colonel returned a few moments afterward. 1e rebels
opened fire in the meantime, which resulted in the capture of one of our batteries
and the driving back of their supports. The rebels then turned their attention to the
princi fort, of which General Milroy had the command. Captain Alexander
on them with his battery, and his guns were served so accurately that they

had to turn their  attention to that fort for two hours. Darkness came upon us,
and the firing ceased. About 12.80 o’clock on Sunday night, I received an order
from General Milroy to attend a council of war, to be held in the fort, immediately.
1 went over as soon as I could leave. I there met General Eliott, Colonel Ely, and
General Milroy. A consultation was held, and a determination to evacuate was
the result. There were no others present at the consultation. It seemed to be a
cenceded point that there was no alternative but to retreat or surrender, and no

ht of surrender was entertained. -

General Milroy said his ammmunition was nearly exhausted. We had only enough
to fight two or three hours in the morning. I said my own was nearly exhausted;
I had about 25 rounds per gun. It was stated, too, that our rations were nearly ex-

These circumstances, and the fact that the rebels had secured command-
img positions during the evening, left no other alternative but to retire. The next
wag as to the route. My opinion was asked first, perhaps for the reason

I have been scouting in that country for several months. I recommended that
weshould retire by the Berryville road, through Snicker’s Gap. I made the remark
that on this road we would moet some opposition, perhaps three or four rebel
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regiments, that we could sweep before us. This was not deemed a feasible road. I
next suggested the dirt road. moving between Berryville and the uon, and via
Charlestown; and, thirdly, the road that General White took in his retreat from
Winchester. The latter z0:d to Harper’s Ferry was adopted. General Milroy di-
rected the order of march, assigning General Elliott to the advance, Colonel Ely to
the center, and my brigade to the-rear. The order was to spike all the guns, un-
hitch all the horses, leaving the wagons and taking the horses. The Thirteenth
Pennsylvania Cavalry was assigned to my brigade. I immediately returned to the
fort after the council adjourned. I went over to the star fort, and told Colonel Staun-
ton and Colonel Horn what the order was. They seemed determinately opposed to
moving in that direction without artillery, as the enemy would attack in fl())rce with
both infantry and artillery. I sympathized with them very much. After a few
moments’ conversation with them, I concluded I would go over to see General Mil-
10y, and ask permission to take my battery, Captain Alexander’s. It was then 2
o'clock in the morning. I told the general the result of my interview with the two
colonels of infantry. He said the order had been issued, and the guns of the other
brigades spiked. He seemed a little put out at my making the request. I then
asked to be allowed to take a section.  He replied that I might as well take a bat-
tery as a section, and that the object was to move without giving alarm. I returned
to the fort, and found Colonels Staunton and Horn in the same determined mood in
their objections to the movement. I said, ** Well, gentlemen, if you see fit to remain
here and surrender Eour regiments, you can do so.” I supposed they would be cut
to pieces. Itold them I would take the responsibility. and would cut my way
through with the cavalry. Colonel Staunton sai(’l, “* No;" Colonel Horn rather favored
it. [Finally, the infantry moved with the column in the direction indicated in the
order. ile we were conversing, Captain Alexander came up, and I said to him,
“ Captain, take out your guns; I will assume the responsibility.” I thought we
could get the guns across the fields. We were so situated that by a straight line we
could strike the Martinsburg road, and get our guns off without making much noise.
Captain Alexander said, ** Colonel, I have been over to General Milroy’s headquar-
ters since you were there ; I saw Major Cravens, and I asked him if it was not i-
ble to take my guns, when he replied that the orders were ‘imperative.’” 1 then
said, “ Very well, sir, spike your guns.” He did 8o, and we moved out. I took my
place in the column of retreat. ¢ had not moved more than 24 niiles when the
report that General Elliott had been fired upon reached us. General Milroy was
passing toward the front, and said to me, ‘ Move promptly.” I gave the order for
my command to move at double-quick; which was done. e moved thus until we
came to a position where I could see the enemy. There was a large open field
skirted by dense woods. In those woods there seemed to be a large force of rebel
infantry, and at the edgo of the woods a battery of six 8. at battery was
playing furiously. I sufpposed they were inflicting great loss upon us. I ordered
the two rei'unents of infantry in a flanking position to the battery, while I moved
with the Thirteenth Pennsylvania Cavalry, for the purpose of charging. I thought
it was a Eretty opportunity for a charge. The infantry moved in a column on m
left, making a straight line on the flank of the battery. I put the Thirteentfvn
Pennsylvania Cavalry immediately in motion, and moved along some distance from
the stone wall with them, intending to get in the enemy's rear and attack the enem;
simultaneously with the infantry. I came up with the major of the regiment. {
told him the battery was mowing down ourinfantry, and we mustcharge the bat-
tery. As I made this remark, we had gotten up to a little lane. The head of the
column dashed up the hill to the right. Captain Alexander was there, and my ad-
jutant. and Lieutenant Spooner. 1 was astonished at the movement of the cavalry.
he First New York Cavalry had been drawn up in line on the left of the Martins-
burg pike, waitin(;f orders. I immediately went over, perhaps half a mile, to bring
them up. I could not find them. There was nothing between me and the enem
but the two regiments of infantry. I determined to make the best disposition {
could of the infantry. I went over there, butfound they had retired, too. Isaw a
few men, but no organized body, moving toward the right. I could not join the
main body because the rebels were between me and them. I made my way the best
I could in the direction of the Opequon, to strike the Charlestown road. e rebel
cavalry were after me before I reached the Charlestown road. I met quite a body
of infantry, unorganized ; they had ammunition. I told them to prepare them-
selves, and they could defend themselves, if attacked by cavalry. I made for Sum-
mit Point. I met there a man who professed to be loyal, who told me that the force
that drove me out of Berryville had twelve pieces of artillery and 12,000 or 15,000
infantry. He placed Johnson and Rodes with them. He said they passed through
on Sunday, am; went in the same direction I did, toward Winchester. I then moved
to Charlestown, and from thence, halting a few moments at Halltown for refresh-
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ments, to Harper’s Ferry, where 1 reported to General Tyler, whom I found in com-
mand. Generals Milroy and Elliott had halted some 4 miles back, I sup! for
refreshments. My trains had been sent to Bunker Hill. I heard that the force that
followed me sent a party after my train, but met a warm reception at Bunker Hill
from a force under Major Morris. During the ﬁghtinv%. my son, Lieut. B. F. Mc-
Reynolds, acting brigade commissary, and Lieutenant [William H.] Boyd [jr.], act-
ing brigade quartermaster, got the train away and brought it to Martinsburg. It
was there during the fight there, and was again brought off safely to Williams-
port, Md.; thence to Hagerstown, Harrisburg, Philadelphia, Baltimore, and back

" to me at Frederick City. I lost nothing of consequence, and it was an extraordi-

pary march for a train.

Question. Who was to blame, in your opinion, for the insecurity
of ammunition and provisions at Winchester ?

Answer. Somebody, certainly. I do not know who was responsible.
Question. In your opinion, could or could not General Milroy

have retreated to -better advantage on the 12th, 13th, or 14th, than
he did on the 15th of June, 1863 ?

Answer. The retreat would have been more successful at any time up to Sunday

. morning, the 14th. We might have moved earlier. I don't think we could have

retreated to better advantage after Sunday noon.

Question. Could or could not the armament of the forts have heen
sent from Winchester to Harper's Ferry on the 12th, 13th, or 14th of
June, 1863 ?

Answer. I am not able to answer that satisfactorily to myself. With a heavy
column they might have been; with a small force they might have been captured.
I eould have sent heavy P;‘;ums on Friday or Saturday from Berryville, where I was
at that time, to Harper's Ferry. I think they could have been brought away on
the 13th, or any previous day, that is, with a proper escort.

Question. In 1youx' opinion, could or could not General Milroy
have brought all or a portion of his artillery away on his retreat ?

Answer. My impression was, when I made the application to General Milroy, that
my battery could have been gotten off. It is questionable whether the others could,
because they had to pass on a rocky road, and would have given notice to the enemy in
our immediate front of their movement. My impression is, that I could have reached
the Martinsburg pike with my battery without giving notice to the enemy. There
were two of my teams which ran away a few moments before toward that road,
creating a tremendous racket, which did not attract the attention of the rebels. 1
was looking for an attack every moment afterward. Another difficulty why the
other batteries could not have been moved is, that they would have found wagons
in the road, which, in my proposed route, I would have avoided.

By the CoUrT:

?uestion. Do you think that the command of Major-General
Milroy could have retreated successfully, with its artillery and bag-
gage trains, by the way of Berryville, and thence to Harper's Ferry?

Answer. Ithink they could not have retreated with their baggage trains. but I
think they could have moved off the infantry and artillery, and secured a safe posi-
ton on the road 5 miles from Winchester, where the pike crosses the Opequon.
This is a very strong position naturally. Another position of strength was the
WOI’? near Berryville, a distance of about 5 miles, and another at Snicker's Gap.
At either of these three points they could have successfully held their own; that is,
with ammmunition. From Snicker’s Gap it is 20 miles to Harper's Ferry.

Question. Were any wagons allowed to accompany the retreat of
the troops from Winchester ?

Answer. No, sir; it was expressly forbidden. The orders were that nothing on
wheels should go.

Question. What was the order of retreat; and when was it made
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known to General Milroy’s command? Was it conducted according
to the order; and was it an orderly retreat ?

Answer. The order of retreat was to put the brigades in numerical order—Elliott
in the advance, Ely in the center, and I in the rear. It must have been 2 o’clock in
the morning when the retreat was ordered. There was some little disorder in my
brigade, caused by the wagon horses getting in among the infantry. I saw no dis-
order in advance of me, nor any other disorder in my own brigade, and that I have
mentioned was corrected immediately. So far as the movements in the vicinity of
the point of attack during the retreat are concerned, they could not be considered
orderly. The retreat from that point would be impossible to describe. The men
broke and scattered in every direction. They went to the left and right of the road,
and even, I have heard, back toward Winchester. The last persons on that field
were myself and two orderlies.

By the JUDGE-ADVOCATE :

guestlon. Was Battery L, Fifth U. S. Artillery, properly posted
and properly supported at the time it was captured ?

Answer. I think it had a good position. It wasin front of me. It was supported
by what I supposed to be a regiment of infantry. I wasnot familiar with the troo;
at Winchester, only getting there the night before. I noticed its repulse by the
rebels, and its handsome recovery. There was a tremendous pressure upon it.
Nearly all their horses were killed or disabled. It held an importantposition. There
were many important positions around Winchester, but we had not force sufficient
to command them. ere were points that ought to have been covered if we had
a sufficient force for the purpose.

By the Courrt:

Question. In your opinion, was or was not the retreat conducted
properly, and the public property suitably cared for ?

Answer. I havealready answered as to the retreat. As tothe quartermaster’s and
commissary stores and property, I have no knowledge. I know the wagon train
was left in the road, on the outskirts of the town, the horses having been unhitched.
As to the guns, I suppose they were sgiked. The ammunition in my fort I ordered
to be destroyed, and was informed that it was. I think that, under the circum-
stances, there was a suitable disposition of the public property, excepting that I
should have taken my battery and all the ammunition that I could have carried
away.

aguestion. Do you know what instructions Major-General Milroy
had with reference to the holding or evacuation of Winchester ?

Answer. There was something said about that in the council of war. I think
General Milroy remarked that his power was discretional, but I am not positive. I
saw a dispatch from General Halleck, which spoke in very light terms of holdgﬁ
Winchester. I think there were conflicting dispatches received from Gen
Schenck’s headquarters. I think that I recollect of a dispatch from Colonel Piatt
to General Milroy, which was afterward countermanded by General Schenck. I
paid very little attention, however, to these matters.

Question. What was the object, as generally understood in the
command, of the position at Winchester ?

Answer. It was generally understood to be ‘‘ a running command.” It was viewed
generally as a position to run from, if a.bta;ckedrlg a heavy force with artillery ; one
not to be held obstinately. I have heard General Milroy speak of his dissatisfaction
in not being allowed to make advances when he thought it advisable, and that he
was merely to run at the approach of a superior force of the enemy.

Question. Was there not a large force of the enemy posted in the
direction of the Berryville road during the attack on Sunday after-
noon ?

Answer. From my observation, I conclude there was not. I must be mistaken.

Question. If you had moved your battery off to the turnpike road,
could you, after the conflict, have taken it to Harper’s Ferry ?

Answer. I think so. I think we could have whipped any force I saw. I used
this very expression to Captain Alexander at that time. The enemy’s fire was very
inaccurate. Our infantry drove their infantry several times.
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Question. What was the force of the enemy in the attack on Mon-
day morning ?

Answer. My estimate of ‘their forces was lower than others; it was 6,000 or 7,000.
There may have been 10,000.

Question. What was the loss by casualties in your brigade on the
morning of the 15th of June, 1863 ?

Answer. I have received no report from any officer commanding any portion of
my brigade. I have since had no official relations with my brigade, having been
brigaded with the cavalry at Harper's Ferry. Some 44 out of 600 or 700 of the
Sixtdyl—seventh Pennsylvania Infantry, and, I think, over 300 out of 500 or 600 of the
Sixth Maryland Infantry, reported at Harper's Ferry. The great bulk of missing
men are at Camp Parole, near Annapolis. I found the Thirteenth Pennsylvania
Cavalry in quarters at Harper's Ferry when I reached there.

Question. Did the enemy follow from Winchester on your retreat?

chAm-xwer. Not that I know of. 1saw no movement from the direction of Win-
ester. .

Question. Where did you leave the First New York Cavalry, and
what orders did you give last ?

Answer. The First New York Cavalry broudg;lt up the extreme rear. I placed
them there, having no confidence in them. I directed my adjutant to form them
on the left of the pike. out of range of the enemy’s shells. e Thirteenth Penn-
s_ylvania Cavalry was formed.on t%\e right of the road. in advance of the First New
York, one being at the head and the other in the rear of my brigade. I understood
that Major-General Milroy gave them some instructions. Major Adams informed
me of this.

The court then adjouruned, to meet at 11 a. m. August 21, 1863,

THIRTEENTH DAY.

AUGUST 20, 1863.
The court met pursuant to adjournment.

Present, all thie members and the {udge-advocate.
The testimony given yesterday by Colonel McReynolds, of the
First New York Cavalry, was read over to him, and corrected, and

his examination was continued as follows :

By the CoURrT:

Question. What other troops of General Milroy’s command besides
your own brigade did you see at the place where you were attacked,
while retreating from Winchester ?

Answer. During the attack, I could not distinguish what troops, because 1 was
not sufficiently near. I could not distinguish one regiment from another, except in
my own brigadé. I was on their flank, I should think, 80 rods distant, and the
light was not very clear. It was very early in the morning. I could not at any
time distinguish the movements of one regiment from another from . the distance
at which I was. 1 brought up the rear.

Question. Was it Major-General Mijlroy’s order that you should
be where you were, and that your brigade should be separated from
the rest of the command, as you have stated ?

Answer. I received no orders whatever from General Milroy touching my
movements. I made such dispositions of my command as I supposed then, and
till suppose, were the best.

Question. Who appeared to you to be in command of the troops
at that time ; that is, who was directing their operations ?

Answer. My impression was that it was General Elliott who was Yﬁi;lcipa'lly in
thefight. That was my impression, and, from necessity, General Milroy did not
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get up until the fighting had been going on for some time, General Milroy assumed
command after reaching the point where General Elliott was engaged with the
enemy.

Question. Did you see Major-General Milroy, or did you receive
any instructions from him, or by his authority, during any portion
of the time you were retreating ? If 80, when and where was it, and
what orders were they ?

Answer. The onlf orders that I received from General Milroy, or from any other
person, either directly or indirectly, was simply the verbal one from General Milroy
1n person when he was passing me: ¢ H: up your brigade ; they are fighting in
front.” From that time until I saw General Milroy at Harper’s Ferry, on the same
day, I had no communication with him whatever.

Question. You say in your testimony that while you were being
pursued by the rebel cavalry you overtook *‘ quite a body of infantry
unorganized.” To what command did fhis infantry belong ?

Answer. 1Ireally cannotanswer that question. They were of different regiments.
The force was small—not more than 30 or 40, or, Eerha.ps, 50 men, of General Mil-
roy's command. Icould not tell what regiments they belon, to. I simply asked
them if they had ammunition. They said they had. I told them to be prepared,
as they might meet rebel cavalry, and they could whip them, and not to allow
themselves to be frightened by them.

Question, What regiments did you pass or *‘sight” on the way
from Winchester to arﬁer’s Ferry, and did they appear to be re-
treating in good order and under the command of their officers ?

Answer. Ifound on the way some of the Sixty-seventh Pennsylvania, but a small
number, and they appeared to be marching in no regular order. I saw quitea body
of the Sixth Maryland moving with their colonel in the usual order that troops move
on a fatigue march. That was the only considerable body that I saw.

Question. Who do you think should be held responsible for the

disorderly retreat of your brigade ?
Answer. I suppose the commanding officer is held responsible.

Question. Do you mean to say that you were deserted by a portion of
your command, the Thirteenth Pennsylvania Cavalry, for instance?

Answer. I mean to’ say, and do say this, that they left me under the circum-
stances I have stated, and that the First New York Cavalry left the ground under
the circumstances I have stated, and without my knowledge.

Question. Do you think any officer is responsible for the disorders
of the retreat?

Answer. Well, I thought it very strange that I received no orders from General
Milroy during the progress of the fighting, as orders should have been sent to me.
Some parties were delinquent. I should have received orders, because my move-
ments were plain. I had a column of infantry moving in an openefield, and a col-
umn of cavalry moving, which diverted the repel guns to my line. My answer to
the question would be, I am not able to state what particular officer is responsible.

Questiox;. Were you called on for an official report of your pro-
ceedings in this retreat? If so, when? Why did you not make such
a report ? :

Answer. I had learned that General Milroy had been placed in arrest, and was
in Baltimore. After this, my command was scattered, and entirely removed from
me. For example, a part of them were in Loudoun and Pennsylvania, and did not
return to my command for some time. I had no opportunity to get reports of offi-
cers commanding regiments. for the reasons I have stated, and because I was next
day assigned to tie command of a cavalry brigade at Harper's Ferry—entirely new
men to me. 1 remained at Harper's Ferry until it was evacuated. I then moved
with General French to Frederick, and remained there until General Meade returned
from the battle of Gettysburg. He relieved me, on the application of General Pleas-
onten, and ordered me to report to that officer for duty, which I did. I then re-
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ceived orders to proceed to Pennsylvania, assume command of the First New York
and Twelfth Pennsylvania Cavalry, and march them to the Army of the Potomac.
I found the cavalry were in the command of General Couch. I communicated m:
orders to him, and-he uested me to remain there until he communicated wi
General Meade. General Meade directed me to march all of Milroy's division that
were in the Deﬂ;])&rtment of the Susquehanna to the Army of the Potomac. I reached

wn the morning after Lee's m'mﬂyl had crossed the Potomac; so several
weeks ela, before I came in contact with my old command. I could not get the
data on which to make a report. I received a telegram, purporting to come from
General Milroy, requesting me to make a report, or something of that nature. At
that time it would have been impossible to make a report, coupled with the fact
that he was in arrest. 1 think that I received this telegram before I assumed com-
mand of that division.

The court then adjourned to meet at 11 a. m. August 22, 1863.

FOURTEENTH DAY.

AvUGUST 22, 1863,

Court met pursuant to adjournment.

Present, ali) the members and the judge-advocate.

The testimony given by Col. A. '11 cReynolds, First New York
Cavalry, owesterday and the day previous, was read over to him
and corrected.

Colonel McReynolds’ examination continued.

By the JUDGE-ADVOCATE :

Question. If you had not received orders to fall back toWinches-
ter from Berryville, would you have retreated from there direct to
Harper’s Ferry ? Could you have made good ¥c‘)ur retreat with your
battery and train from Berryville to Harper’s Ferry ?

Answer. I should have gone to Hn?er‘s Ferry. That route was much more feasi-
ble than the one I took. It was 2 or 8 miles shorter, with a pike all the way.

By the CoURT:

Question. If you had gone from Berryville direct to Harper’s
Ferry, would it not have hazarded the safety of all the rest of
General Milroy’s command ?

Answer. My command oconstituted about one-fourth of General Milroy's com-
mand, and to that extent I sup that it would. During the fight at Winchester
on Sunday afternoon, I think that the main fort would have been stormed if the
star fort not been occupied. My guns kept the enemy in check. On the re-
treat, my troops, by creating a diversion, aided in the escape of the rest.

Question. If, at the time you were ordered from Berryville to
Winchester, you had marched from Berryville to Harper's Ferry,
and at the same time the balance of Major-General Milroy’s com-
mand had marched from Winchester to Harper’s Ferry, what
would have been the result ? Would the whole command, with its
artillery and baggage trains, have been saved ?

Answer. Undoubtedly it might ; I have no question about it; not only that, they

ight have captured a small force that moved on Martinsburg ; this last, though, is

lematical. What I mean is this: On Saturday there was no rebel force be-
tween Harper’s Ferry and Winchester, nor between Martinsburg and Winchester,
that was strong enough to oppose General Milroy's entire force, if he had marched
on Saturday morning.

Question. From what source do you get your information about
the force of the enemy on the Martinsburg road on Saturday ?

Answer. One source is that my train moved with a small guard to Bunker Hill
without any interruption ; another is that I had direct communication from my train
at Bunker Hill by a single courier when I arrived at the Martinsburg pike, about 4
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miles from Winchester. Again, I moved my command from the junction to Win-
chester without discovering any rebels on that side of the town. Still another evi-
dence is, that my train moved fraom Bunker Hill to Martinsburg without meeting any -
rebels on the route, with the exception that at Bunker Hill a small force had been
attacked by the rebels, and the rebels repulsed, showing that the attacking force
must have small—a few hundred, I mean.

Capt. M. L. DE MoTTE, assistant quartermaster of volunteers, a
witness called by the court, being duly sworn, answers:

By the JUDGE-ADVOCATE :

uestion. What was your position on General Milroy’s staff at
Winchester ?

Answer. I was acting division quartermaster all the time that Winchester was
occupied by General Milroy’s command.

Question. In your opinion, was or was not the public property
suitably cared for in the evacuation of that place?

Answer. It was.

(?iuestion. What was done with the wagons, horses, forage, &ec.,
under your directions as quartermaster for the division ?

Answer. Ihad on my own returns 159 four-horse teams ; General Elliott’s brigade
had 118 four-horse teams; Colonel Ely’s had 85, and Colonel McReynolds’ 42." Of
these teams, Colonel McReynolds’ escaped entire. Out of the 159 that I had, 114 es-
caped from Winchester, 9 of which were afterward destroyed between Martinsburg
and Harrisburg, as I am informed by agent. This was done by some drunken cavalry-
men, and not from necessity. Forty-five of my wagons were left standing near the
forts at Winchester, and all of General Elliott’s and Colonel Ely's weré left in the
same place. The division lost in all 198 wagons out of 354. This statement may
vary a very few wagons from the actual number, as my pasers were all lost. On
Thursday evening prior to the evacuation, General Milroy ordered me to make such
disposition of the trains as would enable us to move in the shortest possible time, and
ordt:red me to have as little stores on hand as possible. I accordingly sent all my own
wagons except 45 to Martinsburg, loaded with stores, retaining only about enough
camp and garrison equipage to equip about 50 men. These are all the stores that I had
left, and these were broken into and partly taken by our own men. My grain was
nearly consumed before our departure. he horses were unhitched from the wagons
about 11 o'clock Sunday night. On the moming of the evacuation, I had under my
command about 800 horses. They were ridden by convalescents, detailed men, sut-
lers’ clerks, and other unarme | atfauchés. The harness was on the horses when we
started. At the time of the attack on the Martinsburg road, on the morning of the
15th of June, m rty were in column of fours, and I attempted to withdraw them
to the left side on tK?e road, in the timber. This movement was about half completed,
when I presumne the enemy saw it, and thought we were cavalry, and turned their
artillery upon us fiercely. The horses now became frantic, and their riders, having
the ordinary wagon bridles, and generally being without saddles, could not control
thein.  They consequently took toward the left, toward Berkeley Springs instead of
toward Harper's Ferry, as they were ordered. I tried to rally themn in a wheat-field,
ahout one-quarter of a mile from the road, but it was impossible. Near the close of
the engagement, I started myself in the same direction, and at Berkeley Springs
su('u:eg:d in getting together a little over 800 of my party. While we were en route
from Berkeley Springs to New Creek, about 200 of these men, becoming frightened at
the numerous reports of the enemy in every direction, turned off in the direction of
Pennsylvania. The harness was almost a total loss; it was thrown away or lost on
the road. 1did not succeed in gathering all that passed out that road. 1 heard of
many having gone too fast tobe overtaken. From the best information that I can get,
about 150 out of the 800 horses were captured on the field that morning. Lieut. Will-
iam Alexander, First New York Cavalry, acting assistant quartermaster of Ueneral
Elliott's brigade, had three or four times as much camp and garrison equipage on hand
as I had. It was left at Winchester. I gave him the same instructions that General
Milroy gave me. Afterward, when I asked him why he did not send his stores
away on Thursday, he told me that the wmost of his wagons had been sent to Mar-
tinsburg for grain, and had not returned, and they did not return until Friday
morning.  The stores belonging to Colonel MeReynolds' brigade were saved., 1
think Licutenant Alexander might have sent off his stores, with a proper guard, on
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Friday, the 12th of June. Aside from the ordinary equipments of camp life, these
are the stores that I know of. Eighty-eight horses, aside from the 800 team
horses, and in addition to the 114 teams sent to Martinsburg, were also taken to
Harrisburg. They were on my returns also.

Question. Could or could not all or a portion of the public prop-
erty left at Winchester, have been brought off in the retreat?

Answer. The stores and wagons could not, nor could the artillery. I do not
think that any more could have been taken than was taken. At 11 o'clock on Sun-
day night, when I had unhitched the horses, I withdrew them from the green on to
the pike road. and at the time this was being done I saw signal lights in three dif-
ferent directions. Afterward the troops all came out of the forts, and passed out on
the pike about half a mile. I saw nothinf further until a few minutes after I
started my horses ; then I again saw signal lights. I thought at the time that the
moving of my horses attracted the enemy’s attention.

By the CoURrT: ]
Question. When did your supply train leave Winchester?

Answer. Thursday night, the 11th of June. A part of it was already at Martins-
burg, and the rest left at 11 o’clock Thursday night.

Question. Why was this train sent off with stores ?

Aunswer. General Milroy told me about 5 or 8 o'clock on Thursday evening to ar-
range matters as though I expected to evacuate very soon. He told me that he
had a dispatch from General Schenck, asking him how long it would take him to
get ready to move everything, and he wanted me to determine the time. I told
him I could be ready to move everything from Winchester in six hours. I sent an
agent immediately to Martinsburg, with instructions to keep the teams hitched up to
the empty wagons, and to keep an employé, or to remain himself at the telegraph
office continually. He reported that these orders were obeyed. I could have had
all my wagons at Winchester ready to load in six hours.

Question. By whose order were the wagons left at Winchester.?
Answer. By order of Major-General Milroy.

Question. Could not the artillery have been sent away safely on
Thursday night, when you sent oft the large portion of your wagons,
or even on Friday, when you say Lieutenant Alexander might have
sent away his wagons ?

Answer. It could, sir; and I think it could on Friday.

Question. Asone of the staff of Major-General Milroy, did or did
not you know what were Major-General Milroy’s instructions with
regard to the defense or abandonment of Winchester?

Answer. I think I knew generally. I knew that he received a telegram from
Colanel Piatt. I did not know whether or not it was a positive order to evacuate.
It was received previous to Thursday, the 11th, I think. I think that the general
intended to evacuate, unless further orders came to the contrary. Afterward, I
beard in the general's office (can’t say it was from him {)ersonally). that he had
orders from General Schenck, ** until further orders, to hold Winchester."

estlon. While you were on the retreat, did you receive any
orders from General Milroy ; if so, what were they ?

Answer. I did receive orders on the retreat. About a mile and a half from the
place of the engagement, the general, in person, ordered me to keep my horses well
together, and near the cavalry, and well to the front, I think. e gave me as a
reason for that order that I might be ready to break through when an opportunity

offered. This was before the fight commenced. He also ordered me to stay at the
front of my column.

Question. Do {ou believe the disposition made of the public
property to have been the best that could have been made under the
errcumstances ?

Answer. I do, sir
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Col. JouN W, ScHALL, U. S. Volunteers, a witness called by the
. court, being duly sworn, answers :

By the JUDGE-ADVOCATE:

Question. What position did you hold in General Milrog’s com-
mand at Winchester during the fight at and eévacuation of, that place
in June last ?

Answer. I am colonel of the Eighty-seventh Pennsylvania Volunteer Infantry.
I commanded that regiment, in the Second Brigade, which was commanded by
Colonel Ely, Eighteenth Connecticut.

Question. State what you know of the hattle at; and retreat from,
that place.

Answer. The organization of this brigade was made on the morning of the 13th
of June, 1888 ; that is, I was then ordered to report to Colonel Ely as my brigade
commander. About the same time, our pickets were being engag;‘;i with the enemy.
Soon after this, I received an order to take mg regiment on the Front Royal road,
and supgort a section of Battery L, Fifth U. 8. Artillery, under command of Lieu-
tenant Spooner. I was stationed on the right of the artillery, and, about the time
I got mgoregiment into position, the artillery fell back, and joined the restof the bat-
tery. lonel Ely ordered me to fall back, and I fell back, in support of the battery.
Afterward my regiment was ordered on to the ridge, known, I think, as Apple Pie
Ridge, where we remained about an hour. Again I was ordered back, to support
Battery L, Fifth U. 8. Artillery, in the same position where I had left it. re-
mained there an hour or an hour and a half, and was in ordered to report with
my command to Major-General Milroy,on Apple Pie g e. He directed me to
proceed out on the Strasburg road, and to drive away the enemy’s skirmishers, who
were in possession of the . and to hold that place until further orders.

Those instructions were carried out. About dark, I received orders to return to
my original position, in support of the battery, and in the evening I received orders
“to fall k, at 2 o’clock in the morning, to the fortifications. About 8 o'clock next
morning, 1 was ordered with my regiment to the town of Winchester, to drive out
the enemy’s skirmishers, who had entered the town on the southwest side. I was
i:llfaged during the day until 4 p. m., when the Sixty-seventh Pennsylvania
antry relieved me. 1 again returned to the hill known as *‘ the fortifications,”
and an hour later received an order to remove to the star fort. I think it was in-
tended to change position in camp. On my moving in the direction of the fort,
Battery L was opened upon by the enemy’s artillelgv; it was stationed in the forti-
cations north of the main fort. I was ordered to the One hundred and sixteenth
Ohio Infantry, which was stationed in the direction of the battery and a little to
the right. I afterward received orders to move forward in support of Battery L,
but, when the order reached me, that ba was already captured, and its support
(the One hundred and tenth Ohio) was falling back. I was then ordered back to
the main fort. About dark on the 14th, my commmand was stationed in the rifle-
pits on the east of the main fort. I held these pits until about 1 o’clock next morn-
mﬂg, when I received orders fream Major Cravens, assistant adjutant-general, to the
effect that I should prepare my command to evacuate, and he directed me to get
crackers for my men, if I needed them. I immediately notified my company com-
manders of this order, and, during my absence withthem, an order to march came ;
it was received by my lieutenant-colonel, I think. I think it was a verbal order
from my brigade commander, placing my regiment on the right of the brigade, with
orders to move at once. We proceeded down the Martinsburg pike about 4 miles,
when I had intimation that there had been some firing in front, and, as we were
marching on, I received orders from my brigade commmander, I think, to form my
regiment in line. General Milroy was close by. I immediately brought my men
into line, and immediately a‘terward had orders, I think from General i!roy
direct, to change front to tﬂe right. During this movement, I noticed several regi-
ments of the First Brigade to my left. I was ordered to advance in the direction I
held after changing front, and I noticed a refiment on my left advancing at the
same time. It was still quite dark, and I could just see them. I should have stated
before that one company of my regiment was detached as skirmishers about the
time we were forming line, and that while we were forming line some cavalry or
wagon horses se ted the left company of my regiment by running in between
them; alterwa.rdpt‘;lr: joined. I had ordersto advance in the direction of the woods,
and had gone but a few steps when skirmishing commenced. I advanced within a
short distance of the woods, and during this time the enemy opened upon us with
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artillery that was stationed only a short distance in our front, apparently 100 yards.
‘While with the enemy, another regiment of our brigade was brou%‘l:t in my
rear, who also opened fire right through us almost, which brought confusion in
the ranks of my regiment, and it fell back. It was either the Eighteenth Connecti-
cut or the Fifth Maryland Infantry; I think the former. General Milroy appeared
in front of that regiment, and ordered them to cease firing, telling them that they
were firing on their own men. It was still dark when this occurred. We again
formed, and advanced with other regiments to the woods, but soon fell back under
the heavy fire to a ravine about 150 yards from the woods. I afterward received
orders to advance into the woods with two regiments on my right. I think they
were the Eighteenth Connecticut and One hundred and tweutf'-lhird Ohio. My
regiment went about 40 yards into the woods, My horse was killed. The regiment
immediately halted, and kept up a skirmishing fire for twenty or thirty minutes,
I saw that I was being ﬂanﬁed on my left, and gave orders to fall back: this was
done amid some confusion. The enemy followed us closely in large numbers to
the edge of the woods. My command me scattered, some going to the right
and some to the left. I will here state that I had no orders as to our destination,
and could give no instructions to my officers as to our course. I have since been
informed that our brigade commanders had orders, and had special instructions to
commumnicate them to the regimental commanders, that our destination was Harper's
Ferry. With about 180 of my men, I reached Harper’s Ferry. My lieutenant-col-
onel and major went by the left, and, I am informed, reached Hancock. They had
280 of my men. My regiment is still divided. Some 240 were captured, amd one
hundred and odd are shfl misding.

The court then adjourned to meet at 12 m. Monday, August 24,
1863.

FIFTEENTH DAY.

AUGUST 24, 1863.
Court met pursuant to adjournment.
Present, all the members and the judge-advocate.
The testimony given yesterday by Colonel Schall was read over to
him, corrected, and his examination resumed.

By the JUDGE-ADVOCATE :

Question. Do you consider that the retreat from Winchester to
Harper's Ferry was kproperly conducted, and that the public property
was suitably cared for?

Answer. I think it was, under the circumstances.

Question. Did you observe any want of coolness, capacity, or cour-
age in any officer during the retreat or during the fighting at and
near Winchester ?

Answer. 1 did not.

Question. Was your regiment short of ammunition at any time
during the fighting, before and in the retreat ? :

Answer. It was not, excepting that I expended a large part of my ammunition
on the morning of the 15th, and had no chance to replenish. When I started, the
men had an average of 60 rounds.

Question. Did sufficient time intervene from the first intimation of
the enemy’s approach to the time of their attack to have removed
the artillery to some place of safety?

Answer. I think there was,
Question. In your opinion, could or could not General Milroy’s

command have retreated in good order on the 11th, 12th, 13th, or
14th of June, carrying off all or a portion of its artillery and stores?

Answer. They could have done 80, in my opinion, on the 11th, 12th, and until 3
p-m. 18th, I think.



120 N. (. VA, W. VA, MD,, PA., ETC. (Cuar. XXXIX.

Question. In iour opinion, who is to blame, or is any one, for the
loss of Battery L, Fifth U. S. Artillery ?

Answer. 1 do not know of any one. 1 was not familiar with thie general orders
existing,

Question. Do you not know positively what one of our regiments
fired upon your men during the retreat? Have you ever made any
investigation or report of that affair ?

Answer. I do not know positively. I was under the imprescion that it was the

Eighteenth Connecticut. 1 have not reported the fact officially. I have never
made any investigation.

Question. When was Colonel Ely, of the Eighteenth Connecticut
(your brigade commander), captured ?

Answer. I cannot say. I last saw him when making the second charge, on the
15th ; this was after my regiment was fired into by the other regiment.

uestion. On your way to Harper's Ferry, what troops did you see
of (General Milroy’s command? ere they marching in good order,
under control of their officers, or otherwise ?

Answer. I reached the larger yortion of the One hundred and sixteenth and One
hundred and twenty-second Ohio. They were formed by fours, and were marching
in tolerable order. The men were very much fatigued. and there were many strag-
glers. There were detachments of other regiments, all forming one command.
am not positive, but I think that many regiments were mixed up; that is, that men
of different regiments were together. The One hundred and tenth and One hun-
d;l'ed and twenty-second Ohio may have been separate.” There were officers with
them,

By the Courrt:

Question. Were the orders which were given for the retreat fully
carried out? If not, who was to blame; and why, in your opinion,
were said orders not carried out ?

Answer. Yes, sir; they were as far as could be, so far as I know. I had no
orders as to the order of retreat excepting that putting me on the right of the brigade,

Question. How do you reconcile your statements that a crowd of
mounted teamsters broke through the ranks of the troops, and that
your regiment was scattered and made its way in detachments to
places many miles apart, with your subsequent statement that the
retreat was orderly and well conducted ?

Answer. In the first place, where I state that one company of my regiment was
separated by horses, I afterward stated that they aguin joined me. I would state
that, a8 far as my command was concerned, it was much scattered; the One hun-
dred and tenth and One hundred and twenty-second Ohio had some time to form,
they having left the woods about the time we entered it the last time, but I do not
mean to say that the retreat was as orderly and as well conducted as this last ques-
tion implies, but I presume it was as well as could be under the circumstances.

Question. Could the command of General Milroy have retreated
on Saturday, before Colonel McReynolds’ command came into Win-
chester, without hazarding the destruction or loss by capture of that
command ?

Answer. I think not, from what I learned afterward. I was not familiar with
the force around.

Question. On what day, and on what hour of the day, were the
signal guns fired for Colonel McReynolds to march to Winchester?

Answer. Some time on Saturday morning; I do not remember the hour, nor did
I know at the time that they were signal guns.
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Question. After Colonel McReynolds and his command reached
Winchester, were they in a condition to march immediately to Har-
per’s Ferry or Martinsburg without previous refreshment and rest ;
and, if so, how long would it have taken them to be sufticiently rested
and replenished to make the march in question ?

Apswer. I am not able to answer that, as I am not familiar with their retreat
from Berryville.

Question. What was the condition of your own command on Mon-
day morning ; was it fresh and active, or was it fatigued ?

. Answer. It was very much used up. It had been in the field three days, scout-
mg and fighting, and the men had very little rest during that time.

Question. Could the artillery have been removed in safety from
Winchester after Saturday, the 13th, at noon ?

Answer. I have stated that it might up to Saturday, at 3 o'clock.

Question. Could the command of General Milroy have retreated
from Winchester after Sunday, the 14th, at daylight in the morning,
without encountering a large force of the enemy *

Answer. No, sir. I presume we would have met a force equal or superior to our
own.

Question. Could more public property of any kind have been saved
by-a retreat on Sunday morning than by the retreat on Monday morn-
mg? If yes, state why you think so.

Answer. 1 am unable to answer that. It might have been, and might not.

Question. Did the skirmishing at and about Winchester on Sunday
aid you in the subsequent retreat ? If so, how ?

Answer. I presume it did, by detaining the enemy, and requiring him to maneuver
around, as he would not otherwise have done.

Question. Was or not the attack of the enemy on your regiment
so overwhelming as to make it necessary for it to divide and to re-
treat by different roads ?

Answer. Yes, sir. If I had had a horse, I could have rallied more of my men.
Having been dismounted, I was unable to do so.

Question. Did the troops under the command of Colonel McRey-
nolds appear on the field of battle at any time on Monday morning ?

Answer. I did not see any of them. I had not much opportunity of seeing any-
thing any distance away from the regiment. ‘

%Jeestion. ‘Would it not have been safe, in your opinion, for Colonel
McReynolds’ command to retreat directly to Harper’s Ferry from
Berryville the morning of the 13th June last ?

Answer. I am upable to answer that, as I am not familiar with the force that
attacked him, and with other troops that passed between him and Harper's Ferry.

Question. Inthe event of the retreat of General Milroy’s command,
would the occupation of Berryville by McReynolds’ command have
asgisted that retreat ?

Answer. I think it would.

Lieut. M. Poorg, Fifth Virginia Infantry, a witness called by the
court, being duly sworn, arswers :
By the JUDGE-ADVOCATE:
. Question. What was your position on General Milroy’s staff dur-
ing the recent battle at, and evacuation of, Winchester ?
Answer. I was acting as ordnance officer to his division.
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Question. How much ammunition for artillery and for small-arms
was on hand at Winchester when the retreat was ordered ?

Answer. The ammunition for the field batteries was in the hands of their com-
manders, and I cannot answer for it. Atthe time the attack was made, I had about
160 rounds of assorted ammunition per gun for the guns in position in the forts, and
somethiniover 300,000 rounds of small-arms ammunition. When the retreat was
ordered, the percussion shells were exhausted, and the fuse shells nearly so, as were
also the caseshot. I suppose about 20 rounds per gun were left altogether. Captain
Martin had charge of tge howitzers, and I understood from him that their ammu-
nition was nearly exhausted also. I estimate that there was also something over
200,000 rounds of small-arms ammunition left on hand.

Question. Was any of this ammunition ahandoned; if so, how
much, and by whose orders was it done ?

Answer. It was all abandoned. Captain Marting notified me that our forces were
retreating, and that we must get away as soon as possible. I think that heremarked
to me that the guns and wagons were being abandoned. Further than that I re-
ceived no orders. Our forces had gone, and I could do nothing but go, too. This
ammunition was left in the magazine, and was not destroyed.

Question. Was as much small ammunition carried off by our
troops as was needed on their retreat, or as much as they could carry?

Answer. I am not able to say how much they did carry away. I furnished each
regiment with all that they asked for.

Question. Do you know anything of the reconnaissance made by
S}aptain Morgan, of the Twelfth Pennsylvania Cavalry, on Sunday,
une. 14, 1863 ?

Answer. I do not.

Question. On your way to Harper’s Ferry from Winchester, what
troops did you see of General Milroy’s command ? Were they march-
ing in goog order, and under the control of their officers ?

Answer. Previous to the engagement, I saw the whole command. I passed along
from the rear nearly to the head of the column. They were marching in good order,
and under the control of their officers. When the en, ment commenced, I was
on the right-hand side of the Martinsburg pike, about 1,000 yards from the head of
the column. Immediately in my rear were the team horses, mounted principally
by unarmed riders. When the fight commenced, these horses were thrown into
confusion. and they rushed across the road to the left. My horse being somewhat
frightened, rushed across tothe left of the road also. There were a number of in-
fantrymen scattered from their commands, moving also in that direction. As I
had noorders, I thought it best to attempt to gather them up, and, for half an hour -
or 80, I was engaged in collecting thein, and forcing them to join the ranks of some
regiment. After this, I saw a body of men to the left of the road, perhaps amount-
ing to two companies. They belonged to the Fifth Maryland ent. I halted
them, and went back to find General Milroy, for orders. He ordered them to be
brought back and formed in line of battle. brought them back to where the line
had been formed, and just a8 we got there, the order had been given to move for-
ward. Isaw the Eighty-seventh Pennsylvania Volunteers, the One hundred and
tenth, One hundred and twenty-second. and One hundred and twenty-third Ohio
Regiments advancing in good order. Those are the only troops that I saw after the
engagement or in it. )

By the Courr:

Question. Do you know whether the guns of position were spiked
or otherwise disabled ?

Answer. I did not see them spiked; I understood that they were. I do not know
whether they were otherwise disabled or not.

(%‘uestion. What amount of ammunition were you ordered to keep
on hand at Winchester ?

Answer. Two hundred rounds per gun for artillery, and 140 rounds per man of
-arms ammunition,
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Question. Was there any supply of reserve ammunition ; and, if
so, where was it kept ?

Answer. 1had none. About one or two week previous, a requisition had been
made, but none had been received.

Question. Do you know what were Major-General Milroy’s in-
structions, written or oral, with regard to the holding or evacuation
of Winchester ? '

Answer. I do not. The object of our being there was generally understood to
be the protection of the Baltimore and Ohio Railroad, and that we were to abandon
the place if attacked by a superior force.

Question. Did you accompany Major-General Milroy, after the
fight on Monday morning, on the retreat to Harper’s Ferry ?

Answer. I did.

Question. At what time on Monday morning did you leave the
scene of the fight; what road did you take, and who else was with
you ?

Answer. I left a little after sunrise. Itook the Martinsburg pike for ahout 2 or
3 miles ; then we took a road to the right, leading about in the direction of Charles-
town ; then we left this road, turning to the left, and striking in the direction of
Harper's Ferry, and meeting the pike from Harper's Ferry to lestown about 4
miles from Harper's Ferry. 1 can only give the general direction of our course.
General Milroy, Major Cravens, assistant adjutant-general; Captain Palmer, Lieu-
tenant McCracken, General Elliott, and his adjutant-general, Lieutenant Shaw, and
Colonel Keifer, with a portion of his regiment; Colonel Ball, with his regiment ;
Lieutenant Dawson, with a portion of his company (K), First Virginia Cavalry;
Captain McDonald, commissary of subsistence; Captain Baird, aide-de-camp, and
detachments of other regiments.

%uestion. Did you cut your way through the enemy on Monday,
or did you turn their position, and thus escape ?

Answer. We rather turned their position.

Question. Did you or not ever hear Major-General Milroy express
dissatisfaction at having been instructed to abandonWinchester ? If
so, when did he so express himself ?

Answer. I have heard him express some dissatisfaction two or three months
previous to the evacuation.

The court then adjourned to meet at 11 a. m. Tuesday, August
25, 1863.

SIXTEENTH DAY,

AvgusTt 25, 1863.

The court met pursuant to adjournment.

Present, all the members and the judge-advocate. ‘

The testimony given yesterday by Colonel Schall and Lieutenant
Poore was read over to those officers and corrected.

The judge-advocate then informed the court that no witnesses were
in waiting, but that Lieut. Col. Donn Piatt and Maj. J. O. Cravens
bad been notified to attend. Major Cravens and Captain Powell were
then sent for. ’

At 12.30 o’clock no witnesses having arrived, the court adjourned
to meet at 11 a. m. August 26, 1863,

SEVENTEENTH DAY.
AUGUST 26, 1863.
The court met pursuant to adjournment.
Present, all the members and the judge-advocate.
The proceedings of the previous meeting were read and approved.
Lieut. Col. Donn Piatt, assistant inspector-general, Eighf Army
Corps, a witness called by the court, was called upon for an explana-



N

124 N. C.,, VA.,, W. VA., MD,, PA., ETC. {Crap. XXXIX.

tion of his absence on yesterday. He stated to the court that his
duties required his being in Baltimore, and that he had started from
there in order to attend, as required, but that the train had been un-
usually delayed.

Lieut. Col. DoNx Piatt, U. S. Volunteers, being duly sworn,
answers :

By the JUDGE-ADVOCATE :

(ifuestion. What was your position on Major-General Schenck’s
staff at the time Winchester was evacuated by General Milroy’s com -
mand ?

Answer. I was his chief of staff.

Question. What orders or instructions were received by General
Schenck from the General-in-Chief, in reference to holding or evac.
uating Winchester ?

Answer. I was in Delaware with the general, I think, on the 7th or 8th of June,
when, in anticipation of & raid by General Stuart, he ordered me to go to Win-
chester, and make an inspection of that place, and to report to him as to the actual
condition of General Milroy and his forces there, and also to report to him what had
better be done under the circumstances. At Baltimore I telegraphed to General
Schenck, asking what places the General-in-Chief had designated as the better ones
for the concentration of troops in case the raid came on. General Schenck answered
me that the General-in-Chief had not designated any points, and I then telegraphed
to Major-General Halleck, in General Schenck’s name, the following telegram, viz:

‘¢ BALTIMORE, MD., June 9, 1863.
¢ Major-General HALLECK,
* Qeneral-in-Chief:

““ Does your knowledge of rebel movements enable you to su the better points
on the railroad to concentrate? 1 have at Point of Rocks and Frederick 3,400 men;
at Harper’s Ferry, 6,300; at Winchester, 6,800; at Martinsburg, 3,000; at Romney,
2,300; at New Creek, 2,400. Troops at Winchester can fall back now to Harper's
Ferry; in face of enemy, to Martinsburg. Force at Romney can fall back to Green

Spring. .
pring “ROBT. C. SCHENCK,
““ Mgjor-General, Commanding.”

I would say, in explanation of this telegram, that the troops enumerated there are
not correctly stated. I had been but a short time in the deg:e:;ment, and gathered
that representation from the returns at headquarters. Su uently I found that
this force was greatly exaggerated at each one of those points. I received no an-
swer to this telegram before I left Baltimore. I proceeded, on the night of the 9th
June, if I recollect right, by way of Harper's Ferry and Martinsburg, to Winchester,
where I arrived, I think, on the 10th June. After lookin%)at the works, and making
o hurried inspection of the troops, I returned to Martinsburg. At Martinsburg, or
just before entering that place, 1 was overtaken by an express from General Milroy,
sending me the following telegram, viz :

‘ BALTIMORE, June 11, 1868—12.40 p. m,
‘ Lieut. Col. DONN PIATT,
** Martinsburg :

“ The following just received from Washington : ¢ Harper’s Ferry is the impor-
tant place ; Winchester is of no importance other than as a lookout. The Winches-
ter troops, except enough to serve as an outpost, should be withdrawn to Harper's
Ferry. The troops at Martinsburg should also be ready to fall back to Harper's
Ferry. No large amount of supplies should be left in an e:§goeed position.

o ﬁ . HALLECK,
¢ ¢ General-in-Chief.

*“ Colonel Piatt will take steps for preparing to carry out carefully and judiciousiy
these instructions of the General-in-Chief. e troops at Romney will also have to
be considered in any arrangement for such falling back and concentration. Be
ready, but wait for further orders.

*“ ROBT. C. SCHENCK,

* Major-General, Commanding.”
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I had not at Mm-tinsburﬁlllle cipher, and telegraphed, or rather wrote the follow-
ing telegram, to General Milroy at Winchester, viz :

‘“ MARTINSBURG, June 11, 1863,
* Major-General MILROY,
“ Winchester, Va. :

*“The tel received. It must be considered an order, and obeyed accordingly
Take 1:1.‘111%::“.&:;u steps. You understand this. T write at len%l(x) by orderly.
: * DONN PIATT,
‘¢ Lieutenant-Colonel, and Chief of Staf.”

I immediately sent Mr. Woodhull to Harper’s Ferr{(. where he could procure a
cipher, with the following telegram to Major-General Milroy, viz :

4 MARTINSBURG, June 11, 1863.
“ Major-General MILROY :

“In accordance with orders from Halleck, received from headquarters at Balti-
more to-day, you will immediately take steps to remove your command from Win-
chester to r's Ferry. You will without delay call in Colonel McReynolds and
such other outposts not necessary for observation at the front. Send back your
beavy guns, surplus ammunition, and subsistence, retaining only such force and

arms as will constitute what General Halleck desi tes as a lookout, which can
readily and without inconvenience fall back to Harper's Ferry before a superior
force.

“DONN PIATT,

“ Lieutenant-Colonel, and Chief of Staff.”

After giving the necessary orders, as I considered shem, at Martinsburg, to cor-
respond with this one given to General Milroy, I proceeded to New Creek, for the
purpose of looking after the troops at Romney. At New Creek, I received the
following telegram from General Schenck, viz :

‘* BALTIMORE, June 12, 1863.
* Lieut. Col. DONN PIaATT,
“ Chief of Staff, New Creek, Va. :

** Copy of your dispatch to General Milroy just received from Captain Woodhull,
You have somewhat exceeded my instructions. 1 directed steps to be taken for
&:epm'ing to carry out instructions of the General-in-Chief, and added : * Be ready,

t wait for further orders.’ I will communicate directly with Milroy.

‘¢ ROBT. C. SCHENCK,
‘“ Major-General, Commanding.”

I received it on 12th June. The following is the telegram referred to as having
been sent direct to General Milroy. I never saw it until my return to Baltimore,
viz:

“ BALTIMORE, June 12, 1863.
“Maj. Gen. R. H. MaLrOY,
* Winchester, Va.:

* Lieutenant-Colonel Piatt, as I learn by copy of dispatch sent me, which he for-
warded to you from Harper’s Ferry, misunderstood me, and somewhat exceeded his
instructions. You will make all the required preparations for withdrawing, but
hold your ition in the meantime. Be ready for move:.nent, but await further
orders. 1 doubt the propriety of calling in McReynolds’ brigade at once. If you
should fall back to Harper's Ferry, he will be in part on the way, and covering your
flank. But use vour discretion as to any order to him. Below I give you a copy
of the telegram of the General-in-Chief. Nothing heard since. Give me constant

informatioa.
* ROBT. C. SCHENCK,
Major-General, Commanding.”

[Copy of General Halleck's telegram.]
* Harper's Ferry is the important place. Winchester is of no importance other

than as a lookout. The Winchester troops, excepting enough to serve as an outpost,
should be withdrawn to Harper’s Ferry. No large amount of supplies should be

left in any e ition.
y exposed post “H. W. HALLECK,
“ General-in-Chief.”
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After my return to headquarters at Baltimore, General Schenck attempted to tele-
gaph to General Milroy to fall back, but failed, the wires having been cut between

artinsburg and Winchester. I think this wason the 18th, about noon. These are
all the orders that I remember of now. I think that there were two advisory tele-
g;ams, very much like the one here given from the General-in-Chief to General

henck, that were received previous to my coming to the department. They are
in substance the same as this.

uestion. Were any other orders than those you have quoted given

to (General Milroy by General Schenck in reference to his position at
‘Winchester ?

Answer. None others that I recollect. I may say, indeed, none others.

Question. Have you the means of knowing how the retreat from
Winchester was conducted ; whether or not the public property was
sultably cared for, and how many of, and in what condition, General
Milroy’s command arrived at Harper’s Ferry ?

. Answer. None other than what is shown in the reports and telegrams. I was
mboB:l_t:more at that time, and know nothing of my own personal knowledge
about it.

By the Courrt:

Question. Did General Schenck know that General Milroy’s com-
mand was in any special danger on or before Saturday, the 13th of
June, 1863 ? 1If so, at what time did he know it, and what action did
he take upon the subject ?

Answer. General Schenck was influenced, as I learned afterward, in his action
in reference to my orders, by advices that he received from Brigadier-Geperal Kelley,
from Colonel McReynolds, and other officers statiomed. in or near the Valley, who
represented to him that there were no rebels in the Vallwy ather than the forces
under Jones and Imboden, and these were represented as movimg back “ug the
Valley,” leaving no force whatever threatening Winchester. He had a very high
opinion of General Kelley's knowledge of the country and sources of informsadion,
and General Kelley had represented to him, as he had to me on my return from
New Creek, that we were, to use his own words, ‘‘ afflicted with a big scare.”

On the 12th of June, 1863, General Schenck telegraphed as follows to the General-
in-Chief, viz :

** BALTIMORE, Mbp., June 12, 1863.
‘ Major-General HALLECK,
 General-in-Chief : »

‘‘ Have you any knowledge or belief that there is any rebel infantry in the Valley
or north of the Rappahannock, on this side of the Blue Ridge? There seems to me
to be yet only parties of cavalry. Kelley's scouts could find no enemy in Loudoun
to-day, having gone as far up as Hillsborough.

“ ROBT. C. SCHENCK,

** Major-GYeneral, Commanding.”

To this he received, June 18, 1883, the following telegram, viz:
‘““ WAR DEPARTMENT, June 18, 1863—11 a. m.
¢ Ma jor-General SCHENCK :
¢ Our cavalry scouts will probably be in to-day with more reliable information

from the Valley.
“H. W. HALLECK,
‘ QGeneral-in-Chief.”
On June 14, the following telegram was receiverl from Major-General Halleck :

“* WAR DEPARTMENT, June 14, 1863—10.30 a. m.
‘“ Major-General SCHENCK :
‘1t is reported that Longstreet’s and Ewell's corps have passed throngh Culpeper
to Sperrynpl(l)e, toward th:%? alley.
“H. W. HALLECK,

 (feneral-in-Chief.”
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On the 18th, General Schenck received the following dispatch from General

‘‘ HARPER'S FERRY, June 18, 1863.
 Lieutenant-Colonel CHESEBROUGH :

“A messenger just from Charlestown reports that the enemy attacked Colonel
McReynolds at Berryville this morning, and was reKulsed, but that McReynolds sub-
sequently fell back, by way of Smithfield, on Winchester, and that, shortly after he
left, the rebel cavalry dashed in and burned the stores. If this is reliable, it would
seem as if it was not a movement in force, as they in that case would need all the
stores they could get. Have you any information from Heintzelman or Stahel of
the approach of the rebels?

“B. F. KELLEY,

‘‘ Brigadier-General.”

As General Kelley was a Virginian by birth, and lived nearly all his life in that
country, and was v%eansively acquainted with the inhabitants, and was * well
up” in the roads, fords, and passes, his opinion had great weight, as it was backed
up by the represented constant efforts re by scouts and spies as to the move-
ments of the enemy in reference to the Stuart raid. The first intimation that Gen-
e“rgl Sﬁhenck had of the approach of the rebels in foroce came from Lee's army at

inchester.

Question. When at Winchester, on the 10th of June, did you exam-
ine the works and preparations for defense made by Major-General
Milroy? If so, what was your opinion of them and of their capacity
against a superior force ?

Answer. I thought the works were too extended for General Milroy's force
against a superior force made up of cavalry and light artillery. I thought, of course,
that he hold his own, and I so expressed myself. But against a force such as
Stonewall Jackson used to take.down that Valley, I thought the works would be of
small use, and would not justify his remaining.

Question. What did you find to be the condition and disposition of
General Milroy’s forces with reference to any anticipated attack ?

Answer. They were in good condition and spirits as far as I could see in my short
visit there. The officers under General Milroy expressed themselves confident of
sucoess in case they were attacked—that is, by a cavalry force in this raid, that was
anticipated. At a meeting of the officers at bead(&l)arters (I don't remember the
names of any one excepting General Elliott and Colonel Ely), they all expressed
themselves hopeful and satisfied that they could hold their own there.

Question. Can you make any explanation of the difference between
yourself and Major-General Schenck in construing General Halleck’s
telegram of the 11th of June ?

Answer. There was no difference between General Schenck and myself, in refer-
ence to our construction of that telegram. I saw fit to use it asan order for an im-
mediate evacuation, for the following :easons: I had been upon the ground, and
satisfled myself that, if the raid did come off, (feneral Milroy ought not to be at
Winchester. The forces at Martinsburg I found demoralized through the bad cor:-
duct of its colonel, Smith, One hundred and twenty-sixth Ohio, so that the stores
there and the force itself could have easily been captured. I observed that General
Halleck’s telegram was subsequent to the fight at Beverly Ford, which had been
represented throuih the press as a victory on our part and a defeat of the Stuart
raid, and I th t the tone of it indicated that it was not a victory, and that the
raid might still anticipated at any moment. It will be observed in my first
telegram to General Milroy, that I say : ¢ This, from General Halleck, must be con-
sidererd an order, and executed accordingly.” General Schenck, on the other hand,
baving found General Milroy at Winchester when he took command of the depart-
ment, and having been in continual consultation with the General-in-Chief asto his
manner of treating thot 1\'Post, took this telegram, as he had the others, as instructing
him to remove General Milroy back to Harper's Ferry when satisfled that he was in
danger. 1 will say here that General Schenck had proposed to the General-in-Chief
to protect the timore and Ohio Railroad by a line of ts running from the

ac, through Leesburg, Snicker's Gap, Winchester, anmmney, to New Creek,
and to take the troops in a great measure away from the line of the railway. That
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ve rise to these telegrams, and, in General Schenck's estimation, and in my own,
there was nothing in the last telegram that indicated an order for an immediate
evacuation more t the others.

Question. What, in your judgment, was the effect of the defense
made at Winchester 1n ‘checking and delaying the enemy, and
making known his strength before his advance into Maryland and
Pennsylvania?

Answer. The court is & better judgeof that thanI am. If the War De; nent
and the General-in-Chief had no other information of the movements of than
is indicated in the two telegrams received in Baltimore, the check that the rebels
received at Winchester must have been of importance to us.

Question. How long did it take you to send a dispatch from Balti-
more to General Milroy and to get his answer ?

Answer. Winchester was connected with our office by telegraph through Har-
per’s Ferry and Martinsburg. When the lines were in working ordlt)er. our communi-
cations were, as is usual, with the telegraph. We had excellent operators always at
their posts. I do not recollect an instance where there was any delay in getting an
order through.

Question. Did or did not General Schenck’s order to General Mil-
roy (to remain at Winchester until further orders), deprive him en-
tirely of all discretionary authority to retire, without reference to
the force that might attack him ?

Answer. It certainly did. He had no discretion, but to remain there until fur-
ther orders.

Question. Do you know whether Major-Geuneral Schenck com-
municated to Major-General Milroy the numerous orders he had re-
ceived from the General-in-Chief in relation to the absolute necessity
of abandoning Winchester and falling back on Harper’s Ferry?

Answer. He certainly did transmit them, but not in the shape of orders. Hesent

them altogether by telegraph, I think. I can answer more fully to-morrow, after
reference to the records at our headquarters in Baltimore.

Question. What is the date of General Milroy’s last telegram to
General Schenck from Winchester?
Answer. I believe the following is the last, viz:

* HARPER'S FERRY, June 13, 1863—11 a. m.
¢ Major-General SCHENCK :
** Have received the following dispatch from General Milroy. Am very sorry you

interfered with me,
' “ DONN PIATT,
¢ Chief of Stuff.”
v «Colonel PiaTT,
o+ Chief of Stuff:

** A small detachment of First New York encountered a body of rebel cavalry at
White Post, supposed to be the advance of force met by Twelfth Pennsylvania on
Front Roval road. Two of First New York wounded and 1 missing. One rebel
killed and sume wounded. A large rebel wagon train, with strong cavalry force, was
discovered on Cedar Creek or Back road this morning . Have sent out heavy scout-
ing parties on Cedar Creek. Front Royal, and Strasburg roads. well supported.
Have not yet heard from Berryville. Am perfectly certain of my ability to hold
this place.

. ! **R. H. MILROY,
v+ Major-General.™
¢+ Colonel PIATT,
s Chief of Staff :

** Enemy have appeared in considerable force on Cedar Creek, Strasburg, and

Front Roval roads, and skirmishing going on. Nothing but cavalry appears yet.

et them come.
R, H. MILROY,
s ¢ Major-Generul,' ™
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I will examine further, and see if this is the last. The last communication from
@General Milroy was on the 18th June, 1868.

By the CourrT:

Question. Did General Schenck, after his telegram to General Mil-
roy, directing him to remain at Winchester until further orders, ever
send those orders? If so, when and how were they sent; and what
were they ?

wer. On the 18th of June, or some time subsequent to the 13th, the interrup-
tion of communication was discovered on his trying to send General Milroy an
order to fall back immediately. General Schenck became satisfied that General
Milroy was seriously threatened by a superior force, and he also received from me,
by letter, I think, my reasons for urging the evacuation of Winchester.

By the JUDGE-ADVOCATE:

Question. Have you submitted to the court all telegrams or copies

of telegrams from and to Generals Halleck, Schenck, Milroy, and

« Kelley, that are in your possession, and that have any reference to
the holding or evacuation of Winchester?

Answer. I now submit all that I have. But one has been lost, I think, and that
is the one alluded to in General Milroy’s report as lost. I do not recognize that as
my telegram, as quoted by him. If my memory serves me right, I gave my reasons
more at length than is there stated, and I could not have said, ‘‘and I considered it
a positivB order to fall back to Harper’s Ferry, and I so ordered Milroy.” (See Ap

lix D.)

Maj. J. O. CraVENS, assistant adjutant-general, a witness called
by the court, being duly sworn, answers :

By the JUDGE-ADVOCATE :

Question. Were gou Major-General Milroty’s adjutant-general
during tgle recent fight at, and evacuation of, Winchester by his
command ?

Answer. I was.

Question. What orders or instructions, written or verbal, had
General Milroy in reference to his position at Winchester ?

Answer. As I remember, the only orders he had were from General Schenck.
The date of those orders I cannot give. Some time in the early part of June,
about the 12th, he received an order from General Schenck to hold himself in readi-
ness to evacuate Winchester, but to await further orders. That was received on the
same day that it was dated. A copy of an order from General Halleck to General
Schenck was sent at the same time, but I did not consider it an order to General
Milroy. I considered it as instructions to General Schenck, which he forwarded
for General Milroy’s information. There was another received from Colonel Piatt
that I saw on Friday morning; it is the one quoted in General Milroy’s report.
There were no other orders than these that I now remember of.

Question. Had you reason to believe, or did you know, whether or
not he was expected to hold Winchester as long as he could, or

whether he was expected to fall back to Harper’s Ferry on the
approach of the enemy in force ?

Answer. I believe that he was expected to hold Winchester until further orders.

Question. What orders were issued in reference to the order of
retreat; and how were they distributed to the command ?

Answer. I think it was some time between 12 and 1 o’clock at night, of June 14,
that the council of war concluded to evacuate Winchester, and fall back to Harger’s
Ferry. General Milroy then directed me to issue orders to have the command fill
their haversacks with subsistence, replenish their ammunition, and be in readiness
t0 evacuate at 2 a. m. on the 15th. As a part of that order, he instructed me to

9 B R—VOL XXVII, PT II
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have the artillery horses taken from their carriages, the team horses from their
wagons, and to have them mounted by the artillerymen, teamsters, and such infan-
try as could not march, and ordered them to go out with the cavalry. At the
same time, he ordered that the guns should be spiked after all the troops had

out except thé company in charge of them, and be left in the fort. These
were verbal orders, and I delivered all of them myself, I think, to the commanding
officers—to General Elliott and Colonel Ely. 1did not deliver them to Colonel McRey-
nolds, but I think Major McGee, aide-de-camp, delivered them to him. Members of
General Milroy's stail were busy from that hour assisting me in getting the troope
ready for the retreat. My recollection of the order of retreat was that the Twelfth
Pennsylvania Cavalry should go in advance on the Martinsburg road until they
reached the road leading to Summit Station ; that there they should take the Summt
Station road to Harper's Ferry, via Charlestown. The next in order was: First
Brigade, under General Elliott; Second Brigade, under Colonel Ely, Eighteentl:
Connecticut in the rear; the Third Brigade, under Colonel McReynolds, of First
New York Cavalry. I think the Thirteenth Pennsylvania Cavalry and First New
York formed the rear gnard. At 2 o'clock the troops commenced marching out in
the order designated.

Question. Was or was not the retreat properly conducted ?

Answer. Really, I am unable to make any criticism ; it was not a success in al
particulars, because we lost in strength one entire brigade, Colonel McReynolds’
which was lost to us on the retreat—that day, I mean. While on the retreat, some
8 miles from Winchester, General Milroy stopped on the roadside with his staff, say:
ing that he would remain there until the troops passed him, as that was now the¢
place of danger. He had been there but a few moments, when we heard a few shot:
mn advance. He then rode rapidly to the front with his staff. Passing Colonel Mc
Reynolds, the general remarked to him in person, ‘‘ Move up rapidly with yow
command, colonel.” We then on to the front, and when we arrived ther
he discovered what we sup to be the enemy’s pickets, on the right of the Mar
tinsburg road. It was not yet daylight. I noticed a column of cavalry moving
down to the right of the road, parallel with the enemy’s picket line., At the sam:
time I observed two regiments of infantry movin§ off to the left of the Martinsbury
road. They were part of our troops. General Milroy ordered that those two regi
ments of infantry be brought back to the Martinsburg road, at the same time order
ing two companies of the Eighty-seventh Pennsylvania Infantry to be deployed a
skirmishers, and for the balance of the regiment to act as their support. I observe(
some confusion among our troops in the rear; they were running, and firing som:
random shots among themselves. It was not yet daylight, and the regiments wer
s0 broken up at that place, that I could not distinguish them. They had been throw:
into confusion by the artillery and team horses, which were unmannqea.ble, owin|
to their riders being generally without saddies and bridles. I have learned sinc
that they were the One hundred and sixteenth Ohio and Twelfth Virginia Infantry
the One hundred and sixteenth Ohio belonged to the First Brigade and the Twelft]
Virginia to the Second. We succeeded in restoring order among their men, and
then returned to the general, and found a portion of our forces engaged with th
enemy. Just at that time, I think, the Eighteenth Connecticut, One hundred an:
twenty-third Ohio, and Eighty-seventh Pennsylvania were formed in line of battl
on the left of the Martinsburg road. These regiments were ordered by the genera
to charge the enemy, in support of our troops who were en, . ey did so
were repulsed twice, I believe; but one of the regiments, the One hundred an
twenty-third Ohio, gained a position ; the others recoiled. They rallied again imme
diately, and were sent back the third time ; at that time we succceded in driving th
enemy's right flank. At that time, I discovered a portion of our own troops on ou
right flank falling back from the timber where they were engaged. The troops o
our left, having gained a passage, were passing out the Martinsburg road. di
not see the ral at that time. Just before that I saw him dismounted. It wa
very soon after the third charge had been made. I rode back, of my own accord
tolxle troops on our right, whom I found in command of Colonel Ely and Colone
‘Wilson. f)ordered them to march by the left flank, following a ravine runnin
parallel with the Martinsburg road until they came to its head, and then to follov
the retreating column. I left them then, and rode rapidly to the troops who wer
already moving off in retreat, where I found the general, and told him what I ha
done. ~ He remarked that he had sent a like order to them. Those two regiment
the Eighteenth Connecticut and the One hundred and twenty-third Ohio, were cut of]
and a Jarge portion captured. I think that must have been the result of a very tard
movement, as they were not far from the rest of the column. From there to Ha
per’s Ferry we met no enemy, and had no further casualties. The Third Brigade di
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not come into action on the morning of the 15th. It did not come up at all. One
regiment of it, the Sixth Maryland, I believe, got through almost entire to Hm?er’s
F . The Sixty-seventh Pennsylvania was lost, I think. The First New York
and Twelfth Pennsylvania Cavalry got through with emall loss ; they went through
by the way of Bath. The Thirteenth Pennsylvania Cavalry went through to the
right to Harper's Ferry. I remember Gene Milroy ordered Ca;l)tam Palmer, aide-
de-camp, while we were engaged with the enemy, to hurry up Colonel McReynolds.

The court then adjourned to meet at 11 a. m. August 27, 1863.

EIGHTEENTH DAY.

AUGUST 27, 1863.

Court met pursuant to adjournment.

Present, all the members and the judge-advocate. .

The testimony given yesterday by Lieutenant-Colonel Piatt was
read over to him and corrected. i

The judge-advocate then informed the court that he had examined
the telegrams handed him by Colonel Piatt, and had selected all that
applied to the case in hearing that were not already before the court.
(gee Appendix D.)

The examination of Lieutenant-Colonel Piatt was continued.

By the JUDGE-ADVOCATE :
estion. Was General Milroy under the command of Major-Gen-
eral Schenck at or about the time of the evacuation of Winchester ?

Answer. General Milroy’s forces formed part of the Eighth Army Corps, under
command of Major-General Schenck.

In conclusion, Lieutenant-Colonel Piatt stated as follows :

After an examination of the records at Baltimore, I find that I was in error yes-
terday in saying that General Schenck sent those orders to General Milroy by tele-
graph. There i8 no record of their being sent at all, excepting those quoted in my
testimony, and that was not sent to General Milroy; it was sent to me at Winchester
after I left, and was communicated by the operator to General Milroy, who sent it
after me by express.

The ev*idencgegiven bZIMajor Cravens on yesterday was read over
to him, corrected, and his examination continued. °

By the JUDGE-ADVOCATE :

Question. During the retreat, were the brigades and regiments kept
nmt%d ar;d in good order, under control of their respective com.
manders

Answer. All of that portion tha:dpm the enemy and formed part of our col-
umn were kept in tolerably good order until we had passed beyongaChar]estown.
and would, I think, have been serviceable at any moment. After we passed Charles.
town, they became weary, and straggled, but not enough to seriously endanger the
command. I have reference to those who went through with the general himself,
1 know nothing about the balance.

estion. In what condition did General Milroy’s command arrive
at Harper’s Ferry ?

Answer. I did not see the troops enter Harper’s Ferry. Near Loudoun Heights,
General Milroy ordered General Elliott to remain there and organize the troops, and
bring them into Harper's Ferry in good order. :

Question. Duringthe fighting at or near Winchester, and during the
retreat, did you observe any want of coolness, judgment, or bravery
in any officer of General Milroy’s command ?

Answer. I thipk got,
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Question. In your opinion, could or could not General Milroy’s
command have retreated in good order with its artillery and trains
on the 11th, 12th, 13th, or 14th of June, 18637

Answer. I think he could have gone out on the 11th or 12th; not at any time
after that. -

Question. Is any officer to blame, in your ogpinion, for the loss of
Battery L, Fifth U. S. Artillery ; if so, who !

Answer., From what I could observe of the position they were occupying at the
time, the manner in which the giuns were served, and the manner in which they
were supported by the infantry, I think the loss was unavoidable. I would not
hold any officer responsible for that battery.

By the Courrt :

Question. What was the number of killed, wounded, and missing
in Gteneral Milroy’s command at Winchester from the time of the
first attack by the enemy up to the time the place was evacuated ?

Answer. I have never seen an official report. My recollection is that there were
50 killed, wounded, and missing.

(iuestion. What was the number of killed, wounded, prisoners,
and ‘“unaccounted for” during the retreat ?

Answer. Something near 4,000 at the time we got to Harper's Ferry. We col-
lected in Pennsylvania 2,700. That was the strength of the command on my last
official report to General Couch ; that was my report of June 25, I believe. This
was part of that force that was ¢ lost to us” on the retreat, and did not include that
portion who came through under General Milroy's immediate command.

C%uestion. ‘What measures were taken during the retreat to secure,
as far as practicable, the safety of the column, and to guard against
a surprise or sudden attack upon the main body of the command
while en route for Harper’s Ferry ? Did the order of the command-
ing general require vedettes and flankers to be thrown out during
the retreat ?

Answer. There were no * flankers;" nothingkbut an advance and rear guard, to
my knowledge. There were no orders that I know of as to the formation to be
made in case of attack.

Question. Was Major-General Milroy under the command of
Major-General Schenck, and entirely subject to his orders at the
time Winchester was attacked, and for the three weeks previous to
the attack ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Qluestion. Were the roads over which the troops retreated practi-
cable for field guns ? : :

Answer. Up to the point of attack on the morning of the 15th, and 2 miles be-
yond, the roads were practicable for artillery and trains. From that point on we
could not have moved our artillery, because we left all roads, and went through the
fields and timber, to avoid an anticipated flank movement by the enemy.

Question. If you had had field batteries with you on the retreat,
would they have been of service in keeping the enemy at bay, or
otherwise facilitating the retreat ?

Answer. If we could have had the batteries at the point of attack, they would
have been of great service to us; but I do not think we could have taken them there
on account of the close proximity of the enemy to the forts when we evacuated.
The moving of the artillery would have brought the enemy down upon us at once.
I do mnot think their pickets were more than 200 yards from our rifle-pits. The

und about the forts and the roads was stony, garticularly from the star fort to
the Martinsburg road. I think the artillery would have made a great deal of noise
if we had attempted to move it.
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Question. Was any order given as to destroying the stores, wagons,
&c., left at Winchester?

Answer. No order, to my knowledge. There was nothi.nizf any co uence to
destroy; we had been on half rations for two days. I mean that we had ‘rations
of bread, of meat; we had full rations of everything else.

estion. Did any of the field-battery commanders appeal to you
to be permitted to take away their guns?
Answer. No, sir; I have no recollection whatever of any artillery officer asking

on to take away his guns, o1 stating that he was able to do it. Cé?)tam
&lin regretted leaving his battery very much, but he did not express a belief that
he could take it out, or ask permission to doso. It is my belief that I did not see
Captain Alexander at any time after the evacuation was determined on.

Question. On Sunday, before the retreat, did you observe any
force of the enemy on the Berryville road 7 Was there any fighting
in that direction, and at what time ? _

Answer. Idid notice the enemy on the Berryville road on Sunday, and we com-
menced skirmishing with them at about 10 a. m.; that skirmishing continued until
dark. It became so warm during the day that we sent two regiments and one how-
itzer there. 1 only saw tbeir line of skirmishers, Toward night the warmest por-
tion of our skirmishing on that side of the town was on the Berryville road.

Question. Was Battery L supyl)lorted by the force usual and proper
for a battery not threatened with immediate attack ? What notice
was there of the enemy’s advance in that direction at the time the
battery was taken ?

Answer. I think the battery was properly supported with infantry, considering
its proximity to the main force. Thepﬁrgte;otice we had of the enemy being there
was the opening of his batteries on that position. A cavalry reconnaissance had
returned two hours previous, under Lieutenant-Colonel Moss, who reported no enemy
between the Pughtown and Romney roads.

Question. To what officer did you give the command to stop the
troops going off on the left, as you have stated ?
Answer. I gave it to Captain Baird’, aide-de-camp.

Question. Would not the retreat have been entirely successful, in
your judgment, if the Third Brigade had obeyed orders and come
up promptly ?

Answer. It would.

Question. If there had been wagons and artillery with the troops,
would you not in all probability have taken the road instead of pass-
ing over fields and through woods, and could not the column have
marched in much better order and with greater security to_all, and,
if there had been artillery, could not the troops have passed then by
the road ?

Answer. It is my belief that if we had had wagons and artillery, we would have
been with the enemy before getting out of the town, and that the artillery
and wagons would have been abandoned there. If we had been permitted by the
enemy to have marched on the road, we could have moved with greater facilities
and in better order on the road than by the route we took. Had artillery been at
our service at the time of the engagement, I believe we could have fo our way

the road. The only rebel battery that I saw on the retreat was one posted on

Summit Point , I think. There may have been more than one battery posted
there, but that is all the artillery I saw.

Question. If by possibility you could have taken artillery from
‘Winchester, had you ammunition enough to have made the artillery
essentially serviceable along your whole route from Winchester to
Harper’s Ferry ?

Answer. Our supply was very slim, but what we had was of a kind that would
bave been very ceable.
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Question. When General Milroy’s force was first attacked at Win-
chester, what was your own opinion, and, as far as you know, the
1g}(:nera.l opinion of officers at headquarters, of your power to repel

o assailants, and at what time and by what cause was that opinion
changed ?

Answer. When we first learned that the enemy was in front, it was my impres-
gion, and, I think, it was the impression of all the officers at headquarters, that it
was noﬂli.!:ﬁ but the ¢ Valley defenses,” under Jones, Jenkins, and Imboden, and
that we could repel them with ease. We learned from a prisoner and a deserter on
the evening of June 18, that Lee’s army had crossed into the Valley by way of Front
Royal, and that Longstreet’s and Ewell's corps were then surrounding us, and that
it was with their forces we had been fighting that day. :

Question. What, in your judgment, was the number of the attackin,
force at Winchester, and the number of the force you encounter
north of Winchester ?

Answer. From information derived from deserters and prisoners, the enemy o
g:iu% us at Winchester was 40,000 or 50,000 strong ; on the morning of the 15th,

m 7,000 to 10,000 strong. They also represented that the enemy had on the morn-
ing of the 15th from eight to twelve pieces of artillery.

uestion. Where, in your judgment, was the force gou met north
of Winchester on the day before you met them, and by what route
had they probably got to the point at which you met them?

Answer. It is my belief that that was the force we had skirmished with on the
Berryville road the day before. I think they must have marched there over the
country.

uestion. State whether or not, in your opinion, the skirmishing
on Saturday and Sunday enabled you the better to retreat on Mon-
day. Did it tend to open the route by which you retreated and to
keep it oper ?

Answer, I think it did enable us to retreat with more facility on Monday, and
that it kept open the avenue of retreat. If we had not kept them enguget{ they
could have closed around us. That was their intention.

Question. Whose duty is it to obtain information of the strength,
disposition, advance, or retreat of an opposing force?

Answer, The commanding officer of the forces against which they are operating

%uestion. Did or not the commanding general give stringent orders
to his cavalry scouts to observe closely the movements of the enemy?
If so, were these instructions fully carried out by them? If not, what
officer commanding these scouts failed in his duty ?

Answer. The general was in the habit of sending out cavalry scouts almost every
day from Berryville over into Loudoun, and to all the fords and ferries of the S8hen-
andoah River and that vicinity; cavalry scouts also from Winchester and Stras-
burg and Front Royal, and sometimes within 2 or 8 miles of Woodstock. Our
cavalry was kept actively engaged scouting and making reconnaissances; they did
as much of that kind of service as their horses could stand. The general’s orders and
instructions were very stringent. The First New York Cavalry was very efficient,
and, I believe, on every occasion executed their orders. The Twelfth and %hirteenth
Pennsylvania Cavalry were not so efficient, nor do I believe that they carried out
their orders in a great many instances as they should and might have done. I
think Lieutenant-Colonel Moss, of the Twelfth Pennsylvania, failed in his duty in
one or two instances; one, I remember particularly, was once when he was ordered
to make a reconnaissance at Cedarville (on the 12th June, I think). Inthat instance,
the colonel reported that some 10 miles from Winchester the enemy was in some
considerable force with infantry and artillery; that they had a full ba of artil-
lery, and that twelve shots were fired at him from their artillery. A number of his
subordinate officers and the scouts who were with him represented that there was
not any artillery at all, and but about 1,600 infantry.
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Question. After it became known that there were movements of
the enemy in your vicinity rather more active than usual, were any
orders issued for more frequent or bolder reconnaissances? If so,
what were they, and by whom issued ?

Answer. After we learned that the enemy was becoming bolder, and really threat-
ening us, the cavalry was keﬁtr out on the principal roads all the time, and some
infantry and artillery were thrown out to operate with them and act as their re-
serve. I believe that every precaution was taken for the safety of the command to
prevent surprise and obtain information.

Question. What was the strength of the reconnoitering party sent
out from Winchester in the direction of Pughtown and Romney on
Sunday morning, 14th instant; who gave the order for it, and what
was it ordered to do?

Answer. At 9 a. m. General Milroy ordered me to have the Twelfth Pennsylvania
Cavalry sent out on that reconnaissance; that command was, I think, 400 strong. I
immediately delivered that order to Brigadier-General Elliott. I cannot say of my
own knowledge that the reconnaissance was made at all. The order, as delivered to
General Elliott, was for them to scour the country between Pughtown and Romney
roads, and learn what they could of the enemy.

(%\]:el?tion. If you had encountered the force you met on Monday
within 1 or 2 miles of Winchester, could you have escaped ?
Answer. I think not; because we were so near the enemy’s main force that they
could have fallen upon us before we could have been disengaged from the others.
Question. Could you have escaped at all from Winchester without
observing the utmost silence and the greatest caution? Could you
have done so by any other route ?

Answer. To the first part of the question, I answer that I do not think we could.
At the time of evacuating our position, I believe the Martinsburg road to be the only
safe avenue of retreat. It was my opinion that all thé other roads were held by the
enemy.

estion. What is the latest time at which you think the command
of Major-General Milroy could have retreated with its artillery and
train ?

Answer. I think that Friday night, the 12th of June, would have been the very
latest. Colonel McRr:{nolds came in on Saturday night from Berryville, but I do
not think that General Milroy’s command could have retreated at that time without
drawing on them the enemy, who were lying in the direction of Strasburg and Front

. The telegrams submitted by Lieutenant-Colonel Piatt, and offered
in evidence by the judge-advocate, were then read to the court and
attached to the record. (See Appendix D.)

The court then adjourned to meet at 11 a. m. August 28, 1863,

NINETEENTH DAY.
AUGUST 28, 1863.
Court met 1purﬁ;ua.nt to adjournment.
Present, all the members and the juiilge-advocate.
The testimony given yesterday by Major Cravens was read over
to him and corrected.

Capt. Z. BAIRD, aide-de-camp, a witness called by the court, being
duly sworn, answers:

By the JUDGE-ADVOCATE :
Question. Were you on the staff of Maj. Gen. R.-H. Milroy during
the retreat from Winchester, in June last ?

Answer. I was. I was on his staff during the occupancy of that place, and his
officer of outposts. ’
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Question. What orders were delivered by you during the retreat
from Winchester ?

Answer. The evacuation of Winchester was ordered about 10 o'clock Sunday
night. General Milroy communicated the order to me. He informed me that the
artillery was to be abandoned, and also the wagons; that the brigade, regimental,
and division quartermasters were to be instructed to carry off the public horses,
if possible, and the ammunition that could not be carried by the men was to be
thrown into the cisterns of the forts, or otherwise destroyed, as far as practicable,
and that the brigades, in the order of their numbers, should march as soon as prac-
ticable out of the forts. He directed me to busy myself in carrying out those dis-

sitions, and also other staff officers who were present. Captain De Motte, the

ivision quartermaster, was present at the time. I devoted my time to Colonel
Ely’s brigade, for the reason that his brigade was newly formed, and he had no reg-
ular 8 officers. I communicated the order for the evacuation to Lieutenant-
Colonel Stanley [Schall], Eighty-se« enth Pennsylvania, and Colonel Klunk, Twelfth
Virginia, admonishing them at the time that the evacuation was to be conducted
silently. The men were at the time asleep in the trenches and rifle-pits. The;
were waked up by notifying their captains. The forces moved from the forts,
think, about 2 o'clock Monday morning. Avoiding the town of Winchester, they
struck the Martinsburg road about a mile from the main fort, and proceeded north,
on the Martinsburg road, a distance of four miles and a half from Winchester, when
the advanced guard was fired upon by the pickets of the enemy. The enemy was
in a woods to the right of the Martinsburg road and in a field to the right og that
woods, and consi , a8 I have since learned, of Johnson's division of Ewell's corps,
from 8,000 to 10,000 strong, with two batteries. When I first heard the firing upon
our advanced guard, I was riding with Colonel Ely at the head of his brigade. I
immediately rode forward toward the front, and met Major Cravens, of General
Milroy’s staff. He directed me to ride forward, and order two regiments (the One
hundred and tenth a:d One hundred and twenty-second Ohio), which had filed to
the left some distance back to the Martinsburg road, and place them in line of battle
there, fronting the woods in which the enemy appeared to be. I immediately pro-
ceeded to execute this order. When I arrived at the front of the column,l was
about delivering the order to Colonel Keifer, of the One hundred and tenth Ohio,
when I c<aw General Elliott, whom I supposed was with General Milroy. I apolo-
gized to General Elliott for beginning to give this order to his colonels when he
was present. (General Elliott then explained to me that he had flled those regi-
ments to the left with reference to }())rming his line of battle. The propriety of
this disposition was manifest at the time, and the emergency being great, without
returning for fresh orderr, as General Milroy's aide, I approved of it. General Elli-
ott then ordered Colonel Keifer, with the One hundred and tenth Ohio, to proceed
into the woods. The order was promptly obeyed. As soon as the regiment reached
the woods, a severe firing of musketry occurred. General Elliott remarked to me
that the enemy must be there in force, and that the One hundred and tenth should
be immediately supported by the One hundred and twenty-second Ohio. I volun-
teered to deliver the order to Colonel Ball, of the One hundred and twenty-second
Ohio, and to guide him to the woods, 80 as to place him on the right flank of
the One hundred and tenth Ohio, and to avoid shooting our own men by mistake.
The One hundred and twenty-second Ohio arrived on the right flank of the One
hundred and tenth in tolerably good order, and immediately commenced firing.
Both regiments then advanced, and drove the enemy out of the woods. There were
indications of a surprise to the enemy by the suddenness of their attack. They took
one of their caissons, or passed it. We could look into their camp and see that
their artillery horses were ungovernable. We were so close that we could hear
the orders given by their officers in endeavoring to restore order. The fire of
the enemy, though rapid, went over us, both of small-arms and artillery. Aswe

rogresse({, we saw evidences from the wounded and slain of the enemy that our

re had been efficient. After this contest had lasted perhaps an hour, Colonel
Keifer requested me to return to the rear and learn what dispositions were going
onon the right to sustain Colonel Ball and himself. I complied with his order.
‘When I arrived at the rear, I noticed the Eighty-seventh Pennsylvania Volunteer
Infantry, the Eighteenth Connecticut, and the One hundred and twenty-third
Ohio advancing on the right, in line of battle, under the immediate command
of Colonel Ely, of the Eighteenth Connecticut. General Milroy was also present,
but dismounted, his horse being, as I supposed, disabled. e was engaged in
changing horses. Without reporting to General Milroy, as I now recollect, I re-
turned with all ible expedition to Colonel Keifer, to notify him of the support
which he was about to have on the right. T supposed at the time that from the
effect of the fire of the One hundred and tenth and One hundred and twenty-
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second Ohio, that when Colonel Ely with his force attacked on the right we would
route them. I met, however, the One hundred and tenth and One hundred and
twenty-second Ohio falling back. The officers were 8o busy in preservin% order that
I could not communicate with them during the retreat. ter we had fallen back
to the Martinsburg road, I saw Generals Milroy and Elliott. I was informed by the
former that the retreat was again in progress. I received but one further order that
morning. There were a large number of fugitives and stragglers in rear of the One
hundred and tenth and One hundred and twenty-second Ohio, who were wandering
around without having any common direction or course. Some of nearly every
regiment of the First and Second Brigades were represented. I was ordered to re-
turn, and endeavor to get these fugitives to fall in rear of the One hundred and ténth
and One hundred and twenty-second Ohio. I complied with the order as far as I
could. There were not more stragglers than usually occur in such a fierce contest,
and the perfect knowledge the men had of the large force in our rear contributed
tothe fright of the soldiers. Of course they knew the danger that surrounded them.

Question. Do you consider the retreat properly conducted ; if not,
who was in fault ?

Answer. I have never received a military education, and do not profess to be a
competent judge. I believe that the course pursued in abandoning the artillery and
::ﬁgns was demanded by the exigency of the occasion. I further believe that we

not have escaped the enemy on Monday morning, except under cover of a
i contest. What orders were Fiven while that contest was going on, I am ignorant of,
except those given to myself, as herein stated. There was a fault somewhere, un-
doubtedly, in the retreat. The disposition of the Third Brigade, under Colonel Mc-
Reynolds, which was in the rear, cannot be accounted for except upon the hypothesis
that some officer was to blame. The commander of that brigade became separated
from it, and the regiments became separated from each-other, and this, too, without
ing in the battle. For these reasons, I think there was a fault somewhere in re-
lation to that brigade. Being engaged in the advance with the One hundred and
tenth and One hundred and twepty-second Ohio, I am unable tostate to what officer
the blame attaches. After the One hundred and tenth and One hundred and twenty-
sacond Ohio left the field of battle, on Monday morning, I saw nothing in the mode
of retreat to condemn. It was conducted by General Milroy and General Elliott in
person. The dispersion of Colonel Ely's command, and the surrender of a portion
of it, may be accounted for by the severitly of the contest in which they were en-
As my testimony already shows, 1 did not witness it. The One hundred
sixteenth Ohio did not march with its bri%ade from the forts, nor did it at any
time get with its brigade. By whose fault, I do not know. The night was very
dark, which, favoring us in some respects, did not in others. I have no doubt that
we eluded the enemy that was in our rear, estimated to be 20,000 strong, with at
least thirty guns, which could not have been done had we taken our artillery and
wagons, e enemy’s sentinels were perhaps not 200 yards from the main fort.

Question. During the fighting at Winchester and during the re-
freat, did you observe any want of coolness, judgment, or courage
in any officer, or any want of discipline in any regiment of General
Milroy’s command ?

Answer. So far as my observation extended, the officers and men behaved with
rather more than ordinary merit. All orders which I delivered or gave were
mw obeyed. Ihave heard of instances of delinquency, but have no personal

ge of them.

By the CouURT:

Question. Did Major-General Milroy send or give any orders to
the Third Brigade during the retreat? If so, to whom were they
given, and were they obeyed ?

Answer. I have no personal knowledge of what orders were sent to the Third

€.

estion. Was or was not the First Brigade and also the Second
Brigade dispersed in various directions, and did or did not these
brigades arrive at the Potomac at points many miles apart, and at
places other than that designated by Major-General Milroy ?

Answer. Yes; the intention was to retreat to Harper's Ferry. The order was
generally understood by all the officers that we were retreating on Harper's Ferry,
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Some of the troops—the One hundred and tenth and One hundred and twenty-secon
Ohio—retreated to Harper's Ferry, and were followed by a fragment of the Eighty
seventh Pennsylvania, some of the Eighteenth Connecticut, and s lers fror
other regiments. The One hundred and sixteenth Ohio and Twelfth Virginia re
treated through Bath, in Morgan County. They were also followed by portions of th
Eighty-seventh Pennsylvania and by stragglers from other regiments. The Sixt
Maryland must have retreated to our right in a different direction. It belonge
to the Third Brigade. The Sixty-seventh Pennsylvania, belonging to the Third Br
fﬂde, was generally captured, but under what circumstances I am unable to say

do not think that the loss in the Third Brigade was larger than in others. I thin
that the loss in killed, wounded, and missing was about equal among the brigades.

Question. How large a portion of Major-General Milroy’s com
mand was with him on the retreat after the attack on the morniny
of Monday, 15th instant ?

Answer. The whole number that marched with us that day in that direction
after the contest Monday morning, must have been 1,200, of which from 600 to 80
arrived at Harper’s Ferry with General Milroy and General Elliott. The remainde
came in during the evening and next morning. After the men felt out of danger
they would straggle and lie down. The march was a very severe one.

%estion. ‘What was the number of killed, wounded, and missinf
in Major-General Milroy’s command from the time of the first attac
to the time of the evacuation, and what was the number during the
rotreat ?

Answer. 1 am unable to answer. except in general terms. Up to the time of the

evacuation, our loss was very slight. So far as I observed, on Monday morning ow
loss in killed and wounded was very slight.

Question. Did you see Colonel McReynolds at any time during
the contest of Monday morning? If so, what was he doing?

Answer. I did not; I was not in a position to have seen him.

Question. Did you see any part of the Third Brigade during the
contest ? If so, please state the particulars.

Answer. No; I did not, for the same reason given in my last answer. I only
came to the rear once after entering the wood with the Ohio regiment, when I saw
the Eighty-seventh Pennsylvania, Eighteenth Connecticut, and One hundred and
twenty-third Ohio marching into the woods on our right, under the immediate com-
mand of Colonel Ely. I saw no other troops at that time.

Question. Would or would not the presence of the brigade in the
battle have contributed to the success of the retreat and the safety of
the forces ?

Answer. Judging from the effect of the attack of the One hundred and tenth
and One hundred and twenty-second Ohio on the enemy’s right, I am inclined to
the opinion that had it been supported by the whole force at the proper time, the
enemy would have been driven from his guns, and a retreat in better order secured,
though I do not think we could have carried away any trophies of the victory,
" for the reason that the enemy was 80 heavy in our rear, and would have been
. upon us.

Question. During the fight on Monday, did you give any order to
the One hundred and twenty-third Ohio, belonging to the First
Brigade ?

Answer. I have no recollection of giving any order to that regiment, or seeing any
of its officers.

Question. How near was the enemy to the town of Winchester, on
the east and south and west sides of the place, at the time you began
to retreat on Monday morning ?

Answer. On Saturday night they approached Winchester from the Strasburg road

within a mile and a half.” We had no force in that direction on Sunday that I know of.
General Elliott, within a quarter of a mile, and west of the forts, skirmished with the
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enemy during Sunday until the final attack was made on an outwork north and west
of the main fort, held by Colonel Keifer's regiment and Battery L, Fifth U. 8. Artil-
lery, which the enemy captured. During Sunday the enemy approached on the Ber-
ryville road, and between it and the Front Royal road, within a few hundred yards
of the town. Colonel Ely, with the Eighty-seventh Pennsylvania, Eighteenth Con-
necticut, and Fifth Maryland, skirmishe.d with them during that day until the
final attack. When that attack was made, all our troops went into the forts and
rifle-pits. On Monday morning, when the retreat commenced, the enemy’s forces
nortlg of us, between htown and Romney roads, must have been within a very
short distance. After ﬁxe final attack made by the enemy on Sunday, I cannot
say how near the enemy approached east, west, and south of us.

Question. What had prevented the north side of the town of Win-
chester from being occupied by the enemy at the time you began to
retreat ?

Answer. It was commanded by our in the forts. That road (the Martins-
burg) was more completely commandeg than any other. :

Question. How great a space did the main fort and the star fort
protect on the north side of Winchester ; and how much, if any, on
- other parts of the town?

Answer. They protected to the full extent of the range of their guns.

Question. At what time, and under what circumstances, did you
first learn what forces of the enemy were before you ?

Answer. I was directed by General Milroy to take two companies of the Twelfth
Virginia Infantry, and drive the enemy from one of our picket posts. In executing
that order, 1 c:‘s)tured a prisoner. After a c.ose examination, I learned from him
that he belonged to Hays' (Louisiana) brigade, which was a portion of Ewell's corps,
and that the whole of Ewell's corps was present and operating against us. i
was between 5 and 6 o'clock on the evening of the 13th. I immediately reported
the prisoner, with his information, to Generals Milroy and Elliott.

Question. Could you have retreated safely upon Harper’s Ferry on
Fnday ?

Answer. I think we could have retreated on Friday morning with all of our
sonnel and matériel. In the afternoon, I considered it doubtful, on account of the

approach of the enemy to Cedarville at 2 p. m. My opinion, however, is that we
could have retreatel at any time on Friday.

The following question was then submitted for the consideration
of the court, viz :

Could you have done so on Saturday ? If no, why not; judging
from all the information you now have upon that subject ?

The court was then cleared, and, after mature deliberation, direct
that the following rule of action be recorded, viz : Questions and an-
swers with regard to propriety of the defense of, and retreat from,
Winchester, with regard to the time of its commencement, and the
manner in which 1t was conducted, will be restricted to, and gov-
erned by, the information presented by the parties at the time, and
not by what has been ascertained since.

The court then adjourned to meet at 11 a. m. August 29, 1863.

TWENTIETH DAY.

AvcgusT 29, 1863.
The court met pursuant to adjournment.
Present, all the members and the judge-advocate.
The ju(fge-advocate then submitted the following protest that he
received from Major-General Milroy, viz :

“ Major-General Milroy protests against the decision of the court
excluding all testimony of facts actually existing at the time of the
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attack on Winchester and the evacuation thereof, but not then known
to the officers whose conduct is under examination. It is true an
officer’s justification for his acts may be fairly made to rest on the
information he has, though that may be false, yet an officer may
ually be justified if he disregard false information and act wisely
with reference to facts actually unknown to him. He may be re-
sponsible for giving credence to false information, when by an exer-
cise of sound judgment he might reasonably know better. In every
int of view, it would be manifestly unjust to exclude evidence of
he actual truth of any military situation, even when investigating
:icll;ls done in ignorance of the true state of things existing at the
e.
“R. H. MILROY,
“ Major-General, U. S. Volunteers.”

-

The court was then cleared, and, after mature deliberation, decides
as follows :

The court permits the protest of Major-General Milroy to ap
upon its record, with the simple statement on its part that its ruling
was not intended to, and does not, “exclude all testimony of facts
actually existing at the time of the attack on Winchester.” It was
intended to exclude all opinions of witnesses with regard to those
occurrences which are based upon facts unknown at the time, but
since ascertained or believed to have existed.

The testimony given yesterday by Capt. Z. Baird, aide-de-camp,
was read over to him, corrected, and his examination continued.

By the CoURT:

Question. After you had learned that Ewell’s corps was i)resent,
in your opinion, could your retreat have been made at a better time
than when it was made? If so, at what time, and for what reason ?

Answer. I think the retreat should have commenced earlier on Monday morning
than it did. I should have commenced by 12 o'clock Sunday night. The First Bri-
gade did not get in marching order until the evacuation commenced, and I sup-
t%med, from all I observed, that the delay was unavoidable. Sunday night I believe

have been the most opportune time to retreat after we learned of the presence of
Ewell’'s corps. At that time (Sunday night), the enemy had massed himself north-
west of us, between the Pughtown and Romney . On Saturday, and until
Sunday afternoon, he was in force on the Berryville and Martinsburg roads, skir-
mishing with our forces, and therefore we could not have retreated on Saturday or
Sunday without encountering him. The result proved that the time selected was the
better one, for we eluded the enemy, stole a two hours' march on him, and left
him in our rear. Had we selected any other route than the one we happened to
select, we would have succeeded in retreating to Harper's Ferry unmolested. At
that time the route we took appeared as likeﬁy a one as any other, but Johnson’s
division happened to be in that place, and we happened to run against it.

1;‘_‘?ues’cion. Was any officer blamable for the loss of Battery L,
ifth U. S. Artillery ? If so, who, and why ? :

Answer. I think there was an officer blamable for the exposure of that battery.
On Sunday morning, Captain Morgan was sent out with a detachment of the Twelfth
Pennsylvania Cavalry to reconnoiter between the Pughtown and Romney roads.
He reported about 2 p. m. that he had reconnoitered between those , gohu;ﬁ
as far as Pughtown, and then across to Romney road and back, and that he
seen no traces of the enemy. I cannot see how he could have made that town and
not have discovered the eneimy, for the enemy was evidently at that time in force
in that direction, with infantry and artillery. In the absence of this report from
Captain Morgan, I should have regarded the battery as being imprudently exposed ;
but, giving credit to that report, I should think otherwise. Has we known of the
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presence of the enemy in that direction, we could have made such dispositions of
our forces as to have secured his repulse, and, from the nature of the ground, have
concealed those dispositions from the enemy. My imnpression is that I heard Cap-
tain Morgan make his report, but of this I am not certain. General Milroy com-
municated to me that there was no enemy in that direction, and stated, as the reason,
the report of Captain Morgan.

Question. What was the distance you marched on the 15th of June,
1863 ? In what time did you make it, and what was its effect upon
the officers and men ?

Answer. I think we marched from 32 to 86 miles, We arrived at Harper’s Ferry
between 2 and 3 p. m. The march told very visibly on the men, and they were very
much worn out. Generals Milroy and Elliott were very much exhausted.

uestion. Was there any thought of the evacuation of Winchester-
so far as you heard or know, at any time before you took the pris-
oner you have mentioned, on Saturday afternoon? If so, from
whom did you hear it ?

Answer. I know that the evacuation of Winchester was contemplated. I wag
mt at a conversation between Generals Milroy and Elliott, which occurred on

iday preceding the evacuation, in which both generals concurred in the opinion
that it would be improper to evacuate under the then existing orders.

Question. Was the command of General Milroy so hard pressed
by the enemy as to render it necessary that different portions of it
should take different roads, and retire through fields and woods, re-
gardless of roads?

Answer. The enemy was strong in our rear, and its close R)rox.imity tous, and a
consciousness of that among the officers and soldiers, contributed to cause the dis-
ion of the troops. But it would have been better for the command had it been
m‘ together. The enemy could not have pursued us successfully, except with cav-
alry, against which the command could have protected itself had it kept together.
The march that we made through the fields ang off the roads, I thought at the time
Judicious, and I think it was adopted at the suggestion of General Elliott.

Question. Was this mode of retreating known to the commanding
general ? If so, were any measures taken to correct it ?

Answer. It could not have been otherwise than known to the commanding gen-
eral, but the kmowledge came to him probably at a time when it was too late to
correct it. After the troops had startes on the road toward Bath, I would have
regarded it asinexpedient to have changed their course, for the reason that the time
it would have consumed would have endangered the safety of those troops.

By the JUDGE-ADVOCATE:

Question. To your knowledge, at that time did or did not the
enemy follow you from Winchester ?

Answer. I have no knowledge of his following us.
By the Courr:

Question. Do ’lyou know what was the pressure of the enemy on
the Second and Third Brigades, or what circumstances caused tﬁem
to scatter and march by different routes ?

Answer. I know of no pressure on the Twelfth Virginia Regiment. It was not
engaged. Why it was not brought into action I do not know. The Eighty-seventh
Pennsylvania and Eighteenth Connecticut, which went into action under the im-
mediate command of Colonel Ely, I understand, were surrendered by that officer,
or attempted to be, together with the One hundred and twenty-third Ohio. Por-
tions of those iments, however, made their way out, and in that way became

The One hundred and twenty-third Ohio was nearly all surrendered or
captured. I know nothing about the operations of the Third Brigade that day, of
my own knowledge.
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Lieut. Col. A. W. Apams, First New York Cavalry, a witness
called by the court, being duly sworn, answers:

By the JUDGE-ADVOCATE:

Question. Were you in command of the First New York Cavalry
during the retreat from Winchester, in June last ?

Answer. I was.

Question. What orders or instructions did you receive when the
retreat was determined upon, and who gave them ?

Answer. I received orders from Colonel McReynolds, Ithink, about 12 o’clock Sun-
day night, that I was assigned to command the rear of the retreating forces. The
orders, he stated to me, were that we should get to Harper’s Ferry, if ible. He
informed me that we might expect an attack in our rear, and said that I was selected
in the council of war for that position. My recollection of the order was that we
were to go by Bunker Hill, but in that I may be mistaken. At all events, I was to
follow the column. 1 asked him if he had any specific orders to give me in case of
an attack. He said he had not; that I must be governed by circumstances, and use
my discretion.

Question. Give an account of the part taken by your own reiunent
in the retreat from Winchester, stating what route you took, how
many men you lost, &c.

Answer. When the rear of the column had reached a point some 8 miles from
‘Winchester, I heard firing of artillery and musketry in front. The column was
immediately halted in front of me. Soon after this, the enemy’s shells over
us, and some exploded immediately over us. Isaw infantry belonging, I believe, to
Colonel McReynolds’ brigade, forming on the right of the road diagonally in front
of me. I waited for some time, ten or fifteen minutes, under this fire without re-
ceiving orders from Colonel McReynolds, though I sent an orderly to rfi)ort to him
fur orders. The orderly returned, saying he could not find Colonel McReynolds.
The enemy were getting a raking fire on my men, and I thought it was imprudent
to remain there in column. Not receiving any orders, and having heard from some
officer, I don’t know who, who inquired for Colonel McReynolds, saying that his
brigade was ordered to the front, I moved my regiment forward at a trot until we
reached a point from a quarter to a half mile in advance of my former position on
the road, and, as I believe, within 500 yards of the enemy, where I found an open field
to the left of the road, and where 1 g)rmed a line of battle, and waited for orders.
The enemy got my range again, and I changed my position some 50 or 100 yards to
the left. I formed three several lines of battle, changing front as they seemed
to change, in order to prevent their getting a raking fire on my flank. I should
havesaid that, after forming my first line of battle, 1 sent out another messenger to
ask my brigade commander for orders. This messenger never returned, nor did I

t any orders from Colonel McReynolds. Immediately after I had formed the third

ine of battle, Major McGee, chief of General Milror\;: staff, rode up to me, and, I
think, his first question was, ** Where is Colonel McReynolds?” My impression is,
though I am not quite clear on that subject, that he said that he had been looking
for him some time, to give him orders. I replied that I, too, had sent messengers to
find him and get orders, and not being able to get any, I asked him for orders. He
ordered me to follow in the rear, and protect tge rear of the One hundred and six-
teenth Ohioand Twelfth Virginia Infantry, who were near me in line of battle. I
did so. We went in the direction of Hancock, Md., reaching that place about 10
o'clock at night, I think. I think Colonel Washburn commanded in our colummn.
I marched immediately in rear of the infantry until we reached a point some 20
miles from Hancock, where it was reported th- t the enemy had cut off our retreat,
and held the fords opposite Hancock and other places along the line in that neigh-
borhood. Colonel Washburn sent me in advance to ascertain the facts, with direc-
tions to reach Hancock that night, if possible, and to communicate the fact as soon
as possible to him, stating that he would stay at that point all night; the infantry
was very much exhausted, and could not have gone farther that evening. There was
also a part of the Eighty-seventh Pennsylvania Infantry with us. ith my regi-
ment, 1n obedience to Colonel Washburn's orders. I proceeded to Hancock, and when
we reached a point some 12 or 15 miles from Hancock, we overtook a part of the
Twelfth Pennsylvania Cavalry, from 200 to 800, under command of Major Titus.
They were halted in the road. I sent for Major Titus, and asked him what the diffi-
culty was, and what he was doing there. He said that he had information, that he



Cur. XXXIX] THE GETTYSBURG CAMPAIGN. 143

deemed reliable, that the enemy were in front of us, at Bath, not more than 4 or §
miles from us. He expressed his intention to take his regiment off the road, and
through the mountains, and to reach Hancock by a détour. Iinformed him that
was the ranking officer, and assumed command over him and his regiment. He
submitted to my command, and, after hearing his story, I considered it so unrea-
sonable that I determined to go on. We saw no enemy at Bath, nor at any other
place on the way to Hancock. After we arrived at Hancock, Colonel Galligher, of
the Thirteenth Pennsylvania, who was there without a command, being ranking
officer, assumned command of all the forces, and that night we started for Cumber-
land, Md. When we arrived at Flint Stone, we ascertained that Imboden had taken
ion of Cumberland, and we were ordered by Colonel Galligher through to
m Pa., where we arrived some time next day. I had 5 or 6 wounded, none
killed, and from 20 to 30 or more missing. Some of the missing were captured.
They were mostly dismounted men.

guestion. During the retreat, did you observe any want of courage,
judgment, or coolness in any officer of General Milroy’s command ?
Answer. No, sir; not personally.

Question. After the retreat commenced did ¥ou receive any orders,
directly or indirectly, from Colonel McReynolds ?

Answer. I did not, to my recollection.

Question. Do you know anything of a reconnaissance being made
by Captain Morgan, of the Twelfth Pennsylvania Cavalry, on Sun-
day, June 14, 1863 ?

Answer. 1 have no personal knowledge of it.

By the CourT:

?uestion. Are you positive that Colonel McReynolds told you,
before the retreat commenced, that the retreating garrison should
fall back on Harper’s Ferry ?

Answer. I am positive that he mentioned Harper’s Ferry as the point we should
reach, if possible.

Question. Judging from what you saw of the retreat from Win-
chester, is it your opinion that it was orderly and well conducted ?

Answer. My opinion is that it was well conducted, with the exception of the Third
Brigade. I thought that I ought to have received orders of some kind from my

brigade commander on the field, especially as I was under fire at different times
more than an hour.

Question. Do you consider that the most practicable route was se-
lected for the command to retreat by ? If other roads than the one
adopted would, in your opinion, have been better, which were they ?

Answer. My opinion is that it was the only one that could have been taken with

any degree of safety to the command. On Sunday, I was scouting on the south part
of the town, and saw the enemy on the Berryville road in considerable force,

Question. Were you in a position that would enable you to judge
of the movement of all the troops during the retreat ?

Answer. No, sir; not accurately.

Question. As far as the position of the enemy’s forces is concerned,
is it your opinion that the troops at Winchester, and the Third Bri-
Eade at Berryville, could have fallen back to Harper’s Ferry when the
atter was ordered into Winchester ?

Answer. My opinion was that the Third Brigade could not have retreated to
Harper’s Ferry without a fight, and I think the troops could not have marched
from Winchester at that time without suffering great loss. My Iinpression was that
it was safer, after Saturday morning, when the cnemy was on three sides of us, to
wait until he massed his troops, and then to cut our way out on the weakest side;
that if we had attempted to retreat at any time on Saturday morning, when the
énemy was on the move, we would have been cut to pieces.
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Question. Could the Third Brigade have retreated safely to Mar
tinsburg on Saturday ? '

Answer. They might, with a fight, and perhaps with very small loss.

Question. What would have prevented your going from Martins
burg to Harper’s Ferry at that time ?

Answer. I cannot answer. Idonot know anything of the condition of the place
named, or the road between them at that time.

Question. Was not a train of wagons sent from the command a
Berryville on Saturday morning to Bunker Hill, and did not tha
wagon train get safely across the Potomac ?

Answer. It did, with a severe fight at Bunker Hill.
Question. What was the strength of the escort of that train ?

Answer. I sent four companies, probably not over 120 men, to guard that train
I believe there was infantry with it also. I am not certain about the infantry.

Question. Why could not the Third Brigade have retreated at tha
time by that route ?

Answer. It could have done so as safely as by the route we took.

Question. If you had remained at Berryville till Saturday night
what, in your judgment, would have been the result of your doing
so?

Answer. We would have all been captured.

Question. If General Milroy had retreated from Winchester ot
Saturday, and after you had started from Berryville, what effec
would such retreat at such a time have probably had upon the bri.
gade commanded by Colonel McReynolds ?

Answer. In my judgment, we would have inevitably been cut off ; it would have
relieved the enemy at Winchester, and they would have cut off our retreat.

The court then adjourned to meet at 11 a. m. on Monday, August
31, 1863.

TWENTY-FIRST DAY.

AvuqGusT 31, 1863.

Court met pursuant to adjournment.

Present, nlf)the members and the judge-advocate.

The testimony given yesterday by Lieutenant-Colonel Adams was
read over to him, corrected, and his examination continued, as fol-
lows:

By the Courr:

Question. When dyou were ordered by Major McGee to follow the
infantry off the field, as stated by you, what other instructions were
given; and why did not the column make its way to Harper’s Ferry
instead of Hancock ?

Answer. Major McGee stated to me that we were to pass a mile or two around the
woods ; to reach the Martinsburg road, if possible, and march to Harper's Ferry.
This is my recollection of it, and that he said he would give this order to the in-
fantry. I saw rebels crossing the road from right to left in considerable force, just
as we commenced the retreat from the field, and either Colonel Klunk or Colonel
‘Washburn explained to me afterward that the rebels were in possession of the fields
between us and the Martinsburg road, and that it would be impossible for us tao
reach Harper's Ferry without being cut off.
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) %llllmtion. When you moved your regiment up the road to form
in Iine of battle, as you have stated, was the movement visible to the
rest of the brigade ? .

Answer. It must have been so, for I passed within a few feet of their several
lines as I passed to the front. I know that:ome of the cavalry of the brigade saw us.

Question. When it was made known to you that you were to com-
mand the rear guard in the retreat, did you desire to have the field
battery carried out w1ph you? If not, why? Please state anything
you know on that subject.

Answer. As to my desires, I can say that I was there to obey orders, and that it
wasnone of my business to entertain or express any de~ires in relation to the manner
of the retreat. In giving me instructions, Colonel McReynolds stated that I should
permit nothing to go on wheels. I recollect asking him why his artillery was not
taken, and he said it was decided in the council of war that neither the artillery
nor anything else on wheels should go, and explained that, if the artillery or wagons
were taken, the enemy would be down upon us, for the roads and fields were very
rocky, and anything on wheels must make a noise. He repeated this several times,

Question. If your brigade had gone into the battle at the proper
time, do you or not think the whole retreating force might have
passed by safely on the Martinsburg road ?

Answer. My opinion is, that if the Third Brigade had_gone into the engagement
at the proper time, we would have driven the enemy, and gotten off with small loss.
The whole of that brigade was standing there in line of battle, too far to the rear to
do any good whilst the fight was going on in front.

Question. Who is responsible, in your opinion, for the failure of
the Third Brigade to take part in ti;e engagement the morning of
the 15th of June, 1863?

Answer. My opinion is that the brigade commander was in fault, from the in-
formation I had at the time. A portion of that information was derived from the
statement made to me on the field by Captain Palmer and Major McGee.

Question. Do you think the failure of the Third Brigade to ren-
der, as you think it ought, assistance to the rest of the command,
caused the loss of more life, prisoners, or public property than would
otherwise have occurred ?

Answer. Certainly, I do.

estion. Please explain in what manner the assistance of the
Third Brigade would have caused such results ?

Answer. If we had driven the enemy back, and occnpied the ground, we could
have passed through in comparative safety, in my opinion. If the Third Brigade
had come up, I think we would have saved more artillery and wagon horses than
we did.

u]guestion. Judging from the facts as they appeared to you on Sat-
ay morning, at and about the time of your retreat from Berry-
ville, would it have been a judicious movement to have retreated
upon Harper’s Ferry? If not, why not ?

Answer. We could have gone to Harper’s Ferry, but not without encountering
considerable force of the enemy.

estion. When it was understood that Colonel McReynolds was
not to be found, did the next officer in rank in the brigade give any
orders that the emergency rendered necessary? If he did not, who
did assume the direction of affairs and give orders?
Answer. I received no orders from any one excepting General Milroy, through his
chief of staff. As to the rest of the question, I do not know.
10 R R—VOL XXVII, PT II
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Question. Without regard to any knowledge of the strength of
the enemy at the time you were about retreating from Berryville,
did you see a sufficient force of them to induce you to believe the
direct road to Harper's Ferry would not have been comparatively a
safe one to retreat upon ?

Answer, I saw the dust rising from an apparently very heavy column in the di-
rection of Millwood whilst skirmishing in the enemy’s advance. I did not with my
own eyes see a sufticient force of them.

Question. From any information youreceived fromscouts or others,
what were the movements of the enemy near Berryville on Saturday
morning ?

Answer. My opinion of the intention of the enemy, from what I saw and what
information I could get, was that they were endeavoring by a flank movement tc
cut off our retreat to Harper's Ferry, Winchester, and Martinsburg.

Lieut. E. D. SPOONER, Battery L, Fifth U. 8. Artillery, called by
the court, being duly sworn, answers:

By the JUDGE-ADVOCATE :

Question, Were %‘(Im with Battery L, Fifth U. S. Artillery, when
it was captured at Winchester ? ) :
Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. State how and when your guns were captured.

Answer. On the morning of June 14, Lieutenant Randolph, who commanded the¢
battery, received orders from General Milroy to proceed with his battery to the
earthworks west of the main fort and south of Pughtown road, and there to take
position, supported by the One hundred and tenth Ohio Volunteers, and one com

y of the One hundred and sixteenth Ohio Volunteers, Colonel Keifer command
mg—about 500 men. I think we¢ remained unmolested there until about 5 p. m.
when the enemy opened upon us west of the earthworks with sixteen pieces of ar
tillery, as I supposed then, My battery replied immediately, and was under fin
about an hour and a half, the battery being so disabled in ten minutes after the:
opened upon us that it would have been impossible to have taken it away. W
lost, I suppose; 60 horses, killed and wounded, one caisson and two limbers, blow:
up by shellsfrom the enemy. About 6.30p. m. the enemy’s infantry charged on us
I counted seven battle-flags, in deep column of attack, and not until the enemy ha
planted his colors on the breastworks did I receive orders to fall back. I receivex
these orders from Lieutenant Randolph, who commanded the battery. I succeede
in getting away with 18 men, and, after arriving at the fortification, I receives
orders from General Elliott to relieve a detachment of the Fourteenth Massachu
setts Artillery that was working the siege guns. Lieutenant Randolph was injure
80 that he could not walk, and was carried into the town.

Question. In your opinion, was your battery properly posted an
supported ?

Answer. The position was not a very good one. Only a portion of the timber i
front of the work was cut away, and the enemy could come very near without bein
seen. The timber in some places was only 50 yards off. It would have been almoe
impossible to have withdrawn the guns ina hl(l);!('iy, on account of the hill, which ws
very steep, and, to get out on the Pughtown road, we would have to pass through
little lane, and ravines were in the way, so that we could not cross with artillery o
the road. The work had been commenced a few days before, and was incomplet.
If our support had been larger. it-would have been better, but we had all that coul
be spared. 'What men we had did all they could. Men never fought better tha
those men did. They did not fall back until ordered to do so by Colonel Keife:
This carthwork was about 1,500 yards from the main forts.

* By the Courr:

Question. During the hour and a half that you were under the fia
of the overwhelming force you have mentioned, did you receive an
orders from any person? If so, from whom, and what were tk
orders? :

Answer. I received no orders during the engagement until ordered to fall bac
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Question. Was the position of your battery, and was the attack
upon that position, in plain view of the main bo&y of the Winchester
command ?

Answer. Yes, sir.

Question. Was your battery so far in advance of the principal de-
fenses of Winchester as to make the position of it an unnecessarily
exposed one?

Answer. No, sir.

QlljeStimL During the engagement, were any representations made
by Lieutenant Randolph or yourself with regard to the severity of
the attack upon you, the losses you were sustaining, or the difficulty
of maintaining your position ?

Answer. I don't know of my own knowledge.

Question. What do you know about a reconnaissance made or or-
dered, or claimed to have been made, by Captain Morgan, Twelfth
Pennsylvania Cavalry, on Sunday morning, June 14, 1863?

Answer. I don't know of any reconnaissance made by Captain Morgan.

By the JUDGE-ADVOCATE:

Question. To your knm}vl_ed e, were or were not all or a portion
of Colonel McReynolds’ brigade engaged in the fight on Monday
morning, the 15th of June? )

Answer. I was with Colonel McReynolds during that morning. The Sixty-sev-
enth Pennsylvania, Sixth Maryland Infantry, and the First New York Cavalry, or
apart of it, were engaged.

Question. Did "you observe any want of coolness, capacity, or
bravery on the part of any officer Quring the fighting at and near
Winchester, and in the retreat?

Answer. No, sir.
Ry the CouURT:

Question. How was Colonel McReynolds engaged while the fight
was going on, the morning of the 15th of June?

Answer. He was giving instructions to hig brigade, and not only to his own
brigade, but to a portion of General Elliott’s, the Thirteenth Pennsylvania Cavalry,
that was drawn up in line of battle to the right of the Martinsburg road. He went
to its commanding officer, Major Kerwin, and told him that he wished his regi-
ment to take a battery, and that it was to be a desperate charge. He also gave
him instructions how to do it, After he had done so, he turned around to give
some instructions to one of his orderlies. I am pretty sure he intended to accom-
pany this regiment in the charge, but before he turned around they started off,
and, instead of obeying their orders, they went through without stopping to Har-
per's Ferry. .

estion. In iour opinion, was the retreat from Winchester or-
derly, and was the public property of all description properly cared
for ?

Answer. It was orderly until we were fired upon on Monday morning. After
that the portion that I saw (the Thirteenth Pennsylvania Cavalry) was not orderly.

I went through with that regiment. The property was cared for the best that could
be done at that time.

Question. Do you think it was practicable to have brought away
from Winchester the field guns, or any portion of them?

Answer. 1 do not think it was practicable, because they would have made so
much noise as to have attracted the enemy’s attention.
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Question. If you had had field guns with gou, would they have
facilitated the retreat, in driving the enemy off, keeping him at bay,
or otherwise ?

Answer. Yes, sir.
By the JUDGE-ADVOCATE :

uestion. Was there any disorder in the retreat other than in the
Thirteenth Pennsylvania Cavalry ?

Answer. 1 did not see any other.

By the CoURT:

Question, How did the infantry conduct themselves in the engage-
ment on Monday morning ?

Answer. As far as I observed, they conducted themselves very well.

Question. When you saw the First New York Cavalry charging
up the road, was Colonel McReynolds with you, and did he see the
movement ?

Answer. Colonel McReynolds was not with me at that time; I joined him after-
ward. I do not know whether he saw them or not.

Capt. F. A. PALMER, Eighteenth Connecticut, a witness called by
the court, being duly sworn, answers :

By the JUDGE-ADVOCATE :

Question. Were you a member of General Milroy’s staff during
the recent attack on Winchester and the retreat from that place?

Answer. I was.

uestion. During the retreat from Winchester, did you carr'i: any
orders or instructions to Colonel McReynolds, commanding Third
Brigade of General Milroy's division ? 1If so, what were they ?

Answer. I carried orders from General Milroy for Colonel McReynolds during
the engn.%grl)lmlent on Monday morning, but was unable to find him. These orders
were for him to hasten up as soon as possible, as it would not do for us to contend
any longer. The idea was that we could not hold the enemy any longer in check
for his brigade to come up. At the same time, there was an inquiry embodied in
the order as to why he did not come up, as previously ordered by General Milroy in
person. p

By the Covurr:

Question. Did you see a.niportion of Colonel McReynolds’ brigade
when you went to carry to him the orders of General Milroy ?

Answer. I saw a detachment of the First New York Cavalry, commanded by
Major Adams. Icannotstatethe number. Iinquired of Major Adams where Colonel
McReynolds could be found. He replied that he did not know ; that he had sent
two orderlies to find him, but had not succeeded. I proceeded down the road to-
ward Winchester to find Colonel McReynolds, until I came to a road that turns to
the east, down which I had a view of at least half a mile, and where I had a view
of the surrounding country, but I did not see Colonel McReynolds or any portion
of his brigade. As I looked toward Winchester, I saw advancing from that place,
I suppose, two sections of artillery, and at the same time I heard what I supposed
was a signal gun fired from the direction of Winchester, and I hurried back to
General Milroy, and reported to him that I was unable to find Colonel McReynolds.

Question, Did ﬂou hear any expressions of impatience about the
delay of Colonel McReynolds to come up with his brigade, as ordered
by General Milroy ? If so, what were they, and where ?

Answer. When I told General Milroy that I could not find Colonel McReynolds,
and that the enemy was coming up with artillery, he said, ‘I must not attempt to

~
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fight any longer, and wonder why Colonel McReynolds disobeyed my orders and
did not come up.” We all thought we were fighting at that time simply to give
Colonel McReynolds’ brigade time to come up or pass by.

Question. Did you inform General Milroy that re-enforcements to
the enemy were coming up ? If so, what orders did he give upon
the receipt of your information ?

Answer. 1 informed him that re-enforcements were coming up. He replied,
‘‘ We must retreat;” and cautioned his men to fall back in good order, and not like
damned cowards. We did retreat immediately, in good order, until we reached
the Martinsbm(‘f road. There were only three regiments under the general’s imme-
diate command.

The court then adjourned to meet at 11 a. m. Septeml)er 1, 1863.

TWENTY-SECOND DAY.

) SEPTEMBER 1, 1863.
The court met pursuant to above order.
Present, all the members and the judge-advocate. :
The testimony given yesterday by Major Adams and Lieutenant

Spooner was read over to them, and corrected,

The testimony given yesterday by Capt. F. A. Palmer was read
over to him, ang corrected, and his examination continued.

By the CoURrr:

Question. Could any more public property have been saved at
Winchester than was saved ; if so, by what measure® Could any
better route for retreat have been chosen than the one you took?
Could the retreat have been made at a better time than it was made;;
if so, at what time could it have been conducted in a better manner
than it was conducted ; if so, in what manner ?

Answer. With reference to the public property, I answer no. As to the route, I
am sure, from what I have learned since, that we could not have come out by any
other. At the time I thought that to be the only course we could pursue. Asto
the time of retreat, I do not know or think that it could have been made at a better
time. We moved out as soon as arrangements were completed after the council of
war. As to the manner, I can say that the retreat was conducted in the most per-
fect manner, the column in good order, until the advance was fired upon. In my
opinion, the retreat would have been successful, and exactly as General Milroy de-

ed, if Colonel McReynolds had obeyed orders, kept the Martinsburg road, and
followed the head of the column, instead of turning to the right, which was a direct
violation of orders. I think nearly the entire loss of our men was caused by his dis-
obedience of orders. Astheadvance was fired upon when the general and staff were
near the middle of the column, the general, having heard the firing in the advance,
started to move forward. Some member of the staff remarked, ‘* There is Colonel
McReynolds ;” some one else said it wasnot him. The general directed me to ascer-
tain if it was. I found that it was him, and 8o reported tothe general. He replied,
“He onght not to be here,” and started toward him. On reaching him, the general
said to him, in my presence, ** You ought to be at the head of your brigade ; come
ight on up the r ; advance as soon and as fast as possible,” or words to that
ect. The colonel said, *‘I will see, or attend to that,” or something of that na-
ture. The general then galloped forward, and in about five minutes was engaging
the enemy. The engagement lasted nearly an hour, during which time no informa-
tion was received from Colonel McReynolds by General Milroy, excepting what was
brought by a member of the generals staff, who reported him separated from his
command, and half a mile from the Martinsburg road.

Question. Could not the retreat have been made on the 12th or 13th
much better, and with more safety to the command and public prop-
erty than when it was made ?

Answer. I think it might.

. Question. Were the orders of Major-General Milroy for the retreat
implicitly obeyed by the commanders of the First and Second Bri-
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%a.des, and did those brigades retreat by the route and ih the manner
esignated by him ?

. Answer. So far as my knowledge of the orders go, they did comply with them.

Question. Were the orders to the Third Brigade for the retreat
different from those to the First and Second Brigades ?

Answer. No, sir; not that I am aware of.

Question. When it was observed that the Third Brigade was not
doing what it had been directed to do, what orders did Major-Gen-
eral iﬁlroy give or send to it ?

Answer. The first order that I know of his sending to the Third Brigade was that
gent by me, whsich I could not deliver, because I could not find Colonel McReynolds.
I don’t know that there were any other orders sent to the Third Brigade.

Question. When the command of Major-General Milroy evacuated
‘Winchester, what persons, besides citizens of the place, wereleft there?

Answer. That I could not tell; my knowledge is not sufficient. I knew that no
hospital patients were taken with us.

Question. Do you know of any general order having been given
for the government of the whole of General Milroy’s command, on_
its retreat from Winchester to Harper’s Ferry ?

~ Answer. No; I can't say that 1 knowof any orders other than those I have
stated.

Lieut. Col. W, A. McKELLIP, Sixth Maryland Infantry, a witness
called by the court, being duly sworn, says :

By the JUDGE-ADVOCATE:

uestion. What regiment do you belong to? Waere you present
with your regiment during the retreat from Winchester ?

Answer, I belong to the Sixth Maryland Infantry. I was present.

Question. To your knowledge, were any regiments of the Third
Brigade engaged in the fight on Monday morning, June 15, 1863 ?

Answer. No, sir; they were not. They were under fire from two guns placed
on the right side of the Martinsburg road, about 800 yards in front of us. We
were in rear of the division in marching out of the forts. The brigade con-
sisted of the Sixty-seventh Penns{'lvania Infantry and my own regiment, and the
First New York Cavalry. We filed off the Martinsburg road about 3 miles from
Winchester. At that time we were up with the rest of the column. Colonel Mc-
Reynolds was witlt the brigade at that time. I heard and repeated the order to
** file right,” and the men were cautioned to keep closed, and step off promptly.
‘We moved, then, to a stone wall, that was running from the road, and facing toward
the battery that was firing on us. In forming line of battle there, the men had
closed up too much, and there was a little confusion ; that is, it was necessary to
take ground to the left. While in the act of dressing the left wing of the regiment,
the command was given, ** By the right flank, march!”" We moved on, then, in

uick time, and in perfect order, until we reached the Winchester railroad, and
alere a battery opened on us. We moved to the railroad and halted. the battery in
the meantime playing on us. From there we passed through the tunnel or arch,
and down by a ravine, that protected us from the enemy’s battery. When we got
to the house that stands on the left-hand side, a great many of the regiment in ad-
vance of us went into the yard and buildings, and when my regiment came up I
posted myself at the gate, and gave orders that none of our men should go inside,
and none were allowed to go in. From that point the regiment in advance of us
(the Sixty-seventh Pennsylvania) ceased to be an organi regiment, In front of
that house we filed right some 200 yards into a field. The.colonel went in front of
the regiment, and gave the command, “ By the left flank, guide center.” We
moved up the crest of that hill in line of battle. There we found the enemy in posi-
tion, with artillery, and too strong for us to cope with., We passed away by the
right flank, and fell back almost in a direct line toward the main fort at Winches-
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ter, to a point where there was a heavily wooded ridge. At the time we left the
crest of the hill, the colonel, major, and myself considered that our case was a hope-
less one, as far as getting away from that battle-field in good order was concerned,
left, as we were, by ourselves. We did come off, though, as a regiment, with every
company o ized, and with every commissioned ofticer that went to Winchester,
save one. Then we passed up this heavily wooded ridge, where we found a t
many men from other regiments of our division, the great majority of them belong-
. ing to the Sixty-seventh Pennsylvania. I asked them to what regiments they be-
longed, and where they were going, and where their officers were. To all of which
they answered they did not know (except as to their regiments). I think there were
several hundred of these men. lordered them to fall into column with us, and the

nerally rallied into my regiment. (_'k)mpa;l‘i' 1, Fourteenth Massachusetts Artil-
ery (Captain Martins), had joined us, and had officers with it ; they behaved well,
and marched through in good order. From that point we crossed the Opequon. at
the “burned factory,” and then took the road to Harper's Ferry. We flanked
Charlestown, leaving it on the left. and represented ourselves from there on asthe
advance rd of Hgooker's army, and inquired for Berryville, instead of Harper's
Ferry. regiment arrived at Harper’s Ferry at 8 or 9 o'clock that night.

By the CouRrT:

Question. Who gave the order which caused the infantry of your
brigade to file to the right off the Martinsburg road ?

Answer. I cannot answer positively.

Quection. When the disorganization of the Sixty-seventh Penn-
sylvania became apparent to you, did you see any of the officers
attempting to restore order and reform the regiment ?

Answer. The disorganization of their regiment seemed to be caused by the great
thirst of the men, who were seeking water. I did not; I was otherwise engaged.

Question. What persons other than citizens of Winchester were
left there by the division of Major-General Milroy when it evacu-
ated that place ?

Answer. I do not know.

Question. At what time and place did you last see Colonel Mec-
Reynolds on the morning of the retreat ?
Answer. The last time I saw him was after we crossed the O on, when he

with several others came up, and passed near our regiment. This was about 7
o'clock in the morning, I think, and after the fighting that morning was over.

Question. Did Colonel McReynolds stop to give any orders, or was
any communication had with him by any officer of your regiment ?
State what occurred.

Answer. There was no communication, excepting that I think he was hailed by
us. There was nothing else occurred. He was riding rapidly up the Harper’s
Ferry road. - .

Question. When and where did you last see him on or near the
battle-fiela ?

Answer. I have a distinct recollection of seeing him when we filed out of the
Martinsburg road, and afterward my impression is that he was in the rear of the
bri e. 1donot know how far; in the direction of a chimney ; this was while my
regiment was behind the stone wall.

Lieut. Col. Donn Piatt, U. S. Volunteers, chief of General Schenck’s

staff, appeared before the court with the following message from
Maj. Gen. R. C. Schenck, U. S. Volunteers:

“Mr. PRESIDENT: I am instructed by Major-General Schenck to
inform the court that, although he received a summons to appear as
a witness some days since, being prevented by an accident from at-
tending promptly in response, he never received a copy of the order
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convening the court until last night. He was surprised to find, on
reading the order, that he is a party whose conduct is to be investi-
gated, and, under the circumstances, proposes, without disrespect to
the court, to occupy the time between this and noon to-morrow in
preparing for the extraordinary position in which he is placed.”

To this message the court returned the following reply :

“COURT OF INQUIRY,
“ Washington, September 1, 1863—1.30 p. m.

“Maj. Gen. R. C. SCHENCK, U. 8. Volunteers:

“8S1r: I am directed by the court of inquiry to inform you that
you have been duly summoned before them as a witness ; that they
are now waiting to receive your testimony, and that your presence
is required without delay.

“I am, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
“ROBERT N. SCOTT,
“Captain Fourth U. S. Infantry, Judge- Advocate.”

At 2.30 p. m. no response had been received from General Schenck,
(who was 1n the city), and the court adjourned, for want of witnesses,
to meet at 11 a. m. September 2, 1863.

TWENTY-THIRD DAY.

. SEPTEMBER 2, 1863.
Court met Fursua.nt to adjournment.
Present, all the members and the judge-advocate. )
The testimony given yesterday by Lieutenant-Colonel McKellip

was read over to him, corrected, and he made the following explana-

tion:

In addition to the loss of 1 commissioned officer, as stated, I will add, that our
chaplain and assistant surgeon were captured. In reference to the disorganization
of the Sixty-seventh Pennsylvania Regiment, I mean to say, that they had dwindled
down very much, for the reason I afterward stated. In explanation of the loss in
our regiment, I wish to state that it was owing to the march on Saturd% from
Berryville, which was very severe; we marched that day some 30 miles. e loss
of sleep on Friday, Saturday, and Sunday nights, and the hard march of Monday,
completely exhausted my men, and those who fell out of the ranks from exhaustion
were picked up by rebel cavalry, and that was our principal loss in the retreat, and
amounted to some 130 men, including our loss at the Opequon.

Capt. W. A. PowkgLL, First Virginia Cavalry, a witness called
by the court, being duly sworn, says: .

By the JUDGE-ADVOCATE:

Question. What was your position on (eneral Milroy’s staff dur-
ing the recent attack on, and retreat from, Winchester ?
Answer. Chief engineer.

Question. What do you know of the reconnaissance made by Ca
tain Morgan, of the Twelfth Pennsylvania Cavalry, on Sunday, the
14th of June, 1863 ?

Answer. I saw Captain Morgan go out on the Pughtown road on Sunday morn-
ing, between 9 and 18 o'clock. Some time after noon, I saw him come back on the
Romney road. He came into the main fort, and reported to General Milroy that
he had made a reconnaissance, and there was no enemy out there, and no indica-
tions of the enemy. When Captain Morgan was returning, I saw him before he got
to our pickets, and I saw that he had no flankers out. This is all I know about
Captain Morgan. :
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By the CourT:
Question. Please state the condition of the work occupied by Bat-
tery L, Fifth U. S. Artillery, when it was taken.

Answer. The work occupied by that battery was not completed ; two traverses
were to be put up, and also a flank to one of the lunettes. The woods in front of
this outwork were being felled on Saturday up to the time that the enemy made the
attack. It was my intention to clear the country in front of all the batterics of all
the timber, at least 1,500 yards in advance. This had been done to all the batteries
and outworks excepting where Battery L was, and I had to stop work there on
Saturday on account of the general needing the men. If this timber had been cut
down, the rebels would not have secured their position in front of that battery.

Question. Could the retreat have been made on the Berryville
road? What do you know of the forces of the enemy on that road?

Answer. On Saturday afternoon, between § and 8 o'clock, I saw the rebels in
large force crossing from the Sinsinsa road to the Berryville road, and across that
to a strip of w that extended up to Redbud Creek. They seemed to have
established their lines there from the Sinsinsa and Berryville roads to the Millwood
road. Previous to this, and during the afternoon, I saw small parties of the enemy

ﬁ:mg in the same direction, who did not seem to return. Those forces I believe to
ve been Longstreet’s, and I do not believe that we could have retreated by that

Question. When was the field work commenced in which Battery
L was posted ? :

Answer. Some time in May, 1863. I think it was some few days after the middl
of the month.

Question. If this field work was deemed of importance to the de-
fense of Winchester, why was it not commenced sooner ?

Answer. Because we had not sufficient men to make the necessary details.

The judge-advocate then informed the court that the next witness
he wished to call was Major-General Schenck, but that he was not
in attendance.

The court directed the judge-advocate to address the following to
General Schenck:

“ CourT oF INQUIRY Rooms, No. 212 F STREET,
¢ September 2, 1863—12.30 p. m.
“Maj. Gen. R. C. ScHENCK, U. S. Volunteers,
“Willard’s Hotel :

“8ir: I am directed by the court of inquiry to ask whether you
are prevented from attending to-day, and to inform you that they
are waiting to receive your testimony. '

“I am, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
“ROBERT N. SCOTT,
“ Captain Fourth U. 8. Infantry, Judge-Advocate.”

Immediately after the above was dispatched, the following was
received:

““WAR DEPARTMENT, ADJUTANT-GENERAL'S OFFICE,
“ Washington, September 2, 1863.
“Brig. Gen. W. F. Barry, U. S. Volunteers,
“President of Court of Inquiry, Washington, D. C.:

“8Ir: The Secretary of War desires that you release Major-General
Schenck from attendance before the court of which you are presi-
dent, as soon as practicable.

“I am, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
“E. D. TOWNSEND,
“Assistant Adjutant-General.”
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In compliance with this communication, General Schenck was re-
leased from attendance as a witness.

Lieut. Col. J. Lowry McGEE, Third Virginia Cavalry, a witness
called by the court, being duly sworn, says:

By the JUDGE-ADVOCATE :

Question. What was your position on General Milroy’s staff dur-
ing the recent attack on, and retreat from, Winchester ?

Answer. I was acting as inspector-general of his divi-ion.

uestion. What orders or instructions, if any, did you deliver to
Colonel McReynolds, comimnanding officer of the Third Brigade, after
the retreat was determined on, and before it commenced ?

Answer. I did not give him any orders or instructions.

Question. During the retreat, what orders or instructions, if any,
did you carry or attempt to carry to Colonel McReynolds ?

Answer. I was ordered by General Milroy to go to the rear, and order Colone!
McReynolds and all other troops to pass to the left of where the engagement was
oing on, and I was ordered to hasten them by. I passed to the rear some three
ourths of a mile, and saw stragglers along the road, of whom I inquired for Col
onel McReynolds. 1Iheard nothing of him until I got to a run acrossthe road, abou:
three-quarters of a mile from the %)attle—ground, where 1 learned that some troop:
had filed to the  west of the road. I started in that direction, probably half a maile
from the Martinsbru;g road. Icame to the First New York Cavalry. I found Majo
Adams, and inquired if he knew anything of Colonel McReynolds. He replied tha'
he had been hunting him for the last half hour, and could get no tidings of him
He said he had sent two orderlies, one of whom had returned, and the other had not
He asked me then if I had any orders. He was then just in rear o° the One hun
dred and sixteenth Ohio, and I ordered him to follow thatregiment. Ithen
on tothe One hundred and sixteenth Ohio; saw Colonel Washburn, and gave him th:
direction he should march in, and told him that if he should become separated fron
the command, our object was to go to Charlestown, and that he should take tha
direction. I told him that the First New York Cavalry would be under his com
mand. I could not find Colonel McReynolds at all. I inquired of the commandin
officers of four regiments, one of whichbelonged to his command, and none of then
could tell me where he was, or had seen him since the fight commenced. I oml
found one regiment of his brigade, and that was the First New York Cavalry.

By the Courr:

Question. Do you know %ersonally of any orders ha.vind%s bee:
sent by others from General Milroy to Colonel McReynolds ? I
80, please state what they were,

Answer. The general gave instructions to some three other staff officers in m
presence to go to Colonel McReynolds and other troops whd might be in the reay
and instruct them to hurry past; that he was only fighting there to allow them t
g;.ss. I heard him tell Lieutenant McCracken to go and see if he could find Colon

cReynolds. I donot think he gave him any orders to carry to him. This w3
early in the engagement. When we first heard the firing, I was with the genexra
at about the center of the Second Brigade, where we saw%olonel McReynolds, wh
was not with his own command. The general asked him where his command wa
or how it was, or something of that kind. He replied, I think, that it was ‘g
right.” The general said. ** You ought to be with your brigade.” This convers:
tion may have occurred just before the firing commenced. Just before we left Cc
onel Mci‘eynolds, the firing had commenced, and General Milroy said, *° Hurry v
your brigade, colonel.” Colonel McReynolds then started to the rear, and we starts
to the front, and I saw nothing more of him until we got to Harper's Ferry.

Question. How long was the fight maintained for the pu e ¢
allowing Colonel McReynolds’ forces to come up and pass by :

Answer. I don’t know how much longer. 1 should think, though, at least thir-
minutes ; about as long again as it would have lasted otherwise.
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Qéleestion. Did you r(a)ort the result of your inquiries for Colonel
McReynolds to Major-General Milroy ? If so, what was done after
you made your report ?

Answer. Before I returned from mﬂ search after Colonel McReynolds, an orderly
came to me from the general, stating they (meaning our force) had given up the fight,
and were retreating. He told me that I should direct the troops to go still farther to
the west of the road, and join him as rapidly as possible. I went with the troops
then until I came in sight of the First Brigade ; Colonel Klunk was the senior officer
there then, and I left him in command of the whole. We could see the First
Brigade very distinctly then, probably three-quarters of a mile distant, and I or-
dered Colonel Klunk to join it as rapidly as possible. I told him I would join the
general at once, and ask him to wait for him. I immediately reported to the gen-
eral that I had been unable to find Colonel McReynolds, and reported the facts of
my search. I reported the four regiments that I had found in good condition, and
told the general that they were very near, and we had better halt until they came
up. The general called General Elliott, Colonel Keifer, and several other officers
agout him, gave them the substance of my report, and suggested that they halt
there. They were unanimous, I believe, in opposition to that suggestion. The
general consented, and moved on.

uestion. How far in the rear of the main body of the troops was
Colonel McReynolds™ brigade when the firing alluded to commenced;
and was his brigade in good order, or together, and was it in the
position the commanding general designed 1t should be at that time?
Answer. They were at the regular interval from the Second Bl:gade; to the best

of my knowledge, the brigade was where General Milroy designed they should be,
and they were marching in good order.

Question. What persons other than resident citizens ot Winchester
were left behind there when the place was evacuated ?

Answer. Some sutlers, wounded men, surgeons, and hospital attendants, and
some officers’ wives.

Question. Was it, in your opinion, necessary and proper that these
persons should be left at Winchester ?
Answer. It was my opinion that it was necessary to leave the sick and wounded,

and the surgeons and attendants. It was very proper, I thought, for the officers to
Jeave their wives, under the circumstances. :

Question. If General Milroy had halted his command, as he pro-
Eosed, in order to wait for the other column, it would probably have
rought on another battle ?

Answer. I don’t think it would.

The court was then closed for deliberation, pending which, the fol-
lowing note was received (at 2 p. m.), viz:

‘“WAR DEPARTMENT, ADJUTANT-GENERAL'S OFFICE,
“ Washington, September 2, 1863.

“General BARRY: .

““8ir: The intention of the Secretary’s order of this morning, in
regard to General Schenck, was not properly conveyed in my note of
this morning. It was that General Schenck should be released from
attendance on the court to-day: he will be present to-morrow.

“I am, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
“E. D. TOWNSEND,
““Assistant Adjutant-General.”

The court then adjourned to meet at 11 a. m. September 3, 1863.
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TWENTY-FOURTH DAY. *

SEPTEMBER 3, 1863.

The court met pursuant to adjournment.

Present, all the members and the judge-advocate.

The testimony given yesterday by Captain Powell was read over
to him, and corrected.

The president of the court then submitted the following order,
which he had received since adjournment of yesterday: '

SPECIAL ORDERS, ) WAR DEPARTMENT, ADJT. GEN.’Ss OFFICE,
No. 394, Washington, September 2, 1863.

* * * * * * *x

VI. Paragraph VIII, of Special Orders, No. 346, from this Depart-
ment, appointing a court of inquiry to investigate the facts and cir-
cumstances connected with the evacuation of Winchester, is amended
as follows: :

Instead of the following words, ‘“The court will report whether
the orders of the General-in-Chief in regard to the evacuation of
Winchester were complied with ; and, if not, by whom they were
disobeyed. It will also report whether the retreat of the command
was properly conducted, and the public property suitably cared for;
and, if not, what officer or officers were 1n fault,” the following will
be substituted: ¢ The court will inquireinto, and report, the facts and
circumstances in regard to the evacuation of Winchester.”

*® * * * * * *

By order of the Secretary of War:
E. D. TOWNSEND,
Assistant Adjutant-General.

Maj. Gen. R. C. Schenck was again summoned to appear as a wit-
ness before the court, the summons being delivered tgn'ough Lieut.
Col. Donn Piatt, his chief of staff, who was present on his behalf.

Lieutenant-Colonel Piatt replied to this summons as follows, viz :

““Mr. PRESIDENT: General Schenck, relieved from attendance as a
witness yesterday, returned from Baltimore this morning, proposing
to offer Kimself as a witness, if the court wish yet to examine him,
if, in so doing, he forfeits no ri%ixt to appear as a party interested in
the investigation, proposing as he does to summon certain witnesses
and have tﬁem examined. General Schenck, if the court determines
to examine him as a witness, asks two hours to examine the tele-
grams and orders connected with this investigation.”

The court was then closed for deliberation, and, being opened, Col.
Donn Piatt was directed by the court to inform (General Schenck
that the court would adjourn until 11 a. m. to-morrow, to give him
the time asked for, and to inform him that at that hour they would
await his presence before them as a witness.

Appendices E and F were read to the court by the judge-advocate,
and filed in evidence.

The court then adjourned to meet at 11 a. m. September 4, 1863.

TWENTY-FIFTH DAY.

SEPTEMBER 4, 1863,

The court met pursuant to adjournment.
Present, all the members.
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Maj. Gen. R. C. Schenck. U. S. Volunteers, was called as a wit-
ness by the court. Before being sworn, he submitted the following
request, viz :

“The modification which has been made of the order convening
and instructing this court, a copy of which has been furnished me
by the judge-advocate, requires that the court shall ‘inquire into,
and report the facts and circumstances in regard to the evacuation
of Winchester,” thus, having only to return to the President, for his
eonsideration, the testimony taken.

“As Winchester, and the troops there stationed under Major-
~ General Milroy, were, at the time of the evacuation, within my
department and command, I am necessarily one of the parties espe-
cially concerned in so broad and comprehensive an investigation.

“lytherefore respectfully request, and ask the court now to de-
cide, that besides testifying myself, I shall be permitted, as my right,
to have such other witnesses as I may indicate summoned and exam-
~ ined, and especially Maj. Gen. H. W. Halleck, Gteneral-in-Chief o
the Army, and Maj., Gen. Joseph Hooker, and that I have the right
also to cross-examine any of the witnesses.

. “ROBT. C. SCHENCK,
“ Major-General, U. S. Volunteers.”

The court was then closed for deliberation on this communication,
and, on being again opened, the following answer was made to Gen-
eral Schenck :

““The court will summon such witnesses as it may deem necessary,
but it cannot say, at this time, what witnesses will be required.

‘“While all question of ‘right’ is denied, the court sees no objec-
tion to granting Major-General Schenck the same privileges that
were accorded to Major-General Milroy.”

The decision of the court in reference to General Milroy, as re-
corded on page 7 of these proceedings, was read to General Schenck
by the judge-advocate. -

Maj. Gen. R. C. ScHENCK, U. 8. Volunteers, was then duly sworn,
and answered as follows, viz: .

By the JUDGE-ADVOCATE :

Question. Were the troops at Winchester under your command at
the time that place was evacuated, in June last ?
Answer. They were within my command.

Question. How long had those troops been under your command ?
Answer. Since the 22d of December, 1862.

Question. What orders or instructions did you receive from the
(f;zal‘)—m-Chief in reference to the holding or evacuation of Win-
¢ T ?

Answer. The question of occupying Winchester with any considerable force had
been £ uently a subject of conversation between the General-in-Chief and myself,
and we ered sogewhat in opinion in regard to such occupation, He appeared
io think that nothing but a small force for picket duty, or as an outpost, should be
kept at Winchester. I was of opinion that any such small force, in so advanced a
position, would always be liable to be cut off, even by such rebel force, or a detach-
ment from it, as we knew to be always in the Shenandoah Valley. One of the prin-
cipal duties assigned to me was the protection of the Baltimore and Ohio Railroad,
not only within the limits of my department proper, but all the way to the Ohio
River. My policy was not to permit the railroad to lie along or to constitute the
front, toward the enemy, of the country to be guarded, but to keep it in the rear of
2 strip of country in advance of it, in direction of the enemy. Thus I would cover
and secure my means for the transfer and concentration of troops, and for the trans-
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portation of supplies, which I could not do if this line of communication and trans-
rtation were in advance on my front and at dll times liable to be cut by the enemy.
fodid not believe that any number of pickets stationed immediately on and scattered
along the road itself would insure its protection, and especially against cavalry raids,
whic%x we had most and constantly to apprehend. I had no cavalry force in number
or condition equal to that mounted force with which the enemy Wwere threatening
us, otherwise I might have relied in some greater degree on that resource. These
views I consider especially applicable to that portion of the Baltimore and Ohio Rail-
road most approachable from the Shenandoah Valley, and the valleys of Lost River,
Cacapon, Patterson Creek, and New Creek beyond, and that part of Loudoun County
immediately east of the Blue Ridge. On this account, I always advised, and, so far
as my command was concerned, preferred to cover that large bend of the railroad
toward the north by a line of occupation to be held with some considerable force,
extending along what may be regarded as the chord of that semicircle. For this
purpose, I thought there should not only be, as there has constantly been, a pretty
strong force kept at New Creek, but that Romney and Winchester should be occu-
pied, and that as strong a force as General Heintzelman could afford should be kept
at Leesburg. These points, and éspecially Winchester, were the keys to the ap-
proaches north. General Halleck frequently repeated his suggestions and advice,
conformity with his own views, that Winchester should he occupied only as an
advanced outpost, but I adhered, and, as I still think, rightly, to my own idea, and
that the more in the case of Winchester, because there being no railroad commu-
nication left with that position, it was not within easy supporting distance in case
of any such raids as we had reason to aps)rehend, and any small force kept there
woul({, therefore, I thought, be inevitably lost. These views of mine, however, were
held and expressed with reference to the known and probable force of the enemy
kept continuously in the Valley, and had not any reference to the movement of any
large and overwhelming force of the enemy, such as Lee’s army, or any considerable
portion of it. In this connection, I refer to telegrams from General Halleck to my-
self, dated 5th of January, 30th of April, and 8th of May, 1863. General Hallecg,
in view of this difference of opinion between us, which was always pleasantly dis- -
cussed, did not, as I understood him, and as the communications will show, ever
remptorily order or insist upon the abandonment of Winchester. On the 8th of
upe, 1863, General Halleck sent me a telegram, recommending me, on account of
an apprehended raid of cavalry massing by the enemy at Culpeper, to mass and con-
centrate my troops along the railroad, exposing no large force in advance. When
that telegram arrived in Baltimore, I was absent from my headquarters, in the State
of Delaware, within my department. On the 8thof June, Lieut. Col. Donn Piatt,
my chief of staff, telegraphed me at Dover, informing me of this communication _
from General Halleck, and asking what points for concentration General Halleck
had suggested to me. 1 immediateli replied to Lieutenant-Colonel Piatt on that
sawne day (the 8th), stating, among other things, that General Halleck had never in-
dicated points of concentration, and directing him to ask General Halleck if he had
ints to suggest, informing him also that I would return to Baltimore by 4 o’clock
in the morning. I did so return to Baltimore the morning of the 10(;{ of June.
I found that Lieutenant-Colonel Piatt had sent a telegram in my name, as directed
on the 9th, asking General Halleck if his knowledge of rebel movements enabled
him to suggest the better points on the railroad to concentrate, and informing him
of the number of my troops respectively at Harper's Ferry, Frederick, Win-
chester, Martinsburg, Romney, and New Creek, and stating that the troops at
‘Winchester could fall back to Harper’s Ferry or Martinsburg. To this dispatch no
reply was received from General Halleck until the 11th of June, when I received
his telegram, dated at noon of that day, advising that ‘‘the Winchester troops,
excepting enough to serve as an outpost, should be withdrawn to Harper’s Ferry.”
These are all the communications, I believe, that I ever received from General -
leck in regard to the abandonment of Winchester, in whole or in part, and they
were, a8 will be seen, not in the form of orders, but suggestions, rather. The tele-
grams attached hereto being referred to, will make my answer to this question con-
nected and complete. .
[Telegrams.]

‘* WASHINGTON, January 5, 1868.
¢ General SCHENCK, Baltimore ;
¢ No attempt should be made to hold Winchester against a large force of the
enemy, but use it simpl{ as an outpost, as advised in our copversation a day ar two
ago. Isolated posts and columns are too liable to be cut off. :
* * * * * »* »*
“H. W. HALLECK,
¢ General-in-Chief.”
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* WASHINGTON, D. C., April 30, 1883,
“Major-General SCHENCK,
‘‘ Baltimere:

“If you want more troops in the west, and at Harper’'s Ferry, why do you leave
8o large a force at Winchester? As I have often repeated to you verbally and in
writing, that is no place to fight a battle, It is8 merely an outpost, which should
not be exposed to an attack in force. .

“H. W. HALLECK,

** General-in-Chief.”

‘ WASHINGTON, May 8, 1868,
*“Major-General SCHENCK,
‘“Baltimore:
* »* * »* * * »

“You will maintain only a small force at Winchester, as an outpost, and employ
the remainder of Milroy’s troops for the protection of the railroad and operations
against the enemy in Western Virginia.

* * * * * * *
‘“H, W, HALLECK,
“General-in-Chief.”

¢ WASHINGTON, D. C., June 8, 1863,
“ Major-General SCHENCK,
‘* Baltimore :

“The indications are that the enemy is massing about 12,000 cavalry and artillery
in Culpeper County for a raid. Deserters say the: men have been given to under-
stand that it is to be a long and desperate one.

“1 can only repeat the recommendation, so often made to you, to mass your
troops more in convenient places for rapid and concerted operations, holding rail-

bridges only with small detachments, in block-houses, and exposing no large
force in advanced positions, where they are liable to be cut off.

‘We probably shall not know the direction or intention of this raid till it is
actually in motion. Hence the necessity of keeping your forces well in hand for a

sudden movement.
‘“H. W. HALLECK,
** Generul-in-Chief.”

¢ BALTIMORE, June 9, 1863.
“Major-General SCHENCK,
* Dover, L

‘- Halleck telegraphs: ‘ Expose no large force in advanced positions, where it is
liable to be cut off.’

** T understand this refers to Winchester, and we have other telegrams to the same
effect. What points for concentration does Halleck suggest as the proper ones?
As Stuart’s force is mounted, and ours infantry, the query is important. Does he
mean that we should occupy Martinsburg, Harper's Ferry, and Point of Rocks ?

‘ DONN PIATT,
¢t Lieutenant-Colonel, and Chief of Stafl.”

“ DOVER, DEL., June 9, 1868,
“Lieut. Col. DOxXN PIATT,
** Chief of Staff:

* Halleck has never indicated points of concentration. Maryland Heights, of
course, is one ; any other imust be somewhat determined by circumstances. Confer
with Kelley and Milroy. Be slow about leaving Winchester, but not too slow. Fred-
erick City may become very important if any cromin;i he attempted east of Harper’s
Ferry. I will be home by 4 to-morrow morning. Ask Halleck if he has any points

to suggest.
‘ ROBT. C. SCHENCK,
* Major-General.”

¢ BALTIMORE, Mbp., June 9, 1868.
“Major-General HALLECK,
¢ Qeneral-in-Chief :
*“Does your knowledge of rebel movementg enable you to suggest the better points
on the railroad to concentrate ?
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‘1 have at Point of Rocks and Frederick, 3,400 men ; at Harper's Ferry, 6,300 ; at
‘Winchester, 6,900 ; at Martinsburg, 8,000 ; at Romney, 2,300 ; at New Creek, 2,400.
Troops at Winchester can fall back now to Harper's Ferry, in face of enemy, [or]
to Martinsburg. Force at Romney can fall back to Green Spring.

*ROBT. C. SCHENCK,
¢ Major-General, Commanding.”

‘“ WAR DEPARTMENT, June 11, 1868—12 m.
‘ Major-General SCHENCK :

*“ Harper's Ferry is the important place. Winchester is of no importance other
than asa lookout. The Winchester troops, excepting enough to serve as an outpost,
should be withdrawn to Harper's Ferrﬁ. The troops at Martinsbursghshould also be
ready to fall back to Harper’s Ferry. No large amount of supplies should be left in
any exposed position.

‘“H. W. HALLECK,

‘‘ General-in-Chief.”

Question. What orders or instructions did you communicate to
Maj. Gen. R. H. Milroy in reference to holding or evacuating Win-
chester ?

Answer. On the night of the 8th of June, I sent Lieutenant-Colonel Piatt, my
chief of staff, and also Brig. Gen. Daniel Tyler, to visit Harper’s Ferry, Winchester,
Romney, Martinsburg, and other points within the commands of Major-General
Milroy, who was at Winchester, and of General Kelley, whose division was sta-
tioned on the railroad, with instructions to ascertain and report the exact condition
of things, and directing my chief of staff toact in some degree at his discretion,
according as the necessities might seem to be, and to keep me constantly informed.
On the next day I received from Lieutenant-Colonel Piatt the following dispatch :

¢ 'WINCHESTER, June 10, 1863.
“ Major-General SCHENCK :
¢« Matters look well here, excepting the c'avalri. You can say to the General-in-
Chief that we are ready for the rebels, should they come. Had we not better go
on to Romney? Do youneed Woodhull? He is leaving.
** DONN PIATT,

« Lieutenant-Co onel, and Chief of Staff.”

I would here state that I had directed this officer to proceed immediately to Win-
chester, as he did, without any delay at Harper's Ferry or Martinsburg, Winchester
being the chief point of interest. On the 8th, I had received the following tele-
grams from Brig. Gen. B. F, Kelley, viz:

“HARPER'S FERRY, June 9, 1863.

* Lieut. Col. DoxN PIATT,
*“ Chief of Staff:
“ T have no news from the Valley later than I reported, and that was that Jones
had left the Vallei', going toward Culpeper, and tltl(:);tMJlenkins vgz:m Te(fommand
bove Strasburg. 1 will send the artillery compan ilroy, as directed.
above SH ® i pany o B. F. KELLEY,
** Brigadier-General.”

‘““HARPER'S FERRY, June 9, 1863.

“ Lijeut. Col. DoNN PIATT,
“Chief of Staff:
““A cavalry scout sent yesterday to Snicker's Gap has just returned by way of
‘Wood Grove and Hillsborough, in Loudoun Coux;ﬁ{. S{xw no enemy. Learned that
a detachment of the First New York Cavalry Il ha sklzlrm}x)sh with ltdéo::gda}t lSlalem
esterday, capturing 14 men and 17 horses, incluing Mosby's priva e-horse.
d ¥ cAprirng ' “B. F. KELLEY,
“ Brigadier-General.”

These telegrams from General Kelley to Lieutenant-Colonel Piatt were received
by me after the latter had left on the 9th to go to Winchester. On the 10th, T had
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in a report from Lieutenant-Colonel Piatt, after he had returned to Harper’s
?erry, by telegraph, as follows :
“ Lieutenant-Colonel CHESEBROUGH,
“ Assistant Adjutant-General : .
“ All quiet. Don’t believe in raid, but are getting ready for it. Any dispatches,
send them here. Go to Winchester this afternoon. :
‘ DONN PIATT,

¢ Lieutenant-Colonel, and Chief of Staff.”

‘‘ HARPER'S FERRY, June 10, 1863—11 a. m.

And on that same day, I received the following telegram from the Secretary of
War:

“WAR DEPARTMENT, June 10, 1868—11 a. m.
“Major-General SCHENCK :

‘A sharp ca engagement between our forces, under Pleasonton, and the
rebel forces took place yesterday at Beverly Ford, the details of which have not
reached the De ent. Pleasonton telegraphs that Stuart designed to have com-

menced a raid y into Maryland, but thinks he has been too much crippled to do

80 800N,
“E. M. STANTON,
‘¢ Secretary of War.”

On the 11th, Lieutenant-Colonel Piatt having returned to Winchester, I received
from him the following telegram :

‘ WINCHESTER, June 11, 1868—12 m.
‘ Major-General SCHENCK :
¢ Just in from inspection of fortifications and troops. All looks fine. Can whip
anything the rebels can fetch here. Answer at Martinsburg.
*“ DONN PIATT,
‘¢ Lieutenant-Colonel, and Chief of Staff.”

I should state here that Lieutenant-Colonel Piatt was then, and is yet by assign-
ment, the assistant inspector-%eneral of the Eighth Army Corps. I received after-
ward on the same day from Brig. Gen. D. Tyler, from Martinsburg, the following
telegram :

‘“ MARTINSBURG, June 11, 1868.
* Major-General SCHENCK :
* Left Winchester at 2 p. m. of this p. m. Milroy deserves credit for his fortifi-
cations ; it will take all of Lee's cavalry and light artiller K)NWhi hii:nRout.
“ Brigadier-General.” "

On that day also, I received the following telegram from Major-General Milroy :

*“ WINCHESTER, June 11, 1868,
“ Major-General S8CHENCK : .

“1 have the place well fortified, and am well prepared to hold it, as General Tyler
and Colonel Piatt will inform you, and I can and would hold it, if permitted to do so,
against any force the rebels can afford to br‘i’n]ﬁ against me, and I exceedingly regret
the prospect of having to give it up, and it will be cruel to abandon the loyaf people
that are in this county to the rebel fiends again.

“R. H. MILROY,
‘ Major-General.”

It was on the 11th that General Halleck’s communication, referred to last in my
answer to the former question, was received. In relation to the partial withdrawal
of the troops from Winchester, I immediately telegraphed that dispatch with in-
structions to Lieutenant-Colonel Piatt, as follows :

‘ BALTIMORE, June 11, 1863—12,40 p. m,

* Lieut. Col. DONN PI1ATT,
“ Martinsburg :

* The following just received from Washington :
< Harper’s Ferry is the important place. Winchester I8 of no importance other
11 R R—VOL XXVII, PT II
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than as a lookout. The Winchester troops, excepting enough to serve as an outpost,
should be withdrawn to Harper's Ferry. The troops at Martinsburg should be ready
to fall back to Harper’s Ferry, No large amount of supplies should be left in any

exposed position. P CK
"« < Qeneral-in-Chief.

¢ Colonel Piatt will take steps for preparin% to carry out carefully and judiciously
these instructions of the General-in-Chief. The troops at Romney will also have tc
be considered in any arrangement for such falling back and concentration. Be
ready, but wait for further orders.
) *“ROBT. C. SCHENCK,

¢ Major-General, Commanding.”

In consequence of these instructions, Lieutenant-Colonel Piatt appears to have
sent an order to General Milroy, which I presume is embodied in his testimony, and
hence, in the night between the 11th and 12th, or some time in the morning of the
12th, I received from General Miltoy the following telegram :

‘ WINCHESTER, June 11, 1863—12 p. m,
‘“ Major-General SCHENCK :

“Have just received an order from Colonel Piatt to immediately take steéxs to
move my command to Harper's Ferry, leaving only a sufficient force for a lookout.
1 have sufficient force to hold the place safely, but if any portion is withdrawn the
balance will be captured in forty-eight hours. All should go or none. Please desig-
nate what portion of my forces must be left here for the enemy.
’ “R. H. MILROY,
** Major-General.”

On the 12th, I sent the following dispatch to Lieutenant-Colonel Piatt :

‘“ BALTIMORE, June 12, 1863.

‘¢ Lieut. Col. DONN PIaTT,
“ New Creek, Va.:

“ Copy of your dispatch to General Milroy just received from Cagetain ‘Woodhull.
You have somewhat exceeded my instructions. I directed steps to be taken for
paring to carry out instructions of the General-in-Chief, and added, ‘ Be ready, but
wait for further orders.” I will communicate directly with Milroy.
*“ROBT. C. ENCK,
‘‘ Major-General, Commanding.”

Early on the same morning, and at the same time that 1 sent the last-cited dis-
{)ntchl to Co}llonel Piatt, I sent the following instructions directly to General Milroy
v telegraph : .

‘“ BALTIMORE, June 13, 1868.
‘“Maj. Gen. R. H. MiLroY, .
“Winchester, Va. :

¢ Lieutenant-Colonel Piatt has, I learn by copy of dispatch sent me, which he
forwarded to you from Harper's Ferry, misunderstood me, and somewhat exceeded
his instructions. You will make all the required preparations for withdrawing, but -
hold your position in the meantime. Be ready for movement, but wait for further
orders. I doubt the propriety of calling in McReynolds’ brigade at once. If you
should fall back to Harper's Ferry, he will be in part on the wa{ and covering your
flank ; but use your discretion as to any orders to him. Below I give you a copy of
a telegram of the General-in-Chief. Nothing heard since. Give me constant in-

formation.
- ‘“ROBT. C. SCHENCK,
¢ Major-General, Commanding.”
. [Copy of General Halleck's telegram.]

Harper’s Ferry is the important place. Winchester is of no importance other
than as a lookout. The Winchester troops, excepting enough to serve as an ou .
should be withdrawn to Harper's Ferry. No large amount of supplies should be

left in any exposed position.
H. W. HALLECK,
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On the same morning, I sent a tel , which I cannot now find on my files to
refer to, asking General Milroy as to his means of transportation for getting away
from Winchester. To this, on the same day, I received the following reply :

* WINCHESTER, June 12, 1863,
“ Major-General SCHENCK :
“Telegram received. Ican at any time, if not cut off from Martinsburg, have
sufficient transportation to take all public stores away from here in six hours.
*R. H. MILROY,
. “ Major-General.”

I received that day also, from Brigadier-General Kelley, at Harper's Ferry, the.
following telegrams :
‘“ HARPER’S FERRY, June 12, 1863.
“Lieutenant-Colonel CHESEBROUGH :

“All quiet this morning. Scouts returned from Hillsborough last night; heard
nothing of the enemy. Sent out other scout in Loudoun County this morning.
“B. F. KELLEY,
¢ Brigadier-General.”

¢ HARPER'S FERRY, June 12, 1868.
* Lieutenant-Colonel CHESEBROUGH :
My cav: scout just returned from Loudoun County; went as far as Hills-
borough ; neither saw nor heard of any rebels.
“B. F. KELLEY,

‘“ Brigadier-General.”
1 had also the following from General Milroy :

¢ WINCHESTER, June 12, 1863.
“Major-General SCHENCK :

“‘ The Twelfth Pennsylvania Cavalry had a slilgtht skirmish with a rebel cavalry
force, about 500, 12 miles from here, on road to Front Royal, this afternoon. The
Thirteenth Pe Ivania Cavalry and Eighty-seventh Pennsylvania Infantry, with
one section of artillery, had a splendid little skirmish with some 400 rebel cavalry this
side of Middletown at the same time. The Thirteenth skirmished with the rebels a

- short time, and drew them into an ambuscade of the Eighty-seventh and artillery.
Eight of the rebels were killed, a number wounded, and 37, including a captain and
2 lieutenants, taken prisoners. No casualties on our side. The enemy are probably
approaching in some force. I am entirely ready for them. I can hold this place.
Pgse state specifically whether I am to abandon it or not. :

“R. H. MILROY,
¢ Major-General.”

This was the condition of affairs and the state of my information on the 12th of
June. I had received nothing from General Halleck on that day, and nothing later
than his disg:mh, dated at noon on the day before, although I had addressed to
him on the 12th the following inquiry by telegraph :

“ BALTIMORE, June 12, 1863.
“ Major-General HALLECK,
¢ General-in-Chief :

*“ Have you any knowledge or belief that there is any rebel infantry inthe Val
ley or north of the Rappahannock, on this side of the Blue Ridge? There seems to
me to be yet only parties of ca .

‘* Kelley’s scouts could find no enemy in Loudoun to-day, having gone as far up as

Hillsborough.
“ROBT. C. SCHENCK,
¢ Major-General, Commanding.”

On the 13th, I received the following from Colonel Piatt :

¢ HARPER'S FERRY, June 13, 1868—11 a. m.
“Major-General SCHENCK :
* Have received the following dispatches from General Milroy. Am sorry that
you interfered with me,
“DONN PIATT,

< Chief of Staf.”
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‘¢ Colonel P1ATT,
‘¢ Chief of Staff:

‘¢« A small detachment of First New York encountered a body of rebel cavalry at
‘White Post, supposed to be the advance of force met by Twelfth Pennsylvania on
Front Royal roa,tfob Two of First New York wounded, and 1 missing. One rebel killed
and some wounded. A large rebel wagon train, with strong cavalry force, was dis-
covered on Cedar Creek or Back road this morning. Have sent out heavy scouting
parties on Cedar Creck, Front Royal, and Strasburg roads, well supported. Have
not yet heard from Berryville. Am perfectly certain of my ability to hold this

place
“:R. H. MILROY,
‘¢ Major-General,’”

¢ Colonel PIaTT,
‘¢ Chief of Staff:
‘¢‘Enemy have appeared in considerable force on Cedar Creek, Strasburg, and
Front_Royal roads, and skirmishing going on. Nothing but cavalry appears yet.

« Let them come.”
“‘R. H, MILROY,
¢ Major-General.’”

The court then adjourned to meet at 12 m. September 5, 1863.
TWENTY-SIXTH DAY.

SEPTEMBER 5, 1863.

The court met pursuant to a,djour_nment.

Present, all the members and the {)udﬁa-a..dvocate.

The testimony given yesterday by Major-General Schenck was
read over to him, corrected, and his examination resumed, as follows :

On the 13th of June, I received from General Halleck a dispatch, dated 11 a. m.,

in reply to my inquiry of the day before, whether he had reliable information of
rebel infantry being in the Valley. That dispatch is as follows:

‘““ WAR DEPARTMENT, June 13, 1863—11 a. m.
‘“ Major-General SCHENCK :

““ Our cavalry scouts will probably be in to-day with more reliable information

from the Velley. “H. W. HALLECK
B é}erwraHn-Cl;ief.”

I received also, later in that day, the following telegrams, viz:

‘ WINCHESTER, June 18, 1868,
‘‘ Major-General SCHENCK:

‘“ Considerable skirmishing with artillery all forenoon. McReynolds was attacked
at Berryville this morning; repulsed the enemy, but is falling back on this place, via
Smithfield. It is reported that Stuart is crossing the run at Berry's or Snicker’s
Ferry. I fear the attack is only a feint to cover the great raid.

“R. H., MILROY,
¢ Major-General.”

‘“ HARPER’S FERRY, June 138, 1868.
« Lieutenant-Colonel CHESEBROUGH :

‘“ A messenger just from’ Charlestown reports that the enemy attacked Colonel
McReynolds at Berryville this morning, and was repulsed, but that McReynolds
subsequently fell back, by way of Smithfield, toward Winchester, and that shortly
after %e left, the rebel cavalry dashed in and burned the stores. If this is reliable,
it would seem as if it was not a movement in force, as they in that case would need
all the stores they could get. Have you any information from Heintzelman or
Stahel of the approach of the rebels?

*“B. F. KELLEY,

* Brigadier-General,”



Cr. XXXIX] THE GETTYSBURG CAMPAIGN. 165

1 sent to Lieutenant-Colonel Piatt the following dispatch :

‘“ BALTIMORE, June 18, 1863,
“Lieut. Col. DONN PIATT,
‘* Chief of Staff, Harper’s Ferry:

“Instruct General Milro&o use great caution, risking nothing unnecessarily, and
to be prepared for falling back in good order if over-matched. 1 rely on your hav-
ing support afforded him, as far as may be practicable. In the meantime, go on
with your concentration of forces. Keep me advised of what is needed. hat
movement has been made from Romney?

**ROBT. C. SCHENCK,

‘‘ Major-General, Commanding.”
I sent also to General Milroy these two dispatches :

‘“ BALTIMORE, June 13, 1863,
“Maj. Gen. R. H. MiLROY,
¢ Winchester, Va. :

““It is some hours since I have heard from you. Is there any new movement or
demonstration by the rebels?
“ROBT. C. SCHENCK,
“Major-General, Commanding.”
-

“Maj. Gen. R. H. MILROY.
u Winciwster, Va.:

“Of what rebel regiments were the prisoners you took yesterday? Can you hear
of rebel infantry in the Valley?
*“ROBT. C. SCHENCK,

‘ Major-General, Commanding.”

‘“ BALTIMORE, June 13, 1863.

My reason for asking General Milroy to what regiments the prisoners he had
taken belonged must be obvious. We knew that the rebel General Jones, some-
thing like a fortnight before, had left the Valley to join General Lee in front of

ericksburg, or %a.d gone in that direction, and also that all the infantry of the
First Maryland Line and other rebel infantry that were in the Valley had gone to
lee. We knew just what regiments of cavalry the enemy had been long keepin
in the Shenandoah Valley, and which Milroy, with his force, had been accustom
to encounter and drive when they approached or threatened Winchester. (General
Milroy answered this telegram that evening at 9 o’clock, by courier to Martinsburg,
but his answer was not received at headquarters until noon of the 14th.

¢ WINCHESTER, June 13, 1863—9 p. m.
‘“(Via Martinsburg, June 14—11 a. m.)
‘*‘ Major-General S8CHENCK :

*“ Have been skirmishing ; occasionally pretty severe. One battle, in which the
enemy were repulsed and his lines broken and scattered by two of the Ohio and one
Virginia regiment, assisted by the artillery. We captured some prisoners of a Louis-
iana brigade, who say they belong to Ewell’s, recently Jackson’s old corps, and
that this corps is all in front us; also Jenkins and Imboden. McReynolds will soon
be here. He had a fight with the rebels,and repulsed them before leaving Berry-
ville. He is closely pursued and hard pressed by a heavy body of cavalry. Ican
hold this place five days if you can relieve me in that time. They will surround,
but can’t take; my fortifications.

“R. H. MILROY,

** Major-General.”
That evening, I also received this telegram from General Kelley :

‘““ HARPER'S FERRY, June 13, 1863.

** My scouts to Loudoun County returned. Went as far as Hillsborough ; saw no
enemy. The rebel citizens in that neighborhood report that General Lee is on his
way to drive General Milroy out of Winchester.

“B. F. KELLEY,

“ Brigadier-General.”
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This last teleIg'mm from General Kelley contains the first intelligence or report of
any kind that I had indicating that Lee or any considerable portion of his force, or
any infantry at all, had left the front of Fredericksburg or from east of the Blne
Ridge, to advance upon Winchester or into the Valley. I immediately telegraphed
Milroy—a telegram which I distinctly recollect, but which, from its not reachin
him, seems not to have been preserved or placed on file by the operator ; at least
cannot find it. By that telegram I directed him to fall back, fighting, if necessary,
and to keep the road to Harﬁer’s Ferry, if possible, instead of moving to Martinsburg.
My idea had always been that if a concentration was made upon the railroad, it must
be on Maryland Heights, and I supposed that General Halleck, when speaking so
frequently of Harper's Ferry, meant Maryland Heights. This telegram, I unger-
stood, never reached General Milroy, the wires being cut about that time between
him and the railroad. It was in cipher, like others, and I have understood was
only partly received when the interruption took place. This completes, I believe,
the history of the 13th of June.

On the 14th of June, I received the following dispatches, the first being from
my aide-de-camp, Captain Woodhull, whom I sent with General Tyler, and who
was at that time serving as General Tyler’s assistant adjutant-general :

‘“ MARTINSBURG, June 14, 1883—10.50 a. m.
* Major-General SCHENCK : » ’
“A scout has just arrived here from Milroy ; left Winchester 11 last night ; rgportx
Ewell's cavalry corps in and around Winchester, from 15,000 to 18,000 strong. Jones'
and Imboden’s forces unknown ; also fought yesterday with success, but quite a
loss on both sides. Milroy advises Smith to be on guard ; he apprehgnds a raid on

Martinsburg and Harper’s Ferry.
“MAX WOODHULL,
¢ Assistant Adjutant-General.”

¢¢ MARTINSBURG, June 14, 1863—11 a. m.
““ Major-General SCHENCK:

“ General Milroy reports that he was attacked yesterdﬁy by General Ewell with
from 15,000 to 18, men; that he sustained himself. Notifies us to look out for
Harper's Ferry and Martinsburg. :
“DAN. TYLER,
‘* Brigadier-General.”

¢ MARTINSBURG, June 14, 1868.
‘ Major-General SCHENCK:
* Captain Boyd has just brought from Winchester the following dispatch to you :

¢ ¢ WINCHESTER, June 13, 18683—10 p. m.,
¢ Force at Bunker Hill arrived this morning at 6 o’clock. I was sharply eﬁ fa.ged
with the enemy on last evening; prospect of a general engagement, but will hold
this place in spite of fate.
“¢‘R. H. MILROY,

¢ Major-General.”

“DAN. TYLER,
¢ Brigadier-General.”

I sent the following dispatch to General Tyler, who was then at Martinsburg,
from whence communication might be held with General Milroy by courier.

“ HpQrs. MIDDLE DEPARTMENT, EIGHTH ARMWY CORPS,
. “ Baltimore, June 14, 1868,
¢ Brigadier-General TYLER,
" ¢ Martingburg, Va.: leA End
T repeat, everything must go to Maryland Heights that is possible. Endeavo
to eomxﬁgnical:e this, atlind ux'gently:l :ri to Milroy. Thte enemy gppea.rs to hav
b inchester to tw e is appearing at Martinsburg.
gome By THne o mesmarS PP 'ROBT. C. SCHENCE,
 Major-General, Commanding.™

This telegram I sent in the apprehension that Milroy might not have received my
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order to conduct his retreat in the direction of H r's Ferry. A telegram was
also sent at noon on that day to General Tyler, as follows:

¢ BALTIMORE, June 14, 1883—12 m.
* Brigadier-General TYLER,
¢ Martinsburg : .

“ The general commanding thinks it better thatMyour command should fall back
to Harper's Ferry, and, if possible, offer relief to Milroy by the Harper's Ferry and
Winchester roar:iy Communicate this by cipher to Milroy.

“ By order of Major-General Schenck : .

“DONN PIATT,

¢« Lieutenant-Colonel, and Chief of Staff.”
On the 14th, about noon, I received also from General Halleck the following :

‘“ WAR DEPARTMENT, June 14, 1863—10.80 a. m.
* Major-General SCHENCK :
“It is reported that Lo hee%:n and Ewell’s corps have passed through Cul-
peper to Sperryville, to the ey.
pe v ‘“H. W. HALLECK,

¢ Greneral-in-Chief.”

This appeared to be a further answer to the inquirg which I had made to the
General-in-Chief on the 12th, and contained the first and only hint or intimation I
had from him that any of Lee's force had gone in the direction of the Valley.
Later in the day. I think, I had the two following telegrams from General Halleck
and from the President : :

“ WAR DERPARTMENT, June 14, 1863.
‘* Major-General SCHENCK:
“ If you have not executed my orders to concentrate your forces at Harper’s Ferry,
ou will do so immediately. Troops, stores, &c.,at New Creek, Grafton, &c., should
carried west the moment danger approaches. Unless there is a more prompt
obedience of orders, there must be a c?mnge of commanders. See t6 this imme-
diately.
v ‘“H. W. HALLECK,
** General-in-Chief.”
“ WAR DEPARTMENT, June 14, 1863,
% Major-General SCHENCK :
“ Get General Milroy from Winchester to Harper’s Ferry, if possible. He will be
‘gobbled up’ if he remains, if he is not already past salvation.
‘“A. LINCOLN,
‘¢ President United States.”

By the CouURrT:

Question. In the dispatch from the General-in-Chief, dated June
14, 1863, that officer states: * If you have not executed my orders to
concentrate your forces at Harper’s Ferry, you will do so immedi-
ately.” To what orders does the General-in-Chief refer ? He also
states in the same telegram, ¢‘ Unless there is a more prompt obedience
of orders, there must be a change of commanders.” To what com-
mander or commanders does the general refer; to any at Winchester
or elsewhere ?

Answer. I sup to his telegram of the 11th of June, as that is the only com-
munication from him in which he refers to H 1’s Ferry or any other place as a
point of concentration in case Winchester should be abandoned. But I do not ad-
mit that that telegram contains an order, but only advises a partial evacuation of
Winchester, leaving enough troo(f)s there still to serve as an outpost. I donot know
to what commander or commanders General Halleck meant to refer as deserving
to be changed, but suppose either General Milroy or myself. or both of us. Ire-
member looking at this sentence when it was received with some such query pass-
ing thnmfh my mind, but 1 did not think that it required my attention. I was
doing all I could, and suppose that General Halleck, as is often the case with all of
us, was a little excited by the news he had heard. ’
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A report of the present condition of General Milroy’s division
compiled by Capt. F. A. Palmer, aide-de-camp, was shown to Genera.
Schenck (see Appendix G), and he replied :

- This was made by my authority,and I believe it to be correct. After this was
made, it was found that a still greater number, by, I think, some 200 or 800, could

be accounted for ; and this, without counting teamsters and other retainers of the
camp who escaped with the teams to Harrisburg or went to other points.

By the CourrT:

Question. If General Milroy had promptly obeyed your order to
him of the 13th day of June, 1863, togeave part of his forces at Win-
chester and withdraw the residue, what, in your opinion, would have
been the result of his doing so upon the part left at Winchester ?

Answer. I never instructed General Milroy in my peremptory order of the 13th,
or at any other time, to abandon Winchester with a portion of his forces, leaving a
part behind.

General Schenck was then asked by the court whether he wished
to make any further statements or explanations in reference to the
facts and circumstances connected with the evacuation of Winchester.
General Schenck replied as follows, viz:

I would never at any time, even with only Jones' and Imboden’s forces in the
Valley, have recalled a part of the division at Winchester, leaving a small force ;
and still less, when a part of Lee’s army, or the whole of it in force, came down
“}lem the place as they did, to investit. I would at any time have evacuated Win-
chester altogether or not at all. Indeed, if I had been free in good time to con-
centrate all my forces, excepting a guard to be left upon the raiiroad, in view of an
approach in great force, I would have concentrated at Winchester, where I believe
I could have held Lee’s army in front or outside of the fortifications until Hooker
could come up, the main difficulty with Milroy in that connection having been the
impossibility, with his division, of manning the whole of the works, which had been
repaired and very considerably extended and multiplied since the occupation of the
place before he was stationed there,

By the CouURrT:
Question. Do you know of any instance in which General Milroy

Adisobeyed by neglect or otherwise any order from you relating to the
evacuation of Winchester?

Answer. No,

The court then adjourned to meet at 12 m. Monday, September 7,
1863.

TWENTY-SEVENTH DAY.

SEPTEMBER 7, 1863.

The court met pursuant to adjournment.

Present, all the members and the judge-advocate.

The testimony given yesterday by Major-General Schenck was
read over to him and corrected. General Schenck then asked and
received permission to have the following telegram appear upon the
records of the court, viz :

‘WARRENTON JUNCTION, June 12, 1868—7 p. m.
General WILLIAMS, :
Assistant Adjutant-General :

A colored boy captured on the 9th states that Ewell’s corps passed through Cul-
peper on Monday last, on their way to the Valley, and that part of Longstreet’s had
gone also. A second negro just across the river confirms this statement. Isend a
reconnaissance to find out the truth.

A. PLEASONTON,

Brigadier-General, ete.
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All the testimony having been received that was deemed necessary
by the court, the investigation of the facts and circumstances in re-
gard to the evacuation of Winchester was closed.

WILLIAM F. BARRY,
Brigadier-General of Volunteers, President.
ROBERT N. SCOTT,
Cuplain Fourth U. S. Infantry, Judge-Advocate.

APPENDIX A.

Brig. Gen. W, F. BaRRy,
Brig. Gen. J. J. ABERCROMBIE, and
Brig. Gen. G. A. D Russy,
Detailed for the Court of Inquiry under Special Orders, No.
346, for the purposes in saad order named :

The undersigned, for the purpose of protecting all his rights, priv-
ileges, and interests, doth hereby respectfully protest that he should
not in his reputation, fame, or person be in any manner whatever
injured or affected by the findings of the present court of inquiry,
because he says:

That all the officers who compose said court are brigadier-generals,
while he is a major-general; and while he cannot but admit that the
officers who compose this court are in all respects personally his
peers, yet officially they are not so, and he asks that this, his protest,
may be made part of the record.

. R. H. MILROY,
Major-General.

Avausr 15, [1863.]
APPENDIX B.

‘W ASHINGTON, January 5, 1863.
(Qeneral SCHENCK, Baltimore : -

No attempt should be made to hold Winchester against a large
force of the enemy, but use it simply as an outpost, as advised in our
conversation a dag or two ago. Isolated posts and columns are too
liable to be cut off.

* * * * * * *

H. W. HALLECK,
) General-in-Chief.

‘WasHINGTON, D. C., March 16, 1863.
Major-General SCHENCK, Baltimore:

All troops in Western Virginia will be ordered to your command
The Baltimore and Ohio Railroad Company represent that their road
about Harper’s Ferry is unsafe under General Milroy; can you not
put a more competent officer in his place ?

I must again call your attention to the importance of constructing
block-houses for the defense of railroad bridges.

H. W. HALLECK,
General-in-Chief,




170 N. C., VA., W. VA,, MD,, PA,, ETC. {Car. XXXIX.

‘W ASHINGTON, D. C., April 30, 1863.
Major-General SCHENCK, Baltimore :

If you want more troops in the west and at Harper’s Ferry, why dc
you leave so large a force at Winchester ? As1 Eave often repeated
to you verbally and in writing, that is no place to fight a battle. It
is merely an outpost, which should not be exposed to an attack in

force.
H. W. HALLECK,
General-in-Chief.

‘WasHINGTON, D. C., May 2, 1863.

Major-General SCHENCK, Baltimore :
* * * * * * *

There is every probability against any force of the enemy in front
of Milroy ; he must be on another stampede.
H. W. HALLECK,
General-in-Chief.

‘WaSHINGTON, D. C., May 8, 1863.
Major-General SCHENCK, Baltimore:

I have just learned that Elliott's cavalry has been sent to Wood-
stock and Edinburg. They are of no possible use there, excepting to
be captured. You will maintain only a small force at Winchester, as
an outpost, and employ the remainder of Milroy’s troops for the pro-
tection of the railroad and operations against the enemy in Western
Virginia. For Milroy to attempt operations up the Shenandoah at
the present time is utter madness.

H. W. HALLECK,

Qeneral-in-Chief.

‘WasHINGTON, D. C., May 29, 1863.
Major-General ScHENCK, Baltimore: -

There are reasons why your forces at Harper’s Ferry, in the Shen-
andoah Valley, and Western Virginia should be on the alert, and

preparéed for an attack.
H. W. HALLECK, .
General-in-Chief,

) ‘WASHINGTON, D. C., June 8, 1863.
Major-General SCHENCK, Baltimore :

The indications are that the enemy is massing about 12,000 cav-
alry and artillery in Culpeper County, for a raid. Deserters say
the men have been given to understand that it is to be a long and
desperate one. .

I can only repeat the recommendation so often made to you, to
mass your troops more in convenient places for rapid and concerted
operations, holding railroad bridges only, with small detachments in
block-houses, and exposing no large force in advanced positions,
where they are liable to be cut off. We probably shall not know
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the direction or intention of this raid till it is actually in motion;
hence the necessity of keeping your forces well in hand for a sudden

movement.
H. W. HALLECK,
General-in-Chief,

‘W asHINGTON, D. C., June 11, 1863.
Major-General SCHENCK, Balfimore: '

Harper’s Ferry is the important place. Winchester is of no im-
portance, other than asa lookout. e Winchester troops, excepting
enough to serve as an outpost, should be withdrawn to Harper’s
Ferry. The troops at Martinsburg should also be ready to fall back
on%rper’s Ferry. No large amount of supplies should be left in
any exposed position.

H. W. HALLECK,
General-in-Chief.

‘WASHINGTON, D. C., June 14, 1863.
Major-General SCHENCK, Baltimore :

I have so repeatedly urged you to withdraw your main farces from
Winchester, and so recently (the 11th) directed it, that I cannot un-
derstand how Milroy could have been left there to be invested. I
repeat, you must concentrate on Harper’s Ferry, not on Winchester
or Martinshurg., If General Milroy does not obey your orders, re-
move him from command.

H. W. HALLECK,

General-in-Chief.

W ASHINGTON, D. C., June 15, 1863.
Major-General SCHENCK, Ballimore:

Don’t fail to put every man not required as vedettes into Harper’s
Ferry defenses; there must be no delay in this. Detached forces will
all be wiped out. Your engineer officer should be at Harper’s Ferry,
to assist in directing defenses ; another will be sent you in a few days.
Should the place be besieged, it will soon be relieved.

H. W. HALLECK,
General-in-Chief,

‘W asHINGTON, D. C., June 15, 1863,
Major-General SCHENCK, Baltimore:

Don’t give General Milroy any command at Harper’s Ferry ; we
have had enough of that sort of military genius. If you have not
already done so, send all your small posts and available troops there;
that place must be held.

H. W. HALLECK,
General-in-Chief.
ArpENnDIX C. '
(For Milroy’s report, see pp. 41-52.)
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APPENDIX D.

Telegrams submitted to the court by Lieut. Col. Donn Piaft, as-
sistant inspector-general, Eighth Army Corps.

N. B.—The telegrams quoted in full by General Schenck in his
testimony have been withgrawn from this appendix, and returned for
file to General Schenck’s headquarters.

: ROBERT N. SCOTT,
Captain Fourth U. S. Infantry, Judge-Advocate.

HoQrs. MipDLE DEPARTMENT, EIGHTHE ARMY CORPS,
. Baltimore, Md., June 9, 1863.
Major-General SCHENCK,
Dover, Del.:
Halleck telegraphs:
Expose no large force in advanced positions, where it is liable to be cut off,

I understand this refers to Winchester, and we have other tele-
ams to the same effect. What points for concentration does Hal-
eck suggest as the proper ones? As Stuart’s force is mounted, and
ours infantry, the query is important. Does he mean that we should
occupy Martinsburg, Harper’s Ferry, and Point of Rocks?
DONN PIATT,
Lieutenant-Colonel, and Chief of Staff.

HpQrs. MIDDLE DEPARTMENT, EIGHTH ARMY CORPS,
Baltimore, Md., June 9, 1863.
Brigadier-General AVERELL,
Weston, Va.:
Letter received ; answer by mail to-day. Scammon telegraphs :
From knowledge of force in my front, my opinion is that no part of my force can
be sent to Summerville,
Stuart is said to be collecting over 10,000 mounted men at Cul-
er, for a raid. It can scarcely be for your region, but it is well
g e on the alert.
No more infantry can be spared for the present.
DONN PIATT,
Lieutenant-Colonel, and Chief of Staff.

Hp@rs. MIDDLE DEPARTMENT, EIGHTH ARMY CORPS,
Baltimore, Md., June 11, 1863.
Major-General HALLECK,
General-in-Chief, Washington, D. C.:
The following dispatch just received from Milroy :

‘WINCHESTER,
June 8—8.80 p. m.

Jenkins is still above Strasburg, but the Feater part of the rebel cavalry hiave left
the Valley to join Stuart at Culpeper. I learn from various sources that Lee has
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mounted the whole of Hood’s infantry division. Their cavalry force at Culpeyl)er is
gmbabl more than twice 12,000. I would advise that the militia of Maryland,

ennsylvania, and Ohio be at once called out, as there is doubtless a mighty raid on
foot. A number of foreigners just from Richmond speak of a great movement of

troops through Richmond from the south.
ROBT. C. SCHENCK,

Magjor-General, Commanding.

. HARPER’s FERRY,
June 13, 1863.
Major-General SCHENCK:

Received the following at noon to-day:

Colonel P1aTT :
Enemy a proachiniin strong force. Infantry and artillery on Strasburg pike.
gmg into t

Elliott pitc em. Any extrastar very niuch in the way ; ought to be there
myself. Will get them, if Elliott falls back.
R. H. MILROY,
Major-General,
DONN PIATT,

Lieutenant-Colonel, and Chief of Staff.

HpQrs. MipDLE DEPARTMENT, EIGHTH ARMY CORPS,
Baltimore, June 13, 1863.
Brigadier-General KELLEY,
Harper's Ferry, Va.:

Call in Colonel Smith’s command immediately, so that it can march
to the relief of Milroy on the arrival of General Tyler, who will be
in Harper’s Ferry on midnight train.

See him on train. .

DONN PIATT,
Lieutenant-Colonel, and Chief of Staff.

Hp@Rrs. M1iDDLE DEPARTMENT, EIGHTH ARMY CORPS,

Balttmore, June 13, 1863.
Maj. Gen. R. H. MiLRoY,
Winchester, Va.:
It is some hours since I have heard from you. Isthere any new
movement or demonstration by the rebels?
ROBT. C. SCHENCK,
Magjor-General, Commanding.

HpQrs. MIDDLE DEPARTMENT, E1IGHTH ARMY CORPS,
Baltimore, Md., June 13, 1863,
Maj. Gen. R. H. MILROY,
Winchester, Va.:
Of what rebel regiments were the prisoners you took yesterday ?
Can you hear of rebel infantry in the Valley?
ROBT. C. SCHENCK,
Major-General, Commanding.
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HarPER’S FERRY, June 13, 1863—11 p. m.
Lieut, Col. DoNN PiaTT:

I explained to you in my last telegram why I did not order the
Fifteenth Virginia to Martinsburg. Shall I now do so?
The telegraph line ceased to work to Winchester at about 9 o’clock,
8o Colonel Smith reports.
All quiet in this neighborhood yet.
B. F. KELLEY,
Brigadier-General.

(We have not worked with Winchester since about 9 o'clock.—
OPERATOR.)

HEADQUARTERS, Baltimore, June 14, 1863.
Brigadier-General KELLEY, Harper's Ferry: '
Tyler informs the general commanding that at nightfall he will
fall back to Williamsport, and from thence to Harper’s Ferry. It
is important Milroy should know this. Send trusty scout with it in
cipher, if possible, ,
y order :
DONN PIATT,
Chief of Staff.

MARTINSBURG, June 14, 1863—3 p. m.
Major-General ScHENCK and President LINCOLN:

(General Milroy is in a tight place. If he gets out, it will be by
good luck and hard fighting. lgot a straggler from his army is yet
in ; it is neck or nothing. We are besieged here ; have had a little
skirmish. I imagine our rebel friends are waiting for grub and

artillery.
DAN. TYLER,
_ Brigadier-General,
HpQrs. MIDDLE DEPARTMENT, E1GHTH ARMY CORPS,
Bualtimore, June 14, 1863.
ABRAHAM LINCOLN,
President of the United States, Washington, D. C.:

I am doing all I can to get Milroy back toward Harper’s Ferry
on the railroad. He sent down a courier in the night to say that, if
he could not fall back, he could sustain himself, and hold his position
five days, but I have no force to squom him. The rebels appear
to have pushed on beyond him rapidly and impetuously, and are re-
ported approaching Martinsburg. :

A ROBT. C. SCHENCK,
Major-General, Commanding,

U. 8. MiLITARY TELEGRAPH HEADQUARTERS, 12 p. m.
Lieutenant-Colonel P1aTT:

Harper’s Ferry reports a slight current from Winchester battery,
which proves the wire is not broken. It is probably on the grouxl;g‘
Cannot work to Winchester at present.

Respectfully, &c.,
G. W. BALDWIN.
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HpqQrs. M1iDDLE DEPARTMENT, EIGHTH ARMY CORPS,
Baltimore, Md., June 14, 1863.
Brigadier-General KELLEY,
Harper's Ferry:

The general commanding requests you to find some trusty scout to
carry, if possible, information to General Mi1r0¥' that Martinsburg
is evacuated, and that he can expect no help from your quarter;
that he must hold out to the last.

Send in cipher, and take every precaution.

DONN PIATT,
Lieutenant-Colonel, and Chief of Staff.

HpQrs. MipDLE DEPARTMENT, EIGHTH ARMY CORPS,
Baltimore, Md., June 14, 1863.
Major-General MILROY,
Winchester, Va.:

Our forces have evacuated Martinsburg, and fallen back to Harper’s
Ferry. We can give you no help. You must hold out to the last,
and then use fyour own judgment as to cutting your way out.

By order of Maj. Gen. R. C. Schenck :

DONN PIATT,

Lieutenant-Colonel, and Chief of Staff.

[P. 8.]—General Kelley will send this through, if possible, by
scout.

HpQrs. MipDLE DEPARTMENT, EIGHTH ARMY CORPS,

Baltimore, June 14, 1863.
Brigadier-General TYLER,
Martinsburg, Va.:
I repeat, everything must go to Maryland Heights that is possible.
Endeavor to communicate this, and urgently, again to Milroy. The
enemy appears to have gone by Winchester to the westward, if he

is appearing at Martinsburg.
P ROBT. C. SCHENCK,

Magor-General, Commanding.

HpQrs. MipDLE DEPARTMENT, EIGHTH ARMY CORPS,
. Baltimore, Md., June 14, 1863,
Major-General HALLECK:
My orders to Milroy and Kelle¥ have been to get everything pos-
sible to Maryland H};ights, but I have nothing from Milroy later
than 11 last night, his telegraphic communication being intercepted.
The enemy appears to have pushed on impetuously to the westward
of him, approaching Martinsburg.
Gener ler is there, directing, with a view to get all to Harper’s
Ferry, but it is not yet known whether the reported approach to Mar-

tinsburg is in force.
ROBT. C. SCHENCK,
Major-Qeneral, Commanding.
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Hp@Rrs. MipDLE DEPARTMENT, EIGHTH ARMY CORPS,
Baltimore, Md., June 14, 1863.
Major-General HALLECK,
Washington :

My orders have been absolute in relation to concentration at Har-
per’s Ferry. I believe Milroy and Tyler are doing their best to com-
ply with my commands. The orders in reference to concentration of
troops west of Martinsburg, at Grafton, have also gone out, and are
being executed.

Averell is also ordered to Grafton.

ROBT. C. SCHENCK,
Major-General, Commanding.

HARPER’S FERRY,
June 15, 1863.
Colonel PI1aATT:

Yourdispatch received, and sent byscont to Milroy. Nothing from
the enemy in my front this morning.
B. F. KELLEY,

Brigadier-General.

HARrPER’S FERRY,
f June 15, 1863—12.40 p. m.
Major-General SCHENCK :
Colonel McReynolds has i’ust come from the front. He reports
that Generals Milroy and Elliott are within an hour’s march of the
city. He thinks that 2,000 will cover his loss. Not nearly so bad as

I had feared.
DAN. TYLER,
Brigadier-General.

HpQrs. MipDLE DEPARTMENT, EIGHTH ARMY CORPS,
Baltimore, Md., June 15, 1863.
Major-General HALLECK,
@eneral-in-Chief, Washington, D. C.:
Nothing from Milroy since 11 o’clock Saturday night. Is it not
ossible to have a cavalry movement in the front as a diversion in

is favor ?
ROBT. C. SCHENCK,
Major-General, Commanding.

HARPER’s FERRY,
June 15, 1863.
Major-General SCHENCK :

I am in with the greater part of my command. The fortificationsat
‘Winchester were invested by about 15,000 rebels and twenty pieces of
artillery. They carried my outer works by storm, 6 o’clock on Sun-
day evening. I spiked all my guns Sunday night, and left with the
whole of my command quietly at 1 o’clock this morning, bringing
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all the horses of my artillery, and wagons, but was interrupted by
an overwhelming force with artillery 4 miles this side of Winchester,
on the Martinsburg road, and, after a desperate fight of two hours, I
got through, but mf force was greatly shattered and scattered. We
were pursued by a large cavalry force, who picked up numbers of
m{ weary boys.
cannot yet tell the amount of my loss, but I think it will not ex- " -
ceed 2,000,
What are your orders ?
R. H. MILROY,
Major-General.

[NorE.—For additional telegrams, see Part III, Correspondence,
etc., under dates of June 3, 4, 6, 10, 11, 13, and 14.]

APPENDIX E.*

HEADQUARTERS MILROY’S DIVISION,
Winchester, March 1, 1863.
Major-General SCHENCK :

DEAR SIR : From information received through deserters, negroes,
citizens, and scouts, I have every reason for beﬁevin that the rebel
force in front of me has been very considerably re-enforced, and that
an early attack is intended on this place, or rather on my forces
stationed here, and that the attack has only been this long delayed
on account of the very inclement weather of the last month. I
therefore ask that I may be allowed, without delay, at least two more
regiments of infantry, one more of cavalry, and one more battery,
and that I may be allowed to assume the offensive. My cavalry force
should be increased for the reason that, from the best information
I can get, the rebel cavalry force in my front is about five times as
great as my own at present is.
1 am, general, very respectfully, your most obedient servant,
R. H. MILROY,
Brigadier-General.

[Indorsement.]

HeADQUARTERS EiGHTH ARMY CORPS,
Baltimore, Md., March 4, 1863.

Respectfully forwarded to the General-in-Chief.

It is impossible for me to give to General Milroy the re-enforce-
ments he asks, for the simple and conclusive reason that I have not
the troops. I will add that it seems to be the general opinion of
secessionists in Baltimore that Milroy is to be soon attackeg.

ROBT. C. SCHENCK,
Major-General, Commanding.

HpQRrs. SECOND Di1visioN, E1GHTH ARMY CORPS,
. Winchester, Va., June 12, 1863.
Maj. Gen. R. C. SCHENCK :

DeAr SIR: Havini; received some orders looking to the evacuation
of this place and falling back upon Harper’s Ferry, I hope you will

*See also reports of Capts. John Carlin and F. W, Alexander, orginally parts of
this appendix.
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pardon me for making a few suggestions, in addition to those of Gen-
eral Elliott, which I inclose, on t%e importance of holding this point:

First. This place is the key to the Baltimore and Ohio Railroad.
Let this point %e abandoned, and our forces withdrawn to Harper’s
Ferry, and no force that it would be practicable for our Govetnment
to place at Harper’s Ferry, and at points along the Baltimore and
Ohio Railroad west of that place, would or could secure it against
raids from the enemy occupying this place as a base. That railroad
never has been nor never can be kept from destruction while this
place is occupied by the rebels.

Secondly. The fortifications on the hill near this place are now so
perfect, and all approaches to them so well protected by outworks,

"that I can hold them against five times our number.

Thirdly. The Union men and women of thisand adjoining counties
have been so often disappointed and abandoned to the demons of
treason, that they had become very timid and doubtful, but our six
months’ occupation here has begun to give them confidence in, and
many of them have come outand taken adecided stand for, the Union,
and 1n both town and countrythe Union sentiment has recently been
rapidly improving. Men and women are coming in daily in large
numbersand voluntarily taking the oath of allegiance,and I am to%d
that the leading influential secessionists of this place, in private
counsel among themselves, have determined, upon the first serious
reverse to their cause in Virginia, to come out boldly and take the
stump for reconstruction.

Fourthly. There is a large amount of wheat in this and the sur-
rounding counties, of the last two years’ crops, still unthreshed, which
the rebs would get, if we abandoned the country to them.

Iam, therefore, decidedly of opinion that every dictate of interest,
policy, humanity, patriotism, and bravery requires that we should
not yield a foot of this country up to the traitors again.

With much respect, I am, general, truly, yours, &c.
R. ¥I MILROY,
Magjor-General.

[Indorsement.]

HEADQUARTERS EicHTH ARMY CORPS,
Baltimore, Md., June 14, 1863.

Respectfully forwarded to the General-in-Chief.
The original not received until this morning, but in the meantime
our orders to abandon Winchester and fall back to Harper’s Ferry
Kave been made still more peremptory.
ROBT. C. SCHENCK,
Major-General.

[Inciosure.]

Hp@rs. FirsT BRIG., SECoND Div., E1IGHTH ARMY CORPS,
Winchester, Va., June 12, 1863.
Maj. Gen. R, H. MILROY, '
JU. 8. Vols., Comdg. Second Div., Eighth A. C., Winchester, Va.:

GENERAL: By re%uest, I respectfully submit my views in regard to
the occupation of this place by the United States forces.

With the force under your command, including that at Berryville
the fortifications commanding the town, and outworks, can be held
against two or three times its number.
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The loyal sentiment of the inhabitants of the place and vicinity is
much stronger than I expected to find, and has increased during the
past three months, because of the belief of loyal people that the
country would be occupied by our troops, and that they would not
again be subjected to the ravages of the rebel forces,

From observation and information, I am satisfied that in this vicin-
ity there is a large amount of wheat, the crop of two seasons, not
yvet threshed; this would afford subsistence to the rebels, should they
occupy the country.

I dl()) not know the military necessity for an evacuation of the place,
but would regret it very much, should there be occasion for it.

I am, general, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
W. L. ELLIOTT,
. Brigadier-General, U. S. Volunteers.

ArpPENDIX F.

HarpPER’S FERRY, January 6, 1863.
Colonel WHIPPLE,
Assistant Adjutant-General, Baltimore :

Major Russell has just returned from a scout as far as Winchester.
Went yesterday by way of Charlestown and Berryville, returned via
Bunker Hill and Smithfield. All quiet ; neither saw nor heard of
any rebels in his roate. He brings me the same report contained in
your dispatch, but says it is only rumor. There may be, and proba-
%)ly is, a force in the upper part of the Valley, but I do not believe
A, P. Hill is there.

If you deem it best, I would suggest that the regiment and battery
you have at Baltimore be sent to %%ilro .

Please give me orders in regard to golding or abandoning Win-

chester in case we are threatened by a strong force.
B. F. KELLEY,
Brigadier-General.

HEADQUARTERS MILROY’S DIVISION,
Winchester, Va., January 6. (Via Harper’s Ferry.)
Major-General SCHENCK, Baltimore:

Information is received that A. P. Hill and Loring are approaching
this place by way of Staunton and New Market in heavy force. Ican
hold this place, but need re-enforcements, especially cavalry. Could
not a force be sent from Washington toward Lurayand Port%epublic,

to cut them off ?
R. H. MILROY,
Brigadier-General,

HARrPER’S FERRY, VA.,
January 13, 1863.
Lieutenant-Colonel WHIPPLE,
Assistant Adjutant-General, Baltimore:
The following just received from General Milroy :

JANUARY 12.
General KELLEY :
Have received information from two sources to-day that a large rebel force is ap-
proaching this place, half to attack by Front Royal and Valley pike, the other to go



180 ' N. C., VA.,, W. VA., MD., PA., ETC. [CraP, XXXTX.

around by Berryville to cut me off from Martinsburg ; their object being to get the
stores from here, for which they are suffering.

I have no cavalry for scouting, and am helpless. If I am to hold this place, m
force should be doubled. Please order Washburn from Romney here with my artil-
lery, and a cavalry force, to come up through Berryville.

B. F. KELLEY,
[Brigadier-General.]

BaLTiMORE, Mb.,
March 14, 1863—1.30 p. m.
H. W. HALLECK,
General-in-Chief :

Following sent to commanding officer, Harper’s Ferry :

You will immediately send forward two regiments of infantry to re-enforce Gen-
eral Milroy at Winchester. .
By order of Brevet Brigadier-General Morris :
WM. H. CHESEBROUGH,
Assistant Adjutant-General.

HeapQUARTERS DEFENSES UPPER PoToMAc,
Harper's Ferry, Va., March 14, 1863.
General HALLECK :

I have reliable information from Union men this moment from
Charlestown, that Hampton, Jones, and Imboden are with their
forces at Strasburg; in all over 10,000 men, with ten or more field
pieces. It is believed they are moving on Winchester.

B. S. ROBERTS,
Brigadier-General, Commanding.

(Copies to General Heintzelman and to General Schenck, com-
manding department, Baltimore.)

GENERAL SCHENCK’S HEADQUARTERS,
Baltimore, April 26, 1863—11.30 p. m.
(Received April 27, 12.15 a. m.)

Major-General HALLECK,
General-in-Chief :

General Milroy sends the following:

‘WINCHESTER, Apri 26, 1863.
Major-General SCHENCK, Baltimore:

T have just received a message from General Elliott at Lost River, 5 miles beyond
‘Wardensville. He found the river too high to cross with his infantry and artillery.
Sent on a regiment of cavalry toward Moorefield ; says he cannot cross his infantry
and artillery without bridging, and he has not tools to build a bridge.

I think before he can cross, Jones will have escaped. What do you say to havins
Elliott go from Wardensville to Woodstock, then up the Valley to Harrisonburg, to
head Jones off? I think it would be best to turn Leopold over to the civil authori-
ties of Maryland. Shall I doso?

R. H.Lll\ﬁ.LROY,
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Shall I direct this movement ? I am inclined to consent to it. It
is a bold, but I believe would be an effective and successful, move-
ment. General Elliott has four regiments of infantry, two of cav-

alry, and one or two batteries. -
ROBT. C. SCHENCK,
Major-General, Commanding.

BALTIMORE, Mb., June 11, 1863.

Major-General HALLECK,
General-in-Chief :

The following just received from Lieutenant-Colonel Piatt, assist-
ant inspector-general, whom I sent with General Tyler to Winchester:

‘WINCHESTER, VA., June 11, 1863—12 m.
Major-General SCHENCK :

Just in from inspection of fortificitions and troops. All looks fine. Can whip
anything the rebels can fetch here.
DONN PIATT,

Lieutenant-Colonel, and Chief of Staf.

Your instructions to-day in regard to withdrawing troops from
Winchester and concentrating at Harper's Ferry have been received,
snd I have given directions to be rea.(s)e and carry them out.

ﬁOBT. C. SCHENCK,
Muajor-General.

BALTIMORE, MbD., June 13, 1863.
Colonel Piatt, Harper’s Ferry:

Instruct General Milroy to use great caution, risking nothing un-
negessarily, and to be prepared for falling back in good order if over-
matched. I rely on your having support afforded him as far as may
be practicable.

n the meantime, go on with your concentration of forces. Keep
me advised of what 1s needed. 1at movement has been made from

Romney?
ROBT. C. SCHENCK,
Major-General,

HEADQUARTERS OF THE ARMY,
Washington, D. C., June 14, 1863.

Major-General SCHENCK, Balfimore :

If you have not executed my orders to concentrate your forces at
Harper’s Ferry, you will do so immediately.

Troops, stores, &c., at New Creek, Grafton, &c., should be carried
west the moment danger approaches.

Unless there is a more prompt obedience of orders, there must be
a change in the commanders,

See to this immediately.

H. W. HALLECK,
General-in-Chief.
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‘WINCHESTER, VA., [June] 13, 1863—8 p. m.
Via Martinsburg, Va., June 14—11 a. m,
(Received June 14—11.40 a. m.)
Major-General SCHENCK, Baltimore, Md. :
Have been skirmishing, occasionally pretty severely. One battle,
in which the enemy were repulsed, and his lines broken and scattered
by two of the Ohio and one Virginia regiment, assisted by the artil-

lery.

\%’e captured some prisoners of a Louisiana brigade, who say they
belong to Ewell’s, recently Jackson’s old corps, and that his corps is
all in front of us; also Jenkins and Imboden.

McReynolds will soon be here. He had a fight with the rebels, and
repulsed them before leaving Berryville. He is closely pursued and
hard pressed by a heavy body of cavalry.

I can hold this place five days, if you can relieve me in that time.
They will surround, but can’t take, my fortifications,

R. H. MILROY,
Major-General.

APPENDIX G.
BALTIMORE, August 18, 1863.
DonN Piatr, Lieutenant-Colonel, and Chief of Staff:
CoLONEL: I have the honor, agreeably to instructions contained
in Special Orders, No. 181, to submit the following as a report of the

whereabouts of the forces lately commanded by Maj. Gen. Robert
H. Milroy :

Commanded by Col. A. T. McReynolds, First New York Cavalry, July 25, 1888.

¥ |
Command. g | % §
£ 5 4
S

& Z &
12th Virginia Infantry.........coovee cviiiviaeineeincnonsns 598 81 a4
116th Ohio Infantry.................... 596 26 622
87th Pennsylvania Infantry........... 270 10 280
123d Ohlo Infantry.................... 08 5 218
122d Ohio Infantry........... 181 10 191
18th Counecticut Infantry... A2 9 B1
1st New York Cavalry...... 589 .14 576
12th Pennsylvania Cavalry .. 418 30 48
18t and 8d Virginia Cav. x 2 1
K47 O 8,069 160 | 8,0

13th Pennsylvania Cavalry, Army of the Potomac, General Gregg...........
5th Maryland Infantry, in Baltimore ............ccoiieivinnivraennns ..
6th U. 8. Artillery, Relay House, Lieutenant S8pooner........
3d Virginia Cava.lrxh()umberland, Captain McVickar..............
1st Virginia Light illery, Wheeling, Va., Ca Carlin........
1st Virginia Cavalry, Army of the Potomac, Lieutenant Dawson.....
Baltimore Batter&e(}a mAlJexander ........... ... iiiiiiiiiiii e
116th Ohlo Volunteer Infantry, one company, Baltimore, and stragglers......
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Commanded by Brigadier-General Eliott, Third Division, Third Corps, Army o
the Potomae, August —, 1863, f

% k £ l
=) u§ é g
Command. 2 - ;
ElE| |58
A & g <
885 4
Ohio ﬁf 86} 33
6th Maryland Infantry. .. 433 36
&th Pennsylvania Infantry. . .. 219 15 '
o7th Penusylvania Infantry................ .. cevae 105 12 uz a2 ........
Total ............. e 1,821 10| 1,841 784 l 2,726
14th Massachusetts Heavgnmnk-ry, Camp Parole.................. U
Total Camp Parole, July 29, 1808 ... .......vioiiiiiie i iiiieieiiaiiia e anaanss 2,803
TOtAl ACCOUNLOA fOF . ... veiiinsieirinnraaeeraasussasaseansansssanerserctsreessrossssaasrannns 8,7
TREN ON AUy . ..o teoiiiienaeiniaierisatnssaerasssonninorsansssstsasstieerssneraceassnises 5,908

The above report is drawn from the morning and tri-monthly re-
ports of the several commanders, and is as correct and definite as the
scattered condition of the forces will admit. .

I am, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
F. A. PALMER,
Captain, and Aide-de-Camp.

ADDENDA.

‘WASHINGTON, Sepfember 1, 1863,
The PRESIDENT OF THE UNITED STATES :

Sir: I have been summoned to this city to appear as a witness
before a court of inquiry convened under Specia1p Orders, No. 346,
current series, Adjutant-General’s Office.

Until this morning, I had not seen nor did I know the terms of
that order. Ihad only understood that, on the application of Major-
General Milroy, forwarded through me as his corps commander, a
court of inquiry had been ordereg.

But, coming here as a witness, I find myself answering to a call
which would make me in fact a party defendant to the investigation
which this court is conducting, and this without notice, without op-
portunit{l to object to the constitution of the court, and without a
part in the testimony which has been given ; and also when I have
neither been ‘‘accused,” and so demanded a court of inquiry, nor
has one been ‘‘ directed ” by the President to inquire into my official
conduct. - .

Referring to instructions embodied in the order for this court, I
find this language :

The court will report whether the orders of the General-in-Chief; in regard to the
gvi;cnation of Winchester, were complied with; and, if not, by whom they were

But the orders of the Gteneral-in-Chief were given only to and
through me as the corps commander. I am, therefore, necessaril
put upon my defense as at least one of the parties to this proceed-
ing. In any investigation that ensues, there will be involved also, of
necessity, the conduct and course of the General-in-Chief in relation
to the matter in question; and yet, as I am distinctly advised, this
court, in the findings and report and recorded opinions of which heis
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so directly concerned, and all the members of which are inferior to
me in grade, is entireiy of his own selection, and the judge-advocate
of it his own military secretary.

I shrink from no legitimate inquiry into any official conduct of
mine, as involved in the particular matter in question, or in any other
performance of my duty; but I respectfully demand as a right that
my re{))uta.tion and conduct shall not be called in question, or decided
upon by surprise or indirection.

I ask, Mr. President, that you will order a court of inquiry, which
shall be, as to me and my rights, regular in its institution and fair
. in the opportunities afforded me to meet anything which it may be

pretended implicates me unfavorably in any action attending the
evacuation of Winchester. *
. I have the honor to be, very respectfullﬁ,’lyour obedient servant,
' ROBT. C. SCHENCK,
Magjor-General, U. S. Volunteers.

[SEPTEMBER 7, 1863.]

Major-General Schenck then proposed to the court that Major-
General Hooker, being in the city, should be summoned as a witness,
stating that he was informed that there could be proven, and he pro-
¥osed to have proven, among other facts, by General Hooker this:

hat he, then being in command of the Army of the Potomac, did re-
ceive a telegram from General Pleasonton, informing him that it was
reported that two corps of Lee’s army—Longstreet’sand Ewell’s—had
marched through Culpeper, by way of Sperryville, to the Shenandoah
Valley, and that this telegram, like others, was received by milita
telegraph in the usual way through the War Department, where suc
telegraphic information was accustomed to be taken dowm as it
passed, for the information of the Secretary of War and of the Gen-
eral-in-Chief; and that this was on the 12th day of June, 1863.

ROBT. C. SCHENCK.

[Indorsement.]

SEPTEMBER 7, 1863.

The court will place upon its record the telegram alluded to (if
any such was transmitted), for which purpose it will procure it from
the files of the War Department or from those of the headquarters
of the army. Ineither event, the court will feel bound to admit that
this telegram came regularly through the usual channels, unless posi-
tive information should accompany it amounting to proof that this
one formed am exception in the ordinary transmission of such dis-

patches. .
ROBERT N. SCOTT, .
Captain Fourth U. S. Infantry, Judge-Advocate.

‘WARRENTON JUNCTION,
June 12, 1863—7 p. m.
General S. WILLIAMS,
Assistant Adjulunt-General:
A colored boy captured on the 9th states that Ewell’s corps passed
through Culpeper on Monday last, on their way to the Valley, and
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that part of Longstreet’s has gone also. A second negro just across
the river confirms the statement. Isend areconnaissance to find out

the truth.
A. PLEASONTON,
Brigadier-General.

HEADQUARTERS CAVALRY CORPS,
June 13, 1863—9 a. m.
Major-General HOOKER:

General Butterfield’s dispatch just received. The negroes say Ewell
took the road to Sperryville. They are all traveling the same way.
Iam pushing reconnaissance in that direction. Ask Ingalls if he got
my dispatch about Mosby. .

' A. PLEASONTON,

Brigadier-General, Commanding.

HeADQUARTERS CAVALRY CORPS,
June 13, 1863.
Major-General HOOKER:

Mr. Smith reports this morning that Ewell left Culpeper last Sun-
day morning, and Longstreet on Monday and Tuesday, for the Valley.
Have parties over the river, and expect to know more to-day. W'ouf,d
it not be well for General Stahel to send out toward the Valley and

see ?
A. PLEASONTON,
Brigadier-General.

SEPTEMBER 7, 1863.

Major-General Schenck then asked to have Major-General Halleck,
General-in-Chief, summoned as a witness, stating that he proposed
to offer the testimony of General Halleck in connection with an
article, which he produced to the court, published in the New York
Times on or about the day on which the order was made for the
convening of this court, and giving an account of the evacuation of
Winchester, erroneous as to many of the facts stated, and reflecting
on the conduct and character of Major-Generals Schenck and Milroy
in that connection, and to prove by him that that article was written
and sent for publication by some person employed or on duty at the
hfadﬁarters of the army, or was made up from data furnished from
those

eadquarters.
ROBT. C. SCHENCK.
[Indorsement.}

SEPTEMBER 7, 1863,

Respectfully returned to Major-General Schenck.
This communication refers to a matter with which the court has

nothing to do.
ROBERT N. SCOTT,
Captain Fourth U. S. Infantry, Judge- Advocate.
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REVIEW OF THE JUDGE-ADVOCATE-GENERAL OF THE RECORD OF
THE COURT OF INQUIRY RELATIVE TO THE EVACUATION OF WIN-
CHESTER BY THE COMMAND OF MAJ. GEN. R. H. MILROY.

JUDGE-ADVOCATE-GENERAL’S OFFICE,
Washington, D. C., September 17, 1863.

The record of the court of inquiry recently convened and ordered
to inquire into and report the facts and circumstances in regard to
the evacuation of Winchester by the command of Maj. Gen, R. H.
Milroy, U. 8. Volunteers, has been fully reviewed by me, and I have
the honor to present the following summary of facts, with the con-
clusions deemed to be properly deduced therefrom : :

The facts naturally divide themselves and will be presented under
the following heads:

1. The circumstances and character of the occupation of Win-
chester before the attack. ,

II. The orders given General Milroy inreference to the evacuation.

II1. The circumstances of the attack.

IV. The evacuation (June 15).

V. The retreat.

I. The circumstances and character of the occupation of Win-
chester before the attack.

Attheoutset of the investigation, there isencountered theimportant
and significant fact that, from a period long prior to the evacuation of
‘Winchester by General Milroy, there had existed adecided difference
of opinion between the General-in-Chief and Major-General Schenck
as to the purpose and ﬂro er manner of occupying this post. Gen-
eral Schenck, having the duty assigned him to protect the line of the
Baltimore and Ohio Railroad, instead of stationing guards and pickets
near or along the line, believed it better to establis strongagarrisons
in a cordon of Ir1>osts considerably to the south of the road. Win-
chester, especially, he considered the key to the apgroa,ch to a con-
siderable section of country traversed by the road, and here he deemed
it proper to station a division of about 9,000 men, under General
Mi roK. On the other hand, the General-in-Chief was of the opinion
that the troops should be concentrated at important points on or near
the line, like Harper’s Ferry, and that only a small force should be
left at Winchester (and like points), as a lookout or outpost.

Thus, we have a series of telegrams from General Halleck to Gen-
eral Schenck from the date of January 5, 1863, down to the period of
the attack upon Winchester, in all of which the former conveys his
views upon this subject in a decided manner and in similar terms.
On January 5, he says:

No attempt should be made to hold Winchester against a large force of the
enemy, but use it simply as an outpost, as advised in our conversation a few days
ago. Isolated posts and columns are liable to be cut off.

On April 30, he telegraphs:

As T have often repeated verbally and irn writing, that [Winchester] is no place
to ?ght; a battle. It is merely an outpost, which should not be exposed to an attack
in force.

On May 8, he telegraphs:

You will maintain only a small force at Winchester as an outpost, and employ
the remainder of Milr%s troops for the protection of the railroad and for operations
against the enemy in West Virginia.
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On June 8, after notifying General Schenck of the threatened raid
by Stuart, he says:

I can only repeat the recommendation so often made to you, to mass your troops
more in convenient places for rapid and concerted operations, exposing no large
force in advanced positions, where they are liable to be cut off. We shall not know
the direction or intention of this raid until it is actually in motion; hence the neces-
sity for keeping your forces well in hand for a sudden movement.

On June 11, he telegraphs:

Harper's Ferry is the important place. Winchester is of no importance other
than as a lookout. The Winchester troops, excepting enough to serve as an outpost,
should be withdrawn to Harper’s Ferry.

On June 14, he telegraphs:

I have 80 repeatedly urged you to withdraw your main forces from Winchester,
and so recently (the 11th) directed it, that I cannot understand how Milroy could
have been left there to be invested. I repeat, you must concentrate on Harper’s
Ferry, not on Winchester. If General Miﬁ%y does not obey your orders, remove
him from command.

On June 14, he further telegraphs:

If you have not executed my orders to concentrate at Harper’s Ferry, you will
do so immediately. Unless there is a more prompt obedience of orders, there must
be a change in the commanders. See to this immediately.

On June 15, the day of the evacuation of Winchester, he tele-
graphs:

Don’t fail to put every man not required as vedettes into Harper's Ferry defenses,
There must be no delay. Detached forces will all be wiped out.

Of these telegrams, General Schenck states in his testimony that
he regarded them as expressing suggestions and advice merely, and
he says that, notwithstanding these suggestions, he adhered, and, as
he still thinks, rightly, to his own idea, particularly as to Winches-
ter, where, the post not being connectedp by railroad with Harper’s
Ferry, and not being within easy supporting distance, a small force
would, he thought, %e inevitably lost. He states that General Hal-
leck never, as he (Schenck) understood him, peremptorily ordered
or ingisted upon the abandonment of Winchester. But upon exam-
ination of these telegrams, it certainly would not appear that all of
them were intended by the General-in-Chief as advisory or suggest-
ive merely. That of May 8, beginning ‘‘ You will maintain only a
small force at Winchester,” &c., 18 certainly in the form of an order;
and though in the telegram of June 8, he says, ‘I can only repeat
the recommendation so often made,” &c., yet this term is rather used
by him in connection with his views concerning the concentration
of troops generally, and not in reference to the particular disposition
of the forces at Winchester or any other post. The telegram of
June 11 is quite positively expressed, and in that of the 14th it is
referred to in terms as a direction, and the General-in-Chief expresses
himself at a loss to understand why, after his previous directions
and urgings, General Milroy should have been left at Winchester to
be invested. The second telegram of this date is a positive order;
alluded to former orders, and adds:

Unless there is more prompt obedience of orders, there must be a change of com-
manders.

From this analysis, it would be inferred that these directions of
the General-in-Chief, though sometimes not urged as forcibly as at
others, were certainly intended, at least on and after June 11, to be
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taken as military orders, and to be executed as such, and therefore
the view of General Schenck, as expressed in his testimony, that
the abandonment of Winchester was never ordered by General Hal-
leck is an erroneous one. General Schenck further sfates in his tes-
timony that his opposition to the opinion of the General-in-Chief that
‘Winchester shouﬂ) be used merely as an advanced outpost, was ex-
ressed only in view of the ordinary state of things, a.n(f) of the usual
orce of the enemy in the Shenandoah Valley, and not in view of
the movement of a large and overwhelming force, such as Lee’s
army or any considerable portion of it. On the other hand, it ma
be noted that the instructions and directions of General Hallee
conveyed a general and uniform rule of action, and are expressed
apparently in special view of the possibility of a large and prepon-
derating force of the enemy appearing in the Valley at any time.
How material a circumstance was this opposition on the part of
General Schenck to the views of the Commander-in-Chief, as affect-
ing the order given to General Milroy himself in regard to the evac-
uation of Winchester, will now be made evident.
"~ II. The orders given General Milroy in reference to the evacuation.

The first order received upon this subject by General Milroy was
from Lieut. Col. Donn Piatt, General Schenck’s chief of staff, who
had been dispatched by the general to Harper’s Ferry to make cer-
tain dispositions of troops. This order, which was by telegram from
Harper’s Ferry, and dated June 11, was received by General Milroy
on the 11th, about midnight, and was expressed as follows :

In accordance with orders from Halleck, received to-day, you will immediatelr
take steps to remove your command from Winchester to Harper’s Ferry. You will,
without delay, call in Colonel McReynolds and such other outposts not necessary
for observation at the front. Send back your heavy guns, surplus ammunition, and
subsistence, retaining only such force and arms as will constitute what General
Halleck designates as a lookout, which can readily and without inconvenience fall
back to Harper's Ferry.

Inreply, General Milroy at once telegraphed, remonstrating against
being obliged to abandon the post, and averring that he was well
prepared to hold it, and could hold it against any force that ‘the
rebels could afford to bring against it.” Aswill be presently seen,
this telegram [Schenck’s] was received by General Milroy before the
attack of the enemy commenced, or before he was aware that Lee’s
army or any force other than the troops under Jones, Imboden, &c.
(the usual force of the enemy in the Valley), wasin his front. Gen-
eral Milroy, however, in view of this order, did commence to make
the preparations indicated for evacuation, and it is shown that his
chief quartermaster did send off to Harper’s Ferry, on the 11th, one
hundred and fourteen wagons loaded with quartermaster’s stores,
which, for the most part, arrived in perfect safety. The other
wagons and quartermaster’s stores were prepared for moving, when
early on Friday morning, a further order was received from Genera.
Schenck, which caused the preparations for evacuation to be discon-
tinued. This important order, which was received early on the
morning of the 12th, was as follows:

BALTIMORE, MD., June 12, 1863—1 a. m.
Major-General MILROY :

Lieutenant-Colonel Piatt, as I learn by copy of dispatch sent me, which he for-
warded to you from Harper’s Ferry, misunderstood me, and somewhat exceeded his
instructions. You will make all the required preparations for withdrawing, but
hold your position in the meantime. Be ready for movement, but await further
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orders. I doubt the propriety of calling in McReynolds® brigade at once. If you
should fall back to Harper's Ferry, he will be in part on the way and covering your
flank ; but use your discretion as to any order to him,

Below I give you a copy of the telegram of the General-in-Chief.

Then follows the telegram of General Halleck of June 11, which
has been above set fortﬁf

This order of General Schenck, conflicting with and in terms cor-
recting the former order sent by Colonel Piatt, was viewed by Gen-
eral Milroy as directly countermanding the former order, and im-
posing upon him a renewed obligation to remain at his post. Under
these circumstances, as he saysin his testimony, if he had withdrawn
without fighting, without demonstrating that he could not safely stay,
it would have been, in his opinion, a case of disobedience of orders.

His second in command, Brigadier-General Elliott, commanding
his First Brigade, agreed with him in this view, and advised him to
wait for a positive order to evacuate, saying that he did not think
him justified in leaving without such order.

Lieutenant-Colonel Piatt himself says in his testimony that—

This order entirely deprived General Milroy of all discretionary authority to re-

tire without reference to the force that might attack him; that he had no discre-
tion but to remain there till further orders. )

This was, indeed, the construction given to the order by all the offi-
cers of General Milroy’s command who were made acquainted with
it. It was viewed as countermanding the former order, and render-
ing the movements of the command dependent upon the further in-
structions of (Feneral Schenck.

It is to be remarked that though the telegram of General Halleck,
dated June 11, was annexed to the order of General Schenck, it could
hardly be held in such connection to convey a meaning inconsistent
with the order. It would rather properly have been deemed to ex-

ress merely a suggestion of the Commander-in-Chief; whereas if it
ad stood alone, its purport would have been more nearly that of an
order or direct instruction. This order of General Schenck was the
last one that was received by General Milroy before the evacuation.

On the night of the 12th, he telegraphed to General Schenck the
particulars of a reconnaissance which he had sent out on that day,
expressinf the opinion that the enemy were approaching in some
force, and asking it to be stated specifically whether he was to aban-
don Winchester ornot. To this communication no reply was received.

On the 13th, the wires between Winchester and Martinsburg were
cut by the enemy, and a positive order from General Schenck, sent
on the evening of that day, directing General Milroy to fall back
upon Harper’s Ferry at once, was never received by the latter. This

remptory order was dispatched by General Schenck on first receiv-
11]11g lihe intelligence that it was Lee’s army that had attacked Win-
chester.

It is proper to remark in this place that in refraining until the last
moment from ordering an evacuation of Winchester, General Schenck
was, no doubt, somewhat influenced by the strong representations
that were made to him by General Milroy himself of his ability to
hold the place against a large force—representations which were con-
firmed in part by Lieutenant-Colonel Piatt and by General Tyler.

In aletter from (GGeneral Milroy, of June 12, to General Schenck,
he sets forth at length the reasons for a continued occupation of the
post, expressing somewhat the same view as that held by the latter
general 1n his conflict with the General-in-Chief, before alluded to,
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and stating that he can hold the works against a force five times as

eat as his own, General Elliott, in an accompanying letter, co-
mncides generally with the views of General Milroy, and expresses the
opinion that the forts can be held against a force two or three times
the number of Milroy’s command.

General Milroy, both before and after the attack, repeatedly tele-

aphed to General Schenck that he was able to hold the place, and

ully confident of sustaining himself againsta strenuous attack, and
even as late as on June 14, when he had ascertained that it was a

art of Lee’s army that was attackinghim, he teleﬁraphs that he can
ﬁold the place five days, if at the end of that time he can be relieved.
On the same day healso telegraphs that he will hold it in spite of fate.
This last assertion of General Milroy, made at a time when he must
have known that his provisions and ammunition were nearly ex-
hausted, shows that he Ead an overweening confidence in the strength
of his position and his own ability to defend it. His %enera.l opinion,
however, is confirmed by Colonel Piatt, and General Tyler, who, hav-
ing been been sent by (General Schenck to inspect the fortifications
at Winchester, communicated to the latter on June 11 their favor-
able impressions as to the capacity of the works to hold out against
any attack that the enemy could be expected to make upon the
place; but in this communication these officers did not contemplate
the possibility of an attack by Lee’'sarmy. General Schenck is also
represented by Colonel Piatt as having been considerably influenced
in his action in countermanding the order communicated by the lat-
ter by the statements of General Kelley, commanding at Harper’s
Ferry. General Kelley was a Virginian; had lived the greater part
of his life in that part of the country, and was well acquainted per-
sonally, as well as through scouts, with the roads, passes, fords,
&ec., tgrough that region. General Schenck had a.high opinion of
(General Kelley’s knowledge as to these particulars, and when, there-
fore, it was represented by the latter that there wasno enemy in the
Valley other than the usual force of Jenkins, Jones, &c., he (Gen-
eral Schenck) was further disinclined to give General Milroy the
peremptory order for the evacuation, of which he could not himself
see the immediate necessity.

This last observation introduces another significant feature in the
history of the case, which is now to be noticed—the want of accu-
rate knowledge of the movements of Lee, which continued up to the
very time of tﬁe attack upon Winchester—a circumstance which may,
to a considerable extent, account for, and, if necessary, excuse the
hesitation in sending positive and precise orders in regard to the
evacuation of the post to General Milroy.

1I1. The circumstances of the attack. -

Under this head will be considered first the intelligence of the ap-
proach of the enemy, and, secondly, the attack itself.

1. The approach of the enemy.

It is singular to observe up to how late a period the movements of
Lee in advancing upon Winchestér and down the Valley remained
undiscovered by those in authority. It appearsthat soon after June
1, intelligence had been received, and it was generally understood
that the rebel General Stuart had collected a large force (about
12,000) of cavalry in Culpeper County, for the purpose of making an
extensiveraid. In a telegramof May 29, General Halleck had warned
General Schenck that his forces must be on the alert in anticipation
of an attack, and, on June 8, he telegraphed to the latter general the
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&articulars in reference to Stuart’s force, &c. It was observed by
eneral Milroy that, after June 1, the enemy in his front were becom-
ing bolder, and this was attributed to the fact that Stuart was assem-~
bhing his cavalry in force, and that the raid was impending. In his
telegrams to General Schenck up to the evening of the 13th, espe-
cialf; in those of the 12th and 13th, he reports the troops as having
severe skirmishing with the enemy, whom he represents to be in
force, but he conveys no intimation, nor had he been able to obtain
any, that Lee’s army was advancing. On the contrary, he expresses
the opinion that the attack on Winchester (which he supposed to be
made by the usual Valley force, somewhat increased) is but a feint
to cover the raid of Stuart. Nordoes General Schenck’s information
from General Kelley, uE to the evening of the 13th, suggest the ad-
vance of Lee through the mountains, but, on the contrary, tends to
allay any apprehension of such advance.

On the 9th, the latter general telegraphs that his scouts have re-
turned from Snicker’s Gap and saw no enemy.

On the 12th, he telegraphs that his scouts are in, and have neither
seen nor heard of an enemy.

On the 13th, he telegraphs that he has learned that the force which
occupied Berryville after McReynclds fell back to Winchester, burned
the stores there, and he argues that the attack upoun the town was not
a movement in force.

Meanwhile (on the 10th) the Secretary of War telegraphs to Gen-
eral Schenck that Pleasonton had sharply engaged Stuart at Beverly,
and thinks the latter too much crippled to make his raid into Mary-
land very soon.

Meanwhile, also (on the 12th), General Schenck had telegraphed
the General-in-Chief, inquiring if he had knowledge of any force of
infantry west of the Blus Ridge, and expressing the opinion that the
troops 1n the Valley were only cavalry parties.

On the 13th, General Halleck replies that scouts will be in on that
day with more reliable information.

ﬂ was on the evening of June 13, between 6 and 7 o’clock, that it
first became known to General Milroy that the force in his front,
with which he had been skirmishing all day, was Ewell’s corps. This
information was obtained from a prisoner belonging to a Louisiana
regiment, and is immediately telegraphed to General Schenck. It
did not, however, reach him until the morning of the 14th.

In themeantime (onthe evenin§ of the 13th), Kelley had telegraphed
him that his (Kelley’s) scoutshad learned from citizens at Hillsborough
that Lee was on his way to attack Winchester. This telegram con-
veyed to General Schenck, as he says, the first intimation which was
f;iven him that the force of General Lee or any infantry at all had
eft the front of Fredericksburg, or had come through from the east
side of the Blue Ridge, the recent skirmishing which had been re-
ported by Milroy and McReynolds having been described as with
cavalry only, aided by some artillery. Upon the receipt of this last
information, General Schenck immediately telegraphed to General
Milroy a positive order to evacuate Winchester and fall back to
Harper’s Ferry. This telegram, as we have seen, never reached
General Milroy, the wires between Winchester and Martinsburg hav-
ing been cut by the enemy. On the next day, also, General Schenck
instructed General Kelley to convey a similar direction to General
Milroy by courier from Harper’s Ferry, but this was attempted with-
out success.
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On the 14th, Goeneral Schenck received further information of the
enemy at Winchester from General Tyler, stationed at Martinsburg,
and with whom General Milroy had communicated by a scout, who
left Winchester late on the night of the 13th. This information
confirmed the previous intelligence that Ewell’s corps, consisting of
15,000 to 18,000 men, was in Milroy’s front ; that he had thus far sus-
tained himself, and was confident that he could hold the place. After
this no communication whatever was had with General Milroy until
after his retreat.

It was on the 14th, also, about noon, and after the above-mentioned
dispatch had been received from General Milroy, that General Schenck
received a telegram from the General-in-Chief, in final answer to his
own of the 12th. This telegram, which is dated from the War De-
partment at 10.30 a. m., is as follows:

It is reported that Longstreet's and Ewell’s corps have passed through Culpeper
to Sperryville, toward the Valley.

This, General Schenck testifies, was the first and only intimation
roceived by him from General Halleck that any of Lee’s force had
gone in the direction of the Valley.

It would thus appear that it was not until after Le¢’s army had
engaged General Milroy at Winchester, and the latter had fully in-
formed his commanding officer of the fact, that information was re-
ceived at the War Department, not of Lee’s presence at Winchester,
but of his reported advance from Culpeper.

2. The attack.

The reconnoitering and scouting parties, sent out by General Milro
gince June 1, had observed no unusual movement of the enemy until
on the occasion of the reconnaissance of Friday, the 12th, which has
been before adverted to.

On the next day, the enemy was observed advancing in force, and
at the same time Berryville, where the Third Brigade, under Colonel
McReynolds, was stationed, wasalso attacked. Colonel McReynolds,
according to previous instructions, withdrew, skirmishing, and, by
making a considerable détour, effected a very successful march to
Winchester, where he arrived at evening with very slight loss. Be-
fore withdrawing, he sent off his wagon train with his stores, which
eventually reached Harper's Ferrf' in sa.f%&v.

The entire force of General Milroy at Winchester now numbered
about 9,000 men, of which about 7,000 were effective troops. The
force of the enemy is variously estimated. In his telegram from
Harper's Ferry, on the 15th, after the retreat, General Milroy states
it ag 15,000 to 20,000 men ; but in his testimony he says that he has
since learned from prisoners, deserters, and citizens of Winchester,
that the force in his front included both Ewell’s and all or the greater
part of Longstreet’s corps, numbering in all 40,000 to 50,000 men,
with eighty pieces of artillery ranged upon his works. Major Cra-
vens, of the staff, estimated the enemy at the same number, but
Captain Baird, another staff officer, places it at 20,000, and Brigadier-
General Elliott at 20,000 to 30,000.

June 13 was passed in active skirmishing. In the evening, as be-
fore mentioned, the Erecise character of the attacking force was first
disclosed. Under the cover of night, General Milroy withdrew all
his forces within the fortifications north of the town, with the ex-
ception of those stationed in the outworks or rifle-pits at the front.

On Sunday, it became more apparent that the enemy had sur-
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rounded the post, and during the day our troops were engaged with
them in constant skirmishing, especially in the direction of the Mar-
tinsburg and Berryville roads.

In the evening, the main attack was made from the direction of
the Romney road. A large force was precipitated upon the rifle-
pits, which were carried. The force which occupied them, however,
was enabled to retire with but slight loss, its retreat being covered
hy the guns of the forts. By night, the works were closely invested
in front, the sentinels of the enemy being within about 200 yards of
the main fort. :

About midnight, General Milroy called a council of war of the bri-
gade commanders, and an evacuation was determined upon.

IV. The evacuation. :

It was fully agreed in the council of war that it was necessary to
evacuate the post. Our forces were surrounded ; they had rations
for but one day, and their artillery ammunition was nearly expended.
The telegraph wires had been cut; all communication between them
and Harper’s Ferry was at an end, and there appeared no probability
of their being relieved. The only question with the council of war
was as to the proper road by which to retreat. All excepting Colonel
McReynolds appear to have agreed that the Martinsburg road was
to be preferred ; and though there is some difference of opinion
among the officers whose testimony is contained in the record as to
this point, yet the majority (including Captain Powell, the chief
engineer of General Milroy’s staff, who may be deemed an expert)
agree that the determination of the council was the most pru(]i)eut.
Colonel McReynolds would have taken the Berryville road, but this
road, as well as the town of Berryville, had been occupied bi the
enemy in considerable force on the 13th, and it was likely that a
larger body would have been encountered on this road than was
actually met on the road selected for the retreat.

The outposts of the eriemy being so near the works, the evacuation
was ordered to be made with as little noise as possible. Nothing on
wheels was allowed to be taken. About two hundred wagons were
left, and twenty-four guns in all were spiked and abandoned. About
200,000 rounds of small-arms ammunition was also abandoned, but
the remaining artillery ammunition, about 20 rounds to a gun, was
mostly destroyed. The artillery and team harness was also, as far
as_possible, destroyed. The amount of quartermaster’s stores left
behind was but small. The sick, wounded, &c., remained with the
surgeons in the hospital.

Agbout 2 o’clock in the morning of the 15th, the evacuation com-
menced, the forces marching from the forts in the order of the bri-
gades. Some 800 artillery and team horses, mounted by teamsters,
non-combatants, and invalids, brought up the rear of the column.

A question is raised in the testimony whether the light batteries,
commanded by Captains Carlin and Alexander, could have been
brought off with safety, but it is agreed by nearly all the witnesses
that though the batteries would have been very useful in the retreat
in the engagement of the 15th, yet their removal would -have occa-
sioned so much noise as probably to have attracted the attention of
the enemy in front, and advised them of the movement, and, further,
that the roughness of the road might have seriously delayed the
artillery, and thus endangered the march of the column. Colonel
McReynolds thinks he could have got off his battery (Alexander’s)
by the Berryville road, but, as has already been stated, this road was,
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in the opinion of the large majority of the witnesses, not a feasible
one for the retreat.

V. The retreat.

The march reom the forts was commenced and continued in good
order until the head of the column arrived at a point about 4 miles
from Winchester. Here were met the enemy’s pickets, and an en-
gagement with a force (afterward ascertained to be Johnson’s, and
perhaps a part of Rodes’ division of Ewell’s corps) immediately com-
menced. In the testimony, this force is variously estimated at from
6,000 to 12,000 men, with eight to twelve guns. The enemy was
charged suddenly and successfully by two regiments of Elliott’s

First) brigade, which, however, were in turn compelled to fall back.

hen foliowed a confused contest for about an hour, when, by turn-
ing ordriving back the right of the enemy’s position, our forces were
enabled to continue their retreat. They had, however, become much
separated during the engagement, fought, as it was, before daylight.
About 1,200 men reached Harper’s Ferry with General Milroy in the
afternoon or evening of the 15th, after a severe march of over 30
miles. A part of Colonel Ely’s command (the S8econd Brigade), bein,
surroundeg, were surrendered by that officer or were captured.
considerable portion of the troops broke off from the main body to
the left, and came through b{ way of Hancock; a smaller portion
by taking a road or roads to the right of the Martinsburg road.

It is testified that during the retreat and the engagement.the con-
duct of General Milroy’s officers was generally good. Colonel Mec-
Reynolds, however, is referred to by a number of witnesses as an ex-
ception to this rule, and the opinion is quite generally expressed that
had this officer brought up his brigade more promptly at the time of
the action, the forces of General Milroy would have been much less
shattered by this engagement. His brigade was not at all in the
action, although for a time under artillery fire. General Milroy sent
two of his aides to order Colonel McReynolds to the front, but neither
of them could find him. The commanding officer of one of his regi-
ments also testifies that he sent twice for the colonel, but was unable
to find him, and that he received no orders whatever from him during
the fight. The colonel appears to have been separated from his regi-
ments, and his four regiments to have been separated from each
other, and to have lost a considerable number by capture, and this,
too, though taking no part in the engagement. It is, in fine, the gen-
eral opinion of the witnesses that the retreat would have been much
more successful if Colonel McReynolds had obeyed orders, and come
up promptly and gone into the engagement at the proper time, or
even if he had kept his command together, so as to have retreated
with the main body. Indeed, General Milroy sent an aide to the rear
at the close of the fight to inform the colonel that he continued fight-
ing only to allow him (McReynolds) to come up with his brigade and
pass through on the road.

On the other hand, the colonel, in his testimony, insists that two of
his regiments {the First New York Cavalry and the Thirteenth Penn-
sylvania Cavalry) deserted him ; left the ground without his knowl-
edge; and his testimony is somewhat corroborated by that of Lieu-
tenant Spooner. It is. further alleged that the fact that the horses
ridden in the rear by teamsters and others were, as well as their
riders, struck with a panic by the first shelling of the enemy, and
dashed in among the regiments of the Third Brigade, which preceded
them in column, had something to do with the dispersion of tﬁ)e latter.
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It is generally testified that General Milroy showed judgment and
courage through this fight and during the retreat. The fact that his
horse was disabled, and he was for some time dismounted, rendered
it less practicable for him to keep his troops well in hand (iuring the
engagement. But it is natural, and perhaps almost inevitable, that
a y of troops, making a forced retreat at night, and obliged to
cut its wa‘ir throggh a superior hostile force, should have been con-
siderably dispersed and shattered. The entire loss on the retreat and
during the attack, including the sick left behind and paroled, appears
to have been rather less than 3,000. On the retreat about 150 horses -
were also captured.

The principal witnesses who appeared before the court were inter-
rogated in reference to a question which has not yet been consid-
ered, to wit: Whether, if General Milroy had evacuated at an earlier
day, he might not have effected his retreat in good order, taking with
him all his artillery and stores. It is the general opinion of these
witnesses, all of whom were in General Milroy’s command, that he
might have so retreated either on the 12th or 13th. The majority of
them, however, express the belief that the heavy artillery could not
have moved off safely later than the 12th.

Colonel McReynolds thinks that he should have been ordered to
retreat directli rom Berryville to Harper’s Ferry on Saturday, when
he was ordered to join the main body at Winchester, and he believes
that if at the same time General Milroy had moved from Winchester,
the whole command, with its artillery and trains, could have been
saved, the enemy not having then occupied the roads. Colonel Mc-
Reynolds presents some good reasons for this view, though at the same
time it is to be noted that, had such a plan been adopted, the Third
Brigade, being separated from the main force, would have been in
more danger of being cut off by a rapid movement of the enemy. But
the discussion of the question whether the retreat was not too long
delayed is rendered much less important by the consideration that
General Milroy was, during June 12, 13, and 14, under itive in-
structions from his superior officer to await further orders before
retreating. So, when Brigadier-General Elliott says in his testimony
that he should have left on the night of the 13th, he states at the
same time that this would have been in direct disregard of existin
orders. He adds, however, that as General Milroy had telegra.pheg
for further orders; as the communication had been interrupted, so
that he could not receive such orders ; as since last communicating
with his superior he had become aware that he was attacked by an
unexpected and vastly suEerior force, and as he was not likely to be
relieved, he (Elliott) thinks the general might properly have taken
and should have taken the responsibility of retreating on the night
of the 13th. Probably this would have been, under all the circum-
stances, the wisest course. Such a course would, indeed, have been
taken in disobedience of the letter of the order, but it was known to
General Milroy that the last order or instruction which he had re-
ceived from his commanding officer was not given in contemplation
of the situation existing after the evening of the 13th, but of an
entirely different and far less threatening danger. With this order,
too, General Milroy had received General Halleck’s instructions of
the 11th, and these, in connection with the peculiar circumstances of
his new situation, would have justified him in retreating without
waiting further orders. As it was, he was at last obliged to retreat
without them, ’ :
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A strategic view is, however, advanced in this connection by Gen-
eral Milroy, which may, perhaps, have some weight. It is this: That
by holding his post and continuing to resist the attack of the enemy
until as late as Sunday night, he forced them to mass their troops at
some point in his front, after which he could retreat more intelli-
gently and safely. This view is concurred in by officers of his staff
and by Lieutenant-Colonel Adams, of the First New York Cavalry;
but it does not actually appear from the testimony that after the
enemy had massed in the front, the detachments wlich occupied the
roads to the north were any less in force than they had been on Satur-
day or Saturday night.

i; this connection, but one other consideration remains to be
noticed. It is suggested by General Milroy at the close of his official
Wort that the three days’ delay which the stand made by him at

inchester occasioned the enemy, may have been fully worth to the
country the sacrifice which it cost, and a similar view is taken by
Lieutenant-Colonel Piatt, who, in answer to a question as to his opin-
ion upon this very point, testifies that—

If the War Department and the General-in-Chief had no other information of the
movements of Lee than is indicated in the two telegrams received in Baltimore

[which have been quoted above}], the check that the rebels received at Winchester
must have been of importance to us,

CONCLUSIONS.

From the entire testimony as above detailed, the following conclu-
gions are believed to be justly derived:

1. That the General-in-Chief, prior to the attack upon Winchester,
had repeatedly instructed General Schienck to maintain only a small
force at that place, and to use it onllzy as an outpost, concentratin
his forces principally upon Harper's Ferry, and that General Schencﬁ
had disregarded these instructions, viewing them as suggestions

merely.

2. 'lyha,t it was owing to General Schenck that at the time of the
attack and evacuation there were at Winchester any more troops,
munitions, &c., than would have been sufficient for a mere outpost.

3. That up to the time of the evacuation, General ‘Milroy was under
orders from his commanding officer, General Schenck, not to retreat
at once, but to hold his post until further orders, which further or-
ders had not been received up to the time of the evacuation, though
telegraphed for by General Milroy.

4. That in giving this order, General Schehck was doubtless some-
what influenced by the representations which (teneral Milroy him-
gelf had, in the most confident and extravagant terms, repeatedly
made as to his ability to hold the post against a large force of the

enemy.

5. ’Izhat, further, the order of General Schenck was issued without
reference to or knowledge of the fact that the army of Lee was then
approaching Winchester, but in contemplation merely of an attack
by the usual Valley force of the enemy or by Stuart’s cavalry.

6. That at the time of giving this order, General Schenck had had
from his superior officers no intelligence whatever of the approach of
Lee; that Le received no such intelligence until it was too late for
him to prevent the disaster at Winchester, and that, on the contrary,
all the intelligence received by him, both from his superiors and in-
feriors in rank, was of a nature to yuiet'any apprehension that he
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might have felt as to the w()l)a.bility of an advance by Lee or any
portion of his army upon Winchester.

7. That the evacuation of Winchester by General Milroy was as
well ordered as could have been expected under all the circumstances,
and that the loss of most of the public property, which was aban-
doned, was inevitable. )

8. That during the retreat the troogs of General Milroy were not
kept well in hand, but were very much dispersed, but that this was
in great part owing to the sudden attack made upon them in the
darkness of the night, and to their being obliged to force their way
through a body of troops superior in numbers, and in some part also
(in the opinion of the majority of the witnesses) to a want of active
co-operation on the part of Colonel McReynolds, commanding Third
Brigade, in the‘engagement with the enemy, and in the efforts used
for securing a safe retreat. »

J. HOLT,

Judge- Advocate-General.

Hon. E. M. STANTON,
Secretary of War.

[Indorsement.]
OCTOBER 27, 1863.

In June last a division was substantially lost at and near Win-
chester, Va. Af the time, it was under General Milroy as immediate
commander in the field, General Schenck as department commander
at Baltimore, ahd General Halleck as General-in-Chief at Washing-
ton.

General Milroy, as immediate . commander, was put in arrest, and
subsequently a court of inquiry examined chiefly with reference to
disobedience of orders, and reported the evidence.

The foregoing is a synoptical statement of the evidence, together
with the J udge—Advocate-(general’s conclusions. The disaster, when
it came, was a surprise to all. It was very well known to Generals
Schenck and Milroy for some time before that General Halleck
thought the diwision was in great danger of a surprise at Winchester;
that it was of no service commensurate with the risk it incurred, an
that it ought to be withdrawn; but, although he more than once
advised its withdrawal, he never positively ordered it. General
Scoenck, on the contrary, believed the service of the force at Win-
chester was worth the hazard, and so did not positively order its with-
drawal until it was so late that the enemy cut the wire and prevented
the order reaching General Milroy.

General Milroy seems to have concurred with General Schenck
in the opinion that the force should be kept at Winchester at least
un];:xl the approach of danger, but he disobeyed no order upon the
subject.

Some question can be made whether some of General Halleck’s
dispatches to General Schenck should not have been construed to be
orders to withdraw the force, and obeyed accordingly; but no such
question can be made against General Milroy. In fact, the last order
he received was to be prepared to withdraw, but not to actually with-
draw until further order, which further order never reached him.

Serious blame is not necessarily due to any serious disaster, and I
cannot say that in this case any of the officers are deserving of serious
blame. No court-martial is deemed necessary or proper in the case.

A. LINCOLN.
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Review of lhe Jwlge-Advocate-General of the record of the court
of inquiry relative to the evacuation of Martinsburg by the com-
mand of Brig. Gen. Daniel Tyler. : '

JUDGE-ADVOCATE-GENERAL’S OFFICE,
Washington, D. C., September 17, 1863,

The record of a court of inquiry lately convened to investigate the
facts and circumstances connected with the evacuation of Martins-
burg by the command of Brig. Gen. D. Tyler, U. 8. Volunteers,
having been submittéd to me under your indorsement of the 12th
instant, has been fully reviewed, and I have the honor to report the
following summary of facts, with the conclusions derived therefrom:

Up to June 13, the United States forces at Martinsburg, Va., had
been for several months under the command of Cbl. B. F. Smith,
whose detachment consisted of two regiments of infantry, eight com-
panies each, one field battery, and rather more than a company of
cavt?,lry; in all, about 1,300 men. Martinsburg was not a fortified
post.

On the 13th, a written order was issued by Major-General Schenck
to Brigadier-General Tyler, by which he was required to assume com-
mand of the troops at Martinsburg, for the purpose of using them to
support and cover the retreat of Major-General Milroy from Win-
chester to Harper’s Ferry. Details of the service are left to the dis-
cretion of General Tyler, but Bunker Hill is suggested as a suitable
position at which to make a stand if the rebels be found in force be-
tween his own troops and those of Milroy. (General Fyler is required
to keep constantly in communication meanwhile with éeneral ilroy.
Pursuant to this order, General Tyler proceeded from Baltimore, by
way of Harper’s Ferry, to Martinsburg, where he arrived about 8
o’clock on the morning of the 14th, when he found Colonel Smith
just taking out his troops to meet an advance of the enemy, who
were already skirmishing with his pickets.

In his official report, General Tyﬁ)er says that he went to Martins-
burg ‘“to relieve Colonel Smith in the command of the Third Bri-
gade,” but he states that, on arriving, he concluded not to assume the
command. In his testimony he sets forth his reason for this course
as follows : .

First. Because the command was not commensurate with his rank,
and was not equal to the expectations which he had formed of it when
leaving Harper’s Ferry.

Secondly. Because he was a perfect stranger to the command, and
it would be ‘“‘more for the good of the service for Colonel Smith tc¢
fight the battle which was already begun.”

He nevertheless, as he says, notified Colonel Smith that he would

ive him any advice that he might require. However insufficient
these reasons, especially the first, may be considered, there was re-
ceived by General Tyler about noon intelligence which rendered it
necessary for him to take the command, at Jeast for the special pur
pose of carrying out the instructions contained in the order of Gen.
eral Schenck. gI‘his was the intelligence that Gteneral Milroy had
been attacked by Lee’s army in greatly superior force, and thaf
Bunker Hill, situated between Martinsburg and Winchester, hac
been occupied by the enemy. It would have been useless, therefore,
for General Tyler to have attempted with his small force to make¢
a diversion in favor of General Milroy. Indeed, his orders from Gen
eral Schenck had been predicated on the supposition that Milroy

L
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was attacked only by the usual Valley force of cavalry under Jen-
kins, Imboden, or Jones. ' '

In the course of the day, however, a further communication was
received from General Schenck to the effect that it was thought better
by the latter that General Tyler’s command should fall back to Har-
per’s Ferry, and, if ible, afford relief to General Milroy from that
point. General Tyler, however, still refrained from assuming com-
mand of Colonel Smith’s troops, and the latter says in his testimony
that the general at' no time exhibited to him his orders or explained
the reason why he had visited Martinsburg, and that he (Smith)
therefore supposed that he had come as an inspector. He adds that
during the day he sometimes consulted or advised with the general.
General Tyler, on the other hand, says that when he informed Col-
onel Smith that he would not, under the circumstances, assume com-
mand, he at the same time notified him (Smith) of his order,

During the day, the enemy gradually massed his forces, but was
held;in check by Colonel Smith’s troops, and especially by the guns
of his battery, the enemy appearing to have as yet no artillery on
the ground. About noon, (genera.l %enkins, commanding the rebel
force, summoned Colonel Smith to surrender, to which summons the
latter refused to accede.

Early in the morning, Colonel Smith had sent off his wagon train
by the Williamsport road. He had received orders, addressed to
himself personally by General Kelley, his division commander, from
Harper’s Ferry, to fall back by this road if pressed by a much supe-
rior force. General Tyler, however, states that it was he who sent
off the brigade train, and that he notified Colonel Smith to delay his
retreat until the safety of the train was secured. Colonel Smith,
on the other hand, says that General Tyler proposed to him to retreat
early in the day, but that he (Smith) declined to do so, as he wished
first to assure the escape of his wagons; that General Tyler there-
upon said that he would leave the matter to Colonel Smith’s judg-
ment, at the same time declining to assume the responsibility of the
retreat.

Still another instance, however, is mentioned in the testimony, in
which General Tyler assumed to give an order or direction during -
the day. Lieutenant-Colonel Harlan, commandin%1 the One hun-
dred and twenty-sixth Ohio Volunteers, testifies that the general
ordered him at one time to open fire upon his own skirmishers. He
adds that he disobeyed this order for the reason that he had placed
the skirmishers himself, and knew that they were his own men, al-
though he could not make General Tyler believe it.

Toward evening, the enemy suddenly opened upon Colonel Smith’s
troops with (as it is testified) about thirty guns. Under this severe
and concentrated fire, they were at first thrown into some disorder,
but appear to have been soon rallied by Colonel Smith and his offi-
cers.

The Williamsport road seeming to be occupied or commanded by
the enemy, orders were rapidly communicated by Colonel Smith to
retreat by the Shepherdstown road, these orders I‘)Yeing given to the
commanding ofticers of the two infantry regiments (One hundred
and twenty-sixth Ohio and One hundred and sixth New York), but
not, as it would appear, to Captain Maulsby, commanding the bat-
tery. Colonel Smith says that he sent his aides to direct the different
commanders to take the Shepherdstown route, but does not dis-
tinctly recollect whether he sent particularly to Maulsby or not.
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Colonel Smith himself conducted the One hundred and twenty-sixth
Ohio off the field, ordering the One hundred and sixth New York to
follow. The latter, after moving, was halted to reform its line,
which had been broken by the artillery.

At this moment, General Tyler came to the front, and assumed com-
mand of this regiment and of the battery, which was also about to
leave the grounﬁ. He says that he did so because he found the One.
hundred and sixth Regiment alone in the field, and apparently await-
ing orders, and because Colonel Smith had left and could not be
found ; that he (Smith) had retreated without orders from him (Tyler),
leaving at the moment of the attack without returning to look after
the column, Upon thus assuming command, General Tyler states
that he ordered Captain Maulsby to throw half a dozen shots from
each of the four of his guns, which he had directly under his com-
mand—the remaining section being in another part of the field—and
then to limber up and follow the infantry. He then ascertained by

rsonal observation that the Williamsport road was occupied b

enkins, and rode back to the infantry, and ordered them to marc

off by the Shepherdstown route. On returning presently, as he says,
to look after the artillery, he found that after firing, as directed, Cap-
tain Maulsby had moved off rapidly by the Williamsport road. The
two sections with Maulsby were soon after captured on this road by
the enemy’s cavalry, but Captain Maulsby, with his officers and most
of his men and horses, succeeded in escaping. Of the remaining sec-
tion, one gun got off safely on the Shepherdstown road with the in-
fantry ; the other was disabled, and left on the field by the lieutenant
commanding the section. An officer on duty with the two sections
under Maulsby testifies that the guns might have been saved if the
infantry supports had not movei off the field and left them. He
says that these guns remained last on the field because they were de-
tained there by General Tyler, who directed them to be used upon
the advancing enemy, and ‘“then to limber up and get away, as the
infantry had been gone some time.” (General Tyler, however, did
not order or direct Captain Maulsby by which road to retreat, and the
witness states that at the point where the guns were placed the officers
-could not see the troops moving by the Shepherdstown road.

General Tyler accompanied ‘%le One hundred and sixth Regiment
from the field, and, after marching about a mile, overtook Colonel
Smith and the One hundred and twenty-sixth. The general states
that he then reformed the column, and conducted the retreat to the
river at Shepherdstown, where the troops crossed by the ford, and
continued their march on the other side down to Harper’s Ferry.
Colonel Smith, however, in his official report makes no mention of
(Greneral Tyler having anything to do with the conduct of the retreat.
It appears that this march was made in good order and with very
little straggling.

The entire loss of the command during the day was 4 or 5 killed,
about a dozen wounded, and some 150 taken prisoners, being chiefly
those who erred and took the Williamsport road.

The amount of public property lost wassmall. The stores, of which
Martinsburg was the depot, had been removed by railroad to Har-
per’s Ferry prior to June 14, Indeed, the principal and most unfor-

. tunate feature of the retreat was the loss of the two sections of

Maulsby’s battery. Captain Maulsby himself was severely wounded,
and unable to attend the court as a witness, and no official report by
him is filed with the proceedings.
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In their conclusion, the court find that the retreat was generally
properly conducted, and the public property suitably cared for ; that
the four iuns captured were improperly kept on the field after all the
supports had left, and that the gun of the remaining section, which
was disabled, was improperly abandoned on the ﬁelg b¥1 Lieutenant
Herr. Upou the whole testimony, it is believed that the following
conclusions are properl arrived at :

1. That Colonel Smith handled his command skillfully during the
day (June 14), but that he withdrew from the field too abruptly, and
without giving the desirable attention, or communicating with cer-
tainty, to a part of his command the final orders for the retreat.

2. %‘hat General Tyler was at fault in keeping the two sections of
Maulsby’s battery on the field (as is found by the court) after the in-
fantry supports had retired, and in finally neglecting, after assuming
command over the battery, to direct Captain Maulsby as to his line
of retreat.

3. That Maulsby’s four guns were lost principally because of this
action and neglect on the part of General Tyler, and Xa.rtly because
of the neglect of Colonel Smith to convey a positive order to Maulsby
as to the direction of the retreat.

4. That General Tyler would have more strictly complied with the
instructions of his commanding officer if he had assumed command
of the brigade upon his arrival at Martinsburg, in accordance with
General Schenck’s order of June 13, taken in connection with the
communication from the latter of the 14th; that if General Tyler had
so assumed command, it is probable that the errors which were com-
mitted at the time of the attack by the enemy in force, in consequence
of there being practically two commanding officers in the field, might
have been avoided.

Respectfully submitted.

J. HOLT,
N Judge-Advocate-General.
Hon. E. M. STANTON,
Secretary of War.

No. 401.

Report of Maj. Napoleon B. Knight, First Delaware Cavalry, of
operations June 27-29.

HpqQrs. FIRsT BATTALION DELAWARE VOL. CAVALRY,
Camp near Baltimore, Md., June 30, 1863.

GENERAL: In obedience to Special Orders, No. 172, headquarters
Eighth Army Corps, I moved on Saturday evening [27th] with two
companies of my command, numbering in all 95 men, on the Hooks-
town road, in the direction of Westminster, and having encamped
for the night at Reisterstown, we proceeded early next morning to
Westminster, where we arrived about 11 o’clock, and occupied the
town. Having encamped on the outskirts of the town, on the road
leading to Gettysburg, I immediately threw out pickets on all the
roads leading into the town, at sufficient distances from my encamp-
ment to allow ample time to be informed of the appearance of the
enemy. )

Lieutenant Bowman’s (One hundred and fiftieth New York Vol-
unteers) scouts reported about 6 p. m. on the day of our arrival that
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there were no rebels at either Gettysburg or Hanover, which report .
was confirmed by citizens coming from those points, and information
of which I forwarded to you immediately by special courier.

About 9 o’clock on the evening of the 28th instant, the picket on
the Hampstead road came in, and reported the advance of the enemy’s .
cavalry. We were immediately in the saddle, and went out to meet
them. While awaiting their approach, I was informed that they had
taken the'Manchester road, which enters the turnpike about 3 miles
below Westminster, with a view to attack my rear and cut off re-
treat. I atonce fell back to that point, and awaited their approach.
Pickets were sent out on all the roads to ascertain the exact where-
abouts of the enemy, but failing to discover his presence, so reported
to me. Supposing that the rebels had retired, I at once marched
back and reoccupied the town, extending my pickets to a greater
distance from the town on all the roads.

On the following morning my pickets reported all quiet, and a
great many of my horses having been rendered almost unfit for serv-
1ce by marching over the stony road without shoes, I ordered them
to be shod that morning.

About 3.30 o’clock on the afternoon of the 29th (yesterday), informa-
tion was brought in by a citizen (the picket having been captured
that the enemy were advancing in force on the Washington road.
immediately ordered all the serviceable horses to be mounted, amount-
ing to about 70, and, advancing in column through the town, pro-
ceeded to give him battle. I ordered Lieut. D. W. C. Clark, Company
C, with an advance guard of 12 men, to feel the enemy and ascertain
his positicn. The advance, having been driven in, reported a strong
column of cavalry, a part of whom were armed with carbines, mov-
ing toward us on the Washington road, while another column was
marching to the upper end of the town, with a view to attack us in
front and rear simultaneously, and at the same time to cut off our
retreat. ‘

Captain Corbit, commanding Company C, was ordered to charge
the column on the Washington road, which he did in a gallant and
masterly manner, driving the enemy with very considerable loss until
his reserve arrived, and, re-enforcing the sf‘l'a.ttered column which
Captain Corbit had so gallantly charged, turned again in overwhelm-
ing numbers upon Corbit and his bold followers, and charged them
so furiously that I ordered up Lieut. Caleb Churchman, of Company
D, to his support, Lieutenant Churchman having been previously
posted so as to watch the movements of the enemy at the upper end
of the town. The enemy having been so heavily re-enforced, drove
the two companies slowly back to the main pike, the men of my com.
mand fighting all the time with the greatest bravery and determina,
tion, and contending hotly for every inch of ground; but finding tha
the column of the enemy was coming down upon us from the uppe;
end of the town, I determined to fall back upon Reisterstown, anc
aordered Lieutenant Churchman, with his company, to protect an
cover our retreat, which he did in SElendid style, losing all but 7 o
his men, and falling himself into the hands of the enemy. I the:x
fell back to Reisterstown, the enemy pursuing to within 24 miles
that place. I there ordered the lieutenant of the First Connecticuy

Cavalry to hold them in check until I could rally my few remainin,
men on this side of the town, and ordered Lieutenant Reedy, Coxr
pany C, to push on, and turn back some 7 or 8 of the men, who wer
about a mile in advance. This he failed to do, but proceeded writ
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the men directly to Baltimore. I came slowly on, accompanied by
Adjutant Lobdell, Lieutenant Clark, and 2 men, about a mile this
side of the town, and there halted, determined to return to and re-
occupy Reisterstown. This I was proceeding to do, when a courier
arrived, having an order from you directing me to return to Balti-
more. This order I immediately carried out, sending Adjutant Lob-
dell in advance to report to you the condition of affairs, and returned
to our old camping ground at Steuart’s Hill,

My casualties and losses are 67 men killed, wounded, and missing,
including 2 commissioned” officers—Capt. Charles Corbit and Lieut.
Caleb Churchman; the former of whom fell while gallantly charg-
ing the enemy, and is now a prisoner in their hands, and the latter
was captured while covering the retreat of the main body.

One wagon laden with hospital stores and camp and garrison equi-
page, and also the regimental books and papers, fell into the hands
of the enemy.

I cannot close this report without calling your attention to tho
bravery and intrepidity of the officers and men of my command,
whose efficiency and determination of purpose has saved us from
utter annihilation.

I have the honor to be, general, very respectfully, your obedient

servant,
N. B. KNIGHT, .
Major, Commanding.
Maj. Gen. R. C. SCHENCK,
Commanding Middle Department, Baltimore, Md.

No. 402.

Report of Capt. George D. Summers, Second Maryland Potomac
‘ Home Brigade, of operations June 14-July 5.

HEADQUARTERS COMPANY F,
Camp near Frederick, Md., Sunday, July 12, 1863.

CoLONEL: I have the honor to inclose to you monthly report for
the month of June. You will see from the report that I had a skir-
mish at Berryville on Sunday, the 14th day of June. My advance
ran into a large body of cavalry near Berryville. I lost 1 man
wounded and 2 captured, and was forced to fall back, after inflict-
ing some punishment on the enemy. I fell back to Charlestown,
and then to Halltown, contesting every inch of ground with the en-
emI‘y’s skirmishers.

rom there, on June 16, I was ordered to fall back to Maryland
Heights, which I did without further loss, being the last soldier in
this command that left Dixie.

On June 17, was ordered by General Tyler, in company with
Captain Vernon’s company, to go to Point of Rocks, and hold the
position. Before we got tﬁere, we were attacked by White’s battal-
lon; we were overpowered and whipped. I regret to say I lost 1
brave man killed, 3 wounded, and 4 missing.

On the 18th instant, 3 of my men who were sent with some of
quiaiﬁ Iernon’s were captured, after desperate resistance, at Fred-
erick,
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I was then ordered to go to Berlin, Md., which town I occupied
until June 30, when I was ordered to Maryland Heights again, and
on the next day to this place. I have scouted all around since, and
have done some good work.

Two of my men (couriers) were captured near Gettysburg, on July
5, by Stuart’s cavalry. ,

Iam now temporarily attached to Major Cole’s battalion, but should
be pleased to be mear you—mw‘e iment, at least. I want to be in
General Kelley’s department. ill you please make effort to get me
with you? I write to General Kelley to that effect to-day.

All is quiet here. The victorious Army of the Potomac is in front’
of Lee, near Ha.Ferstown, Md. T hope that Lee will stand to fight.
If he does, I feel certain of victory for our arms.

I am, colonel, with great respect, your most obedient servant,
GEO. D: SUMMERS,
Capt. Company F (Cavalry), Second Regt. Maryland Vols,

Col. R. Bruceg,
Comdyg. Second Regt. P. H. B., Maryland Vols.

No. 403.

Report of Brig. Gen. Henry M. Naglee, U. S. Army, of skirmish
near Harper's Ferry, W. Va.

HEADQUARTERS,
Harper's Ferry, W. Va., July 16, 1863.

- 81rR: I would respectfully report that on the afternoon of the 14th
instant, after occupying the intrenchments near Harper’s Ferry, and
the pontoon bridge had been constructed, I orderggeMajor l-l;a,rns-
worth, of the First Connecticut Cavalry, with 50 of his men, to
picket the roads leading from the Ferry, and to ascertain whether any
of the rebel cavalry were upon these roads, within 2 or 3 miles of the
intrenchments. Discovering some of the cavalry of the enemy some
4 miles from Harper’s Ferry, an effort was made to cut off their
pickets, amounting to some 15 or 20 men, which was successful; but
in an effort to capture another picket, Major Farnsworth allowed
his men to pursue so far as to find himself surrounded by the rebel
reserve, who succeeded in capturing Major Farnsworth, with 24 of
his men, and liberating a portion of the prisoners he had taken.
The affair resulted in the capture of Col. A. W. Harman (wounded),
Twelfth Virginia Cavalry; Capt. M. J. Grandin, Thirty-third Vir-
ginia Infantry; Lieut. Jackson Eastham, Twelfth Virginia Cavalry,
and 4 privates, and in wounding several of the ener:g.
We lost Maj. Charles Farnsworth and 24 men, made prisoners by
the enemy.* .
Very respectfully, &c.,
HENRY M. NAGLEE,
Brigadier-General, Commanding.
General S. WILLIAMS,
tdjutant-General, Army of the Potomac.

* Nominal list omitted.




Caar. XXXIX.} 1THE GETTYSBURG CAMPAIGN. 2056
No. 404.

Report of Capt. Erastus Blakeslee, First Connecticut Cavalry, of
4 .Is)kinm'sh near Harper's Ferry, W, Va.

HEADQUARTERS FIRST CONNECTICUT CAVALRY,
Maryland Heights, July 18, 1863.

GeNERAL: I have the honor to report as follows in regard to a
skirmish in which the First Connecticut Cavalry were engaged, on
the 14th instant :

Major Farnsworth, myself, and 50 men crossed the Potomac, by
order of General Naglee, to reconnoiter the enemy’s position beyond
Bolivar Heights, and to ascertain their strength. About 2 miles from
Harper’s Fgrry, the advance guard, 18 men, under myself, charged
upon the pickets of the enemy, numbering about 30, and drove them
in confusion back upon their reserve. Major Farnsworth coming up,
now charged upon the whole reserve of the enemy, about 200 strong.
The enemy also charged, and it became a fierce hand-to-hand fight,
in which, owing to the disparity of our numbers, they repulsed us,
rescued several prisoners whom we had Ereviously taken, and, I am
sorry to add, captured Major Farnsworth and 24 men. The major’s
horse was shot under him, and he fought most gallantly on foot with
his saber until he was overpowered and taken prisoner. I took com-
mand of the remainder of our men, and fell back, bringing with me
1 captain, 1 second lieutenant, and 2 privates, all of whom were cap-
tured by the advance in their first charge upon the picket, in whic
we also shot several horses and wounded the colonel of the Twelfth
Virginia Cavalry, so that he was afterward found and brought in a
prisoner.

First Sergt. Allen F. Phillips, Company A, deserves especial men-
tion for his courage and good conduct in the affair.

I am, sir, most respectfully and truly, your obedient servant,
‘ . BLAKESLEE,
Commanding First Connecticut Cavalry.

[General H. M. NAGLEE. ]

No. 405.

Reports of Brig. Gen. William W. Averell, U. 8. Army, command-
ing Fourth Separate Brigade, of operations May 22-July 28, 1863.

HEADQUARTERS FOURTH SEPARATE BRIGADE,
- Grafton, W. Va., June 21, 1863.
CoLoNEL: I have the honor to submit the following brief report
of the operations of the forces composing this brigade during the
week ending to-day. On Sunday, 14th instant, at Beverly, 11 p. m.
I received the inclosed telegram, marked A. It may be observe
that although this dispatch mentions the point of concentration, "yet
1t contains no order to commence the movement, but I inferred from
the information iiven that an order was intended, and therefore
issued orders to the troops at’ Beverly, Buckhannon, Weston, and
Bridgeport to hold themselves in readiness to move at an hour’s
notice. I waited until the morning of the 15th for further instruc-
tions, and then started for Clarksburg.
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At Laurel Hill, 3.30 p. m., I received dispatch marked B, in-
closed, from which it seemed that the entire abandonment of the
country was expected, although no directions were given as to the
disposal of the immense depots of stores at Clarksburg and Web-
ster. I ordered everything but the cavalry pickets to the railroad;
arrived at Clarksburg at 5 a. m., 16th. The 'Bhird and Eighth Vir-
ginia were at Bridgeport. Their ordnance stores had been unneces-
sarily delayed. They were hurried forward, and issued during the
16th and 17th, days and nights. The horses which had been issued
were not shod, and though timely requisitions for forges, tools, and
materials had been made before the arrival of the horses, yet the in-
completeness and insufficiency of the supplies retarded our opera-
tions. Horses cannot travel over the rugged roads of this country
without shoes, without breaking down very soon. When a regi-
ment of infantry is transformed into cavalry in the space of forty-
eight hours, by mounting the men upon green horses, a short march,
however well conducted, occasions much wear and tear of material,
and it would be a dangerous exI)eriment to take such troops imrue-
diately into action. navailable as infantry, they are inefficient as
cavalry. I hope to render this transition state as short as possible.

On the morning of the 16th, a telegram from Brigadier-General
Kelley directed me to hold Beverly. Accordingly, the Tenth Vir-
ginia and Ewing’s battery were sent back to that place. On the
morning of the 17th, I arrived at Grafton with the Twenty-eighth
Ohio, Second Virginia, and Keeper’s battery. The Twenty-eighth
and the batterfr were sent forward to New Creek. I had communi-
cated with Colonel Mulligban at New Creek, and requested him to
cause reconnaissances to be made, &c. Ascertaining from his re-

ly, which I inclose,* that there was no cause for immediate appre-
Eansion, I hesitated about forwarding the Second Virginia immedi-
ately, as the horses to mount it were here. 1 have had a staff officer
twice at Wheeling to hurry forward the ordnance, which was so
long coming. The unwillingness of the ordnance officer at that point
_ to issue to me or to my ordnance officer in bulk, occasioned the delay.
I have officers now at Pittsburgzh and Cincinnati, striving to obtain
what is most essential. Telegrams inclosed from Wheeling and
Pittsburgh will make you aware of what is to be expected from
those places.

The orders received from your headquarters and from Brigadier-
General Kelley are somewhat conflicting and indefinite. The first
received undoubtedly contemplates a complete withdrawal of all
troops from this section. The orders from General Kelley direct
the holding of Beverly and leaving of small guards.

One of hisorderson the 17th,t you will observe, sanctions the delay
of the Second Virginia at thi‘%})iace. Istill have some cavalry pickets,
light, at Buckhannon and Weston. Since the concentration of the
troops, it is represented to me that guerrilla parties are making their
appearance in different localities. .Last nightIreceived the inclosed
telegram marked D [E], from Colonel Piatt, in reFly to a report of
the condition and position of my troops. Iregret that Colonel Piatt
should have entertained the idea expressed in the beginning of the
dispatch, and presuming that the report which I sent to him by tele-
gﬁ-aph was too incomplete to form a just idea, I was induced to make
this -

* Inclostre C, t Inclosure D,
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No threatening force has, up to this time, approached within 100
miles of me, and there has been a force of from 5,000 to 7,000 men
nearer to the enemy by 80 miles than myself. I cannot, in considera-
tion of all the facts above stated, conceive how I could have been
expected ‘¢ to strike a handsome blow.”

I am, colonel, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
) M. W. AVERELL,
: Brigadier-General,

Lieutenant-Colonel CHESEBROUGH,

Assistant Adjutant-General.

[Inclosure A.]

BALTIMORE, June 14, 1863.
Brigadier-General AVERELL,
Buckhannon, W. Va.:

Ewell, with Jackson’s old division, from Lee’s army, is fighting us
at Winchester, and trying to come down on the line of the Baltimore
and Ohio Railroad. Keeping a lookout for the passes through the
mountains westward, you will make Grafton your point of concen-
tration. The enemy is not likely to pass westward toward you
through the Alleghanies. Let me know if you hear anything of the

rebels in your direction.
ROBT. C. SCHENCK,
Major-General, Commanding.

ADDENDA.

. JUNE 14, 1863—10.50 p. m.
Major-General SCHENCK, Baltimore:

Your dispatch of 6 p. m. received. There is no force of the enemy
on the Staunton road nearer than Buffalo Gap. There is a picket of
about 500 in the vicinity of Huntersville ; none threatening me any-
where. Scouts in to-day ; am on thealert. Do you wish me to con-
centrate at Grafton without further orders from you ?

WM. W. AVERELL,
Brigadier-General.

: ) JUNE 15, 1863.
Major-General SCHENCK, Baltimore :

It was impossible to make out clearly from your cipher dispatch
of last night what your orders are. Grafton is mentioned as a point
of concentration, but I wish to know if you expect me to concentrate
there without further orders.

Respectfully,
WM. W. AVERELL,
Brigadier-General.

{Inclosure B.]

HEADQUARTERS,
] Baltimore, June 15, 1863,
Brigadier-General AVERELL, Beverly: .

Yes, concentrate at Grafton, as you are expected to move on to New
Creek, where General Kelley is, who will take command.
DONN PIATT,
Chief of Staff.
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ADDENDA.

BALTIMORE, MD.,
June 15, 1863—7.30 a. m.
General AVERELL, Buckhannon:

Instead of remaining at Grafton as the point of concentration, you
will push eastward, with all the means of re-enforcing you can com-
mand, to New Creek. The enemy are believed to be this morning in
Martinsburg, but we hold Harper’s Ferry and Winchester.

By order:
DONN PIATT, .
Chief of Staff.

(Same to Colonel Mulligan, or officer in command at Grafton.)

\

[Inclosure C.]

NeEw CRreEK, June 16, 1863—5.30 p. m.
General AVERELL:

No force at Cumberland. It was ordered here yesterday by Gen-
eral Kelley. I have a troop of cavalry seekin%1 the information de-
sired. Scouted the Springfield road all night without report of enemy-.
' JAS. A. MULLIGAN,

Colonel, Commanding.

[Inclosure D.]

New CREEK, June 17, 1863.
- (Received Grafton, 10.30 p. m.)

General W. W. AVERELL:
A sufficient guard will be left to protect the stores at Clarksburg

and Webster.
B. F. KELLEY,
Brigadier-General.

New CRrEEK, June 17, 1863.
) (Received Grafton, June 17, — p. m.)
Brigadier-General AVERELL:
When your cavalry is ready to move to New Creek, direct it to
march on the Northwestern turnpike, and via Oakland and Altamont.
B. F. KELLEY,
Brigadier-General.

NeEw CREEK, June 17, 1863.
(Received Grafton, June 17—12 m.)
General AVERELL:

“The first order was, your whole force be sent to New Creek, and
report to me. At my earnest suggestion, the order was rescinded,
as far as regards Beverly; you will, therefore, execute the order,
leaving the necessary guard at Clarksburg and Webster to protect

our stores,
B, F. KELLEY,
Brigadier-General.
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{Inclosure E.) .

HEADQUARTERS,
Baltimore, June 20, 1863—10 p. m.
Brigadier-General AVERELL,
Grafton, Va.:

Sorry to receive your report. You have missed striking a hand-
some blow that would have put heart in all of us. No blame, of
course ; I know your troubles. But hurry up your force, and get
ready soon as possible. Call on Wheeling or on Cincinnati for

material.
‘DONN PIATT,
Chief of Staff. .

HpQrs. FOoURTH SEPARATE BRiG., E1GHTH ARMY CORPS,
Beverly, W. Va., September 1, 1863.

GENERAL: I have the honor to submit the following report of the
oaerations of my brigade from the time I assumed command of it to
this date :

I arrived at Weston, W. Va., on May 22, and, pursuant to special
orders from headquarters Middle Department, assumed command of
this brigade on the ensuing day, relieving Brig. Gen. B. S. Roberts.

The following troops a.nﬁ batteries composed the brigade, viz: The
Twenty-eighth Ohio Volunteer Infantry, Col. A. Moor; Second West
Virginia Volunteer Infantry, Colonel Latham ; Third West Virginia
Volunteer Infantry, Lieutenant-Colonel Thompson; Eighth West
Virginia Volunteer Infantry, Colonel Oley; Tenth West Virginia
Volunteer Infantry, Colonel Harris; Fourteenth Pennsylvania Vol-
unteer Cavalry, Colonel Schoonmaker; Company C, Sixteenth Illi-
nois Cavalry, Captain Jaehne; Company A, First West Virginia
Cavalry, Captain Hagan; Company C, Third West Virginia Cavalry,
Captain Bowen; Third Independent Company Ohio Cavalry, Captain
Smith; Battery B, First West Virginia Artillery (six gunsg, Captain
Keeper, and Battery (I, First West Virginia Artillery (four guns),
Captain Ewing.

easures were at once taken to mount the Second, Third, and
Eighth West Virginia Volunteer Infantry, and to equip them par-
tially as cavalry. The purchase of horses was ordered by the major-
general commanding the Middle Department, and they were procured
rapidly from Pittsburgh, Wheeling, Gallipolis, and from the counties
in the vicinity of the railroad running from Grafton to Parkersburg.
Modifications were made in arms and equipments to fit them for
mounted service, and carbines and sabers were obtained from Wheel-
ing for the Eighth West Virginia Volunteers.

A camp of instruction was established at Bridgeport, near Clarks-

burg, and, on June 6, the Third West Virginia was sent to it.
_ On the 9th, the Eigilth West Virginia was also sent. Horses were
issued to those regiments, but the equipments did not come with the
horses. While waiting for them, the officers received some instruc-
tions in cavalry tactics.

Equipments arrived on the 15th, with orders to move to New Creek,
tore-enforce the command there, which was thought to be threatened
bidetachments advancing westward from the enemy’s main body,
which was then proceeding to Malgland.

The equipments were issued to the Third and Eighth, and, on the
17th, they proceeded to Grafton. The Twenty-eighth and Keeper’s

14 R R—VOL XXVII, PT II
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battery were forwarded by railroad to New Creek; the Second
marched to Grafton, held in readiness to move; the Fourteenth Penn-
sylvania and two additional independent companies recently joined
were brought to Webster, while the Tenth West Virginia and Ewing’s
battery, with two independent companies, remained at Beverly, with
one independent company at Buckhannon and one at Weston. The
necessity for my entire command at New Creek not being urgent, the
movement of the remainder was delayed, and equipments and horses
were issued to the Second West Virginia.

On July 1, the force at Beverly was threatened by a force of the
enemy under Col. [W. L.] Jackson. I went with the Fourteenth
Pennsylvania, Third and Eiihth West Virginia, to the relief of

.Colonel Harris’ command. The enemy desisted from his threatened
attack, and was pursued beyond Huttonsville. The Twentf-eighth
and Keeper’s battery were recalled from New Creek to Philippi. 1
had just returned from my pursuit of Jackson to Beverly, when I
received an order to rocee(i) to Hancock, Md., with the mounted
force of my command. The Twenty-eighth Ohio was ordered to
Bever}iy, to j1(1)in the Tenth West Virginia and one company of cavalry
in holding that place, and at 2 a. m. on the 6th, I proceeded with the
Third an Eight% ‘West Virginia and Fourteenth Pennsylvanianorth-
ward to the railroad.

On the 7th, Keeper’s battery and the Eighth West Virginia were
forwarded by railroad to Cumberland. Four independent compa-
nies were sent on the 8th, and on the 9th, 10th, and 11th the Third
‘West Virginia and Fourteenth Pennsylvania Cavalry were forwarded
with Ewing’s battery.

On July 12, I set out from Cumberland with the Third and Eighth
West Virginia, Fourteenth Pennsylvania Cavalry, and an independ-
ent battaﬁlon-—which had been organized by putting four of the
independent companies under Major Gibson, Fourteenth Pennsyl-
vania Cavalry, and Keeper’s and Ewing’s batteries—and arrived at
Fairview, helow Hancock, at 10 a. m. the 13th; about 50 miles’ march.

Advanced on the 14th to Williamsport, where it was ascertained
that the rebel army had recrossed the river during the previous night.

On the 15th, returned to Indian S)ié'ings, near Cherry Run, above
tV\Tillgliamslzport, Md. By your order, Keeper’s battery was sent back

o Beverly.

On the 16th and 17th, my command crossed the river, which was
deep and swift, by means of three flat-boats and three skiffs.

On the morning of the 18th, the battalion of Major Gibson was sent
southward, to make a reconnaissance in the direction of Shanghai.
Later in the day I moved with my command to Hedgesville. On
the way there, Major Gibson was met returning with 14 prisoners
and 3 wagons, captured from the enemy.

On the 19th, marched toward Martinsburg with my command,
with the exception of the Third West Virginia, which was left to
cover the road to Winchester; drove the enemy’s pickets until they
were re-enforced, about noon, when I received your orders to retire.
The command was withdrawn to the junction of the road to Win-
chester, the enemy following, and using his artillery without much
effect. Ewing’s battery opened for the first time during the day,
and the enemy retired.

One captain, 1 lieutenant, and 6 men were wounded of my com-
{)ma.nd. ive of the enemy werekilled and a few prisoners were taken

y us.
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Gibson’s battalion was sent to Williamsport on the 20th, to open u
communication with force at that point. Information was receiv
during the day of the advance of a division of the enemy to attack
us, and your orders were received to retire to Cherry Run at 3 a. m.
the ensuing morning, covering the withdrawal of your command.
The order was successfully carried out, and the enemy, though in
vastly superior force, was baffled in his attempts to molest us.

We remained quiet on the 22d, but on the 23d sent the Eighth West
Virginia to reconnoiter in the direction of Shanghai.

On the 24th, having received intelligence that the enemy was in
motion to the southward from Winchester, my command, pursuant
to your order, marched again to Hedgesville, from which point, on
the 25th, I sent the Third West Virginia to Martinsburg, and, on
the 26th, Gibson’s battalion to Winchester.

About noon on the 28th, I set out with my command, and marched
to Bunker Hill, via Martinsburg, and to Winchester on the 30th, from
which point patrols were sent to Strasburg and other points, from 15
to 20 miles. .

About 170 disabled officers and men, left behind by the enemy
were here paroled, to report to the nearest commander of United
States troops upon their recovery.*

* % ® B * * *
I am, general, very respectfully, your ohedient servant,
M. W. AVERELL,
Brigadier-General of Volunteers.
Brig. Gen. B. F. KELLEY,
Commanding Department of West Virginia.

No. 406.

Regem't of Maj. Gen. Darius N. Couch, U. 8. Army, commanding
partment of the Susquehanna, of operations June 11-July 5.

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF THE SUSQUEHANNA,
Chambersburg, Pa., July 15, 1863.

Sir: In obedience to instructions from the honorable Secretary of
War, I left Washington June 11, for Harrisburg, in order to assume
command of the newly organized Department of the Susquehanna.

After an interview with His Excellency Governor Curtin and
gentlemen of his council, an order was prepared and issued to the

epartment, calling for a corps of troops for State defense. This
was in accordance with instructions received from Mr. Stanton.

The Governor also issued a proclamation o the people of the State
in connection with my order.

On the 15th, 800 of the enemy’s mounted force aﬂ)leared at Cham-
bersburg, 16 miles north of the Maryland line. ey were closely
watchef by about 120 men of the First New York Cavalry, under
Captain Boyd, who covered the wagon train of General Milroy on-
its retreat from Winchester, Va., toward Harrisburg, Pa. ,

At this date there were not 250 organized men in the department
for duty. The sick in the hospital at York were removed, as well as
the United States stores at Carlisle. '

* Portion here omitted relates to Averell’s raid in West Virginia, August 5-81,
1863. See Series I, Vol. XXIX.
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Lieutenant-Colonel Coppes, of Philadelphia, volunteered his serv-
ices to the State, and was sent to Altoona to arrange with the officers
of the Pennsylvania Railroad Company for the defense of that point,
the bridges crossing the Juniata, as well as the mountain passes,
southerly toward Bedford, McConnellsburg, and London,

Comparatively few troops offered for State defense.

The President called for volunteers for six-months’ service, and
Governor Curtin issued his proclamation for 50,000 men. This was
on the 15th, and men in masses began to assemble at Philadelphia,
Harrisburg, Huntingdon, Altoona, &c.

The militia of Pennsylvania was not organized. Farmers in the
threatened parts were directed to remove their stock.

On the 17th, the only company of infantry, Caﬁteain McGowan’s
from York Hospital, was sent to Shippensburg. bel advance fell
back on the 18th to Greencastle. Some 2,500 of General Milroy’s
force, in retreating, via Hancock, arrived near Bedford Springs,
where their commander joined them. They were a good deal de-
moralized. Colonel Higgins re-enforced I\Xilroy with 1,200 men,
without blankets or camp equipage. Militia regiments from New
York began to arrive. New } ersey sent one regiment for three days.
Other companies from that State reported at Harrisburg.

The Secretary of War placed the arsenals and clothing depots at
my disposal ; also gave me ample authority to receive, subsist, and
arm whatever troops might be offered from the neighboring States.

The New York militia were mustered into the United States service
for thirty days. The Penusylvanians generally declined to be mus-
tered for six months. Finaﬁy, a portion consented to serve during
‘‘the existence of the emergency.’ ,

The heights on the right bank of the Susquehanna, opposite to
Harrisburg, were being fortified, in order to cover that city and
the important bridges. Some of the patriotic citizens of that cit
volunteered to work in the trenches; others were paid. The col-
ored population were not behind their white brethren in giving
assistance,

The Eighth and Seventy-first New York Militia went to Chambers-
burg on the 19th.

Rebel advance of infantry and artillery, 8,000 men, reported at
Hagerstown.

Brig. Gen. W. F. Smith joined after returning from Altoona and
Bedford. He was placed in command of all the troops and defenses
opposite Harrisburg. The works were bei‘rgripushed under the chief
engineer of the department, Capt. J. B. eeler, assisted by Maj.
James Brady, First Pennsylvania Artillery; Captain Wilson, of the
Pennsylvania Railroad, and other employés of that and the Northern
Central road.

Every effort was made to organize artillery and get it into posi-
tion. ajor [Granville O.] Haller, acting aide-de-camp, was sent to
Gettysburg to take command.

Capt. David McConaughy, of Gettysburg, in company with others,
were sent out as scouts to gain information.

Colonel Thomas, Twentieth Pennsylvania Volunteers, had the
defense of the bridges of the Northern Central Railroad.

On the evening of the 22d, the rebel cavalry advanced upon Cham-
bersburg, followed by heavy masses of infantry and artillery. It was
the head of their army, under General Lee. A part of Ewell’s corps
advanced toward Carlisle, which place they occupied on the 27th and
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28th by 12,000 men, our forces, under Brigadier-General Knipe, fall-
ing back to near Harrisburg. The remainder of Ewell's corps, 8,000,
crossed from Chambersburg to Gettysburg on the 26th; drove in
our scouts with their supports, with a loss to us of 176 men missin
and prisoners of the Twenty-sixth Emergency Regiment. From tha
place the enemy moved in the direction of York.

The chief burgess and a deputation of citizens met this force 9
miles from the town, and formally surrendered. It was occupied by
General Early on the 28th. A body of 2,500 of the rebels imme-
diately pushed toward Columbia, drove in the troops at Wrightsville,
under Colonel Frick, who retreated across the river and burned the
bridge. Same day, their advance approached to within 3 miles of
Harrisburg, engaging our pickets and reconnoitered the works.

Colonel Thomas, Twentieth Regiment, in charge of bridges near
York, retired toward the Susquehanna. '

The call of June 15 brought only seven full regiments. The Gov-
ernor obtained the sanction of the President, and called out 60,000
militia for State service. These rendezvoused at Harrisburg, Read-
ing, and Huntingdon. Up to this time, New York had sent nearly
6,000 men.

Col. E. Franklin, a citizen of Lancaster, had been placed in com-
mand of the fords and bridges on the Lower Susquehanna, to Cono-
wingo, in Maryland, some of which were guarded by citizens partially
armed with shot-guns.

Five thousand men of the counties bordering on the Juniata filled
the passes leading to their homes, and threw up military works. They
were an army of bushwhackers, commanded by ex-officers.

Brigadier-General Smith advanced to Carlisle July 1, with 3,000
men. During the night, Lee’s cavalry, 3,200 strong, surrounded the

lace, and, after dema_n(iing its surrender, shelled the town, retiring
fore the next morning in the direction of Gettysburg, where Gen-
eral Lee was hastily concentrating, having been forced to this by the
rapid movements of the Army of the Potomac, under General Meade.
he battle of Gettysburg was fought on J uiy 1, 2, and 3, when the
rebels commenced falling back to Hagerstown. Brigadier-General
Knipe joining Smith, the latter moved in the direction of Gettys-
burg throutgh the mountains, via Pine Grove, in order to make a di-
version in favor of Meade by attacking Lee’s flank and rear. This
movement compelled the latter to keep a large force in line of battle
near Cashtown. Smith was ordered by General Meade to join him
at Gettysburg. Subsequently it was countermanded, and he followed
the retreating army of Lee, via Altodale, to the vicinity of Waynes-
borough, where he effected a junction with one of Meade’s brigades,
under Brigadier-General Neill. Smith’s division was mostly com-
posed of New York troops, including one brigade of Pennsylvania
emergency men, under Colonel Brisbane, actintg brigadier-general.
é rgf tfully refer to the elaborate report of Brigadier-General
mith.

Major-General Sigel was assigned to duty in this department, and
took command of the rendezvous at Reading. Major-General Stahel
was present as chief of cavalry.

Major-General Dana, on duty at Philadelphia, reported to me at
Chambersburg on the 11th, and was assigned to the command of the
Second Division, compose(i of Pennsylvania militia, excepting two

Iéevt:}s York regiments, under the command of Brigadier-General
ates,
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Colonels Beaver and Miles, both of the Second Army Corps, dan-
gerously wounded at Chancellorsville, commanded Camps Curtin-
and Huntingdon.

Colonel Pierce, Twelfth Pennsylvania Cavalry, who had succeeded
Milroy, killed, wounded, and captured a company of rebel cavalry
at McConnellsburg.

On July 5, Captain Jones, First New York Cavalry, attacked
Lee’s wagon train near (Greencastle, and brought off 645 prisoners,
300 of whom were wounded, 90 wagons, and 1 piece of artillery.

Had Colonel Pierce fully carried out my instructions, he would
have inflicted very heavy loss upon the rebels, in breaking up their
trains. He sent in nearly 1,000 prisoners ; General Smith about 300,
with some wagons and horses. This officer joined his force with
those of General Meade, the latter having under advisement tlre
breaking up of this division and distributing the regiments amon,
the brigades of his army. This course was recommended to that
officer and approved by General Smith. Lee, however, recrossed
the Potomac %efore it was accomplished. Thus ended, disastrously
to the enemy, their invasion of Maryland and Pennsylvania.

I received from Governor Curtin and State officers every assistance.
Among the latter, more prominently were Col. John A.Wright, aide-
de-camp ; Hon. William M. Meredith, attorney-general ; Adjutant-
General 1[A. L.] Russell, Commissary-General Irwin, General Cam-
eron, Col. T. A. Scott, Judge Watts, Hon. Charles McAllister, Col-
onel McClure, Judge [Francis M.] Kimmell, Colonel Stumbaugh,
and J. N. Du Barry, together with a very great number of gentle-
men residing within the limits of the department, who lent their as-
sistance in working for the common cause.

The Governor of New York pushed forward his regiments with
alacrity. They were generally armed and equipped ready for field
gervice, and their arrival brought confidence.

Among the patriotic associations in the country, the Union League,
of Philadelphia, is not surpassed for its vigor and efficient labor. It
alone placeg several regiments in the field.

The militia of Pennsylvania raised to resist the invasion was com-
posed of men from all classesand professions, and was a fine body of
men.

My thanks are due to the following-named gentlemen, who freel

ave their services to the State, and served as volunteers on my staff;
they were stationed in various sections of the department : Lieut.
Col. Henry Coppee, military secretary ; M&jrors Wilson and Wayne
MacVeagh ; Capts. David McConaughy, W. A. H. Lewis, and A,
Wright ; and Cadets [Reuben W.] Petrikin, [William] Krause, and
[Charles W.] Raymond, from West Point, extra aides-de-camp.

New York sent nineteen regiments and one batter{, commanded
by the following brigadier-generals : Brigadier-Generals Hall, Yates,

wen, Crooke, and Smith.

Pennsylvania furnished eight regiments of emergency men, twenty-
two regiments of three-months’ militia, five companies of artillery,
one battalion of six-months’ infantry, two regiments and one battal-
ion of six-months’ cavalry, and one battalion of three-months’ cavalry.
The three-months’ men were generally organized between July 4
and 11 of the same month.

New Jersey sent one battalion of infantry that remained until after
the invasion.

Number of prisoners reported, 1,341, of whom nearly 500 were
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taken under arms, 400 wounded, and the remainder stragglers and
deserters. This does not include quite a number who escaped
through the mountains and went north, being aided in this by the
citizens.
I am, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
y respee y y D. N. COUCH,
Major-General, Commanding.

Col. J. C. KELTON, :

Assistant Adjutant-General,

ADDENDA,*

Pennsylvania Volunteers and Militia called into service during the Geltysburg
Campaign. .

[The emergency militia and the six-montha’ volunteers were n red into the United States serv-
ice.and the ninety-days' militia into the State service. Under act of Congress approved April 12,
1868, the State was reimbursed by the United States for money expended in payment of the latter
troopa.]

Strength at
muster-in.
Date of | Date of
Organizations. Commanders. muster- | muster-.
5 in. out.
€ §
o| A, g
1863. 1863,
3 88 91 | June 18 | Aug. 11
2 78 7 | June 18 | July 30
3 81 84| June 19 | Aug. 1
3 T 80 | June 19 | July
8 83 86 | June 20 | July 81
8! ™| 7 {June 24| Aug. 12
3 99| 102 | June 19 | July 25
8| 105 | 108 | June 27 | July 80
44| 927 971 | June 17 { Aug. 10
33| T05| 743 | June 22 | July 30
...| 37} 770 | 807 | Jume 221 July 81
B 89| 68| 717 { June 24 | July 28
............ Col. Joseph W, Hawley ........[ 39 | 72| 761 | June 28 | Aug. 1
............ " Col. William N, Monies.........| 88| 630 | 718 | June 25 | July 20
3ist Infantry................... Col. John Newkumet........... 37| 679 716 { June 30 | Aug. 8
834 Infantry (Blue Reserves).. Col. William W. Taylor ........ 86 | 618 | 654 | June 26 | Aug. 4
Independent Battalion Infan-{ pjeut. Col. Robert Litatnger....| 17 | 384 | 401 [958 aug. 3
Indépendent Company Infan. ' Capt. John Spear .............. 8| 83| 96| June 17| July 21
Ingeyl;endem Company Infan- Capt. Willlam B. Maon.........| 8 88 ( 101 | June 17 | July A
try.
Independent Company Infan- : Capt. James B, Germaa........ 8 e 75 | June 18 | July 28
try. |
Total emergency militia. /...l PR R 7,461
......... Lieut. Col. Richard F. Moson...| 12| 269 | 281 | July 13 | Aug. 21
Independent Company Cavalry.' Capt. James M. | S 3 99 102 | June 30 | Aug. @
alry. Capt. Willlam B. Dick 8 69 ™I July 9]Oct, 3
Capt. R. W. Hammell .. ........ 8| 101 | 104 July 2| Sept. 18
} Capt. Joseph M. Knap.......... 5| 116 | 121! June 27 | Aug. 18
. Capt. Benoni Frishmuth. 4 47 100 104 | June 26 | Aug. 1
Indepen . t. 'W. C. Ermentrout 5| 144 | 149 [ July 8| Aug. 26
Independent Babtel)'y (Second | Capt. Edward Fi o 811881 148 | July 6] Aug. U
Keystone Battery).
mt Battery (Chester ' Capt. George R. Guss .......... 4 117] 121 [ July 1| Aug. 4
County Artillery). |

* Compiled under the direction of the Adjutant-General, U. S, Army.
{ Attached to Thirty-second Regiment,
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Pennsylvania Volunleers and Militia called into service during the Gettysburg

Campaign—Continued.
Strength at
muster-in.
Date of | Date of
[Organizations. Commanders. muster- | muster-
5 in ourt.
g
g1§|2
1863, 1868.
3d Infn.ntry (Gray Reserves). .| Col. Charles 8. Smith........... 38| 56| 804 | June 8 | Aug. 1
84th Infan Col. Charles Albright.......... 87| 851 888 | July 3| Aug. 10
Henry B. McKean ......... 38 071 | July 4| Aug. 7
Henry C. Alleman ......... 88| 800} 847 | July 4| Aug. 11
.JohnTrout ................ 881 600 | 728 | July 4| Aug. 3
. Melchoir H Horp.......... 38| 49| W | J 8| Aug. 7
. James Nagle............... 37| 845 | 8682 July 4| Aung. 2
L Alfred Day ................ 88| 739 | 77 | July 14| Aug. 16
. Edward R. Mayer......... 88| 820! 807 [ July 5| Aug
. Charles H. Hunter .. ..... 38| 861 | 809 July 6| Aug. 12
, William W. Stott .......... 89 6571 696 | July 6! Aug. 1
. Enos Woodward........... 39| 96| 945 | July 9| Aug. 20
James T. Clancy 868 | 908 | July1-8 | Aug. 289
John J. Lawrence 7601 798 | July 8 | Aug. 18
James P. Wickersham TR 760 |July 9] Aug. 18
try Col. John B. Embich........... 717 | 4 | July 8| Aug. 96
40th ln!;l::y (Second Corn Ex- | Col. Alexander Murphy 863 | 901 | July 14 | Sept.
83
BOth INfantry................... Col. Emlen Franklin. ... 77| 814 | July 11| Ang. 15
Slst Inﬂmtt (Second Coal Regi-| Col. Oliver Hopkinson. . 741 | 788 | July 10 | Sept. 2
53d Infantry )(Sooond Union | Col. William A. Gray........... 679 716 |July 9 | Sept. 1
9).
Col. Hei Royer.............. g | 65| 6911 N 13 [ Aug. 18
.| Col. Thgrymu G her. ... .. 87| 7R | 78 J% 4 A%. 17
Robert B. McComb ........ 38| 689 | 7% (July 8! Aug. 28
Col. 8amuel B.Dick............ 83| 600} 688 | July 5 Aug. 13
Col, James R, Porter.  ..... 87| 660) 697 | July 81 Aug. 17
Col. rge H. Bemus.......... 881 641 679 July 10| Aug. 13
Col. George P. McLean......... 8| 679 | 718 July 9| Sept. 9
Ool. William F. Small .......... 2| 335! 361 | July 20 | Sept. 8
Lieut. Col. John McKeage...... 30| 580 | 619 July 18 | Aug. 8
Independent Company Infantry | Capt. Joseph K. Helmbold ..... 3 58 58 | July 18 | Sept. 7
Independent Company Infantry | Capt. Horace A. Beale ......... 8 73 76| July 6| BSept. 4
ndep t Company Infanu'y Capt. Banﬂ.mln Green....... 3 68 71 | July 6 Sept. 3
pendent Cc y Infantry | Capt. Dav Mitchel ............ 3 58 56 | July 18 | Se 2
peud ‘Companyln!ant.ry Capt. Osborn E. Stephens....... 3 7t 4 |July 21J 30
dep Company Infantry | Capt. William F. Rich.......... 3 96 09 (June 28 | July 8
Total ninety-days'militia.[.............ccooviviiiiinn, AN 28,807
1864.
20th Cavalry.................... Col. John E. Wynkoop ......... 0 1,074 1,108 | { Juhe- t Jan, 455
flst Cavalry.................... Col. William H. Boyd . ........ 48 j1,009 |1, 197 i““‘gj t| Feb. 20
22d Cavalry (battalion).... ... Maj. B. Mortimer Morrow...... 16 | 31| 847 | July — F‘l’gén 5
1st Battalion Cavalry ......... Lieut. Col. Richard C. Dale ....[ 91 | 867 578 |{Jupe} | Dec.
1884.
Independez;t Battery (Park Bat- | Capt. Horatio K. Tyler......... 4] 138| 142 ( July 16 | Jan. 28
> 1868,
Independent Battery ........... Capt. W. H. Woodward ........ 81 128| 181 [ July ¢ N::;i‘ 4
Independent Battery .......... Capt. Robert J. Nevin.......... 5| 147! 12| Juy — | Jan. %
lmmllon Infantry.......... ue‘:lct. Col. Joseph F. Ramsey 517 | 541 | July — | Jan 6
Ed Battalion Infantry .......... Lieut. Col. John C. .... 20 662| 601 | July — | Jan. 21
3d Battalion Infantry ......... Lieut. Col, T. Ellwood Zell ..... 16| 438 | 464 | July — | Jan. 29
Independent Company Infan Capt. Samuel T. Grlfm:h ........ 8| 102{ 105 | Aug. 8| Jan. 2
Independent Company Infantry | Capt. ceenne| 8 [ ] 68 | June 24
Total six-months® volun- {............cc.cvvvuveenn. PPN N P 5, 459
teers.
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GENERAL ORDERS, .HDQRs. PENNSYLVANIA MILITIA,
No. 43. Harrisburg, June 15, 1863.

I. Torepel the threatened and imminent invasion of Pennsylvania
by the enemies of the country,the President of the United States
has this day issued his proclamation for 50,000 volunteers, to serve
for a period of six months, if not sooner discharged, to be subsisted,
equipped, and paid as promptly as are all other troops in the service.

II. organizations or companies of men responding to this call
will at once report by telegraph the place of their rendezvous, so that
orders may be issued from the departmental headquarters of Major-
General Couch, at this city, for transportation to Harrisburg or such
other points as may be deemed expedient.

II1. Troops rendezvoused at Harrisburg will be mustered into the
United States service at this point, and those ordered to rendezvous
elsewhere will be mustered in at the places of their respective ren-
dezvous by mustering officers detailed for that duty.

By order of A. G. Curtin, Governor and Commander-in-Chief :

A. L. RUSSELL,
Adjutant-General, Pennsylvania.

GENERAL ORDERS, HpQrs. PENNSYLVANIA MILITIA,
No. #4. Hurrisburg, June 26, 1863.

In organizing the troops responding to the proclamation of the
(overnor, this day issued, calling for 60,000 men for the defense of the
State, to be mustered into the service of the State for the period of
ninety days, unless sooner discharged, it is ordered :

I (gamps of rendezvous will be established by the United States
Government for districts comprising the adjacent counties at such
points as may be indicated by the commandant of the Department of
the Susquehanna and the Department of the Monongahela, in charge
of which camps commanders and skillful surgeons will be appointed.

II. Squads and companies will be received at the camps, and as
rapidly as possible organized into companies of not less than 64 men,
and into regiments of ten companies each, and mustered into the
:&lalzi';ice of the State by officers appointed by the adjutant-general for

urpose.

IT1. Officers will be elected—company officers by the men and field
officers by the company or line officers.

1V, Transportation to the camp of rendezvous nearest their loca-
tion will be furnished by the United States Government on applica-
tion of anﬂ one actually having charge of a squad or company to the
agent at the nearest railroad station.

V. Troops responding to this call of the Governor will be clothed,
. subsisted, e(qllipped, and supplied by the General Government after
arriving at their rendezvous. .

VI. Annexed is the quota required from each county on the pres-
ent call, after crediting those counties which had already responded
under recent orders Wiﬁl the number of troops furnished and actually
mustered into service:

Adams ............ ... ciiiiennnn 2 388 gfr_ks ........................... 1, gg“&
Allegheny............c.cvcuennns R E P

0T 720 | Bradford............ccciivuvunne 866
Beaver............cccvvvinennnn. 600 | BuckS........cocoivviinnnrnnrns 1,147
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286 | Montgomery .
885 | Montour .............
821 | Northampton
980 | Northumberland

587 | Perry .....coovvviiiinieinnnnnnn.
Dauphin..............cooiiiatn 744 | Philadelphia ....................
Delaware ............cccoevimnns 255 | Pike ....vciveeniiiiiiiiiiaiiia

Erie.....oooiiiiiiiiin innennn.

By order of A. G. Curtin, Governor and Commander-in-Chief :
A, L. RUSSELL,
Adjutant-General, Pennsylvania.

SpPECIAL ORDERS, | HEADQUARTERS PENNSYLVANIA MILITIA,
No. 75. . Harrisburg, June 19, 1863.

I. All officers in charge of men assembled at this point will report
their commands, without delay, at the headquarters of Col. James A.
Beaver, commanding at Camp Curtin.

II. Officers are required to remain with their commands, and all
such as fail to comply with this special order will be reported to these
headquarters by the comn:iadant of camp, and not recognized as en-
titled to commissions. .

By order of A. G. Curtin, Governor and Commander-in-Chief :

. A. L. RUSSELL,
Adjutant-General, Pennsylvania.

SPECIAL ORDERS, ) HEADQUARTERS PENNSYLVANIA MILITIA,
No. 76. Harrisburg, June 30, 1863.

All persons residents of the city of Harrisburg or vicinity unat-
tathed to any military organization, to whom arms or ammunition,
or either, have lately been issued from the Harrisburg State Ar-
senal, or who are in possession of arms belonging to the State, will
immediately attach themselves to a military organization, to report
to these headquarters, or return the arms and other State property
in their hands to the arsenal.

By order of A. G. Curtin, Governor and Commander-in-Chief :

’ ~ A. L. RUSSELL,
Adjutant-General, Pennsylvania.
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SpEC1AL ORDERS, | HEADQUARTERS PENNSYLVANIA MILITIA,
- No. 77. Harrisburg, July 18, 1863.
The following companies, now at Huntingdon, mustered into the
State service for the period of ninety days, will form a battalion, to be
commanded by a lieutenant-colonel and a major, viz: Captain Me-
Keage’s company, Blair County; Cantain Crozier’s company, Blair
County; Captain Travis company, Blair County; Captain Swoope's
company, Blair County; Captain Hamman’s company, Blair County;
Captain Davidson’s company, Blair County. The commanding offi-
cer will detail an acting adjutant and an acting quartermaster from
the line officers.
By order of the Governor:
A. L. RUSSELL,
Adjutant-GQeneral, Pennsylvania.

[Indorsement.]
The aforegoing are true and correct coBies of Special Orders, Nos.
75, 76, and 77, issued during the year A. D. 1863, as the same appear

on file in this office.
PRESLY N. GUTHRIE,
Adjutant-General, Pennsylvania.

New York Militia sent to Haryland gnii Sslge;msyh)ania between June 15 and July

5 g .
g -]
g Commanders. Location. 'sg g
K B
.| New York City. .. 500
do............ 28
do....... 656
do......... 50
do.... 371
do.. 762
do .. 884
kl§n .. 496
‘White Plains . 400
...| South East ... .. 400
...| Poughkeepsie 600
.1 New York City 568
....] Brooklyn..... .| June 18 626
PN P do......... ...| June 2 484
.. | New York City - ...| June 19 6u8
.| Brooklyn ..... .| June 28 400
..... do....... .| June 22 351
New York Cit, June 24 350
klyn June 2 478
Buffalo......... June 19 555
East Hamburg June 23 400
o] June 24 400
New York Cit; June 22 600
...... do......... | June 18 787
0 . e June 19 504
New York City................... July 8 480
............................................. "18,971

*From Annual Report of the Ilixtliﬂllltant-Geneml, State of New York, who reports
that, * In connection with this itia force, detachments of volunteers scattered
out the State, were organized, equipped, and ordered forthwith to Harris-
3 This force comprised 1,827 men.’
t to the Department of Washington, June 27.
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- Report of Brig. Gen. William F. Smith, U. S. Army, commandin,
First Division, of operations June 26- uﬁ/ 15. '

Hpg@rs. FIRST DIvISION, DEPT. OF THE SUSQUEHANNA,
Greencastle, Pa., July 18, 1863.

MaJor: T have to report that, in obedience to orders from the gen
eral comma.nding, I assumed command of the troops south of thi
Susquehanna and in the vicinity of Harrisburg on I<Prida. , June 26
and was busily engaged until Tuesday, 30th, in strengtﬁenin th
defenses at Bridgeport, opposite the city of Harrisburg, and at Marys
\ﬁiél.cla, to protect the bridges of the Pennsylvania and Northern Centra

ilroads.

On Sunday, a rebel cavalry force, with a section of artillery, came
to our J)icket line near Oyster Point, and drove in our cavalry pickets
but did not succeed in moving the infantry pickets.

On Monday, I sent the regular cavalry, under Lieutenant [Frank]
Stanwood, on the Carlisle road, and he engaged and drove in the
f)ickets of the enemy, but was obliged to retire under a fire of artil-
ery which was opened on him, :

n Tuesday, learning that the rebel infantry had left Carlisle, the
cavalry was ordered forward, and found the enemy at Sporting Hill.
General Ewen, New York militia, in command of the Twenty-second
and Thirty-seventh New York State Militia, went forward to support
Lieutenant Stanwood, and a section of Landis’ battery, under the
direction of Lieutenant Muhlenberg, was immediately ordered up.
The enemy was found in position, and attacked about 4 p. m. The
artillery arrived on the ground about 5 p. m., and soon silenced the
fire of the enemy.

General Ewen’s command was ordered forward to occugy Carlisle,
but did not march until the next morning. Captain Boyd, First
New York Cavalry, with 120 men, was also ordered by the Trindle
Spring road, via Churchtown, to Carlisle. He stopped at Church-
town, and entered Carlisle on the morning of July 1.

Colonel Brisbane, commanding the Pennsylvania Brigade, was
ordered to move on Carlisle by the mud road at daylight, but, owing
to a want of transportation, did not move until about 9 a. m.

I visited the headquarters to receive instructions and make arrange-
ments for supplies and transportation, and, recrossing the river, the
remainder of the command, under Brigadier-General Knipe, U. S,
Volunteers, was directed to march as far as practicable and encamp,
and to move at an early hour in the morning.

The Eleventh New Sgork Artillery, under Colonel Forbes, refused
to march under certain pleas, and the matter wasreferred to General
Couch. Thisdelayed my starting till 3.30 p. m., and finally, leaving
orders with General Knipe to carry out the instructions with refer-
ence to the refractory regiment, I left to join the advance. Hearing
rumors on the road of a large cavalry force in the vicinity, I sent
out scouts on the cross-roads, and pushed on, entering Carlisle at
sunset.

General Ewen had passed through the town on the Baltimore turn-
pike about 14 miles, and, while going on to examine his position,word
came from my scouts that a large cavalry force of the enemy was in
the immediate vicinity, on the York road, and, turning back, before 1
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entered the village, their guns had opened on us. The road for several
miles back of us was ﬁlleguv{:ith stragglers from the brigades of Gen-
eral Ewen and Colonel Brisbane, and the men with me were wearied
with a long march, to which they were unused.

Under these circumstances, I determined to content myself till
morning with simply holding the town, but before I could get a line
of skirmishers out, a summons was sent by General Fitzhugh Lee to
surrender the town, or send out the women and children. 1 sent an
answer that the women and children would be notified to leave. In
less than half an hour, another message was sent to the purport that,
if not surrendered, the town would be burned. The answer was re-
turned that one answer had already been given. I then sent a vol-
unteer aide, Mr. Ward, of Harrisburg, to communicate with General
Knipe, and order him to march at 3 a. m., and to report to General
Couch the position of affairs. In the meantime the enemy opened a
battery on the town, to which, by my orders, our artillery did not
reply, as I deemed the fire too inaccurate, and wished to save my
ammunition.

About 11 o’clock I sent another volunteer aide, Mr. James Dough-
erty, to try and get to General Knipe with orders to move immedi-
ately. Mr. Dougherty was captured and his orderly wounded, and
about 12 m. a third and last summons came to surrender, to which
the reply was given that the message had been twice answered before.

About 1 o’clock the firing ceased, with the exception of three guns
about 3 a. m., soon after which reports came in that the enemy was
moving off on a country road which came into the turnpike about
24 miles from Carlisle, and by daylight there was nothing opposed
to us.

The casualties were 12 wounded, none fatally.

Thursday [Jl;ll 2] the entire command was put in near the bar-
racks, which had been burned during the nig%t, and on Friday a
train of provisions came up to Carlisle. The supplies which we
could draw from the citizens were extremely limited, though every -

i ition to aid us was manifested.

neral Knipe’s command having joined me on Friday, the whole
command was put in motion at 6 a. m. on Saturday for Mount Holly,
where we were detained for two hours by the arrival of about 2,000
prisoners, paroled on the battle-field, and sent under a flag of truce
toward Carlisle. Wishing to prevent the enemy from getting infor-
mation of our strength, I was forced to accept the prisoners, subject
to the decision of the Government, and turn the rebel escort back.
The Thirty-seventh New York Militia Regiment was left at Mount
Holly to watch the Baltimore road, and the command moved toward
Pine Grove.

A most furious rain-storm set in, which raised the creeks, carried
away bridges, and made the march toilsome in the extreme. The
command of General Ewen was left at Laurel Forge, to cover the
entrance to the narrow valley, and also watch a road leading over
the mountain to Bendersville. The remainder of the force was con-
centrated at Pine Grove Furnace, the Eighth New York State Militia
being ordered to hold the pass to Bendersville from Pine Grove.

On Sunday, General Knipe was ordered with his command to hold
the cross-roads from Mount Holly to Cashtown and Pine Grove to
Bendersville,.while General Ewen crossed the mountain to the Mount
Holly and Cashtown road, holding the pass in his rear, and being
within a mile of General Knipe's command. Colonel Brisbane, with
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the Pennsylvania Brigade, was holding a by-road from Pine Grove
to Cashtown. A cavalry scout, under Lieutenant Stanwood, was
sent up Mountain Creek Valley, in the direction of the pass from
Chambersburg to Gettysburg, through which it was supposed the
enemy would send his trains, if he were defeated. Lieutenant Stan-
wood drove in the pickets a couple of miles from the turnpike, but
had not sufficient force to presson. Captain Boyd joined me at Pine
Grove, having followed the rear guard of the enemy to Fayetteville,
on the Qettysburg and Chambersburg road, Capturin% risoners.
He was directed to pass by Bendersville, in the direction o é)a.shtown,
to try and ascertain the movements and position of the enemy. He
fell in with them, and captured eight wagons and — prisoners. Dur-
ing the day a small provision train came up, which was very accept-
n,b%e, as it was impossible to subsist the troops from the country. A
scout from General Meade also came througl{) giving the information
that the enemy was retiring ; and, later in the day, Captain West, a
volunteer aide and assistant on the Coast Survey, returned, having
successfully opened communications with General Meade on Satur-
day from Mount Holly.

811 Monday morning, I marched the brigade by three different
roads, concentrating at Newman’s Pass behind Cashtown. We were,
however, too late to intercept the trains which had gone that route.

Tuesday morning, I was proposing to enter the Cumberland Valley
and follow down the mountains toward Boonsborough, when an order
came from General Meade to march to Gettysburg, which order was
shortly after countermanded, with permission to do as I had proposed.
The command was then marched to Altodale, and an officer sent to
Chambersburg, to try and procure supplies, as my trains had failed
to overtake me. A small supply being procured, the troo&s were
marched on Wednesday to Waynesborough, where I found General
Neill, with a brigade of infantry and one of cavalry, and eight pieces
of artillery. Here I was forced to wait for my trains to come up,
but sent a cavalry scout to communicate with Giengral Meade, west
of South Mountain. :

Thursday was spent in waiting for rations to come up, and for in-
structions from General Meade.

On Friday, I was ordered by him to occupy the enemy to the best
advantage, and to beready to join the Army of the Potomac or Gen-
eral Couch, as circumstances might require. Colonel McIntosh was
at once ordered with his brigade of cavalry and four guns to feel the
enemy along the Antietam below Leitersburg, which he did in the
most skillful manner, driving his cavalry pickets across the creek
upon their infantry and artillery supports. The cavalry was sup-
ported in this movement by two regimerits of Pennsylvania militia,
under Colonel Frick, at Ringgold and Smithsburg, and one regi-
ment, Forty-third New York Volunteers, from General Neill’s com-
mand, posted near Leitersburg.

On Saturday, hearing that the rebels had ordered a miller on Marsh
Run to grind wheat all night for them, Colonel Brisbane, with two
regiments of Pennsylvania militia, was ordered, if possible, to in-
tercept the wagons going for the flour, and destroy the grain if he
could not bring it off. Tﬁese regiments were supported by the Sixty-
first Pennsylvania Volunteers, of General Neill’'s command. From 2
Brisoners captured at the mill, we learned that the enemy had fallen

ack to Hagerstown,

Colonel Brisbane’s command was left at Waynesborough, with
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orders to march at daylight, and the rest of the troops were moved
to Leitersburg. excepting the command of Colonel Frick, which was
ordered from Ringgold to Chewsville.

During the night an order came for General Neill to join the Arm
of the Potomac at once, and, as no instructions were sent to me,
ordered Colonel Brisbane to remain at Waynesborough, to guard my
communications, and moved with what force I had with me to Cave-
town. After posting my troops there, I reported in person to General
Meade, and recommended to him to divide my command among the
old divisions of the Army of the Potomac before the anticipated
battle. Under the supposition that this was to be done, 1 ordered
Colonel Brisbane to Hagerstown, and moved with the rest of the com-
mand to the Boonsborough turnpike, near Beaver Creek. General
Meade declined to distribute the militia, and I remained until Wed-
nesday morning, when I received orders to send the New York State
militia home, via Frederick, and the necessary orders were given.
The Pennsylvania militia were concentrated at Hagerstown, under
Colonel Brisbane, who was appointed military governor, with in-
structions to watch the ford at Williamsport and Falling Waters.

Before closing, I must call to the remembrance of the general com-
manding the force that I moved without a quartermaster or commis-
sary, without supply trains, some regiments even being without hav-
ersacks, and with no adequate transportation of the “cooking utensils
of the men, and must pay the proper tribute to the general behavior
of the troops during lon, marcﬁes, in rainy weather and without suffi-
cient food. The rugged mountain roads left many of them bare-
footed, but the ﬁ'reater portion of the command seemed animated by
a desire to do all that was required in the service of their country.

Colonel Brisbane deserves special mention for the manner in which
lt:? managed and led his command, and I earnestly recommend him

notice.

Captain Boyd, First New York Cavalry, also did gallant service
with his small force. .

I am much indebted to Capt. M. A. Reno, U. 8. Cavalry, who acted
as my chief of staff; to Lieutenant Muhlenberg, my chief of ar-
tillery; to Lieut. Rufus King, Fourth U. S. Artillery, and to Lieuten-
ant ?Z)hnson, U. 8. Cavalry, for their services. To my own aides—
Lieutenants [Matthew] Berry and [Campbell] Tucker, and the fol-
lowing gentlemen, who were volunteer aides: Colonel McCormick,
Casts. P. C. F. West and Lamborn, Lieuts. Samuel Carey, F. Rogers,
an Evans, and Mr. Ward—1I am indebted for zealous and in-
defatigable service.

Dr. John Neill, medical director of the division, was particularly
watchful and efficient in the discharge of his duties.

Very respectfully, WM. F SMITH
Brigadier—Gen,eral.

ADDENDA.

Memorandum of operations in Pennsylvania and Maryland, June
- 24-July 15, 1863.

Wednesday, June 24, 1863.—From Altoona to Bloody Run, to in-
spect the force of General Milroy. Left Bloody Run at 11 p. m., and
arrived at Harrisburg on Thursday, June 25, at 1 p. m.

Friday, 26th, Saturday, 27th, Sunday, 28th, Monday, 29th, Tues-
day, 30th.—Were spent on the fortifications opposite Harrisburg.
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In addition to the three works on the hill, the engine-house of the
Cumberland Valley Railroad was pierced for musketry, and the door:
barricaded with cross-ties and sand-bags, with embrasures for twc

ieces commanding the railroad. The rock cut of the Northerr
gentra.l Railroad under the fort was barricaded, rifle-pits constructed
on the top of the cut and in several positions occupied by the troops
down the river and in front of the small work on the hil)i.

The narrow pass of the railroad (Northern Central) and the com-
mon road at the end of the North Mountain, on the river, 1 mile be.
low the end of the Pennsylvania Railroad bridge, was filled by a smal]
work of rock, earth, and sand-bags. The position was naturally a
a very strong one.

General Yates with , & Marysville, to secure the Pennsylva.-
nia and Northern Central Railroad bridges from attack by way of
Sterritt’s Gap or other passes in the Nortﬁ Mountain.

A reconnaissance was made on the 30th by , under command
of Colonel Brisbane, with one section of Landis’ battery, to Sporting
Hill, 4 miles beyond Oyster Point, which resulted in a skirmish,
in which we had 4 wounded.

Wednesday, July 1.—The brigades of General Ewen and Colonel
Brisbane, with Landis’ battery, moved to Carlisle. .

General Knipe's brigade left later, 1.30 p. m., and encamped at
Silver Springs.

The rear of General Ewen’s command reached Carlisle about dusk.
Colonel Brisbane was already there. Half an hour later, General
Fitzhugh Lee, with a force of 3,300 (?) cavalry and seven guus, ap-

roached the town from the direction of Mechanicsburg, not know-
Ing that any of our forces occupied the place. Shots were exchanged
with our pickets, and several shell were thrown over the town, and
one or two up the Railroad street into the square. Landis’ battery,
posted in the square, replied by three shots.

A flag of truce then came in from Lee, demanding the surrender
of the town or the removal of the women and children, to which
General Smith made answer that the women and children would be
removed.

The shelling was resumed, 134 shots being fired by the enemy.
Several houses were damaged; —men wounded and 1 horse killed.

To a second flag of truce, the answer was returned that an answer
had been already given to the same demand.

Captain Dougﬁerty, an aide of General Smith, was captured on the
Harrisburg road as he was attempting to get out to communicate
with General Knipe. He was immediately sent in with another flag,
principally to give the impression that Lee’s force was very large, and
could easily destroy the town.

The enemy set fire to a board-yard near the gas-works, to the gas-
works, and to the barracks, all of which were consumed.

Mr. Ward, another aide, succeeded in getting through to General
Iinipe; his orderly was captured. Captain Dougherty’s orderly was
shot. .

At 12 o’clock the firing ceased, and was not resumed, excepting b
the enemy firing three %artin shots at 3 a. m., when thef1 move o%
toward Mount %Iolly. hey had a heavy wagon train, which moved
off at 1 a. m. Some of the citizens did good service in the skirmish
line as volunteers. No citizens were injured by the shelling.

Thursday, 2d.—The troops were all moved out the burned barracks.

Friday, July 3.—The troops remained at barracks all day, waiting
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for provisions, the supply trains having been prevented from arriving
by the occupation of tge road by the enemy on the 1st and 2d of July.

e attempt to procure provisions from the citizens was only par-
?fugd successful. Supplies arrived by railroad on the evening of

e 3d.

Saturday, July 4.—The whole command, consisting of the brigade
of Colonel Brisbane, Twenty-eiﬁhth and Thirtieth Pennsylvania.
Gray Reserves Regiments, and Blue Reserves, 2,500 men; Genera.
Knipe, Eighth, Seventy-first, Fifty-sixth, and ﬁ‘wenty-tﬁird New
York Regiments, —— men, and General Ewen’s brigade, Thirty-
seventh, Twenty-second, and Eleventh New York Regiments, with
Landis’ Philadelphia battery of six g)ieces, and Miller’s Philadelphia
howitzer battery of four pieces, left Carlisle at 6 a. m., and moved
by the Papertown road, Gf miles to Mount Holly.

There a detention of two hours was caused by the arrival of a flag
of truce, escorting 2,000 paroled prisoners captured by the rebels at
Gettysburg in the first day’s fi hg They were received and sent to
the rear. Among them was Captain Doh:gherty and a number of
stragglers of New York regiments, who been picked up on July
1, on the road coming into Carlisle.

The Thirty-seventh New York Regiment, 400 strong, was left at
Mount Holly, to watch the Carlisle and Baltimore turnpike. The re-
mainder of the force was moved on 6} miles to Laurel Forge, where
General Ewen’s brigade was left to watch the road from Mount Holly
to Pine Grove and that from Laurel Forge to Bendersville, over the
mountain.

The other brigades were moved on to Pine Grove Iron Works, 2} .
miles farther, the advance reaching that point at 6 p. m.

Very heavy rain fell from 1 p. m., making the roads very difficult
for the artillery and trains.

On arriving at Pine Grove, the Eighth New York Regiment was
sent out to hold the road to Bendersviﬁe, where it crosses the mount-
ain south of Pine Grove.

Sunday, July 5.—The troops were moved from Pine Grove at 8
a. m. over the mountain, on the Bendersville road, General Knipe’s
brigade, with one section of artillery, being placed at the intersec-
tion of this road with the road from Holly Springs to Shippensburg,
and Colonel Brisbane’s brigade on a wood road leading info the Ship-
pensburg road.

Ewen’s brigade moved from Laurel Forge in the morning, by a road
across the mountain, to a point where the road from Holly Springs
to Shippensburg is crossed by the road from Laurel Forge to Benders- .
ville. %ghe Thirty-seventh New York was ordered to move to the
fork of the road, 2 miles below Mount Holly, where the Gettysburg
road comes into the Pine Grove road. Owing to the movements of
the enemy, this regiment was afterward withdrawn, and rejoined

main .

Monday, Jt}:l 6.—All the troops moved by different roads to New-
man’s Cut, on the turnpike between Gettysburg and Chambe_rsburg,
4 miles east of Cashtown, where they were concentrated during the

evening.

Tuesday, July 7.—Orders were received from General Meade to
move the command to Gettysburg, but just as the troops were about
Btlrﬁxg;lthe order was changed, and the head of the column left New-
man’s Cut at 11 a. m. for Alto Furnace, where the whole force arrived

5t07 o’clock. Lieutenant Stanwood, with 100 cavalry, er
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to the same point by the way of Caledonia Springs. A scout sent
out repgrted at 8.30 p. m. that the Twelfth Corps occupied Waynes-
borough.

Wegnesday, July 8.—Moved from Altodale at 11 a. m.; reached
‘Waynesborough in the afternoon. Two regiments, under Colonel
Frick, arrived after dark. The whole force was encamped in line of
battle on the right (Colonel Brisbane) and left (New York troops)
of the road to Hagerstown, a mile and a half out of Waynesbor-
ough. The force at Waynesborough was found to be not the Twelfth
Corps, but a small force of infantry, cavalry, and artillery, under
General Milroy.

Thursday, }'uly 9.—Was spent in Waynesborough. Two regi-
ments of Colonel Frick’s were sent to Ringgold, in Maryland.

Friday, July 10.—A reconnaissance by General Neill's cavalry
found the enemy in force on the right bank of the Antietam, below
Leitersburg. An examination of the country from Franklin Cliff,
Md., informed us that a large force of the enemy was encamped on
high ground, 24 miles from Hagerstown, on the Waynesborough road,
and a smaller force on the Boonsborough road, near Hagerstown.
No earthworks could be discovered, nor any earthworks on the ridge
toward Williamsport. No movements were visible on the Williams-
port road. The supply train arrived in the evening. The short
marches and the delay at Waynesborough were caused by the want
of provisions and the impossi ilité of bringing up the sulppl trains
with sufficient celerity. Every effort was made to su{)p f the com-
mand with rations from the country people, but with little success,
the rebels having cleaned out the region.

Orders had been issued to the command to be in readiness to move
but a dispatch was received on the evening of the 10th, from General
Meade, ordering that the commands of General Milroy and General
Smith should remain at Waynesborough, to occupy the enemy or to
join General Meade or General Couch, as the movements of the
enemy might permit or require. According to this dispatch, Gen-
eral Meade’s right wing was to be on the Boonsborough and Hagers-
town turnpike, between Antietam and Beaver Creek, and his left at
Bakersville, on the evening of the 10th.

Saturday, July 11.—Colonel Brisbane with the Gray Reserves and
Twenty-eighth Pennsylvania sul?poned by the Sixty-first Pennsylva-
nia Volunteers, of General Neill’s command, made a reconnaissance
to Marsh Mill, within the enemy’s lines of the day before, about 4
miles from camp. He destroyed 24 barrels of flour which had been
%‘round for the rebels, and all the grain {(100 bushels) in the mill.

he party returned about dark. The whole command, excepting
those troops engaged under Colonel Brisbane, moved at dusk to
Leitersburg, and encamped there for the night.

Sunday, July 12.—The command (excepting Colonel Brisbane’s}
left Leitersburg at 6 a. m., and reached Cavetown at noon. Colone
Brisbane moved from Waynesborough. Colonel Frick moved ta
Chewsville.

Monday, 13th.—The force at Cavetown, under the temporary
command of General Knipe for the march, moved to a point near
Smoketown. The orders were to go to Benevola, where Beaver
Creek crosses the Boonsborough and Hagerstown turnpike, but the
were not understood. The Blue Reserves took part in a skirmis

under General Kilpatrick, near Hagerstown, with a loss of 1 killeqd
and 9 wounded. '
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Tuesday, 14th.—General Knipe moved to Benevola. '

Wednesday, 15th.—All the New York troops had orders from Gen-
eral Smith to move to Greencastle, but at the time of their starting,
an order came from General Couch that they should go to Frederick,
and they accordingly moved in that direction. All the Pennsylvania
troops at Benevofa moved at 9 a. m., to join Colonel Brisbane at
Hagerstown, all to be under his command as military governor of

Hagerstown.
WM. F. SMITH,
Brigadier-General.

No. 408.

R of Maj. Qen. Charles W. Sandford, commanding First
ivision, New York State National Guard, of Igpe’,rati(m.sz June
16-July 16, including the Draft Riots in New York City.

HpQrs. 1st Div.,, NEW YORK STATE NATIONAL GUARDS,
New York, December 30, 1863.

GENERAL: During the present year, 1863, the First Division has
performed a large amount of duty. In addition to the usual parades
and drills, the reception of regiments returned from the war, and
funeral honors to our noble sons who have fallen upon the battle-
fields of our country, in defense of the Union, the division has been
again called to the field, and upon its return has been engaged in the
suppression of riots at home.

n the 16th of June last, I received orders of that date from the
Commander-in-Chief (a copy whereof is annexed), directing me to
send as many regiments as possible to Harrisburg, to assist in repel-
ling the invasion of Pennsylvania by the rebels.

he destination of some of these regiments was changed, by re-
quest of the War Departmient, to Baltimore. .

The following regiments of this division were sent forward by me,
pursuant to these orders, viz:

June 17.—Seventh Regiment, 800 men, for Baltimore.

June 18.—Eighth Regiment, 350 men, for Harrisburg; Eleventh
Regiment, 850 men, for Harrisburg; Seventy-first Regiment, 650 men,
for Han'isbm'Fg.

June 19.—Fifth Regiment, 900 men, for Harrisburg ; Twelfth Regi-
ment, 700 men, for Harrisburg; Twenty-second Regiment, 600 men,
for Harrisburg; Thirty-seventh Regiment, 600 men, for Harrisburg,

June 20.—Fourth Regiment, 500 men, for Harrisburg.

June 22.—Sixth Regiment, 650 men, for Baltimore; Sixty-ninth

iment, 700 men, for Baltimore.

une 24.—Fifty-fifth Regiment, 350 men, for Baltimore.

July 3.—Eighty-fourth Regiment, 400 men, for Baltimore.

These regiments were divided into three brigades, and placed under
the command of Brigadier-Generals Hall, Kwen, and Yates, whose
reports of their operations during their absence I have the honor to
inclose, and to which I respectfuﬁ;y refer.

I have also the honor to inclose reports from the commandants of
several of these regiments, which exhibit the details of their employ-
ment and services during their absence.

The readiness and alacrity with which these regiments departed to
assist our sister State in the hour of danger, is evidenced by the fact
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that most of our New York regiments arrived at Harrisburg before
a single re%iment reached there from Philadelphia, and were imme-
diately sent forward to cover all the approaches to that city, and they
effectually prevented the farther advance of the rebel army.

During the absence of all these regiments of my division, on the
13th of July last, a riot of the most serious character occurred (in
consequence of the commencement of the United States draft), which
for three or four days was more disgraceful in its character and more

" gerious in its consequence than any before known in our city, and
which could not have lasted twelve hours if one-third of our regi-
ments had been at home at its commencement.

Upon the first alarm, upon the requisition of his honor the mayor,
the whole of the division remaining in the city was ordered on duty,
but the absence -of over 8,000 men at the seat of war had left me
with so small a force, that my means were entirely inadequate to the
magnitude of the occasion.

In this emergency, Major-General Wool, commanding the Dgs&rti
ment of the East, in a most liberal spirit, immediately proffered the
aid of the United States detachments in the harbor, and directed
them to report to me for duty. The following is a copy of his orders :

BPECIAL ORDERS. ] HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF THE EAST,
New York, July 18, 1
All the troops called out for the protection of the city are placed under the com-
mand of Major-General Sﬁgi‘ford, whose orders they will implicitly obey.
By command of Major eral Wool :
C. T. CHRISTENSEN,

Assistant Adjutant-Generas.

‘With the remnant of the division, and the first of these re-enforce-
ments from General Wool, detachments were sent to all parts of the
city, and the rioters were everywhere beaten and dispersed.

'Iv‘fxe north and west sides of the city were effectually cleared of

_rioters by detachments sent by me from the arsenal. In Broadway,
Forty-second, Twenty-seventh, Twenty-eighth, Twenty-ninth, Thir-
tieth, Thirty-first, and Thirty-second streets, Seventh, Eighth, ﬁiuth,
and Tenth avenues, mobs were attacked, and in every instance de-
feated or dispersed. No blank cartridges were issued to or used b
any of the troops under my orders. ~ The gas-works, in Eighteen
ang Nineteenth streets, and also upon the East River, Webb’s ship-

ards, and the various manufactories threatened by the rioters, were

y protected, and numerous fires in buildings occupied by colored

ple and others obnoxious to the mob, were extinguished by the
emen after the rioters were dispersed. )

In these encounters, I regret to report that Major [Henry 8.]
Fearing, of my staff, was very seriously wounded while gallantly
leading a charge upon the mob in Forty-second street, and 1 private
soldier was ed, and 22 officers and men dangerously, and 53
slightly, wounded, at the storming of the barricades erected by the
rioters in Twenty-ninth street, and in other conflicts which followed.

The whole of the force remaining with me at the arsenal was k?]pt
on duty day and night during the whole period, and twenty-six de-
tachments, at different times, were sent out to disperse the rioters
and protect private and public property.

This division has always been so organized as to be ready upon
any emergency to effectually sn%)ress all riots or insurrections, and
the citizens of New York know that they can safely repuse under its
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protection. The absence of the thirteen regiments above mentioned,
and of six regiments of the division which volunteered for the war,
alone gave temporary success to the rioters,

As soon as our regiments could be recalled, they returned to the
city, and the rioters were then entirely dispersed; but most of the
regiments were kept on duty during the residue of the month of July,
and some of them until the middle of August.

On the 17th of August last, I received requisitions from the mayor
of the city and the police commissioners, in apprehension of a riot on
the renewal of the draft, which was appointed to take place in this
city on the 19th of August last, requesting me to_call out the First
Division to aid the civil authorities in preserving the peace and
suppressing any tumult, riot, or insurrection during the draft.

pursuance of these requisitions, the whole division was called
out, and stationed by regiments and detachments in various parts of
the city, from the High Bridge to the Battery, and was kept on duty
until the 5th of Selll)tember, and a small detachment from each regi-
ment until the 15th of September.

In consequence of this precaution, the draft proceeded without any
interraption or breach of the peace.

A division parade took place on the 1st day of October last, by
request of the common council of the city, for the purpose of uniting
in the reception of Rear-Admiral Lesoffsky and his officers of the
Russian fleet, upon their first visit to the harbor of New York.

In consequence of the large amount of duty performed by the di-
vision during the year, the usual division parade upon the 25th of
November was omatted.

The ordinary inspection parades of the several regiments and bri- .

gades took place as usual, of which returns have n heretofore
fransmitted to your office.
I have the honor to be, very respectfully, ‘{’ ur obedient servant,
CHAS. W. SANDFORD,
: Major-General.
ig. Gen. JOHN T. SPRAGUE,
Adjutant-General, State of New York.

No. 409.

Rxort g Brig. Gen. Charles Yaies, commanding Second Brigade,
ew York Stale National Guard, of operations June 18-July 18.

HpQRs. 2D BR16., NEW YORK STATE NATIONAL GUARDS,
New York, September 80, 1863.

GeNERAL : Herewith I transmit the reports of the several com-
mandants of regiments of this brigade, detailing the duties assigned to
them while in the service of the United States in June and July last:

On the 18th of June, I ordered Major Gardiner, of my staff, to re-
pair immediately to Harrisburg, to attend to the several regiments on
their arrival there. On the 20th of June, I arrived at Harrisburg
with my staff, and reported immediatelf to Major-General Couch,
pursuant to your orders. The Fifth, Twelfth, and Fourth Regiments
arrived there at about the same time. The day following our arrival,
the Fourth was placed on detached service at Camp Curtin and else-
where, and was not under my command during any portion of the
regsidue of the term of service. '
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~ The Sixth and Eighty-fourth Regiments were ordered to report at
Baltimore, and the Seventy-first, assigned by your orders to my bri-
gade, was, on its arrival at Harrisburg, also EI};ced on detached serv-
ice in another command. The reports of the commandants of the
above-named regiments will show the fidelity with which they dis-
charged the duties assigned to them.

The staff organization of my brigade was as follows : Maj. Charles
Trumbull White, assistant adjutant-general ; Maj. Henry 1) Gardi-
ner, brigade quartermaster ; Capt. Henry C. Landon, commissary ;
Capt. J. Hobart Herrick, ordnance officer ; Capt. Reginald H. An-
thon, aide. Captain Anthon, having been taken ill in consequence
of severe exposure in the discharge of his duties, obtained leave of
absence, and Caﬁt, Benjamin 8. Church, of the Twelfth Regiment,
was assigned to his post during the residue of our term of service.

On the 21st of June, I was directed to proceed with the Fifth and
Twelfth Regiments, numbering together about 1,000 men, early the
next day, to Marysville and Fenwic%c, at the junction of the Dauphin
and Susquehanna Valleys, about 6 miles above Harrisburg, to guard
two railroad bridges crossing the Susquehanna at that point. The
Dauphin Valley runs parallel with the Cumberland Valley, being con-
nected with it by several mountain gaps, the farthest of which is
Sterrett’s Gap, through which the road to Carlisle passes.

The enemy being then advancing toward Harrisburg, it was sup-
%osed he might make a diversion to the left, pass down the Dauphin

alley, and cross the Susquehanna. Our position, therefore, assumed
a very important character, and required very great diligence in
checking a movement of that kind. On arriving at the Dauphin
Valley, the only force we found there consisted of about 50 or 60 men
of the Invalid Corps, stationed at block-houses near the bridges. We
immediately commenced constructing such earthworks in front and
flank as were deemed necessary, and selected a position to make a
determined stand, the left flank of our contemplated line being’ pro-
tected by an obstruction of felled woods, and the narrow pass alx())ng
the Susquehanna being guarded by such force as could be spared for
that purpose. .

Various detachments from time to time were sent with ax-men, to
obstruct and guard the mountain gaps. During their service there
they were exposed to almost incessant rains, having only their shelter
tents to protect them from the inclemency of the weather. These
detachments performed the duty assigned to them with alacrity and
fidelity. During a portion of the term of service in the Dauphin
Valley, we were very materially aided by the Thirteenth and Twenty-
eighth New York National Guard, under the command of Brig. Gen.
Philip 8. Crooke, and three companies of the Twenty-eighth Penn-
sylvania Militia, under the command of Major J essu}{. General

rooke and Major Jessup, with their officers and men, diligently co-
gpe;‘lated with me in the performance of the several duties assigned

0 them.

On the 7th of July, we proceeded by rail, with the Fifth and
Twelfth Regiments, to Carlisle ; thence on the 8th and 9th, by march,
by way of the turnpike, to Shippensburg. At this place, the T'wen-
tieth, Thirty-fifth, and Forty-ﬁftg)Penns %vania Militia were attached
to my brigade, then denominated the Kirst Brigade of the Second
Division of the Department of the Susquehanna, under the command
of Major-General Dana, to whom I reported for duty. Under his
orders, the brigade was marched to a point 1 mile beyond Chambers-
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burg, where it was further re-enforced by the Twenty-sixth Regi-
ment Pennsylvania Militia and a battery of United States artillery.
It then comprised the Fifth and Twelfth New York National Guard
and the Twentieth, Twenty-sixth, Thirty-fifth, and Forty-fifth Penn-
sylvania Militia, and Battery —, [Fifth] U. 8. Artillery, and num-
bered nearly 4,300 officers, non-commissioned officers, and men.

From Chambersburg our brigade and the other brigades of the
Second Division were marched to Greencastle. The whole division
comprised about 12,000 men. (nthe arrival of the division at Green-
castf:a, we learned that General Lee had crossed the Potomac, with the
whole rebel army. In consequence of this, and the near expiration
of our term of service, I received orders to proceed the next day with
the Fifth and Twelfth Regiments by march to Shippensburg, and
thence by rail to New York, and report to Major-General Wool, com-
manding the Department of the East. Woe arrived at New York on
the evening and night of the 18th, and reported accordingly. The
regiments did duty at New York until they were mustered out of
service. )

The members of the brigade staff were unremitting in the discharge
of the duties of their several departments, and performed them with
very great regularity. To them as well as to Colonel Burger, com-
manding the Fifth, and Colonel Ward, commanding the Twelfth
and thelr officers and men, and to the officers and men of the several
commands attached to my brigade, my acknowledgments are due for
the faithful discharge of the several duties assigned to them.

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,
. CHAS. YATES,

Brig. Qen., Comdg. 2d Brig., New York State National Guard,

Maj. Gen. CHARLES W. SANDFORD,

Commanding First Division, New York State Militia.

No. 410.

R?ort I?f Brig. Gen. William Hall, commanding Third Brigade,
ew York State National Guard, of operations June 15-July 18,

y —, 1863.

Sir: I have the honor to report to you the condition of the Third
Brigade of the First Division, composed of the Seventh, Eighth
ghirt()lf-seventh, and Fifty-fifth Regiments New York State N ational

uard. :

At the annual inspection held on the 9th, 12th, 14th, and 16th days
of October last, 1,929 were reported as present, and 621 as absent,
making a total of 2,550, which is a large increase in numbers over
the last year. The particulars of said inspection are contained in
the brigade ma}g’s report made heretofore to the adjutant-general,
to which Your Excellency is respectfully referred.

_It may not be deemed inappropriate for me to refer somewhat par-
ticularly to the services per?ormed by this brigade in the months of
June and July last, at a period when a loyal State was invaded by
an armed foe, threatening to despoil its citizens, to destroy its towns
and cities, and set at defiapce the authorities of both the local and
general governments.

On the 15th day of June last, I received from you a telegraphic

tch, as the commander-in-chief of the militia force of the State
of New York, to proceed with my brigade, as speedily as possible,
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to the defense of the city of Harrisburg, the capital of the State of
Pennsylvania. By direction and orders of Major-General Sandford,
the Seventy-first Regiment of the First Brigade was attached to my
command, to participate in the expedition.

These five regiments promptly résponded to Your Excellency’s
orders. TheSeventh, Eighth, Thirty-seventh, and Seventy-first Regi-
ments left the city of New York on the 16th, 17th, and 18th days of
June; the Fifty-fifth Regiment left on the 24th.

I reached the place of destination on the morning of the 20th of
June, and reported to General Couch, who had command of all the
military concentrated at that point, acting under orders from the au-
thorities at Washington.

On the arrival of the Seventh and Fifty-fifth Regiments at the city
of Philadelphia, they were met by orders from general headquarters,
detaching them from my command. They were, by those orders,
attached to the Third Army Corps of the Army of the Potomac.

On my arrival at Ha.rrisburg, found that the Eighth and Seventy-
first Regiments had been placed under the command of General Knipe
of the U. 8. Volunteer service, and had been ordered to the front. i
was placed immediately in command of all the regiments detailed
to the fortifications at Bridgeport, on the opposite side of the Sus-
quehanna River, or rather on the river opposite the city of Harris-
burg. In this force was included the Eleventh, Jwenty-second, and
Thirty-seventh Regiments, one company of the Eighth Re%'iment,
and two companies of the Fourth Regiment of Artillerfy, all from
the city of New York; also five regiments from the city of Brooklyn.

.The Eleventh and Twenty-second Regiments were commanded by
Brigadier-General Ewen; those from Brooklyn were under the com-
. mand of Brigadier-Generals Crooke and Smith.

My first order was to send out pickets to a distance of 5 miles,
making a crescent form of 15 miles, to avoid a surprise by the enemy
in our rear; this duty was assigned to the Thirty-seventh Regiment.

On the 25th, I received an order to send two regiments to Marys-
ville, about 8 miles u'g the river, to report to General Yates. I sent
the Thirteenth and Twenty-eighth, of the Fifth Brigade. On the
26th, Brigadier-General Crooke, of that brigade, reported for duty.
I directed him to report to General Yates, at Marysville, where his
command had been sent. :

On the 28th, General Crooke returned with his brigade, and was
3u&rtered in the fort. Onthe 27th, the Thirty-seventh Regiment was

irected to proceed to the front, under the command of Brig. Gen.
'W. F.-Smith, of the U. 8. Volunteers, with the Eleventh and Twenty-
second Regiments, under the command of Brigadier-General Ewen.
Brig. Gen. J. C. Smith, of Brooklyn, arrived with the Twenty-third,
Fifty-second, and Fifty-sixth Regiments, reported, and was sent to
the front, under the command of Brig. Gen. W. F. Smith.

During our encampment, the Thirty-seventh, Thirteenth, Twenty-
eighth, and several other regiments worked on the defenses in the
two forts on the heights, one of which was called Fort Washington,
the other named Fort Couch.

On the 3d day of July, I received a verbal order from General
Couch to proceed forthwith to the front with the Fifth Brigade.
Accordingly, I directed Brigadier-General Crooke to order his brigade
to be in readiness to leave immediately. We broke camp about 2
o’clock in the morning, and took the cars for Carlisle, where we
arrived at 7 a. m. While preparing to leave for Chambersburg, 1
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received a telegram from General Couch to return and resume m

former command. Ileft the brigade at Carlisle, under the comman

gf Brigadier-General Crooke, who proceeded with it to Chambers-
urg. .

On my return, I found in the forts five companies of New Jersey
troops (a very fine body of men), two companies of the Fourth Regi-
ment of Artillery, New York State National Guard, one comggn
of the Eighth Regiment, under the command of Captain [Robert
Brown, New York State National Guard, and one company from
Philadelphia.

On the 11th day of July, the Sixty-fifth Regiment, of Buffalo,
reached the forts en roufe for home. It was detained some days on
account of the difficulty then existing to procure transportation. On
the 14th, the startling intelligence reached me that the city of New
York was in a state of insubordination. Knowing the small military
force left to defend that city from internal foes, and believing it im-
portant that relief should be sent there at the earliest possible mo-
ment, I sought and obtained permission of General Couch to send
this regiment there. - It accordingly left my headquarters at daylight
on the morning of the 15th, and arrived in the city of New York at
about 4 o’clock in the afternoon of the same day. The alarm pro-
duced by continued unfavorable reports in reference to the insecurity
of the lives and property of the citizens of the city of New York,
induced General Couch to issue a general order directing the speedy
return of all the New York and New Jersey regiments. This order
was executed on the 18th, and the New York regiments reached the
city the same evening.

cannot forbear expressing my obligations to Capt. B. Frishmuth,
commanding an independent company in the city of Philadelphia, -
for permission to bring with my command from that city a battery
of four %Juns of artillery, the private property of his company, be-
lieving they might be of service in restoring municipal order 1in the -
metropolis.

During my operations in Pennsylvania, I was greatly assisted by
Colonel Pierson and Colonel Cone, both of the city of New York, who
volunteered as members of my staff. Their experience and skill in
military affairs deserve acknowledgments.

I herewith have the honor to inclose the reports of the colonels of
the Seventh, Eighth, Thirty-seventh, and Fifty-fifth Regiments, of
their services during the expedition.

I have the honor to be, very respectfully, your obedient servant,

WM. HALL,
Comdg. Third Brigade, New York State National Guard,

His Excellenc;; HorATIiO SEYMOUR,
Gov. of the State of New York, and Commander-in-Chief.

No. 411.

Rle\?m‘t‘ Yof Brig. Gen. John Ewen, commanding Fourth Brigade,
ew York State National Guard, of operations June 18-July 18.

HpQRs. 4TH Bric., NEW YORK STATE NATIONAL GUARD,
New York, December 25, 1863.

GENERAL: In accordance with your request, I have the honor to
submit the following report of the short compaign of my command
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in Pennsylvania and Maryland, in the service of the General Gov-
ernment, in June and July last:

The Eleventh and Twenty-second Regiments left this city for Har-
risburg, via Philadelphia, on the 18th of June. I followed with my
staff on the evening of the 19th, by the express train, arriving at
Harrisburg on the morning of the 20th, at Wﬁich time the said regi-
ments also arrived. The Sixty-ninth was to follow in the course of a
couple of days, but, pursuant to subsequent orders from the Secre-
tary of War and the adjutant-general of this State, this regiment
was sent to Baltimore. .

Having reported to Major-General Couch, I selected, pursuant to
his authority, camping ground for my command on the south side of
the Susquehanna, opposite Harrisburg, on the York road, about three-
fourths of a mile southeast of Bridgeport and Fort Washington, and
issued orders to Colonels Maidhof and Aspinwall to move t%eir regi-
ments across the river preparatory to occupying the positions to
assigned them.

June 20, emglo}zed a negro force which had been engaged on the
earthworks of Kort Washington in excavating rifle-pits and in-
trenchments in the vicinity of the camp, and caused my command
to be supplied with 40 rounds of ball cartridge.

June 22, was stunned by a shock received in consequence of a fall
of my horse while in the camp of the Eleventh Regiment, and con-
veyed to Harrisburg; was, by the advice of surgeons, restrained
from attending to any business until the morning of the 24th. My
command was this day mustered into the service of the United States.

On the 25th, General Hall, who, as senior officer, had been placed
- in command of the division, returned to Harrisburg, sick. I 1mme-

diately assumed the command, putting Colonel Maidhof in com-
mand of my brigade.

On the 26th, received orders that Brig. Gen. W. F. Smith, U. S.
Volunteers, had been appointed to the command of the First Divis-
ion of the Army of the Susquehanna. Had an interview with him
at Harrisburg the same day, and was desired to continue in com-
mand of the division until further orders. Continued the work at
the rifle-pits and the earthworks of Fort Washington, the latter pro-
ceeding under the supervision of Major Brady, U. S. Engineers, by
a negro force, and by regiments quartered in the fort.

On the 27th, ordered the Thirty-seventh National Guard, Colonel
Roome, to move camp and f'oin the two regiments of the Fourth
Brigade, reporting to Colonel Maidhof. :

June 28, aeneraﬁ W. F. Smith removed his headquarters to Bridge-
port, near Fort Washington, and assumed the command of the divis-
lon, I returning to the command of my brigade, directing Colonel

. Maidhof to re{mrt with his regiment to the commander of the divis-
ion, for special duty.

An attack from the enemy being momentarily anticipated, broke
up camp pursuant to orders, moving the Twenty-second and Thirty-
seventh Regiments behind the rifle-pits. Received into my command
the Eleventh Artillery, New York Volunteers, Colonel Barnes, doing
duty as infantry. Employed a detachment of this regiment in fell-
ing the woods in front, and detachments of the Twenty-second and
Thirty-seventh Regiments in completing the works of the rifle-pits,
and men on picket duty.

It was designed by the commanding general that my command
should check the advance of the enemy by the York road, and, if
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hard pressed, retire to the fort, where a more effectual stand could
be made. Desiring to avoid such a contingeney, I solicited and ob-
tained from him, June 29, a section of light battery, postin%hilt on
the turnpike, supported on each side by the Eleventh and Thirty-
seventh Regiments in the trenches. The Twenty-second Regiment
being held in reserve, continued the detachments in clearing away
the woods in front and completing the rifle-pits, those of the Thirty-
sie;:;entlil being engaged at the latter during the whole of the night of
the 29th.

On the morning of the 30th, pursuant to orders requiring the
Twenty-second and Thirty-seventh Regiments to be in readiness,
without rations, for a few hours’ service, marched these regiments to
division headquarters, it being designed to cut off a body of cavalry
acting also as mounted infantry, with artillery, su;;pos to be poste(i
a few miles from camp. After some delay, I was directed to proceed
with these regiments on the turnpike, General W. F. Smith and
staff accompanying. Having marched about 3 miles, and finding no
trace of the enemy, the general took leave, directing me to return
with my command to camp.

After proceeding about a mile on my return, I was overtaken by
a small company of dragoons, the commandant of which informed
me that he had been driven by the enemy, about 3 miles distant. I
immediately countermarched, and went in pursuit, employing the
dragoons as an advance guard ; dispatching an aide to headquarters
with intelligence of my information and movement.

After Froceeding a few miles to a place called Sportsman’s [Sport-
ing] Hill, had a skirmish with the-enemy, who, concealed in a wood
on the right of the road, about a quarter of a mile distant, fired a
volley of musketlz at mg command at the moment of halting it.

I immediately changed from forward, returning the fire with the
Thirty-seventh Regiment, in the direction from which the shots had

roceeded, and advanced that regiment about 30 yards into a wheat-

eld, which concealed it from the observation of the enemy, holdin
the Twenty-second in reserve. The enemy then ceased firing Wit%
small-arms, and commenced throwing shell from the woods, whjch
gassed over us. At this time a section of a battery, called Landis’

attery, belonging to a company of gentlemen from Philadelphia,
came up, under command of Lieut. Rufus King, of the army, serv-
ing on General W. F. Smith’s staff. Iimmediately posted one piece
in the road, and the other in rear of a dwelling to the right of the
road, the side from which the enemy’s fire came. After a few rounds,
the enemy ceased firing and fled. It being a cavalry force, we were
unable to pursue.

During this skirmish there were several discharges of artillery on
our left, demonstrating the existence of a body of the enemy in that
direction, not very far distant, and, exppecting an immediate attack
from that quarter, I changed front to rear with the Twenty-second
Regiment, to be in readiness to mee? and repel it.

n the retreat of the force with which we had been contending,
the firing from the other force ceased. The discharges of artillery
on our left had evidently been designed as an intimidation to us, or
a signal to the other force of the enemy to retire. The casualties
in my command were a few officers and men of the Thirty-seventh
glightly wounded.

r remaining one hour on the field, and hearing no sound from
the enemy, I proceeded to return to camp. On arriving at the inter-
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section of the two roads leading from Carlisle, called Oyster Point,
about 3 miles from Fort Washington, I received orders from head-
uarters directl.lizg mé to follow up the enemy. It was then dark.

y command had no food since breakfast, and was destitute of
rations and blankets. A considerable portion had also been working
in the trenches during the preceding night. I found it, therefore,
impracticable to proceed until rations should be procured, for which
requisition was immediately made; but, owing to the deiay in pro-
curing and preparing the same, it was daylight before a meal could
be obtained; immediately after which I marched for Carlisle, both
regiments manifesting dissatisfaction in consequence of being with-
out knapsacks and haversacks, and the privations and fatigue which
th%h already undergone.

e column advanced, with the Thirty-seventh Regiment on the
right greceded by & company of the Twenty-second Regiment, com-
manded by Capt. Asa Bird Gardiner, as an advance guard, and by
skirmishers also from that regiment.

Afte;({)roceeding about a mile beyond Sportsman’s [Sporting] Hill,
Ilearned from a farmer residing in the vicinity that the force on our
left the preceding evening consisted of a body of about 3,500 cav-
alry, W‘itﬁ field pieces, andiad occupied the road leading from Carlisle
to Oyster Point, called the Mud road, and that it had retired ; and
on advancing about 2 miles farther, Ilearned from citizens returning
in wagons from Carlisle, on their way to Harrisburg, that the force
we had encountered the night before had passed rapidly through
Carlisle about daylight, carrying with them a number of killed and
wounded in ambulances, . _

This information being soon after confirmed, the skirmishers were
called in, enabling the column to proceed more rapidly. It arrived
at Carlisle about 3 o’clock in the afternoon, the march having been
about 13 miles.

The troops were refreshed at the small villages along the march
?Oyoghe inhabitants, who were kindly at their doors with offerings of

About 6 p. m. there was a report that the enemy was returning to
Carlisle. aide was dispatched to hurry up re-enforcements which
might be on the road, while I proceeded with my command about a

ile south of the town, and occu}%ed a position on the main road, on -
the brow of a hill overlooking a broad valley.

Soon after, reports of artillery were heard in our rear, and the flash
and smoke of the were visible along the hills north of Carlisle.
Just then I received intelligence of the arrival, at Carlisle, of General
W. F. Smith, and two regiments of Pennsylvania militia, under
Colonel Brisbane, accompanied by directions for my immediate re-
turn. ' :

On returning to Carlisle, the regiments were subdivided into de-
tachments, to guard the several approaches to the town. The Penn-
sylvania regiments were posted on the northerlg portion, the Thirty-
seventh Regiment, with one field Fiece, guarded the central portion,
under the immediate command of General Smith, and the Twenty-
second Regiment, with thc remaining field picce, the southerly por-
tion of the town, under my immediate command, skirmishers being
also thrown out.

Before these dispositions were perfected, which was not until after
dark, the enemy commenced shelling from his position opposite the
east gide of the town, doing, however, little damage, the shells mostly
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ment.
ers had been given by General Smith not to fire a gun unless
it came to close t}luarters, which, in 1‘1’?’ judgment, was eminentlH
judicious under the circumstances. e had but two light fiel
pieces, and the enemy seven, and a much superior force.

A flag of truce was sent in, demanding a surrender; our com-
mander, in reply, desiring the enemy to come in and take us, he
was no doubt deterred from making the attempt, under an appre-
hension that we were much stronger than we were. The shelling
continued during the greater part of the night. The principal ar-
senal buildings, situate about half a mile east from the town, were
fired with torches and burned down, and, about an hour before day-
liqll‘lltl, the enemy retired. ’

e force opposed to us was said to embody about 3,500 cavalry,
with several pieces of artillery,-under Fitzhugh Lee. I have but
little doubt it was the same that saluted on my left the qreceding
evening, and had remained in my rear when I entered Carlisle, sev-
eral stra.g%lers of the Thirty-seventh Regiment having been made

isoners that afternoon and paroled ; also Mr. Dougherty, of General

mith’s staff, while on his way to Carlisle. He was subsequently
paroled, and fell in with the division at Papertown, while on the
march southward.

‘Weremained at Carlisleduring the 2d and 3d of July, the Eleventh
Regiment National Guard rejoining my command at the latter date,
having arrived with the remaining corps of the division, consistin
of three regiments New York State National Guard, of New Yor
City, under command of Brigadier-General Knipe, three regiments,
composing the Eleventh Brigade, New York State National Guard,
of lgrookg'n commanded by Brig. Gen. Jesse C. Smith, and a sec-
%«;1_1 of Landis’ battery, the whole under the command of General

ipe.

This column. it appears by the annexed communication from Gen-
eral Jesse C. Smith, left Fort Washington for Carlisle on the after-
noon of the day my command marched from Oyster Point, July 1,
arriving on the 3d. They ‘‘heard heavy firing in the direction of
of Carlisle” before haltil'lﬁi and saw ‘“the light from the burning
barracks at that place.” e column halted a%out 9 o’clock at night,
““General Kniw going forward tosee if he could get communication
with General W. F. Smith, then at Carlisle,” about 13 miles distant,
and did not return until after 2 o’clock in the morning. At 3 o’clock
General Couch, pursuant to whose directions .my command of two
small xgiments, comprisin% about 900 men and two field pieces, had
been ordered to follow up the enexgg the preceding night, without
rations or blankets, and while deemed to be engaged with the enemy,
sent peremptory orders for this command to return to Fort Wash-
ington. It is but just, however, to General Couch to say that at the
time of giving such orders it was too late for this force torender any
assistance to the troops at Carlisle. Had it, however, gone forward
promptly, and quietly entered the town during the bombardment, as
it might unquestionably have done several hours before the retire-
ment of the enemy, it could, asa s%parate disposable force, have been
instrumental in surprising and effectively destroying or capturing
the enemy, who could have been surprised and attacked on Eis left
flank or rear from the south side of the town at any time before his
retirement. Being a cavalry force, hemmed in by a road, a single

%f:g over. A few slight casualties occurred in the Thirty-seventh
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available regiment might have approached it very closely under cover
of the darkness, and poured in upon it a very destructive fire. From
the south side of the town, the sound of the wheels of the enemy’s
artillery were distinctly heard on his retirement.

July 4, my command, consisting of the Eleventh, Twenty-second,
and Thirty-seventh Regiments National Guard, marched with the
division from Carlisle, forming the rear guard. At Papertown,
directed Colonel Roome to report with his regiment to General W. F.
Smith for special duty in guarding roads in that vicinity. Reached
Laurel Forge, in the mountains of Pennsylvania, on the evening of
the 5th of July.

July 6, about daylight, received an accession to my command
by the arrival of the Thirteenth and Twenty-eighth Regiments, of
the Fifth Brigade, New York State National Guard, of Brooklyn,
under command of Brig. Gen. Philip 8. Crooke, and on the evenin,
of this day the Thirty-seventh Regiment rejoined my command.
proceeded with the two brigades, as the rear of the division, to New-
man’s Gap, Funkstown, and Waynesborough, in Pennsylvania. At
the latter place, united with a brigade of the Army of the Potomac,
in command of Brigadier-General Neill. .

July 11, the division resumed march, passing through Peters-
burg, Cavetown, and Boonsborough, in Maryland, reaching the latter
lace the evening of the 14th. We had, before leaving Carlisle

Eeard of the movements of General Meade to cut off Lee’s army, an
it was the expectation of the commander of our division to arrive in
time to take part in the contemplated action; but, on arriving at
Newman’s Gap, we learned that the battle of Gettysburg had been
fought two days previously.

y command, during the march from Carlisle, suffered many pri-
vations and hardships from lack of food and clothing and exposure
to fre«iuent rains, without tents or change of raiment, the men on
several occasions having to ford streams to the waist, the baggage,
as well as tents, having been left in camp near Fort Washington.
I had no clothing myself, excepting a thin suit in which I left camp,
expecting to return after a few hours’ absence. My baggage, as w¢5
as that of two of the regiments, had been sent for from Carlisle be-
fore leaving that place, communication with Harrisburg by railroad
having been re-established the precediaxzf day; but they were stopped
by a general officer, who said orders had been given that no baggage
s’gouﬁl go forward.

July 15, news was received of the outbreak in the city of New
York, growing out of the intended draft; and as the presence of the
New York troops at home was urgent, and their term of duty had
expi